
 
 
 

Health and Wellbeing Board 
 
 
Date Wednesday 28 September 2022 

Time 9.30 am 

Venue Council Chamber, County Hall, Durham 

 
 

Business 
 

Part A 
 

Items which are open to the Press and Public 
 
 
1. Election of Chair   

2. Apologies for Absence   

3. Substitute Members   

4. Declarations of Interest   

5. Minutes of the meeting held on 12 July 2022  (Pages 5 - 12) 

6. Health and Social Care Integration:  (Pages 13 - 20) 

 Presentation of the Director of Integrated Community Services 
and the Corporate Director of Adult and Health Services, Durham 
County Council. 

7. Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment (PNA):  (Pages 21 - 162) 

 Report of the Corporate Director of Adult and Health Services and 
the Director of Public Health, Durham County Council. 

8. Approach to Wellbeing - Formal Evaluation: Teesside University:  
(Pages 163 - 300) 

 Report of the Head of Partnerships and Community Engagement 
and the Director of Public Health, Durham County Council. 

9. Making Smoking Obsolete: The Khan Review:  (Pages 301 - 306) 

 Presentation of Director of Public Health, Durham County Council. 
 
 
 
 
 



 
10. Growing up in County Durham 2023-25:  (Pages 307 - 332) 

 Report of the Corporate Director of Children and Young People’s 
Services, Durham County Council, and the Chair of Children, 
Young People and Families Partnership Board. 

11. Draft Inclusive Economic Strategy:  (Pages 333 - 402) 

 Report of the Corporate Director of Regeneration, Economy and 
Growth, Durham County Council. 

12. Climate Emergency Response Plan (CERP):  (Pages 403 - 424) 

 Report of the Corporate Director of Neighbourhoods and Climate 
Change, Durham County Council. 

13. Physical Activity Strategic Framework:  (Pages 425 - 454) 

 Report of the Corporate Director, Adult and Health Services and 
the Director of Public Health, Durham County Council. 

14. Health and Wellbeing Board Campaigns:  (Pages 455 - 460) 

 Presentation of Director of Public Health, Durham County Council 
– for information only. 

15. Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chairman of the 
meeting, is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration   

 
 

Helen Lynch 
Head of Legal and Democratic Services 

 
 
County Hall 
Durham 
20 September 2022 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
  Councillors R Bell, T Henderson and C Hood 
 
  
J Robinson Adult and Health Services, Durham 

County Council 
J Pearce 
 
L Hall 

Children and Young People’s Services, 
Durham County Council 
Regeneration, Economy and Growth, 
Durham County Council 

A Healy Public Health, County Durham Adult and 
Health Services, Durham County 
Council 

D Gallagher North East and North Cumbria 
Integrated Care Board 

S Jacques County Durham and Darlington NHS 
Foundation Trust 

J Illingworth Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS 
Foundation Trust 

S Lamb Harrogate and District NHS Foundation 
Trust 

P Sutton South Tyneside & Sunderland NHS 
Foundation Trust 

C Cunnington-
Shore 

Healthwatch County Durham 

M Laing Director Integrated Community Services 
Representative to 
be confirmed 
S Helps 

Office of the Police and Crime 
Commissioner 
County Durham and Darlington Fire and 
Rescue Service 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Contact: Martin Tindle Tel: 03000 269 713 

To: The Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board 
 
Durham County Council 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

At a Meeting of Health and Wellbeing Board held in Council Chamber, 
County Hall, Durham on Tuesday 12 July 2022 at 1.30 pm 

 
 

Present: 
 
 

Members of the Committee: 
Councillors T Henderson and P Sexton and L Buckley, C Cunnington-Shore,  
D Gallagher, S Helps, J Illingworth, S Lamb, Dr L Murthy, J Pearce, J Robinson,  
M Smith, P Sutton and G Wilson 
 

 

1 Election of Chair  
 
Moved by M Smith, Seconded by L Buckley and 
 
Resolved: 
 
That Councillor P Sexton be elected as Chair of the Board for the ensuing 
year. 
 

Councillor P Sexton in the Chair 
 
 

2 Election of Vice-Chair  
 
Moved by J Robinson, Seconded by C Cunnington-Shore and  
 
Resolved: 
 
That M Laing be appointed Vice-Chair of the Board for the ensuing year. 
 
 

3 Apologies for Absence  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor R Bell and L Hall, A 
Healy, S Jacques, M Laing and S White. 
 
 

4 Substitute Members  
 
G Wilson substituted for A Healy and M Smith substituted for L Hall. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 5



5 Declarations of Interest  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 
 

6 Minutes 
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 11 May 2022 were agreed as a correct 
record and signed by the Chair. 
 
 

7 Poverty Action Steering Group  
 
The Board received an update presentation from the Strategic Manager (One 
Point/Think Family Service), Karen Davison and the Strategy Team Leader, 
Debra Kitching on the work of the Poverty Action Steering Group (PASG) 
and Child Poverty Working Group (CPWG) (for copy see file of minutes). 

 
Councillor T Henderson entered the meeting at 1.35pm 

 
The Strategic Manager (OP/Think Family Service) explained that the Poverty 
Action Strategy and Action Plan had been refreshed, as had the Child 
Poverty Plan on a Page to reflect the system wide response required to 
reduce poverty.  It was noted that Members of the Board were given a 
background in relation to the Strategy and noted that child poverty continued 
to rise in County Durham with 27.3 percent of children under 16 estimated to 
be living in relative poverty and 25.1 percent in absolute poverty.  The Board 
noted the four objectives in relation to the Poverty Action Plan 2022-26: 
• Objective 1: Use intelligence and data to target support to low-income 

households 
• Objective 2: Reduce the financial pressures on people facing or in 

poverty 
• Objective 3: Increase individual, household and community resilience to 

poverty 
• Objective 4: Reduce barriers to accessing services for those experiencing 

financial insecurity 
 

It was added that a number of actions were aligned to each objective, with 
timescales for completion ranging to March 2025. 
 
Members noted the ongoing consultation, ending 26 August 2022, with 
questions for discussion being:  
1. Are these the right objectives? 
2. Where are the gaps/what more do we need to do? 
3. Are there any groups of people missing? 
 

Page 6



It was noted that the next steps included: 
 
• May-August 2022 - consultation with key partners and stakeholders 
• September 2022 - strategy and action plan finalised 
• November 2022 - Cabinet approval 
• November 2022 - delivery 
 
The Chair thanked the Officers and asked the Board for their questions and 
comments. 
 
Councillor T Henderson noted there were ever increasing financial pressures 
on our residents and staff and asked what information was available to 
support residents maximise their income and how Councillors could support 
that work.  The Strategic Manager noted the one-stop web page on the 
Council website, ‘help with your money’, and information for residents and 
staff working with children and young people was shared regularly as best 
practice. 
 
L Buckley welcomed the focus on the issue, noting media reporting the North 
East having the highest child poverty in the UK.  He noted the need to align 
with economic strategies in order to lift people out of poverty.  He noted local 
grants as a good example and added that aspiration and belief were 
important for children and young people, noting many local examples and 
that they highlighted how to reach out to young people and the need for 
mentoring.  He noted that how the Plan was ‘sold’ was key.   
 
The Strategic Manager (Partnerships), Andrea Petty asked if the Board were 
seeing any increase in demand for services across the County due to the 
cost of living crisis.  The Strategy Team Leader noted that during COVID-19 
a lot more people came forward for help and the current situation was still 
more than pre-COVID, numbers had not returned to pre-COVID levels.  She 
added it was not known what element was a consequence of COVID, and 
what element was the start of the cost of living crisis, however, there was 
increased demand on Revenues and Benefits and the PASG would report on 
anticipating demand and impact going forward.  She added one would expect 
fewer people attending the gym, going out to the theatre, income generating 
Council services, and more grants, such as warm homes, and noted 
requests relating to Council Tax, including the recent ‘rebate’.  The Strategic 
Manager (OP/Think Family Service) noted the need to be less transactional 
to ‘make every contact count’, with the Council being well placed to ask as 
regards the issues behind issues and look at a more holistic approach, 
asking the correct questions.  The Corporate Director of Adult and Health 
Services noted that staff that were points of contact had advice and training 
in terms of being able to signpost people to the most appropriate help.   
 

Page 7



The Strategic Manager (OP/Think Family Service) noted a ‘no wrong door’ 
approach in terms of signposting and that in September a training 
programme would take place across all partners, as well as a new website 
and portal. 
 
M Smith noted that Housing had fed into the Plan and the service had seen a 
six percent increase in demand during the period, with more families 
accessing services, with single people still making up the majority.  She 
added issues such as domestic violence and Section 21 Notices added to 
the reasons why some people could not access the private housing market 
and noted some actions, such as asking Housing Providers not to pursue 
rent arrears. 
 
P Sutton noted the digital offer and the importance of upskilling, however, he 
noted that if there was only a digital offer that could increase health 
inequalities and asked whether those individuals were supported and other 
routes to accessing services were provided.  The Strategic Manager 
(OP/Think Family Service) noted that face-to-face meetings could not be 
beat and noted assistance available at leisure centres, family centres, as well 
as assistance in being able to help access digital services.  The Strategy 
Team Leader noted the need for digital skills in terms of being able to access 
the best deals on energy, for example, and in other areas such as applying 
for jobs and therefore it was important to try to increase the levels in respect 
of those skills, with the DCC Digital Strategy coming through in due course. 
 
S Lamb noted those in the room represented large employers and added 
they had an obligation to their employees who may be working and in 
poverty.  She noted that some NHS workers on junior grades were only 
earning 1p over the minimum wage and asked how employers could support 
their staff.  The Strategy Team Leader noted Public Health had carried out a 
piece of work looking at where people were struggling, and data sets were 
being analysed to see how they could be helped.  The Strategic Manager 
(OP/Think Family Service) noted it was an important point in terms of looking 
after one’s own staff and highlighted the preconceptions around poverty and 
the importance of talking about it and how it was talked about.  The Strategic 
Manager (Partnerships) noted that young people had been consulted on 
Growing Up in County Durham Strategy and the issue of poverty and the 
associated stigma had been highlighted.  She noted she would liaise with the 
Chair to pull together a response from the Board.  The Chair thanked the 
Officers and noted that the Board would appreciate updates in relation to the 
PASG. 
 
Resolved: 
 
(a) That the report and presentation be noted. 
(b) That comments from the Board be fed into the consultation process.  

Page 8



8 Future Adult Social Care Reform Assurance  
 
The Board received an update presentation from the Corporate Director of 
Adult and Health Services on the future of Adult Social Care Reform 
Assurance (for copy see file of minutes). 
 
The Corporate Director of Adult and Health Services outlined the Adult Social 
Care reform and assurance framework to be implemented from April 2023, 
noting a return to a ‘CQC style’ inspection of the whole social care system, 
including the Health and Wellbeing Board.  She highlighted concerns in 
relation to a funding gap that were shared across the system, with a potential 
for £10billion more costs for Councils than the Government estimates, with a 
‘fair cost of care’ cap to be introduced from October 2023. 
 
The Chair thanked the Corporate Director of Adult and Health Services and 
asked the Board for their comments and questions. 
 
Councillor T Henderson asked what was being done to reflect the voice of 
adults with lived experience across the adult social care sector.  The 
Corporate Director of Adult and Health Services noted that as much as 
possible was being done in services, such as the Children and Young 
People’s Services, with the Corporate Director, John Pearce and his team.  
She added that within Adult and Health Services there were a lot of different 
aspects in place, working towards a collaborative approach and to listen to 
the voice of lived experiences and to demonstrate this.  She added that 
identifying gaps and areas where people were struggling were priorities.  The 
Strategic Manager (Partnerships) noted the Health and Wellbeing Board was 
part of the framework and asked how the Board could get ‘match fit’.  The 
Corporate Director of Adult and Health Services noted in Autumn more 
details were expected in relation to the framework and work was ongoing 
within Adult and Health Services in terms of data, listening to the voice of 
those lived experiences and self-assessment.  She added that at the next 
few meetings feedback could be given and when an inspection was to take 
place then the Board could be prepared ready to respond. 
 
Resolved: 
 
That the report and presentation be noted. 
 
 

9 Health and Social Care Integration  
 
The Board received an update presentation from the Corporate Director of 
Adult and Health Services on Health and Social Care Integration (for copy 
see file of minutes). 
 

Page 9



The Corporate Director of Adult and Health Services referred to the national 
context and the North East and North Cumbria Integrated Care Service (ICS) 
/ Integrated Care Board (ICB) and gave a brief overview of an event which 
took place on 24 June which was useful for the work with the ICS to co-
produce the Joint Committee for Durham, through which the relevant 
statutory bodies delegate decision making on specific functions/services/ 
populations to the Joint Committee.  She referred to County Durham Care 
Partnership developments, noting ten integration projects continuing to be 
delivered, and agreement for two new joint posts in Mental Health and 
Learning Disabilities. 
 
The Executive Director of Place Based Delivery (Tees Valley & Central) 
North East & North Cumbria ICB, David Gallagher noted there was a lot 
going on nationally, a lot of policy and a lot of work in County Durham in 
response, looking after local people.  He noted the Clinical Commissioning 
Groups (CCGs) had been dissolved, however, work would build upon the 
previous strong relationships.  He added the vast majority of CCG staff would 
transfer to the ICB and that would help in terms of building on those excellent 
relationships.  He added he felt County Durham was in a very good place 
moving forward .   
 
The Chair thanked all those involved with the former CCGs for their work and 
attendance at the Board, especially Dr S Finlay, Dr J Smith, F Jassat and N 
Bailey and agreed to write to them on behalf of the Board. 
 
 

10 Annual Performance Updates 
 
The Board received an update presentation from the Strategy Team Leader, 
Angela Harrington on Annual Performance in respect of the Joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS) and an update from the Strategic Programme 
Manager Integration, Paul Copeland in respect of the Better Care Fund 
(BCF) (for copy see file of minutes). 
 
Councillor T Henderson asked for clarification in terms of how COVID deaths 
had impacted on the life expectancy calculations and what that meant for 
future calculations.  The Strategy Team Leader noted that ‘healthy life 
expectancy’ did not equate to ‘life expectancy’ and noted that healthy 
behaviour had other benefits in terms of improved quality of life.  She 
outlined that life expectancy nationally during the COVID-19 period had saw 
the largest year-on-year drop since 1981.   
 
She added that at the Local Authority level, three year’s worth of data was 
pooled and the last data set was for 2018,19,20 and therefore contained 
around nine months of data relating to the pandemic period.   

Page 10



She explained that on local data it did not seem as pronounced as national 
trends, though once data had been refreshed for the next three year period, it 
would continue to be tracked. 
 
The Chair asked as regards the eight percent reduction in care home 
admissions and asked if this was due to a change in perception as regards 
supported living, or just as a result of the pandemic.  The Strategic 
Programme Manager Integration noted that culture had changed care in the 
home environment which was more prevalent.  He noted there were also 
options such as ‘extra care’ as a level in between in the home and residential 
care. 
 
Resolved: 
 
(a) That the key messages and detailed analysis relating to the JHWS key 

objectives be noted; 
(b) That the Board consider where further action may be required to 

improve specific outcomes. 
(c) That the contents of the BCF Performance report be noted. 
(d) That the Board receive future updates in relation to BCF performance.  
 
 

11 Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report 2021-22 
 
The Board received a report from the Strategic Manager Partnerships 
relating to the Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report 2021-22 for 
agreement by the Board (for copy see file of minutes).  The Chair noted the 
thanks of the Board to all partners for all of their hard work over the last two 
years. 
 
Councillor T Henderson asked how we could share all of the good work with 
our partners.  The Strategic Manager (Partnerships) noted there would be 
promotion through partners’ executives and there would be a press release 
when the report was presented at Cabinet.  The Corporate Director of Adult 
and Health Services noted the Mental Health Alliance to attend in future to 
give feedback to the Board. 
 
Resolved: 
 
(a) That the Health and Wellbeing Annual Report 2021-22 be agreed. 
(b) That the timeline and next steps outlined in the report be noted. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 11



12 Health and Wellbeing Board Campaigns 
 
The Board noted a presentation from the Director of Public Health on the 
following public health campaigns (for copy of presentation see file of 
minutes).  The Board noted that questions could be directed to the Director of 
Public Health should any members require additional information on the key 
campaigns. 
 
Resolved:  
 
That the information contained within the presentation be noted. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 12



Health and Wellbeing Board

28 September 2022

Health and Social Care 

Integration Update
Jane Robinson Corporate Director Adult and Health Services

Michael Laing Director of Integrated Community Services

P
age 13

A
genda Item

 6



Format

• Place based governance – Joint Committee

• County Durham Care Partnership changes

• Integration Programme

• Draft guidance for Health and Wellbeing Boards and 
Overview and Scrutiny Committees

• Developing areas of work

• Thank you and questions

P
age 14



Place Based Governance
• County Durham Care Partnership (CDCP) have a preference for a Joint 

Committee for health and care in County Durham as our place based 
governance arrangement

• New Integrated Care Board (ICB) moving through a transition period and 
have outlined what could be delivered at place based level

• At the May 2022 meeting Sam Allen, Chief Executive, ICB offered to “co-
produce” a Joint Committee

• Approval from Cabinet on 14 September 2022 to begin discussions and 
have further reports with more detail

• Aiming for “shadow” arrangements in December 2022 and Joint 
Committee active from April 2023

• Central role for this Board

P
age 15



County Durham Care Partnership 
Changes
• Changes following introduction of the ICB on 1 July 2022 to replace the 

County Durham CCG

• Continued commitment from partners to the County Durham Care 
Partnership

• Regular meetings in diaries with relevant agendas covering major issues, 
challenges and successes

• Supporting groups covering planning and investment, workforce etc being 
refined

• Acute and Primary and Community Groups meeting “in common”

• Further work in moving to “life courses” and a shared Quality Strategy 

P
age 16



Integration Programme

• Working over 10 operational areas

• Main aim to streamline processes and give customers and staff a better 
experience of health and care

• Good progress in improving therapies, hospital discharge and customer 
contact

• New Urgent Community Response Team set up across health and care

• Review of Teams Around Patients, Enhanced Health in Care Homes

• Quality workshop on 27 September 2022

• Anticipatory care guidance expected October 2022 

P
age 17



Draft Guidance

• Health and Care Act given Royal Assent in April 2022

• New Guidance starting to be published in draft form

• Draft guidance on role of this Board in working with the Integrated Care 
Partnership (ICP) and an Integrated Care Strategy

• Draft Guidance for Overview and Scrutiny Committees about working 
with the ICP

• Emphasis on the importance of place based working and the role of this 
Board

• No Guidance as yet on Joint Committees

P
age 18



Developing Areas of Work
• Discussions on the Joint Committee scheduled

• Moving to Thematic Groups based on “life courses” – Starting Well, 
Living Well, Ageing Well

• Aligning Working Groups across County Durham to the CDCP and 
potential Joint Committee

• New posts approved for further integration of adult, children and 
young people’s services

• Developing our approach to engagement across health and care

• New Workforce Project underway

• Greater health and care involvement in the Inclusive Economic 
Strategy, Procurement and Climate Change

P
age 19



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Health and Wellbeing Board 

28 September 2022 

Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 

2022-25 

 

Report of Jane Robinson, Corporate Director, Adult and Health 
Services, Durham County Council 

Amanda Healy, Director of Public Health County Durham, Adults 
and Health Services, Durham County Council 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide 

Purpose of the Report 

1 The purpose of this report is to present the Health and Wellbeing Board 
with the Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment (PNA) for agreement – 
attached at Appendix 2. 

2 Under the Health and Social Care Act (2012), the Health and Wellbeing 
Board (HWB) is responsible for the production of a Pharmaceutical 
Needs Assessment (PNA) every 3 years.  

3 The next PNA is due for publication by the HWB on 1 October 2022 at 
https://www.durhaminsight.info/pna/ (deferred due to the pandemic) and 
a final draft has been agreed by the PNA Steering Group Members 
(Appendix 3) following the statutory 60-day public consultation which 
ran from 16 May to 14 July 2022 (PNA timeline - attached at Appendix 
4).  

Executive summary 

4 A Health and Wellbeing Board is required to assess the need for 
pharmaceutical services in its area and to publish a statement of that 
assessment (i.e. a PNA) every 3 years. 

5 A PNA considers the health needs of the population, the current 
provision of pharmaceutical services commissioned by NHS England 
and Improvement (NHSE&I) that can meet health needs, and therefore 
whether there are any potential gaps in pharmaceutical service delivery 
over a 3-year period. If gaps are identified, a PNA then describes any 
needs for, or improvements or better access to specified 
pharmaceutical services in a specified area. This can then trigger 

Page 21

Agenda Item 7

https://www.durhaminsight.info/pna/


pharmaceutical applications to meet those needs or to secure those 
improvements or better access to pharmaceutical services. 

6 The HWB is required to publish the next PNA by 1 October 2022.  

Recommendation 

7 Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board are recommended to 
agree the final draft of the PNA 2022-25. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 22



Background 

8 A PNA is an assessment of need for pharmaceutical services in a HWB 
area. Pharmaceutical services are nationally commissioned services 
provided by community pharmacies, dispensing appliance contractors, 
and dispensaries in GP practices. 

9 A PNA: 

(a) considers the demographics of the area and any expected 
changes within the 3-year lifetime of the document; 

(b) identifies the health needs of the population and which needs can 
be met by the provision of pharmaceutical services;  

(c) describes and maps the provision of pharmaceutical services 
commissioned by NHSE&I. 

10 A PNA then considers whether there are any potential gaps in 
pharmaceutical service delivery over a 3-year period.  

11 If gaps in pharmaceutical services are identified, a PNA then describes 
any needs for, or improvements or better access to specified 
pharmaceutical services in a specified area. This can then trigger 
pharmaceutical applications to NHSE&I to meet those needs or to 
secure those improvements or better access to pharmaceutical 
services. 

12 The PNA for County Durham links to the health needs identified in the 
Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) and the priorities in the Joint 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS). 

13 The PNA Steering Group leads on the development of the PNA as a 
sub-group of the HWB, working to the PNA timeline.  

14 The final draft PNA 2022-25 describes the public views of pharmacy 
services that were gathered during the preparation of the PNA and then 
during the statutory public consultation - attached at Appendix 5.  

15 The key conclusion of the final draft PNA 2022-25 is that there are still 
sufficient pharmaceutical services across County Durham (including 
services in rural areas). This can be demonstrated with the following 
points in the Executive Summary of the final draft PNA 2022-25 – 
attached at Appendix 6: 

(a) There is a good distribution of pharmaceutical services in areas of 
high population density, and in areas with more significant health 
needs (i.e. areas with a high population density of older people, 
and in areas of deprivation); 

Page 23



(b) A reasonable distribution of pharmacies exists with extended and 
weekend opening hours in all localities; 

(c) Out of area pharmaceutical services do not provide a necessary 
dispensing service in County Durham (i.e. residents are not 
reliant on pharmaceutical services outside the county); 

(d) The estimated builds of future housing developments by 2025 will 
not require new pharmaceutical services; 

(e) County Durham has 24 pharmacies per 100,000 population. This 
is higher than the England average of 21 per 100,000; 

(f) Public surveys of pharmaceutical services indicate that on 
average 92% of people who responded stated that they could 
easily access pharmaceutical services.   

16 The Executive Summary also includes the following key statements: 

(a) The provision of all essential and necessary advanced services 
(New Medicine Service and Community Pharmacist Consultation 
Service) in County Durham are adequate to meet the current and 
future needs for pharmaceutical services;   

(b) The provision of the other relevant advanced service, the 
Community Pharmacy Seasonal Influenza Vaccination is 
adequate however a more equitable provision is required across 
all localities; 

(c) The widespread provision of the new other relevant advanced 
services (the Hypertension Case-Finding Service and the 
Smoking Cessation Service) should be encouraged.  

Main implications 

17 The HWB is responsible for the production of a PNA every 3 years, and 
the next PNA is due for publication by the HWB on 1 October 2022. 

18 A final draft has been agreed by the PNA Steering Group following the 
statutory 60-day public consultation.  

Conclusion 

19 Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board are asked to agree the 
final draft of the PNA 2022-25. 

Authors 

Claire Jones claire.jones2@durham.gov.uk 

Glen Wilson  glen.wilson2@durham.gov.uk 

Page 24

file://///duch-2910/edpdserv$/Partnerships/Partnerships%20Team/Health%20and%20Wellbeing%20Board/Meetings/Officer%20Group/Meetings%202022-23/3.%205%20September%202022/Reports/Archive/claire.jones2@durham.gov.uk
mailto:glen.wilson2@durham.gov.uk


Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

It is a statutory duty of the HWB to publish a PNA in line with The National 

Health Service (Pharmaceutical and Local Pharmaceutical Services) 

Regulations 2013). 

Finance 

No significant implications. 

Consultation 

A statutory 60-day public consultation is required by legislation in line with The 

National Health Service (Pharmaceutical and Local Pharmaceutical Services) 

Regulations 2013). 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

It is a requirement to consider the implications of the Equality Act 2010. 

Climate Change 

No significant implications. 

Human Rights 

It is a requirement to consider the implications of the Equality Act 2010. 

Crime and Disorder 

No significant implications. 

Staffing 

No significant implications. 

Accommodation 

No significant implications. 

Risk 

The publication of the next PNA must be achieved by the HWB by 1 October 

2022.  

Procurement 

No significant implications. 

Page 25



Appendix 2:  Final Draft - Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment  
2022-25 

 

Attached as a separate document. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 26



Appendix 3:  PNA Steering Group Members 

  

Name Role 

 

Claire Jones PNA Lead, Public Health Pharmacy Adviser, 

Public Health, DCC 

Glen Wilson Chair, Consultant in Public Health, Public 

Health, DCC 

John Mitchell  Research and Consultant Officer, Research 

and Public Health Intelligence, DCC 

John Russell Senior Policy Officer, Spatial Policy Team, 

Regeneration and Local Services, DCC 

Julie Bradbrook Partnership Team Manager, Neighbourhoods 

and Climate Change, DCC 

Emma Morris  Healthcare Partnership Manager, North of 

England, Boots UK Limited, Community 

Pharmacy County Durham 

Kate Huddart   Head of Medicines Optimisation, NHS County 

Durham CCG  

Christopher Cunnington-

Shore  

Chair, Healthwatch County Durham   

 

 

  

Page 27



Appendix 4:  Timeline for the development of the PNA 

 

Meeting Date Purpose 

PNA Steering Group  By the 

beginning of 

April 

To agree first draft to send to 

Management Teams  

Public Health Senior 

Management Team 

27/04/22 For comment  

PNA Steering Group  06/05/22  Agree consultation draft for statutory 

consultation 

Briefing on PNA with 

Cllr Sexton 

April 2022 Briefing for Cllr Sexton on PNA 

consultation 

Statutory 60-day 

consultation  

16/05/22 – 

14/07/22 

Public consultation 

Adults Wellbeing and 

Health Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee 

15/07/22 Consultation 

PNA Steering Group  28/07/22  To agree final draft to send to 

Management Teams and HWB 

Public Health Senior 

Management Team 

03/08/22 Revised PNA following consultation  

Adults and Health 

Services Senior 

Management Team 

11/08/22  Revised PNA following consultation 

Corporate 

Management Team 

17/08/22 Revised PNA following consultation 

Briefing on PNA for Cllr 

Hood 

September 

2022 

Briefing for Cllr Hood on PNA before 

comes to Health and Wellbeing Board 

Officer Health and 

Wellbeing Group 

05/09/22 Revised PNA following consultation 

Page 28



Meeting Date Purpose 

Health and Wellbeing 

Board 

28/09/22  Formal agreement of PNA 

Publication on DCC 

website 

 

1/10/22 Content required at 

https://www.durhaminsight.info/pna/:  

 Final PNA document 

 Section for supplementary 
statements 

 Pharmaceutical services listing 
and map 

 

  

Page 29

https://www.durhaminsight.info/pna/


Appendix 5:  Public views of pharmacy services   

 
Part of the process of producing a draft PNA for statutory public consultation is 
to gather public views at an early stage. This was done by using the results of 
Healthwatch and Community Champion surveys in 2020 and 2022, 
respectively. These are summarised as: 

Healthwatch  

Healthwatch County Durham carried out an online survey at the beginning of 
2020 to gain an initial insight of the experiences of people accessing 
pharmaceutical services in County Durham. Of the 260 responses received: 
 

 94% can easily access pharmacy services; 

 54% access pharmacy services at least monthly; 

 55% always visit the same pharmacy service; 

 62% normally get to their pharmacy by car or taxi; 

 72% use a high street pharmacy with 25% use a GP practice 
dispensary; 

 15% have used an online / internet pharmacy. 
Community Champions  

In January 2022, the Community Champion network promoted an online 
survey to their local communities. Of the 629 responses received: 
 

 92% can easily access pharmacy services; 

 6% access pharmacy services at least weekly, and 55% access 
pharmacy services less than once a week but at least monthly;  

 57% always visit the same pharmacy service, and 35% usually 
visit the same pharmacy service;  

 52% normally get to their pharmacy by car or taxi; 

 55% use a community pharmacy with 41% use a GP practice 
dispensary; 

 3% use an internet pharmacy service; 
Statutory public consultation  

The statutory 60-day public consultation then ran from 16 May to 14 July 
2022. Regulation and national guidance shaped this consultation process. 

The PNA online consultation at https://www.durham.gov.uk/consultation 
contained an overview (e.g. how to obtain a paper copy), the draft PNA and 
links to maps of pharmaceutical services, plus a link to reply either directly to 
pnaconsultation@durham.gov.uk or to respond to an online survey.  

Promotion of the consultation with the statutory consultees was via: 

Page 30

https://www.durham.gov.uk/consultation
file:///C:/Users/adam.farrell/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/6OLKIN5E/pnaconsultation@durham.gov.uk


 Email from consultations@durham.gov.uk to Community 
Pharmacy County Durham, Local Medical Committee, 
Healthwatch, NHS England, neighbouring HWBs, and hospital 
trusts; 

 HWB letter to all pharmacies and dispensing doctors in County 
Durham.  

 
Promotion of the consultation to the public included: 
 

 Durham County News article in the summer edition;  

 Briefing sent out to e.g. Area Action Partnerships, Community 
Champions, Healthwatch, Voluntary Groups, etc; 

 Social media messages.  
 
All responses received are described in Appendix 9 of the PNA. A total of 6 
organisational responses were received (including from the Adults Wellbeing 
and Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee), plus comments from 333 
residents. 
 
Of the 333 County Durham resident responses received: 
 

 91% can easily access pharmacy services; 

 31% access pharmacy services at least weekly, and 62% access 
pharmacy services less than once a week but at least monthly;  

 55% always visit the same pharmacy service, and 40% usually 
visit the same pharmacy service;  

 59% normally get to their pharmacy by car or taxi; 

 67% use a community pharmacy with 29% use a GP practice 
dispensary; 

 2% use an internet pharmacy service.  
 
Of the comments received from organisations; these are described below 
along with the response from the PNA Steering Group (on behalf of the HWB). 

Organisation  Summary of comments  PNA Steering Group 
response  

Adults 
Wellbeing and 
Health 
Overview and 
Scrutiny 
Committee  

Members welcome input of 
County Durham Healthwatch 
and the Community Champion 
network and the survey work 
undertaken to gauge the 
experiences of people accessing 
pharmaceutical services in 
County Durham. 

Feedback received from these 
surveys is mostly positive with a 

This concern is noted 
by the HWB. 

For the Chester-le-
Street locality, public 
survey results (n=91) 
indicates that on 
average 94% of 
residents can easily 
access pharmacy 
services. Pharmacy 

Page 31

file:///C:/Users/adam.farrell/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/6OLKIN5E/consultations@durham.gov.uk


high percentage of respondents 
stating that they can easily 
access pharmacy services. 

Lack of pharmacy services in 
certain areas is a concern 
particularly the absence of any 
100-hour pharmacies, 
pharmacies with core opening 
hours after 6pm weekdays and 
any with core opening hours on 
a Sunday in the Chester-le-
Street locality. 

Committee notes and supports 
the statements in the draft PNA. 

Whilst outside the scope of the 
PNA process, the Committee 
would like the current supply 
chain issues raised with 
appropriate bodies including 
CPCD. 

services with evening 
and Sunday opening 
times are available in 
the near by Durham 
City and Birtley.  

Residents in Chester-le-
Street can access 
between 1 and 4 
pharmacies within a 20-
minute walk, and on 
average over 50 
pharmacies within a 20-
minute drive.  

 

Horden Parish 
Council 

Horden North Ward has a 
significant population with health 
challenges and no pharmacy 
services within the ward, with 
some residents, particularly the 
"Crossroads Estate" having a 
significant walk to access 
services. 

This concern is noted 
by the HWB. 

For the Easington 
locality, public survey 
results (n=97) indicates 
that on average 91% of 
residents can easily 
access pharmacy 
services. 

Residents in Horden 
North can access 2 
pharmacies within a 20-
minute walk, and over 
40 pharmacies within a 
20-minute drive. 

As described in section 
4.4, residents have a 
choice of how to access 
pharmaceutical 
services. 

Page 32



Coxhoe Parish 
Council  

Coxhoe Parish Councillors are 
pleased that Coxhoe has a 
chemist, and they would not 
want to lose it. 

 

Community 
Pharmacy 
County 
Durham 

Information in the PNA provide a 
definite case that no more 
community pharmacies are 
required to secure the adequate 
provision of pharmaceutical 
services. CPCD fully supports 
the key conclusion that there are 
sufficient pharmaceutical 
services across Co Durham. For 
clarity and consistency this 
statement should be included in 
the PNA 2022. 

CPCD notes that in paragraph 
3.3.2 the draft PNA states CPCD 
should encourage as many 
pharmacies as possible to 
provide the following services: 

•   Influenza vaccination service 
•   Hypertension case finding 
service 
•   Discharge smoking service 
 
One of CPCD’s roles is to make 
pharmacies aware of the 
community pharmacy services 
that are commissioned, either 
locally or nationally, and to 
support those pharmacies which 
wish 

to sign up to, and provide, those 
services. Pharmacies will make 
a decision to engage based on 
their own individual 
circumstances. 

With regards to providing the 
influenza vaccination service, 
County Durham pharmacies 
have been willing and very 
active providers, a pattern which 

The HWB notes the 
comments on the 
influenza vaccination 
service. A more 
equitable provision 
across County Durham 
is encouraged where 
appropriate.  

Summary of changes 
made to the PNA: 

Statement of sufficient 
pharmaceutical services 
across County Durham 
included in Executive 
Summary.  

In paragraph 3.3.2 a 
recognition that 
pharmacies will make a 
decision to engage in 
services based on their 
own individual 
circumstances. 

Section added 
describing information 
on forthcoming 
pharmaceutical 
services. 

 

 

Page 33



has continued with the Covid 
vaccination service since 2020. 

As at 20 June 2022, 48% of 
County Durham pharmacies 
have signed up to provide the 
hypertension case finding 
service. 

Community pharmacy activity 
under the Discharge Smoking 
Services relies on referrals to 
pharmacy from Trusts. Currently, 
the Trusts have not had chance 
to implement the necessary 
processes to facilitate referrals. 
When this happens, and 
referrals are frequent and in 
sufficient numbers, it is 
anticipated that more 
pharmacies will register as 
providers. 

Add an additional section which 
includes information about 
forthcoming services. 

Boots UK 
Limited  

Recent changes in opening 
hours of a number of Boots 
pharmacies have not been 
reflected in the draft PNA. 
 
 
 
 
Remove significant from section 
4.1.1 description of Newgate 
Street, Bishop Auckland Boots 
pharmacy closure. 

Opening hours in 
Appendix 8 checked 
(reflects information 
provided by NHS in 
October 2021, with 
subsequent changes up 
to May 2022).  
 
Wording altered for 
consistency in section 
4.1.1. 

Deerness 
Valley Nursery  

There is only one pharmacy in 
Ushaw Moor for Ushaw Moor, 
New Brancepeth, Bearpark, 
Broompark 
 
 
 
 
 

This concern is noted 
by the HWB. 
For the Durham locality, 
public survey results 
(n=173) indicates that 
on average 88% of 
residents can easily 
access pharmacy 
services. 

Page 34



 
 
 
 
 
 
Provision of healthy start 
vitamins by pharmacies.  

Residents in this area 
have access to Ushaw 
Moor Pharmacy and 
over 70 pharmacies 
within a 20-minute 
drive. 
As described in section 
4.4, residents have a 
choice of how to access 
pharmaceutical 
services. 
In 2022, a locally 
commissioned 
pharmacy service to 
supply healthy start 
vitamins is being 
considered. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 35



Appendix 6:  Executive summary in final draft PNA 2022-25  

County Durham is a predominantly rural county with a total population of 

approximately 533,000 people. The County has a large and increasing aging 

population. The County experiences higher levels of deprivation than the 

national average, and hence significant health inequalities.  

A Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment (PNA) is an assessment of need for 

pharmaceutical services in a Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB) area. It is 

used by NHS England and Improvement (NHSE&I) in its consideration of 

applications to join the pharmaceutical list. 

A PNA considers the health needs of the population, the provision of 

pharmaceutical services commissioned by NHSE&I that can support health 

needs, and therefore whether there are any potential gaps in pharmaceutical 

service delivery over a 3-year period.  

The PNA for County Durham links to the health needs identified in the Joint 

Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) and the priorities in the Joint Health and 

Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS). 

Potential gaps in pharmaceutical services could be for: 

1. Geographical gaps in the location of premises. 
2. Geographical gaps in the provision of services. 
3. Gaps in the times at which, or days on which, services are provided. 

 
Once any gaps are identified they are articulated as needs for pharmaceutical 

services (which can include a range or one specific pharmaceutical service) in 

a specified area at a specified time; or improvements or better access to 

pharmaceutical services (which can include a range or one specific 

pharmaceutical service) in a specified area at a specified time. This can then 

trigger applications to meet those needs, or to secure those improvements or 

better access to pharmaceutical services.  

The National Health Service (Pharmaceutical and Local Pharmaceutical 

Services) Regulations 20131 require PNAs to include statements of the 

pharmaceutical services that the HWB has identified that are not provided 

within its area but which the board is satisfied:   

 need to be provided to meet a current need 

 will need to be provided in specified circumstances to meet a future 
need 

                                         
1 https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/349/contents    

Page 36

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/349/contents


 would currently secure improvements or better access 

 would, if they were provided in specified future circumstances, secure 
future improvements or better access. 

 

The key conclusion of the PNA 2022-25 is that there are sufficient 

pharmaceutical services across County Durham. The PNA includes 

information on the following: 

 The number and geographical distribution of pharmacies and 
dispensing GP practices in County Durham. In December 2021, there 
are 127 pharmacies and 13 dispensing GP practices in County Durham. 
These are presented in 6 localities. There are no dispensing appliance 
contractors in County Durham. 

 There is a good distribution of pharmaceutical services in areas of high 
population density, and in areas with more significant health needs (i.e. 
areas with a high population density of older people, and in areas of 
deprivation).  

 A reasonable distribution of pharmacies exists with extended and 
weekend opening hours in all localities.  

 Out of area pharmaceutical services do not provide a necessary 
dispensing service in County Durham. 

 The estimated builds of future housing developments by 2025 will not 
require new pharmaceutical services. 

 County Durham has 24 pharmacies per 100,000 population. This is 
higher than the England average of 21 per 100,000. 

 Public surveys of pharmaceutical services indicate that on average 92% 
of people who responded stated that they could easily access 
pharmaceutical services.   
 

The PNA contains the following statements: 

The pharmaceutical services that the HWB has identified as services that are 

necessary to meet the need for pharmaceutical services are: 

 All essential services 

 The following advanced services: 
 New Medicine Service  
 Community Pharmacist Consultation Service 

 

The other relevant pharmaceutical services that the HWB has identified as not 

being necessary to meet the need for pharmaceutical services but will secure 

improvements or better access are: 

 The following advanced services: 
 Community Pharmacy Seasonal Influenza Vaccination 

Page 37



 Hypertension Case-Finding Service 
 Smoking Cessation Service 

 

The pharmaceutical services that have been identified as services that are not 

provided but which the HWB is satisfied need to be provided to meet a current 

or future need for pharmaceutical services are: 

 Current need: The provision of all essential and necessary advanced 
services in County Durham are currently adequate to meet the needs 
for pharmaceutical services.   

 To meet a future need: The provision of all essential and necessary 
advanced services in County Durham are adequate to meet the future 
needs for pharmaceutical services.   
 

The pharmaceutical services that have been identified as services that would 

secure improvements or better access to pharmaceutical services, either now 

or in the future are: 

 Current improvements or better access: The provision of the other 
relevant advanced service, the Community Pharmacy Seasonal 
Influenza Vaccination is adequate however a more equitable provision 
is required across all localities. 

 In specified future circumstances to secure improvements or better 
access: The widespread provision of the new other relevant advanced 
services (the Hypertension Case-Finding Service and the Smoking 
Cessation Service) should be encouraged.  

 

Other NHS services that affect the need for pharmaceutical services are also 

described. 

The PNA and accompanying maps, the up-to-date map of pharmaceutical 

services, and any supplementary statements can be found at 

https://www.durhaminsight.info/pna/.  

 

 

 

 

Page 38

https://www.durhaminsight.info/pna/


 

1 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment   
 

2022-25 

 
  

Page 39



 

2 
 

Contents 
 

Section 

Executive summary 
 

Section one: Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 
 

1.1 What is a PNA?  
 

1.2 The regulations and content of a PNA 
 

1.3 Pharmaceutical services  
1.3.1 Definition of pharmaceutical services  
1.3.2 Necessary pharmaceutical services  
1.3.3 Other relevant pharmaceutical services  
1.3.4 Other NHS services  
 

1.4 Market entry  
 

1.5 Process followed for developing the PNA 
 

1.6 Process for updating the PNA  
 

1.7 Localities for the purpose of the PNA  
 

Section two: Population profile and health needs  
 

2.1 Population health needs  
2.1.1 Population profile 
2.1.2 Life expectancy 
2.1.3 Causes of premature mortality 
2.1.4 Health inequalities 
2.1.5 Lifestyle behaviours   

2.1.5i Substance misuse 
2.1.5ii Smoking 
2.1.5iii Alcohol consumption 

 

2.2 Priorities for health and social care  
2.2.1 National and regional priorities  
2.2.2 Local priorities  

2.2.2i Joint Strategic Needs Assessment  
2.2.2ii Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy  

 

2.3 Pharmaceutical services 
2.3.1 Essential services 
2.3.2 Advanced services 
 

Section three: Types of pharmaceutical service  
 

3.1 Pharmaceutical services  
3.1.1 Essential services 
3.1.2 Advanced services 

3.1.2i New Medicine Service  
3.1.2ii Community Pharmacy Seasonal Influenza Vaccination 

Page 40



 

3 
 

3.1.2iii Community Pharmacist Consultation Service  
3.1.2iv Hypertension Case-Finding Service 
3.1.2v Smoking Cessation Service 
3.1.2vi The Appliance Use Review and Stoma Appliance    Customisation Services 

3.1.3 Enhanced services 
3.1.4 Pharmacy Quality Scheme  
3.1.5 Distance selling premises 
3.1.6 Dispensing appliance contractors  
3.1.7 Dispensing doctors  
 

3.2 Other NHS services 
3.2.1 Public health commissioned services  

3.2.1i Sexual health services 
3.2.1i(a) Emergency Oral Hormonal Contraception Service 
3.2.1i(b) Chlamydia Screening Service  
3.2.1i(c) C Card Scheme  
3.2.1ii Stop smoking services  
3.2.1ii(a) Nicotine Replacement Therapy Voucher Scheme 
3.2.1ii(b) Level 2 Stop Smoking Service 
3.2.1iii Substance misuse services 
3.2.1iii(a) Alcohol Brief Intervention Service 
3.2.1iii(b) Supervised Consumption Service  
3.2.1iii(c) Naloxone Supply Service 
3.2.1iii(d) Needle Exchange Service 

3.2.2 CCG commissioned services 
3.2.2i Minor Ailment Service 
3.2.2ii Reimbursement of Tuberculosis Medication Costs Scheme  
3.2.2iii Food Thickening Voucher Scheme  
3.2.2iv Palliative Care Scheme  
3.2.2v Flu Antiviral Medicines Service  
3.2.2vi Minor Eye Conditions and Treatment Service  

3.2.3 ICS commissioned services  
3.2.3i Walk-in CPCS Emergency Medicine Supply 
3.2.3ii Think Pharmacy First – Minor Ailment Service  

 

3.3. Service provision by community pharmacy 
3.3.1 The necessary and other relevant pharmaceutical services 
3.3.2 Advanced pharmacy services 
3.3.3 CCG locally commissioned services 
3.3.4 Public health locally commissioned services 
3.3.5 Non-commissioned services 
 

3.4 Future service developments  
 

Section four: Access to pharmaceutical services 
 

4.1 Location of pharmaceutical services  
4.1.1 Pharmacy services   
4.1.2 Dispensing GP practices 
4.1.3 Dispensing appliance contractors  
4.1.4 Out of area dispensing 
4.2 Opening hours of pharmacy services 
4.2.1 Access to pharmacy services out of hours  
 

Page 41



 

4 
 

4.3 The public view 
4.3.1 Healthwatch  
4.3.2 Community Champions  
 

4.4 Choice of pharmaceutical services  
 

4.5 Residents with a protected characteristic  
 

4.6 Future developments 
4.6.1 Regeneration sites and future employment opportunities 
4.6.2 Housing developments  

4.6.2i Dales 
4.6.2ii Easington 
4.6.2iii Derwentside 
4.6.2iv Sedgefield 
4.6.2v Durham 
4.6.2vi Chester-le-Street 

 

List of abbreviations 
 

 
Appendix 1:   The National Health Service (Pharmaceutical and Local Pharmaceutical 

Services) Regulations 2013 
 
Appendix 2:   Identifying gaps in pharmaceutical services 
 
Appendix 3:   Timeline for the development of the PNA 
 
Appendix 4:   Process for updating the PNA 
 
Appendix 5:   Targets in the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy  
 
Appendix 6:    Pharmaceutical service maps 
 
Appendix 7:    Results of community pharmacy survey work 
 
Appendix 8:    Location and opening hours of pharmaceutical services 
 
Appendix 9:    Public views of pharmacy services 
 
Appendix 10:  Housing developments in County Durham of 100 properties or more, and 

estimated builds by 2025  
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 42



 

5 
 

 
Executive summary 

 
County Durham is a predominantly rural county with a total population of approximately 
533,000 people. The County has a large and increasing aging population. The County 
experiences higher levels of deprivation than the national average, and hence significant 
health inequalities.  
 
A Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment (PNA) is an assessment of need for pharmaceutical 
services in a Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB) area. It is used by NHS England and 
Improvement (NHSE&I) in its consideration of applications to join the pharmaceutical list. 
 
A PNA considers the health needs of the population, the provision of pharmaceutical 
services commissioned by NHSE&I that can support health needs, and therefore whether 
there are any potential gaps in pharmaceutical service delivery over a 3-year period.  
 
The PNA for County Durham links to the health needs identified in the Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment (JSNA) and the priorities in the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS). 
 
Potential gaps in pharmaceutical services could be for: 

1. Geographical gaps in the location of premises. 
2. Geographical gaps in the provision of services. 
3. Gaps in the times at which, or days on which, services are provided. 

 
Once any gaps are identified they are articulated as needs for pharmaceutical services 
(which can include a range or one specific pharmaceutical service) in a specified area at a 
specified time; or improvements or better access to pharmaceutical services (which can 
include a range or one specific pharmaceutical service) in a specified area at a specified 
time. This can then trigger applications to meet those needs, or to secure those 
improvements or better access to pharmaceutical services.  
 
The National Health Service (Pharmaceutical and Local Pharmaceutical Services) 
Regulations 20131 require PNAs to include statements of the pharmaceutical services that 
the HWB has identified that are not provided within its area but which the board is satisfied:   

 need to be provided to meet a current need 

 will need to be provided in specified circumstances to meet a future need 

 would currently secure improvements or better access 

 would, if they were provided in specified future circumstances, secure future 
improvements or better access. 

 
The key conclusion of the PNA 2022-25 is that there are sufficient pharmaceutical services 
across County Durham. The PNA includes information on the following: 
 

 The number and geographical distribution of pharmacies and dispensing GP 
practices in County Durham. In December 2021, there are 127 pharmacies and 13 
dispensing GP practices in County Durham. These are presented in 6 localities. 
There are no dispensing appliance contractors in County Durham. 

 There is a good distribution of pharmaceutical services in areas of high population 
density, and in areas with more significant health needs (i.e. areas with a high 
population density of older people, and in areas of deprivation).  

 A reasonable distribution of pharmacies exists with extended and weekend opening 
hours in all localities.  

                                            
1 https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/349/contents    

Page 43

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/349/contents


 

6 
 

 Out of area pharmaceutical services do not provide a necessary dispensing service 
in County Durham. 

 The estimated builds of future housing developments by 2025 will not require new 
pharmaceutical services. 

 County Durham has 24 pharmacies per 100,000 population. This is higher than the 
England average of 21 per 100,000. 

 Public surveys of pharmaceutical services indicate that on average 92% of people 
who responded stated that they could easily access pharmaceutical services.   

 
The PNA contains the following statements: 
 
The pharmaceutical services that the HWB has identified as services that are necessary to 
meet the need for pharmaceutical services are: 

 All essential services 

 The following advanced services: 
 New Medicine Service  
 Community Pharmacist Consultation Service 

 
The other relevant pharmaceutical services that the HWB has identified as not being 
necessary to meet the need for pharmaceutical services but will secure improvements or 
better access are: 

 The following advanced services: 
 Community Pharmacy Seasonal Influenza Vaccination 
 Hypertension Case-Finding Service 
 Smoking Cessation Service 

 
The pharmaceutical services that have been identified as services that are not provided but 
which the HWB is satisfied need to be provided to meet a current or future need for 
pharmaceutical services are: 

 Current need: The provision of all essential and necessary advanced services in 
County Durham are currently adequate to meet the needs for pharmaceutical 
services.   

 To meet a future need: The provision of all essential and necessary advanced 
services in County Durham are adequate to meet the future needs for 
pharmaceutical services.   
 

The pharmaceutical services that have been identified as services that would secure 
improvements or better access to pharmaceutical services, either now or in the future are: 

 Current improvements or better access: The provision of the other relevant advanced 
service, the Community Pharmacy Seasonal Influenza Vaccination is adequate 
however a more equitable provision is required across all localities. 

 In specified future circumstances to secure improvements or better access: The 
widespread provision of the new other relevant advanced services (the Hypertension 
Case-Finding Service and the Smoking Cessation Service) should be encouraged.  

 
Other NHS services that affect the need for pharmaceutical services are also described. 
 
The PNA and accompanying maps, the up-to-date map of pharmaceutical services, and any 
supplementary statements can be found at https://www.durhaminsight.info/pna/.  
 
  

Page 44

https://www.durhaminsight.info/pna/


 

7 
 

Section one: Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment 
 

Key points 
 

A PNA is an assessment of need for pharmaceutical services commissioned by NHSE&I in a 
HWB area. These pharmaceutical services include the range of services commissioned by 
NHSE&I from pharmacies (including distance selling premises), dispensing appliance 
contractors, and dispensing doctors in rural areas. 
 
A PNA considers the health needs of the population, the provision of pharmaceutical 
services commissioned by NHSE&I that can support health needs, and therefore whether 
there are any potential gaps in pharmaceutical service delivery over a 3-year period. 
 
Once any gaps are identified this can then trigger applications to NHSE&I to meet those 
needs, or to secure those improvements or better access to pharmaceutical services. 
 
The main purpose of the PNA is to inform the submission of applications to NHSE&I for 
inclusion in a pharmaceutical list, and the subsequent determination of such applications.  
 
The localities chosen for this PNA remain as: 
1. Dales 
2. Easington 
3. Derwentside 
4. Sedgefield 
5. Durham 
6. Chester-le-Street 
 

 
1.1 What is a PNA? 
A PNA is an assessment of need for pharmaceutical services in a HWB area. A HWB2 is 
required to assess the need for pharmaceutical services in its area and to publish a 
statement of that assessment (i.e. a PNA). 
 
A PNA considers the health needs of the population (Section 2), the current provision of 
pharmaceutical services commissioned by NHSE&I that can meet health needs (Section 3), 
and therefore whether there are any potential gaps in pharmaceutical service delivery over a 
3-year period. If gaps are identified, a PNA then describes any needs for, or improvements 
or better access to specified pharmaceutical services (which can include a range or one 
specific pharmaceutical service) in a specified area. This can then trigger pharmaceutical 
applications to meet those needs or secure those improvements or better access to 
pharmaceutical services. 
 
1.2 The regulations and content of a PNA 
The National Health Service (Pharmaceutical and Local Pharmaceutical Services) 
Regulations 20133 (the 2013 Regulations) (Appendix 1) set out the minimum information that 
must be contained in a PNA and describe the process that must be followed in its 
development. 
 
Regulation 4 and Schedule 1 of the 2013 Regulations outline the minimum requirements for 
PNAs. In addition, Regulation 9 sets out matters that the HWB is to have regard to.  
In summary the regulations require a series of statements of: 

                                            
2 https://countydurhampartnership.co.uk/health-wellbeing-board/  
3 https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/349/contents    

Page 45

https://countydurhampartnership.co.uk/health-wellbeing-board/
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/349/contents


 

8 
 

 the pharmaceutical services that the HWB has identified as services that are 
necessary to meet the need for pharmaceutical services; 

 the pharmaceutical services that have been identified as services that are not 
provided but which the HWB is satisfied need to be provided in order to meet a 
current or future need for a range of pharmaceutical services or a specific 
pharmaceutical service; 

 the other relevant pharmaceutical services that the HWB has identified as not being 
necessary to meet the need for pharmaceutical services but will secure 
improvements or better access; 

 the pharmaceutical services that have been identified as services that would secure 
improvements or better access to a range of pharmaceutical services or a specific 
pharmaceutical service, either now or in the future; and  

 other NHS services that affect the need for pharmaceutical services or a specific 
pharmaceutical service. 

 
1.3 Pharmaceutical services  
 
1.3.1 Definition of pharmaceutical services 
‘Pharmaceutical services’ is a collective term for the range of services commissioned by 
NHSE&I. In relation to the PNA this includes: 

 essential, advanced and enhanced services provided by pharmacies  

 essential and advanced services provided by dispensing appliance contractors 

 the dispensing service provided by some GP practices in rural areas 

 services provided under a local pharmaceutical services (LPS) contract that are the 
equivalent of essential, advanced and enhanced services (Note: County Durham 
does not have any LPS contracts).  
 

Whilst a clinical commissioning group (CCG) or a local authority may commission ‘locally 
commissioned services’ from pharmacies, these do not fall within the legal definition of 
pharmaceutical services (i.e. locally commissioned services is not a term that can be found 
within the 2013 Regulations), however HWBs are asked to make reference to them in their 
PNAs as ‘other NHS services’. It is anticipated that from July 2022 CCGs will be replaced by 
integrated care boards (ICBs) that will be able to take on delegated responsibility for 
pharmaceutical services, and from April 2023 NHSE&I expects all ICBs to have done so. 
Therefore, from April 2023, some locally commissioned services that are commissioned from 
pharmacies by CCGs will move to the ICBs and will fall then within the definition of 
enhanced services (i.e. can be taken into account as a pharmaceutical service for the 
purposes of the PNA).  
 
1.3.2 Necessary pharmaceutical services  
Once the provision of all pharmaceutical services has been identified the HWB is then 
required to identify those that are necessary services. These are defined within the 2013 
Regulations as those that are necessary to meet the need for pharmaceutical services. 
Once it has determined which services are necessary services the HWB includes a 
statement to this effect within the PNA (Section 1.2).  
 
1.3.3 Other relevant services  
The remaining pharmaceutical services are then deemed to be other relevant services and a 
statement to this effect is included in the PNA (Section 1.2).  
These are pharmaceutical services that the HWB is satisfied are not necessary to meet the 
need for pharmaceutical services, but their provision has secured improvements, or better 
access, to pharmaceutical services. 
 
 

Page 46



 

9 
 

1.3.4 Other NHS services  
The 2013 Regulations then require the PNA to include a statement of the other NHS 
services that the HWB considers affect the need for pharmaceutical services (Section 1.2).  
 
Locally commissioned services (either by CCGs or the local authority) are deemed as ‘other 
NHS services’ in the PNA (Section 1.3.1). 
 
Those NHS services that reduce the need for pharmaceutical services, in particular the 
dispensing service, include: 

 hospital pharmacies 

 personal administration of items by GP practices 

 public health services commissioned by the local authority, and CCG-commissioned 
pharmacy services (as this reduces the need for such services to be commissioned 
as national enhanced services) 

 flu vaccination by GP practices 
NHS services that increase the demand for pharmaceutical services include: 

 GP out of hours services (where a prescription is issued) 

 walk-in centres and minor injury units (where a prescription is issued) 

 community nursing prescribing 

 dental services 
 
1.4 Market entry 
The main purpose of the PNA is to inform the submission of applications for inclusion in a 
pharmaceutical list, and the subsequent determination of such applications.  
 
Section 126 of the NHS Act 20064 places an obligation on NHSE&I (as at October 2021) to 
put arrangements in place so that drugs, medicines and listed appliances5 ordered via NHS 
prescriptions can be supplied to patients. 
Under the 2013 Regulations a person (a pharmacist, dispenser of appliances, or in some 
rural areas a GP) who wishes to provide pharmaceutical services commissioned by NHSE&I 
must apply to be included on the relevant pharmaceutical list. As at October 2021, NHSE&I 
is responsible for preparing, maintaining and publishing pharmaceutical lists in respect of 
each HWB area. Applications for inclusion in one of these lists are submitted to Primary 
Care Support England (PCSE) and determined by NHSE&I. This is known as the NHS 
“market entry” system.6,7 
 
There are a number of different types of application which can be submitted where someone 
wishes to open new pharmacy or dispensing appliance contractor premises: 

1. to meet a current need identified in the PNA 
2. to meet a future need identified in the PNA 
3. to secure improvements or better access identified in the PNA 
4. to secure future improvements or better access identified in PNA 
5. to secure improvements or better access that were not identified in the PNA (i.e. 

unforeseen benefits) 
6. to open distance selling premises.  

 
The first four types of application are based on the PNA for the area of the HWB where the 
applicant wishes to provide services. The 2013 Regulations require PNAs to include 

                                            
4 https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/41/section/126  
5 https://www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pharmacies-gp-practices-and-appliance-contractors/drug-tariff  
6 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/nhs-pharmaceutical-services-assessing-applications  
7 https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/pharmacy-manual/  

Page 47

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/41/section/126
https://www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pharmacies-gp-practices-and-appliance-contractors/drug-tariff
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/nhs-pharmaceutical-services-assessing-applications
https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/pharmacy-manual/


 

10 
 

statements of the pharmaceutical services (Section 1.2) that the HWB has identified that are 
not provided within its area but which the board is satisfied:  

 need to be provided to meet a current need 

 will need to be provided in specified circumstances to meet a future need 

 would currently secure improvements or better access 

 would, if they were provided in specified future circumstances, secure future 
improvements or better access. 

The needs, improvements or better access could be for a particular service or for a range of 
services (Appendix 2). Where the HWB does not identify any needs for, or improvements or 
better access to, pharmaceutical services within the PNA the only types of application for 
new premises that could be submitted are those offering unforeseen benefits or for distance 
selling premises. 
 
Of the two types of application which lead to the opening of new premises that are not based 
on the PNA (those offering unforeseen benefits and those for distance selling premises), in 
2020, these two types of applications accounted for approximately 94% of the applications 
submitted to open new premises (approximately 27% and 67% respectively) in England.8 
Where an applicant submits an unforeseen benefits application, they are offering 
improvements or better access that were not foreseen when the PNA was written but would 
confer significant benefits on people in the area of the HWB. 
 
Community pharmacy contractors that no longer wish to provide NHS services from their 
NHS pharmacy premises must provide their local NHSE&I team with adequate notice. 
Generally, contractors must give at least 3 months’ notice to the NHSE&I in advance of the 
date on which they intend to cease providing pharmaceutical services. The exception is for 
contractors with 100 core hours in which case 6 months’ notice is required.9 
 
1.5 Process followed for developing the PNA 
The PNA process follows Regulations 3-9 and Schedule 1 of the 2013 Regulations 
(Appendix 1): 

 Regulation 3 defines what is meant by pharmaceutical services. 

 Regulation 4 and Schedule 1 set out the minimum information requirements for a 
PNA. 

 Regulation 9 sets out specific matters that the HWB must consider when drafting its 
PNA.  

 Regulation 8 sets out the minimum consultation process that each HWB is required 
to undertake during the development of its PNA. 

 Regulation 6 sets out the circumstances where a HWB board may need to produce a 
new PNA sooner than the usual three yearly cycle, or when a supplementary 
statement may/must be published.  

 
The PNA process also follows the supporting national guidance in the Pharmaceutical needs 
assessments: information pack published by the Department of Health and Social Care 
(DHSC) in 2021.10 This national guidance recommends that a steering group is established 
to support the process of PNA development. The role of the group is to advise and develop 
structures and processes to support the preparation of a comprehensive and robust PNA, 
building on expertise from across the local healthcare community. Establishing the group 
also ensures that the views of the main stakeholders are taken into account throughout the 
process of writing the document. 
 

                                            
8 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pharmaceutical-needs-assessments-information-pack    
9 https://psnc.org.uk/contract-it/market-entry-regulations/  
10 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pharmaceutical-needs-assessments-information-pack   

Page 48

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pharmaceutical-needs-assessments-information-pack
https://psnc.org.uk/contract-it/market-entry-regulations/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pharmaceutical-needs-assessments-information-pack


 

11 
 

The Public Health Department of Durham County Council (DCC) oversaw the development 
of the PNA on behalf of the PNA steering group which is a subgroup of the HWB. 
Members of the steering group were contacted from the summer of 2021 for their input. The 
steering group then met from March 2022 to produce the first draft of the PNA. The same 
membership was represented in the previous PNA and consisted of: 
 
Table 1: PNA steering group members  

Name Role 

Claire Jones PNA Lead, Public Health Pharmacy Adviser, Public 
Health, DCC 

Glen Wilson Chair, Consultant in Public Health, Public Health, 
DCC 

John Mitchell  Research and Consultant Officer, Research and 
Public Health Intelligence, DCC 

John Russell Senior Policy Officer, Spatial Policy Team, 
Regeneration and Local Services, DCC 

Julie Bradbrook Partnership Team Manager, Neighbourhoods and 
Climate Change, DCC 

Emma Morris  Community Pharmacy County Durham (CPCD)11  

Kate Huddart   Head of Medicines Optimisation, NHS County 
Durham CCG  

Christopher Cunnington-Shore  Chair, Healthwatch County Durham   

 
From summer 2021, the Public Health Department gathered the relevant information from 
each steering group member; pharmaceutical service information from various service 
commissioners and portfolio leads; responses from a CPCD-approved community pharmacy 
questionnaire; and local Healthwatch and Community Champion public survey work before 
preparing a draft PNA. This was signed off by the PNA steering group in March 2022, and a 
final draft was then signed off by the group in May 2022. This final draft underwent the 
statutory 60-day public consultation 16/05/22 – 14/07/22 before final sign off by the HWB in 
September 2022 (Appendix 3).  
 
1.6 Process for updating the PNA 
Regulation 6(3) of the 2013 Regulations describes the process for PNA updates (Appendix 
1). HWBs are required to publish their next PNA within 3 years of the date on which the 
latest version was published.  
Once the PNA has been published, the HWB has a process for publishing new versions of 
the PNA (every 3 years, or sooner if it identifies any significant changes to the need for 
pharmaceutical services) and supplementary statements (statements of fact describing 
significant changes to the availability of pharmaceutical services). The process that meets 
the regulatory requirements regarding publishing new versions and/or supplementary 
statements is described in Appendix 4. This is a delegated duty carried out by Public Health 
and the Partnerships Team in DCC.  
 
1.7 Localities for the purpose of the PNA  
The 2013 Regulations require the HWB to divide its area up into localities and national 
guidance12 suggests the use of existing boundaries such as: 

 borough or district council boundaries  

 super output areas, 

 electoral wards, or 

 CCG localities (recognising that CCGs will cease to exist from 1 July 2022). 

                                            
11 Formally County Durham and Darlington Local Pharmaceutical Committee (LPC).  
12 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pharmaceutical-needs-assessments-information-pack  

Page 49

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pharmaceutical-needs-assessments-information-pack


 

12 
 

 
Therefore, based on how the population of County Durham lives and travels, the localities 
chosen for the 2022-25 PNA remain as those chosen for the previous PNA: 
1. Dales 
2. Easington 
3. Derwentside 
4. Sedgefield 
5. Durham 
6. Chester-le-Street 
These localities are also deemed to reflect any different needs of the different areas in the 
County. 
  

Page 50



 

13 
 

Section two: Population profile and health needs 
 

Key points 
 

County Durham is a predominantly rural county with a total population of approximately 
533,000 people. The County has a large and increasing aging population. The County 
experiences higher levels of deprivation than the national average, and hence significant 
health inequalities. 
 
The PNA for County Durham takes account of the health needs identified in the JSNA and 
the priorities described in the JHWS. 
 
The pharmaceutical services can support the health needs of the population are described in 
Section 2.3. 
 

 
This section describes the health needs of the population that can be met by the provision of 
pharmaceutical services; and the national, regional, and local priorities for services. 
 
2.1 Population health needs  
Durham Insight at https://www.durhaminsight.info/ provides access to information, data, and 
research about what it is like to live in County Durham. The information below is a summary 
of the key information pertaining to the provision of pharmaceutical services to support the 
population with long terms conditions (LTCs), particularly in the elderly and in areas of 
deprivation across the County.  
 
Socially deprived communities currently bear the greatest burden of ill health and disease in 
County Durham. Reasons for this unequal distribution include socioeconomic factors, such 
as higher rates of unemployment, poor educational attainment, poorer quality housing, as 
well as lifestyle factors such as higher rates of smoking, higher rates of excessive drinking 
and poor diet. There is a clear social gradient nationally and locally in many measures, for 
example life expectancy and mortality i.e. lower life expectancy and higher mortality rates in 
the more deprived areas. There is a correlation between deprivation and life expectancy for 
men and women in County Durham, with the gap in life expectancy between the most and 
least deprived areas being 10.3 years for men and 7.9 years for women. 
 
2.1.1 Population profile13  
Population information for County Durham shows that: 

 Between 2001 and 2020 the population of County Durham increased by 8% with the 
North-East increasing by 5.5% over the same period. In 2020, the total resident 
population in County Durham is 533,149. 

 The overall population of County Durham is projected to grow by 3.7% between 2018 
and 2028 to 546,500 people.  

 The 65+ population is currently 111,582 or 20.9% of total the population (the North-East 
average is 20.1%).  

 The number of people aged 65 and over will increase by 18.7% (+20,300) by 2028 to 
128,900.  

 

                                            
13 https://www.durhaminsight.info/population. Accessed 28.01.22 

Page 51

https://www.durhaminsight.info/
https://www.durhaminsight.info/population


 

14 
 

Table 2: Population at a glance14 

Locality Total 
population 

% County 
Durham total 
population 

65+ 
population 

65+ 
population  

% of locality 
total 

Chester-le-Street  54,758 10% 12,446 23% 

Derwentside 95,367 18% 19,824 21% 

Durham City 106,480 20% 19,166 18% 

Dales 91,463 17% 21,637 24% 

Easington 95,247 18% 18,956 20% 

Sedgefield 89,834 17% 19,553 22% 

 
2.1.2 Life expectancy15 16 
People in County Durham are living longer. Life expectancy for men and women has been 
improving slowly over time, but has most recently declined for 2018-20 locally, regionally and 
nationally (due to the number of ‘excess deaths’ as a result of Covid-19 in 2020). Compared 
to 10 years ago, men in County Durham now live 0.7 years longer, and women live 0.4 years 
longer. However, life expectancy locally fell between 2017-19 and 2018-20 by 0.6 years for 
men and women (nationally the reduction was smaller than seen in County Durham).  
 
There is inequality in life expectancy between County Durham and England. Life expectancy 
locally for men (77.7 years) and women (81.2 years) is statistically significantly lower than 
England (men 79.4 years, women 83.1 years). Life expectancy over time has been 
improving faster in England than in County Durham, meaning the ‘gap’ between County 
Durham and England for men and women has been increasing (the reduction seen in life 
expectancy nationally was smaller than seen in County Durham, again increasing the ‘gap’).  
 
There is also inequality in life expectancy within County Durham. Life expectancy for men is 
statistically significantly lower than for women in County Durham (this is the case nationally). 
Life expectancy is also shorter for those born in the more deprived than those in the least 
deprived areas. This ‘gap’ within County Durham between the most and least deprived areas 
is now 10.3 years for men, and 7.9 years for women. This inequality gap has been rising 
over time in locally, regionally and nationally. 
 
Healthy life expectancy is the average number of years a person could expect to live in 
good health based on current mortality rates and self-reported good health. Male and female 
healthy life expectancy in County Durham is not significantly different at 59.6 and 58.3 years, 
respectively. Healthy life expectancy in County Durham remains significantly lower than 
England for both men and women at 63.2 years and 63.5 years, respectively (Note: At the 
time of writing, healthy life expectancy is not updated for the period 2018-20). 
 
The Life Course Infographics at https://www.durhaminsight.info/health-and-social-
care/related-factsheets-health-social-care/health-inequalities-and-the-social-determinants-of-
health/  show the difference in average healthy life expectancy depending on where a 
person lives in County Durham. These are represented as bus routes from: 

 Castleside to Seaham  

 Stanhope to Blackhall Colliery  

 Middleton-in-Teesdale to Sedgefield 

                                            
14 Source: https://www.durhaminsight.info/population then applied a report level filter. Accessed 
28.01.22  
15 https://www.durhaminsight.info/ageing-well/life-expectancy/. Accessed 28.01.22 
16 https://www.durhaminsight.info/health-and-social-care/related-factsheets-health-social-care/health-
inequalities-and-the-social-determinants-of-health/. Accessed 28.01.22  

Page 52

https://www.durhaminsight.info/health-and-social-care/related-factsheets-health-social-care/health-inequalities-and-the-social-determinants-of-health/
https://www.durhaminsight.info/health-and-social-care/related-factsheets-health-social-care/health-inequalities-and-the-social-determinants-of-health/
https://www.durhaminsight.info/health-and-social-care/related-factsheets-health-social-care/health-inequalities-and-the-social-determinants-of-health/
https://www.durhaminsight.info/population
https://www.durhaminsight.info/ageing-well/life-expectancy/
https://www.durhaminsight.info/health-and-social-care/related-factsheets-health-social-care/health-inequalities-and-the-social-determinants-of-health/
https://www.durhaminsight.info/health-and-social-care/related-factsheets-health-social-care/health-inequalities-and-the-social-determinants-of-health/


 

15 
 

 
2.1.3 Causes of premature and preventable mortality17  
Premature and preventable mortality can be used as important measures of the overall 
health of County Durham’s population and as an indicator of inequality between and within 
areas. Deaths are considered premature if they occur before the age of 75 years. Deaths are 
considered preventable if, in the light of the understanding of the determinants of health at 
the time of death, all or most deaths from the underlying cause (subject to age limits if 
appropriate) could mainly be avoided through effective public health and primary prevention 
interventions. 
 
Unhealthy behaviours remain a key driver to reducing premature deaths, but social, 
economic and environmental factors also have a direct impact on health status and can 
exacerbate existing ill health. Mortality and morbidity, along with life expectancy and healthy 
life expectancy are influenced by the conditions in which people are born, grow, live, work 
and age. Addressing the wider determinants of health has a key role to play in reducing 
health inequalities. 
 
Between 2017 and 2019 there were 2,795 premature deaths in County Durham from causes 
considered preventable, at a rate of 183.5 per 100,000 population. This is statistically 
significantly higher than England (142.2 per 100,000) and not statistically significantly 
different to the North-East (187.9). There is statistically significant variation in the rate of 
preventable premature mortality across North-East local authorities, with the rate ranging 
from 151/100,000 in Northumberland to 245/100,000 in Middlesbrough. County Durham’s 
rate is not statistically significantly different to most North-East local authorities but is 
statistically significantly lower than Middlesbrough, South Tyneside (213.1/100,000) and 
Sunderland (206.4/100,000), and only significantly higher than Northumberland.  
 
Rates of preventable and premature mortality are higher in County Durham than England for 
many causes including: 

 Cardiovascular disease 

 Cancer 

 Liver disease 

 Respiratory disease 

 Suicide 
 
LTCs, such as cardiovascular disease (CVD), respiratory disease and cancer are among the 
leading causes of premature mortality in County Durham and make a major contribution to 
the life expectancy gap between County Durham and England.  
 
2.1.4 Health inequalities18 19 
Health inequalities are differences in health status or in the distribution of health 
determinants between different population groups. They arise from differences in socio-
economic and environmental factors which influence people’s behaviour, the opportunities 
available to them, the choices they make, their risk of poor health and their resilience. 
The social determinants of health are widely described as ‘the causes of the causes of 
health inequalities.’ These are the conditions in which people are born, grow, live, work and 

                                            
17 https://www.durhaminsight.info/ageing-well/premature-and-preventable-mortality/. Accessed 
28.01.22 
18 https://www.durhaminsight.info/health-and-social-care/related-factsheets-health-social-care/health-
inequalities-and-the-social-determinants-of-health/. Accessed 28.01.22  
19 Health inequalities and the social determinants of health factsheet. Ref HSCW 003. June 2016.  
https://www.durhaminsight.info/health-and-social-care/related-factsheets-health-social-care/health-
inequalities-and-the-social-determinants-of-health/  

Page 53

https://www.durhaminsight.info/ageing-well/premature-and-preventable-mortality/
https://www.durhaminsight.info/health-and-social-care/related-factsheets-health-social-care/health-inequalities-and-the-social-determinants-of-health/
https://www.durhaminsight.info/health-and-social-care/related-factsheets-health-social-care/health-inequalities-and-the-social-determinants-of-health/
https://www.durhaminsight.info/health-and-social-care/related-factsheets-health-social-care/health-inequalities-and-the-social-determinants-of-health/
https://www.durhaminsight.info/health-and-social-care/related-factsheets-health-social-care/health-inequalities-and-the-social-determinants-of-health/


 

16 
 

age. These conditions affect the likelihood of people enjoying long, healthy lives and will 
determine variations in health and life expectancy.  
 
The health and wellbeing of the people in County Durham remains worse than the England 
average. Health inequalities remain persistent and pervasive. Levels of deprivation are 
higher and life expectancy is lower than the England average, with too many of our 
population suffering from avoidable ill-health and dying prematurely or from causes that are 
preventable. For example:  

 Prevalence of many LTCs such as hypertension, stroke, diabetes and cancer are 
higher in County Durham than England. 

 The rate of alcohol-related hospital admissions is significantly higher than England. 

 Levels of teenage pregnancy, breastfeeding and smoking at time of delivery are 
worse than the England average. 

 Almost 25% of Reception children and 38% of Year 6 children were classified as 
overweight in 2019-20.  

 The rate of smoking related deaths for 2017-19 (277.8 per 100,000) was statistically 
significantly higher than England (202.2/100,000). 

 
Health inequalities also exist within County Durham. For example: 

 The distribution of life expectancy within County Durham is unequal. Life expectancy 
is 10.3 years lower for men and 7.9 years lower for women in the most deprived 
areas of County Durham than in the least deprived areas. 

 There is a social gradient to excess weight and Smoking at Time of Delivery in 
County Durham, it is higher in the most deprived areas, whilst breastfeeding is lower 
in the most deprived areas. 

 Cancer is the biggest contributor to the gap between the most and least deprived 
communities in County Durham for women (25%) and the second largest for men 
(19.4%).  

 Circulatory disease is the largest contributor to the gap between the least and most 
deprived in County Durham for men (27.3%) and the third largest for women (18.9%. 
with respiratory disease as the second largest contributor for women at 24%). 

 External causes of death for men (11.1%) have a greater contribution to the gap 
between deprived and affluent communities in County Durham compared to women 
(2.4%). 

 
The Primary Care Network (PCN) and Area Action Partnership (AAP) infographics at 
https://www.durhaminsight.info/health-and-social-care/health-infographics/ show the 
differences in the health of the population in each area of County Durham.  
 
2.1.5 Lifestyle behaviours   
 
2.1.5i Substance misuse20 21 
Substance misuse is strongly associated with poverty and deprivation and this impacts on 
substance misuse related deaths, blood borne virus infections, crime, child protection issues, 
domestic abuse and mental health. In County Durham the legacy of the loss of ready 
employment, especially male employment through mining and other industries, has left many 
communities vulnerable to the effect of substance misuse. These communities are not 
concentrated in specific areas across the county but spread among a diverse range of towns 
and small rural areas. 
 

                                            
20 https://www.durhaminsight.info/living-well/substance-misuse/. Accessed 28.01.22  
21 Substance misuse factsheet. Ref HSCW 023. Feb 2018. https://www.durhaminsight.info/living-
well/substance-misuse/    

Page 54

https://www.durhaminsight.info/health-and-social-care/health-infographics/
https://www.durhaminsight.info/living-well/substance-misuse/
https://www.durhaminsight.info/living-well/substance-misuse/
https://www.durhaminsight.info/living-well/substance-misuse/


 

17 
 

2.1.5ii Smoking22 23 
Smoking is the single biggest cause of inequality in death rates between rich and poor in the 
UK. Death rates from tobacco are two to three times higher among disadvantaged social 
groups than among the better off. 
Historically the decline in smoking rates among higher-income groups has been much 
greater than among lower income groups. Smoking rates are highest in the routine and 
manual group, lower socio-economic groups and certain minority and vulnerable groups.  
Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) and coronary heart disease (CHD), 
along with cancers, present the biggest challenge to reducing inequalities and improving life 
expectancy across these areas.  
 
Approximate figures for County Durham show that 61,279 households have at least one 
smoker and 33% of households with a smoker fall below the poverty line. 
Smoking prevalence in County Durham remains above the national average at 17.9%, 
compared to an average of 15.5% for England. 
Smoking-related death rates are significantly higher in County Durham than England but are 
falling over time. 
 
See the Challenge of Smoking Infographic at https://www.durhaminsight.info/health-and-
social-care/health-infographics/. 
 
2.1.5iii Alcohol consumption24 25 
Alcohol-related harm is a major health problem and is a causal factor in more than 60 
medical conditions. The main health consequences of alcohol misuse are liver disease, 
cancers (liver, oral, oesophageal, gastric, colon, breast), hypertension, stroke, acute 
intoxication and injuries. Additionally, there are psychiatric consequences such as 
depression and self-harm, as well as impact on the foetus. 
Levels of alcohol harm are greater in County Durham than England.  
Estimates suggest that 1.7% of adults in County Durham are dependent drinkers; this 
equates to around 7,000 people. 24% of adults in County Durham binge drink compared to 
17% across England.  
 
2.2 Priorities for health and social care  
 
2.2.1 National and regional priorities  
In January 2019, NHSE&I published the NHS Long Term Plan,26 setting out its priorities for 
healthcare over the next ten years and showing how NHS funding will be used. 
  
The NHS Long Term Plan sets out the aim that every part of England will be covered by an 
Integrated Care System (ICS). ICSs are population-based models of care that integrate 
primary, secondary, community and other health and care services and are a way of creating 
shared local responsibility for:  

 Managing NHS resources more efficiently/effectively to improve quality of care and 
access to care, improve health outcomes, and reduce inequalities in quality, access 
and outcomes. 

 Building wider partnerships with local government and other community partners to 
help address wider determinants of health and wellbeing and provide better, more 
independent lives for people with complex needs. 

                                            
22 https://www.durhaminsight.info/living-well/tobacco-control/. Accessed 28.01.22  
23 Tobacco Control factsheet. Ref HSCW 019. May 2017. https://www.durhaminsight.info/living-
well/tobacco-control/  
24 https://www.durhaminsight.info/living-well/alcohol-related-harm/. Accessed 28.01.22  
25 Alcohol harm factsheet. Nov 2018. https://www.durhaminsight.info/living-well/alcohol-related-harm/  
26 https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/publication/nhs-long-term-plan/. Accessed 09.02.22  

Page 55

https://www.durhaminsight.info/health-and-social-care/health-infographics/
https://www.durhaminsight.info/health-and-social-care/health-infographics/
https://www.durhaminsight.info/living-well/tobacco-control/
https://www.durhaminsight.info/living-well/tobacco-control/
https://www.durhaminsight.info/living-well/tobacco-control/
https://www.durhaminsight.info/living-well/alcohol-related-harm/
https://www.durhaminsight.info/living-well/alcohol-related-harm/
https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/publication/nhs-long-term-plan/


 

18 
 

 Creating the capacity to implement system-wide changes. 
 
County Durham is part of the North-East and North Cumbria ICS.27  
 
The NHS Long Term plan also placed an emphasis on prevention, population health and 
integration.  A key part of this was the creation of PCNs which are groups of neighbouring 
general practices working together and with community, mental health, social care, 
pharmacy, hospital, dentistry and voluntary services.  Looking at the specific health and 
social care needs of patients living in their areas, PCNs are focusing on providing 
personalised, proactive and coordinated care for their patients, to help them live healthier for 
longer. There are 13 PCN’s covering County Durham. 
 
2.2.2 Local priorities  
County Durham will be where the majority of services will continue to be commissioned, 
planned and delivered, whilst also recognising working together with neighbours at scale 
where this adds value. 
 
The Health and Social Care Act 2012 places clear duties on councils and CCGs to prepare a 
JSNA and a JHWS to be discharged through the HWB.28 The PNA for County Durham takes 
account of the health needs identified in the JSNA and the priorities described in the JHWS. 
 
2.2.2i Joint Strategic Needs Assessment29 
The aim of JSNAs is to improve the health and wellbeing of the local community and reduce 
inequalities for all ages. They are a continuous process of strategic assessment for the 
health and wellbeing needs of the local population. They are used to determine what actions 
local authorities, the NHS and other partners need to take to meet health and social care 
needs and to improve health outcomes and address health inequalities. 
 
The JSNA for County Durham provides a detailed overview of the current and future health 
and wellbeing needs of the people of County Durham, and aims to:30 

 highlight areas where there is a need to improve health and wellbeing outcomes for 
the local community 

 aid decision makers in targeting resources to both areas and services 

 act as a resource document to support health and wellbeing planning and 
commissioning 

 help inform local plans and strategies to provide a basis upon which to plan for the 
achievement of local outcomes and targets. 

 
2.2.2ii Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy31 
This strategy outlines a vision for improving health and wellbeing, and for addressing health 
inequalities in the county. The JHWS 2021-25 informs and influences decisions about health 
and social care services in County Durham, so that they are focused on the needs of the 
people who use them and tackle the factors that affect health and wellbeing, for example 
drugs, alcohol, unhealthy weight, mental and physical wellbeing (Appendix 5).32 
 

                                            
27 https://www.northeastandnorthcumbriaics.nhs.uk/. Accessed 09.02.22  
28 https://countydurhampartnership.co.uk/health-wellbeing-board/. Accessed 09.02.22 
29 https://www.durhaminsight.info/jsna/. Accessed 09.02.22 
30 https://www.durham.gov.uk/jsna. Accessed 09.02.22  
31 https://countydurhampartnership.co.uk/health-wellbeing-board/joint-health-and-wellbeing-strategy/. 
Accessed 09.02.22 
32 www.durham.gov.uk/jhws. Accessed 09.02.22 

Page 56

https://www.northeastandnorthcumbriaics.nhs.uk/
https://countydurhampartnership.co.uk/health-wellbeing-board/
https://www.durhaminsight.info/jsna/
https://www.durham.gov.uk/jsna
https://countydurhampartnership.co.uk/health-wellbeing-board/joint-health-and-wellbeing-strategy/
http://www.durham.gov.uk/jhws


 

19 
 

The HWB adopts a life course approach to its priorities, recognising the importance of 
mental health and wellbeing, physical activity and the social determinants of health cutting 
across all the priorities. These priorities are: 

 Starting Well 

 Living Well 

 Ageing Well 
 
Six objectives have been chosen across the three strategic priorities, that are of importance 
given the impact they have on people’s health and of the vision in 2025:33 

1. Improve healthy life expectancy and reduce the gap within County Durham and 
between County Durham and England. 

2. A smoke free environment with over 95% of residents not smoking and an ambition 
that pregnant women and mothers will not smoke. 

3. Decrease overall levels of unemployment and specifically close the employment gap 
between the general population and those living with a long term physical or mental 
health condition, or with a learning disability. 

4. Over 90% of our children aged four to five years, and 79% of children aged 10-11 
years are of a healthy weight. 

5. Improved mental health and wellbeing evidenced by increased self-reported 
wellbeing scores and reduced suicide rates. 

6. Increase the number of organisations involved in Better Health at Work Award (to 
improve health and wellbeing interventions at work). 

 
2.3 Pharmaceutical services 
The following pharmaceutical services can therefore support the health needs of the 
population (Section 3 for further detail of each service): 
 
2.3.1 Essential services 

 Dispensing of prescriptions and disposal of unwanted medicines. 

 Healthy living pharmacy work (promotion of healthy lifestyles; signposting people to 
health or social care services; support for self-care).  

 The Discharge Medicines Service which aims to reduce the risk of medication 
problems when a person is discharged from hospital.  

 
2.3.2 Advanced services 

 The New Medicine Service which provides support for people with LTCs newly 
prescribed a medicine to help improve medicines adherence. 

 The Community Pharmacist Consultation Service which connects patients who have 
a minor illness or need an urgent supply of a medicine with a community pharmacy. 

 The Community Pharmacy Seasonal Influenza Vaccination Service.  

 The Hypertension Case-Finding Service which support the early detection of 
hypertension. 

 The Smoking Cessation Service which supports patients who started their stop 
smoking journey in hospital.  

                                            
33 https://countydurhampartnership.co.uk/health-wellbeing-board/vision-and-priorities/. Accessed 
09.02.22 

Page 57

https://countydurhampartnership.co.uk/health-wellbeing-board/vision-and-priorities/


 

20 
 

Section three: Types of pharmaceutical service 
 

Key points 
 
‘Pharmaceutical services’ is a collective term for the range of services commissioned by 
NHSE&I. 
 
The pharmaceutical services that the HWB has identified as services that are necessary to 
meet the need for pharmaceutical services are: 
All essential services which are provided by all pharmacies. 
The following advanced services: 
1. New Medicine Service  
2. Community Pharmacist Consultation Service 
These advanced services are provided by the majority of pharmacies.  
 
The other relevant pharmaceutical services that the HWB has identified as not being 
necessary to meet the need for pharmaceutical services but will secure improvements or 
better access are: 
The following advanced services: 
1. Community Pharmacy Seasonal Influenza Vaccination: Service provision is adequate but 
variable across each locality. CPCD should continue to encourage all pharmacies to provide 
this service.  
2. Hypertension Case-Finding Service and Smoking Cessation Service: At the time of writing 
the PNA, these are new advanced services and CPCD should encourage all pharmacies to 
provide them.  
 

 
3.1 Pharmaceutical services  
‘Pharmaceutical services’ is a collective term for the range of services commissioned by 
NHSE&I. NHSE&I does not hold signed contracts with the pharmacies.34 Instead, 
pharmacies provide services under a contractual framework and the terms of service are set 
out in the 2013 Regulations. 
In relation to the PNA, pharmaceutical services include: 

 essential, advanced and enhanced services provided by pharmacies 

 essential and advanced services provided by dispensing appliance contractors 

 the dispensing doctor service provided by some GP practices in rural areas. 
 
In July 2019, a national five-year deal for community pharmacies was agreed. This set out a 
vision for the expansion of clinical service delivery over the next five years, in line with the 
NHS Long Term Plan.35 
 
Community pharmacies provide three tiers of pharmaceutical service which have been 
identified in 2013 Regulations. These are: 

 Essential services: services all pharmacies are required to provide.  

                                            
34 Except for a LPS contract. A LPS contract allows NHSE&I to commission services that are tailored 
to meet specific local requirements. It provides flexibility to include within a locally negotiated contract 
a broader or narrower range of services (including services not traditionally associated with 
pharmacy) than is possible under national pharmacy arrangements set out in the 2013 Regulations. 
The contract must, however, include an element of dispensing. As of October 2021, there are no LPS 
contracts in County Durham.  
35 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/community-pharmacy-contractual-framework-2019-to-
2024; https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/community-pharmacy-contractual-framework-
2019-to-2024/community-pharmacy-contractual-framework-5-year-deal-year-3-2021-to-2022  

Page 58

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/community-pharmacy-contractual-framework-2019-to-2024
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/community-pharmacy-contractual-framework-2019-to-2024
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/community-pharmacy-contractual-framework-2019-to-2024/community-pharmacy-contractual-framework-5-year-deal-year-3-2021-to-2022
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/community-pharmacy-contractual-framework-2019-to-2024/community-pharmacy-contractual-framework-5-year-deal-year-3-2021-to-2022


 

21 
 

 Advanced services: services that pharmacies can choose to provide in order to support 
patients with safe use of medicines.  

 Enhanced services: services that can be commissioned locally by NHSE&I. 
  

Whilst a CCG or a local authority may commission ‘locally commissioned services’ from 
pharmacies, these do not fall within the legal definition of pharmaceutical services (i.e. 
locally commissioned services is not a term that can be found within the 2013 Regulations), 
however HWBs are asked to make reference to them in their PNAs as ‘other NHS services’ 
(Section 1.3). 
 
3.1.1 Essential services36   
All pharmacies, including distance selling premises, are required to provide the essential 
services. NHSE&I is responsible for ensuring that all pharmacies deliver all essential 
services as specified. Each pharmacy must demonstrate compliance with the community 
pharmacy contractual framework by providing sufficient evidence for delivery of every 
service on an annual basis. 
 
As of October 2021, there are 7 essential services: 

1. Dispensing of prescriptions. 
2. Dispensing of repeat prescriptions i.e. prescriptions which contain more than one 

months’ supply of drugs on them. For example, an electronic repeatable prescription 
may say that the prescription interval is every 28 days and it can be repeated 6 
times. This would give a patient approximately 6 months’ supply of medication, 
dispensed every 28 days with the prescriber only needing to authorise them once. 

3. Disposal of unwanted medicines returned to the pharmacy by someone living at 
home, in a children’s home, or in a residential care home. 

4. Promotion of healthy lifestyles, which includes providing advice to people who appear 
to have diabetes, be at risk of CHD (especially those with high blood pressure), or 
smoke, or are overweight; and participating in six health campaigns where requested 
to do so by NHSE&I. 

5. Signposting people who require advice, treatment or support that the pharmacy 
cannot provide to another provider of health or social care services, where the 
pharmacy has that information. 

6. Support for self-care which may include advising on over the counter medicines or 
changes to the person’s lifestyle. 

7. Discharge Medicines Service (DMS).37 This service was introduced in 2021 and 
aims to reduce the risk of medication problems when a person is discharged from 
hospital. It is estimated that 60% of patients have 3 or more changes made to their 
medicines during a hospital stay. However, a lack of robust communication about 
these changes may result in errors being made once the person has left hospital. 
Under this service a pharmacist will review a person’s medicines on discharge and 
ensure that any changes are actioned accordingly. County Durham and Darlington 
Foundation Trust (CDDFT) began the roll out of DMS referrals in June 2021. 

 
In addition, all pharmacies must ensure they are compliant with the Healthy Living 
Pharmacy (HLP) requirement which is an organisational development framework 
underpinned by three enablers of: 

 Workforce development: A skilled team to pro-actively support and promote 
behaviour change and improve health and wellbeing, including a qualified Health 
Champion and a team member who has undertaken leadership training.  

                                            
36 https://psnc.org.uk/services-commissioning/essential-services/  
37 https://psnc.org.uk/services-commissioning/essential-services/discharge-medicines-service/  

Page 59

https://psnc.org.uk/services-commissioning/essential-services/
https://psnc.org.uk/services-commissioning/essential-services/discharge-medicines-service/


 

22 
 

 Engagement: Local stakeholder engagement with other health and care 
professionals (especially general practice), community services, local authorities and 
members of the public.  

 Environment: Premises that facilitate health promoting interventions with a dedicated 
health promotion zone. 

Pharmacy contractors had to ensure they are compliant with the HLP requirements from 1 
January 2021, and distance selling premise website requirements had to be in place by 1 
April 2021. 
 
It should be noted that clinical governance is not an essential service.38 Instead, it is a 
framework which underpins the provision of all pharmaceutical services. 
 
And in addition, all pharmacies (with two exceptions) are now required to have a consultation 
room that is: 

 clearly designated as a room for confidential conversations, 

 distinct from the general public areas of the pharmacy premises, and 

 a room where both the person accessing pharmaceutical services and a person 
performing pharmaceutical services are able to be seated together and communicate 
confidentially. 

The two exceptions are: 

 distance selling premises, and 

 pharmacies that NHSE&I have deemed to be too small to have a consultation room. 
However, these pharmacies must have arrangements in place to enable confidential 
discussions as part of the provision of pharmaceutical services by telephone or another live 
audio link and a live video link. 
 
3.1.2 Advanced services39 
Advanced services are those services that pharmacy may choose to provide if they meet the 
required standards. Information on these standards and the services themselves are set out 
in the Pharmaceutical Services 12 (Advanced and Enhanced Services) (England) Directions 
2013 which can be found in Part VIC of the Drug Tariff.40 
As at October 2021, the following services may be provided by pharmacies: 

 New Medicine Service  

 Community Pharmacy Seasonal Influenza Vaccination Service  

 Community Pharmacist Consultation Service  

 Hypertension Case-Finding Service 

 Community Pharmacy Hepatitis C Antibody Testing Service (at the time of writing in 
October 2021, service commissioned until 31 March 2022)41 

In early 2022 a Smoking Cessation Service was introduced for patients who started their 
stop smoking journey in hospital. 
 
As at October 2021, the Community Pharmacy Covid-19 Lateral Flow Device Distribution 
Service42 and the Community Pharmacy Covid-19 Pandemic Medicines Delivery Service43 
are also commissioned from community pharmacies. These however ceased to be 
commissioned in March 2022. 

                                            
38 https://psnc.org.uk/contract-it/essential-service-clinical-governance/  
39 https://psnc.org.uk/services-commissioning/advanced-services/  
40 https://www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pharmacies-gp-practices-and-appliance-contractors/drug-tariff  
41 Introduced during the pandemic in September 2020, therefore service provision in County Durham 
as at October 2021 is negligible at 3 contractors.https://psnc.org.uk/services-
commissioning/advanced-services/hep-c/  
42 As at October 2021, 98% of contractors are providing this service.https://psnc.org.uk/services-
commissioning/advanced-services/c-19-lateral-flow-device-distribution-service/  
43 https://psnc.org.uk/services-commissioning/advanced-services/pandemic-delivery-service/  

Page 60

https://psnc.org.uk/contract-it/essential-service-clinical-governance/
https://psnc.org.uk/services-commissioning/advanced-services/
https://www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pharmacies-gp-practices-and-appliance-contractors/drug-tariff
https://psnc.org.uk/services-commissioning/advanced-services/hep-c/
https://psnc.org.uk/services-commissioning/advanced-services/hep-c/
https://psnc.org.uk/services-commissioning/advanced-services/c-19-lateral-flow-device-distribution-service/
https://psnc.org.uk/services-commissioning/advanced-services/c-19-lateral-flow-device-distribution-service/
https://psnc.org.uk/services-commissioning/advanced-services/pandemic-delivery-service/


 

23 
 

 
There are two appliance advanced services that pharmacies and dispensing appliance 
contractors may choose to provide: 

 Appliance Use Reviews  

 Stoma Appliance Customisation 
 
3.1.2i New Medicine Service44  
25-50% of medicines are not taken as intended or directed, and 15% of people receiving 
new medicines take few, if any, doses. This ‘non-adherence’ may lead to further 
prescriptions, tests and investigations, poor clinical outcomes, increased admissions to 
hospital, and premature mortality. Non-adherence to appropriately prescribed medicines is 
therefore a considerable issue for the NHS.45  
The New Medicine Service (NMS) provides support for people with LTCs who are newly 
prescribed a medicine, in order to help improve medicines adherence. From 1 September 
2021, pharmacy teams began to support patients taking specific drugs46 for the following 
conditions: 

 Asthma and COPD 

 Diabetes (Type 2) 

 Hypertension 

 Hypercholesterolaemia  

 Osteoporosis 

 Gout 

 Glaucoma 

 Epilepsy 

 Parkinson’s disease 

 Urinary incontinence/retention 

 Heart failure 

 Acute coronary syndromes 

 Atrial fibrillation 

 Long term risks of venous thromboembolism/embolism 

 Stroke / transient ischemic attack  

 CHD 
 
3.12ii Community Pharmacy Seasonal Influenza Vaccination47 
This service runs from September to March with the aim of vaccinating eligible patients by 
the end of January. The administration of a flu vaccine is legally authorised by a national 
Patient Group Direction (PGD), and currently covers patients aged 18 years and older in the 
at risk groups that are published each year at www.gov.uk/government/collections/annual-
flu-programme. Pharmacists providing this service carry out training for both injection 
technique and basic life support training every two years and must ensure that a notification 
of the vaccination is sent to the patient’s GP practice on the same day the vaccine is 
administered or on the following working day.  
 
Nationally the provision of this advanced service continues to increase: In 2020/21, 2.77 
million seasonal influenza vaccines were administered by community pharmacies. This was 

                                            
44 https://psnc.org.uk/services-commissioning/advanced-services/nms/  
45 http://psnc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/07/Commissioning-medicines-optimisation-services-
from-community-pharmacy-Guidance-for-commissioners.pdf  
46 https://www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pharmacies-gp-practices-and-appliance-contractors/dispensing-
contractors-information/new-medicine-service-nms-drug-lists  
47 https://psnc.org.uk/services-commissioning/advanced-services/flu-vaccination-service/  

Page 61

http://www.gov.uk/government/collections/annual-flu-programme
http://www.gov.uk/government/collections/annual-flu-programme
https://psnc.org.uk/services-commissioning/advanced-services/nms/
http://psnc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/07/Commissioning-medicines-optimisation-services-from-community-pharmacy-Guidance-for-commissioners.pdf
http://psnc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/07/Commissioning-medicines-optimisation-services-from-community-pharmacy-Guidance-for-commissioners.pdf
https://www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pharmacies-gp-practices-and-appliance-contractors/dispensing-contractors-information/new-medicine-service-nms-drug-lists
https://www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pharmacies-gp-practices-and-appliance-contractors/dispensing-contractors-information/new-medicine-service-nms-drug-lists
https://psnc.org.uk/services-commissioning/advanced-services/flu-vaccination-service/


 

24 
 

a 61% increase from the 1.72 million vaccines administered in 2019/2020, and a 365% 
increase on the 595 thousand vaccines administered in 2015/16.48  
 
3.1.2iii Community Pharmacist Consultation Service49 
The Community Pharmacist Consultation Service (CPCS) provides the opportunity for 
community pharmacy to play a bigger role than ever within the urgent care system.  
The service connects patients who have a minor illness or need an urgent supply of a 
medicine with a community pharmacy.  
As well as referrals from general practices, the service takes referrals to community 
pharmacy from GP practices and NHS111. 
Since the CPCS was launched, an average of 10,500 patients per week being referred for a 
consultation with a pharmacist following a call to NHS111; these are patients who might 
otherwise have gone to see a GP. 
 
3.1.2iv Hypertension Case-Finding Service50 
Early detection of hypertension is vital, and community pharmacy can provide a key role in 
detection and subsequent treatment of hypertension. Community pharmacy engagement 
has the potential to improve outcomes and reduce the burden on general practices.  
The service has two stages: The first is identifying people at risk of hypertension and offering 
them blood pressure measurement (a ‘clinic check’). The second stage, where clinically 
indicated, is offering 24-hour ambulatory blood pressure monitoring (ABPM). The blood 
pressure test results will then be shared with the patient’s GP to inform a potential diagnosis 
of hypertension. 
This service was commissioned from October 2021 and had not been implemented at the 
time of writing this PNA.  
 
3.1.2v Smoking Cessation Service51  
In early 2022, a Smoking Cessation Service will be introduced as an advanced service. This 
service enables NHS trusts to refer patients discharged from hospital to a community 
pharmacy of their choice to continue their smoking cessation care pathway, including 
providing medication and behavioural support as required, in line with the NHS Long Term 
Plan care model for tobacco addiction. 
 
3.1.2vi The Appliance Use Review52 and Stoma Appliance Customisation53 Services 
Appliance Use Reviews (AURs) can be carried out by a pharmacist or a specialist nurse in 
the pharmacy or at the patient’s home. AURs should improve the patient’s knowledge and 
use of any specified appliance by: 

 Establishing the way in which the patient uses the appliance and the patient’s experience 
of such use. 

 Identifying, discussing and assisting in the resolution of poor or ineffective use of the 
appliance by the patient. 

 Advising the patient on the safe and appropriate storage of the appliance. 

 Advising the patient on the safe and proper disposal of the appliances that are used or 
unwanted. 

The Stoma Appliance Customisation (SAC) service involves the customisation of a quantity 
of more than one stoma appliance, based on the patient’s measurements or a template. The 
aim of the service is to ensure proper use and comfortable fitting of the stoma appliance and 

                                            
48 https://www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/statistical-collections/general-pharmaceutical-services-england  
49 https://psnc.org.uk/services-commissioning/advanced-services/community-pharmacist-consultation-
service/  
50 https://psnc.org.uk/services-commissioning/advanced-services/hypertension-case-finding-service/  
51 https://psnc.org.uk/services-commissioning/advanced-services/stop-smoking-service/  
52 https://psnc.org.uk/services-commissioning/advanced-services/aurs/  
53 https://psnc.org.uk/services-commissioning/advanced-services/sac/  

Page 62

https://www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/statistical-collections/general-pharmaceutical-services-england
https://psnc.org.uk/services-commissioning/advanced-services/community-pharmacist-consultation-service/
https://psnc.org.uk/services-commissioning/advanced-services/community-pharmacist-consultation-service/
https://psnc.org.uk/services-commissioning/advanced-services/hypertension-case-finding-service/
https://psnc.org.uk/services-commissioning/advanced-services/stop-smoking-service/
https://psnc.org.uk/services-commissioning/advanced-services/aurs/
https://psnc.org.uk/services-commissioning/advanced-services/sac/


 

25 
 

to improve the duration of usage, thereby reducing waste. The stoma appliances that can be 
customised are listed in Part IXC of the Drug Tariff. 
 
3.1.3 Enhanced services 
Enhanced services are the third tier of services that pharmacies may provide and they can 
only be commissioned by NHE&I. The services that may be commissioned are listed in the 
Pharmaceutical Services (Advanced and Enhanced Services) (England) Directions 2013 (as 
amended) which can be found in the Drug Tariff.54 
Enhanced services can be commissioned by NHSE&I to meet a local need, however as at 
October 2021, none are commissioned in County Durham.   
 
3.1.4 Pharmacy Quality Scheme 

The Pharmacy Quality Scheme (PQS) is optional and rewards community pharmacy 

contractors that achieve quality criteria in the three domains of healthcare quality: clinical 

effectiveness, patient safety and patient experience.55 

From 1 September 2021, pharmacy was asked to focus on medication safety and improving 

patient outcomes by increasing access to primary care services and creating a more 

sustainable NHS. The criteria included: 

 A Gateway Criteria: Working collaboratively with GPs in PCNs to support patients 

starting to take a new medicine. 

 Medicines Safety and Optimisation Domain: Delivering a high-risk medicine 

(anticoagulation) audit. 

 PCN Domain: Driving high uptake of flu vaccination. 

 Addressing Unwanted Variation in Care Domain: An action plan to actively promote 

Covid-19 vaccinations, particularly in Black, Asian and minority ethnic and low uptake 

communities, incorporating myth busting methods as part of their efforts to tackle 

lower levels of Covid-19 vaccination uptake and to support these patients. 

 Healthy Living Support Domain: Weight management referral in order to provide 

assistance to people who would like support with their weight, including advice and 

referral to support/exercise groups, local authority funded weight management 

services, and the NHS Digital Weight Management Programme. 

 Prevention Domain: Antimicrobial stewardship. 

 Digital Domain: Remote consultation skills. 

 Respiratory Domain: Ensuring patients have personalised asthma action plans, 

including the use of spacers for children; checking inhaler technique; and 

encouraging return of unwanted and used inhalers for disposal to protect the 

environment provide a real community pharmacy focus for patients with respiratory 

illnesses and demonstrate an active approach to the sustainability agenda. 

 
3.1.5 Distance selling premises  
Distance selling premises are pharmacies, but the 2013 Regulations do not allow them to 
provide essential services to people on a face-to-face basis. They will receive prescriptions 
either via the electronic prescription service or through the post, dispense them at the 
pharmacy and then either deliver them to the patient or arrange for them to be delivered 
using a courier (Note: Distance selling premises must deliver all dispensed NHS items 
without charge). They must provide essential services to anyone, anywhere in England, 
where requested to do so. They may choose to provide advanced services, but when doing 

                                            
54 https://www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pharmacies-gp-practices-and-appliance-contractors/drug-tariff  
55 https://psnc.org.uk/services-commissioning/pharmacy-quality-scheme/  

Page 63

https://www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pharmacies-gp-practices-and-appliance-contractors/drug-tariff
https://psnc.org.uk/services-commissioning/pharmacy-quality-scheme/


 

26 
 

so must ensure that they do not provide any element of the essential services whilst the 
patient is at the pharmacy premises. As of 30 June 2021, there were 379 distance selling 
premises in England.56 
 
3.1.6 Dispensing appliance contractors  
Whilst drugs are the most common healthcare intervention and a large proportion of the 
HWB’s population are prescribed them, a smaller proportion will require access to 
appliances. Those that are available on the NHS are set out in Part IX of the Drug Tariff and 
include: 

 catheters, 

 dressings, 

 elastic hosiery, 

 hernia support garments, 

 trusses, 

 colostomy bags, and 

 urostomy bags. 
 
Dispensing appliance contractors are different to pharmacy contractors because they: 

 only dispense prescriptions for appliances. They cannot dispense prescriptions for 
drugs 

 are not required to have a pharmacist 

 do not have a regulatory body 

 their premises do not have to be registered with the General Pharmaceutical Council. 
 
Dispensing appliance contractors have a narrower range of services that they must provide: 

 dispensing of prescriptions 

 dispensing of repeat prescriptions 

 for certain appliances, offer to deliver them to the patient (delivering in unbranded 
packaging), provide a supply of wipes and bags, and provide access to expert clinical 
advice 

 where the contractor cannot provide a particular appliance, signposting or referring a 
patient to another provider of appliances who can. 

Further information on the essential services requirements can be found in Schedule 5 of the 
2013 Regulations. 
 
3.1.7 Dispensing doctors  
Dispensing doctors are authorised to provide drugs and appliances in designated rural areas 
known as controlled localities. Controlled localities are areas that have been determined to 
be ‘rural in character’ by NHSE&I (or a preceding organisation) or on appeal by NHS 
Resolution. There is no one factor that determines whether or not an area is rural in 
character; rather NHSE&I will consider a range of factors which may include population 
density, the presence or absence of facilities, employment patterns, community size and 
distance between settlements, and the availability of public transport. Their importance 
comes into play in relation to the ability for a GP practice to dispense to its registered 
patients. 
In order to be dispensed to by their GP practice, a patient must meet the requirements in the 
regulations which in summary are: 

 they must live in a controlled locality, 

 they must live more than 1.6km (measured in a straight line) from a pharmacy, 

 the practice must have approval for the premises at which they will dispense to them, 

 the practice must have the appropriate consent for the area the patient lives in. 

                                            
56 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pharmaceutical-needs-assessments-information-pack  

Page 64

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pharmaceutical-needs-assessments-information-pack


 

27 
 

Dispensing practices are not required to have a pharmacist in their dispensary and their 
premises do not have to be registered with the General Pharmaceutical Council. 
Dispensing doctors do not provide the full range of pharmaceutical services that pharmacies 
do, however, CCGs commission practice pharmacists to work in all GP practices including 
dispensing practices and nationally there continues to be a drive to integrate clinical 
pharmacists into GP practices. 
 
3.2 Other NHS services 
Whilst a CCG or a local authority may commission ‘locally commissioned services’ from 
pharmacies, these do not fall within the legal definition of pharmaceutical services (i.e. 
locally commissioned services is not a term that can be found within the 2013 Regulations), 
however HWBs are asked to make reference to them in their PNAs as ‘other NHS services’.  
 
3.2.1 Public health commissioned services  
 
3.2.1i Sexual health services 
 
3.2.1i(a) Emergency Oral Hormonal Contraception Service 
The aim of the Emergency Oral Hormonal Contraception (EOHC) Service is to increase the 
accessibility and availability of ‘free at point of issue’ EOHC to females aged 13 years and 
over in pharmacies in County Durham and Darlington. This service therefore helps to reduce 
unintended teenage pregnancies and to increase the knowledge of emergency 
contraception and its use. The EOHC Service is run through accredited pharmacists 
operating under a PGD.  
In 2021, 96 pharmacies are contracted to provide this service57 and the map at 
https://www.durhaminsight.info/pna/ shows the locations of the EOHC Service in each of the 
6 localities (Appendix 6). 
 
3.2.1i(b) Chlamydia Screening Service  
For pharmacies also offering the Chlamydia Screening Service, dual screening postal packs 
(for chlamydia and gonorrhoea) are offered during an EOHC consultation, where 
appropriate, to females aged 13-24 years and their partners.  This aids the detection of 
undiagnosed infection.  
 
3.2.1i(c) C Card Scheme  
The aim of this scheme is to provide young people aged 13-24 with sexual health advice and 
information, and free condoms in a discreet and professional setting. Participating 
pharmacies largely provide the free condom supply service, however some pharmacies also 
provide the initial C Card registration service in addition to the ongoing supply of free 
condoms. Pharmacies signed up to provide C Card registration are specially trained to give 
advice about sexual health and the correct use of condoms. 
  
3.2.1ii Stop smoking services  
 
3.2.1ii(a) Nicotine Replacement Therapy Voucher Scheme 
The Nicotine Replacement Therapy (NRT) Voucher Scheme uses a pre-numbered voucher 
distributed via trained stop smoking advisers commissioned by the Stop Smoking Service.  
Pharmacies act as an NRT voucher dispensing point under this service and ensure that the 
NRT product is suitable for the patient.   
 
3.2.1ii(b) Level 2 Stop Smoking Service 
This service provides a programme of stop smoking support and access to stop smoking 
treatments from pharmacies. The service includes: 

                                            
57 Information provided by service commissioner in November 2021.  

Page 65

https://www.durhaminsight.info/pna/


 

28 
 

 Identifying smokers and offering support (including targeting the priority groups of routine 
and manual workers). 

 Delivering support by trained staff and enabling access to appropriate pharmacotherapy. 

 Offering support for up to12 weeks including weekly support for a least the first 4 weeks 
(including carbon monoxide monitoring). 

 Referring smokers to specialist Level 3 services where appropriate (e.g. pregnant 
smokers). 

 Achieving the required number of 4-week quitters. 
 
3.2.1iii Substance misuse services 
 
3.2.1iii(a) Alcohol Brief Intervention Service 
The aims of this service include to: 

 Identify levels of drinking amongst those presenting with conditions possibly related to 
alcohol (e.g. persistent gastric symptoms, high blood pressure). 

 Prevent progression to dependent drinking. 

 Raise public awareness of safe levels of drinking and consequences of unsafe drinking 
(particularly targeting women who are pregnant / trying to conceive). 

 Reduce alcohol related hospital admissions.  
Pharmacists and/or their staff are trained in the appropriate use of the World Health 
Organisation alcohol screening AUDIT tool, and how to provide brief advice to patients aged 
16 years and above.  
 
3.2.1iii(b) Supervised Consumption Service  
Supervised consumption of methadone and other medications through community 
pharmacies is an integral element to the overall shared care services provided to support 
people who misuse substances – heroin in particular. Current guidelines recommend that all 
new treatment for opiate dependence be subject to supervised consumption for the first 
three months or a longer period considered appropriate by the prescriber. The rationale for 
this recommendation is to provide routine and structure for the service user, helping to 
promote a move away from chaotic and risky behaviour.  
In 2021, 83 pharmacies are accredited to provide this service and the map at 
https://www.durhaminsight.info/pna/ shows the locations of the service in each of the 6 
localities (Appendix 6).   
 
3.2.1iii(c) Naloxone Supply Service 
Drug deaths have been rising year-on-year in Great Britain. In England and Wales, two-
thirds of drug poisoning deaths in 2020 were related to drug misuse and addiction.  
Naloxone is an emergency antidote to opioid overdose. In the event of a suspected opioid 
overdose naloxone can temporarily reverse the life-threatening effects of an overdose of 
opioids such as depressed breathing. 
The aim of the service is to provide a naloxone (Prenoxad) supply service to clients and the 
wider community to support a reduction in accidental deaths from opioid overdose. 
 
3.2.1iii(d) Needle Exchange Service 
The aim of the needle exchange service is to provide a needle exchange facility to injecting 
drug users over the age of 18 in order to reduce the levels of harm associated with injecting 
drug use for individuals, families and local communities. Pharmacies distribute sterile 
injecting equipment, provide advice and information on the safe disposal of injecting 
equipment, and distribute appropriate literature advising on harm reduction, safer sex and 
local services to all injecting drug users. The pharmacy service compliments the exchange 
service offered at the Drug and Alcohol Recovery Centres.  
 
 

Page 66

https://www.durhaminsight.info/pna/


 

29 
 

3.2.2 CCG commissioned services 
 
3.2.2i Minor Ailment Service 
There is an ongoing national drive to better utilise community pharmacy to more widely 
support self-care and to become the first port of call for minor ailments, hence moving 
appropriate patient consultations away from GP practices.  
In the minor ailment service, patients are encouraged to consult the community pharmacy 
rather than the GP for a defined list of minor ailments. In 2021, patients who are registered 
with a County Durham and Darlington GP practice and who are exempt from NHS 
prescription charges, can receive treatment from an agreed local formulary free of charge.  
 
3.2.2ii Reimbursement of Tuberculosis Medication Costs Scheme  
This scheme enables patients who normally pay for their prescriptions to receive anti 
tuberculosis (TB) drugs free of charge. Patients present their prescription and a letter from 
community health services to their community pharmacy which then provides the 
prescription free of charge and subsequently claims this charge back from the CCG 
commissioning team.  
 
3.2.2iii Food Thickening Voucher Scheme  
This scheme enables patients seen by the Speech and Language Therapy service to quickly 
obtain food thickening products via a voucher through community pharmacies.  
 
3.2.2iv Palliative Care Scheme 
The aim of this scheme is to ensure that appropriate palliative care drugs are available in the 
community at the point of need. Designated community pharmacies hold an agreed list of 
palliative care drugs to enable easier access. This scheme has been particularly essential 
during the pandemic in 2020 and 2021.  
In 2021-22, 95 pharmacies are contracted to provide this service.58 The map at 
https://www.durhaminsight.info/pna/ shows the locations this service in each of the 6 
localities (Appendix 6). 
 
3.2.2v Flu Antiviral Medicines Service  
Flu antiviral medicines can be prescribed to patients who at an increased risk of developing 
complications of influenza, during periods when national surveillance schemes show there is 
a lot of flu in the community. They also are prescribed on advice from UK Health Security 
Agency for outbreaks of influenza and avian flu in care homes, residential settings or 
individual contacts. 
Antiviral medicines should generally be taken within 48 hours of getting the flu or of having 
contact with someone who has the flu. Therefore, this service ensures that the pharmacy 
stocks a locally agreed range of flu antiviral medicines, to ensure that patients have prompt 
access to these medicines during the opening hours of the pharmacy. 
 
3.2.2vi Minor Eye Conditions and Treatment Service  
There is an ongoing national drive to better utilise community pharmacy to more widely 
support self-care, and to become the first port of call for minor ailments.  
In the Minor Eye Conditions and Treatment Service (MECATS), patients who have been 
seen by a registered optometrist for a minor eye condition, then present to the pharmacy 
with a voucher requesting a treatment from an agreed local formulary. Patients who are 
registered with a County Durham and Darlington GP practice and are exempt from NHS 
prescription charges receive this treatment free of charge. 
 
 
 

                                            
58 Information received from service commissioner August 2021. 

Page 67

https://www.durhaminsight.info/pna/


 

30 
 

3.2.3 ICS commissioned services  
From July 2022, CCGs will no longer exist as the commissioning body for local NHS 
pharmaceutical services. The ICS will become the commissioning body from July 2022, and 
so during the lifetime of this PNA locally commissioned NHS pharmacy services may move 
to a more consistent region-wide model. 
 
At the end of December 2021, two North-East and North Cumbria Integrated Care System59 
(NENC ICS) services were commissioned to support patients and the NHS over the winter 
period: 
 
3.2.3i Walk-in CPCS Emergency Medicine Supply 
This service allows the patient to present directly to the pharmacy for an emergency supply 
of repeat medication without a prior referral from another service e.g. NHS111.  
 
3.2.3ii Think Pharmacy First – Minor Ailment Service 
This service ran in parallel with the CCG-commissioned minor ailment service (Section 
3.2.2i) to allow pharmacies to treat a wider range of minor ailments and provide a wider 
range of medicines.  
 
3.3. Service provision by community pharmacy 
 
3.3.1 The necessary and other relevant pharmaceutical services  
The pharmaceutical services that the HWB has identified as services that are necessary to 
meet the need for pharmaceutical services are (Section 3.1): 

 All essential services 

 The following advanced services: 
 New Medicine Service  
 Community Pharmacist Consultation Service 

 
The other relevant pharmaceutical services that the HWB has identified as not being 
necessary to meet the need for pharmaceutical services but will secure improvements or 
better access are (Section 3.1): 

 The following advanced services: 
 Community Pharmacy Seasonal Influenza Vaccination 
 Hypertension Case-Finding Service 
 Smoking Cessation Service 

 
Information from the community pharmacy survey over the summer 2021 (67% response 
rate. Appendix 7) and from service commissioners is described below. 
 
3.3.2 Advanced pharmacy services 
In October 2021, information provided by NHSE&I showed that: 
 
Table 3: Advanced service provision in the 23 Dales pharmacies in October 2021 

Service  % of pharmacies providing this service  

CPCS 96% (n=22) 

Seasonal Influenza Vaccination 2021-22 74% (n=17) 

NMS 100% (n=23) 

AUR or SAC 0% (n=0) 

 

                                            
59 Lead commissioner was Newcastle Gateshead CCG. Services managed by Pharmacy Services 
North East (PSNE)  

Page 68



 

31 
 

Table 4: Advanced service provision in the 28 Easington60 pharmacies in October 
2021 

Service  % of pharmacies providing this service  

CPCS 100% (n=28) 

Seasonal Influenza Vaccination 2021-22 36% (n=10) 

NMS 96% (n=27) 

AUR or SAC 4% (n=1)  

 
Table 5: Advanced service provision in the 20 Derwentside pharmacies in October 
2021 

Service  % of pharmacies providing this service  

CPCS 100% (n=20) 

Seasonal Influenza Vaccination 2021-22 50% (n=10) 

NMS 100% (n=20)  

AUR or SAC 10% (n=2) 

 
Table 6: Advanced service provision in the 22 Sedgefield pharmacies in October 2021 

Service  % of pharmacies providing this service  

CPCS 100% (n=22) 

Seasonal Influenza Vaccination 2021-22 64% (n=14) 

NMS 100% (n=22) 

AUR or SAC 0% (n=0)  

 
Table 7: Advanced service provision in the 21 Durham pharmacies in October 2021 

Service  % of pharmacies providing this service  

CPCS 100% (n=21) 

Seasonal Influenza Vaccination 2021-22 57% (n=12) 

NMS 100% (n=21) 

AUR or SAC 5% (n=1) 

 
Table 8: Advanced service provision in the 12 Chester-le-Street pharmacies in 
October 2021 

Service  % of pharmacies providing this service  

CPCS 100% (n=12) 

Seasonal Influenza Vaccination 2021-22 42% (n=5) 

NMS 83% (n=10) 

AUR or SAC 8% (n=1) 

 
This can be summarised as: 

 During the pandemic, the majority of pharmacies provided the Covid-19 Lateral Flow 
Device Distribution Service and the Community Pharmacy Covid-19 Pandemic 
Medicines Delivery Service (both services decommissioned in March 2022). 

 The provision of AUR and the SAC services continues to be minimal. Section 4.1.3 
shows that on average pharmacies and dispensing doctors in County Durham issue 
4.5 times the number of appliances compared to appliance contractors however 
there doesn’t appear to be a need for these services.  

 The necessary pharmaceutical services, the NMS and CPCS are now offered by the 
majority of pharmacies.  

 Of the other relevant services: 

                                            
60 Information correct in October 2021 (1 distance selling premise in Seaham opened in December 
2021)  

Page 69



 

32 
 

 The provision of the Influenza Vaccination Service is variable across each locality 
(this information is also mapped at https://www.durhaminsight.info/pna/). Given 
the essential role that community pharmacy played with Covid-19 vaccination 
during 2020 and 202161 (as at February 2022, a total of 23 community 
pharmacies in County Durham were providing Covid-19 vaccinations in County 
Durham62) it is important that CPCD continues to encourage pharmacies, 
particularly in the Easington locality which is one of the more deprived localities in 
the County, to provide future vaccination services.  

 The Hypertension Case Finding Service was commissioned from October 2021 
and had not been implemented at the time of writing this PNA. Given that CVD is 
among the leading causes of premature mortality in County Durham (Section 
2.1.3) CPCD should encourage as many pharmacies as possible to provide this 
service.   

 The Smoking Cessation Service had not been introduced at the time of writing of 
the PNA. Given that smoking remains the leading cause of preventable illness 
and premature death in England, and smoking prevalence and smoking-related 
death rates in County Durham remain above the national averages (Section 
2.1.5) CPCD should encourage as many pharmacies as possible to provide this 
service.   

Note: That engaging with services is a decision for each pharmacy based on their own 
individual circumstances.  
 
3.3.3 CCG locally commissioned services 

 The Minor Ailment Service and the Food Thickening Voucher Scheme are now 
offered by the majority of pharmacies. 

 The Palliative Care and MECAT Services are now widespread.  
 

3.3.4 Public health locally commissioned services 

 The NRT Voucher Scheme and the EOHC Service are now offered by the majority of 
pharmacies.  

 The provision of the Supervised Consumption Service is now widespread.  

 The Naloxone Supply Service and the Needle Exchange Service remains a limited 
commissioned service from pharmacies (sitting alongside the services offered from 
the Recovery Centres). 

 
3.3.5 Non-commissioned services 

 A goodwill prescription delivery service continues to be available from the majority of 
pharmacies. 

 
3.4 Future service developments  
In July 2022, further pharmacy service developments include: 

 The ICS commissioned Pharmacy Urinary Tract Infection (UTI) Service63 which aims 
to provide eligible females from 16 years up to 65 years of age with access to 
medication for the treatment of simple UTIs via community pharmacy. 

 A future advanced Community Pharmacy Contraception Management Service64 
which is being piloted by the NHS to allow ongoing oral contraception access through 
community pharmacy.  

 

                                            
61 https://www.england.nhs.uk/coronavirus/covid-19-vaccination-programme/  
62 Information received from NHSE&I March 2022. 
63 https://www.psne.co.uk/utipgd.html 
64 https://www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pharmacies-gp-practices-and-appliance-contractors/dispensing-
contractors-information/nhs-community-pharmacy-contraception-management-service-pilot 

Page 70

https://www.durhaminsight.info/pna/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/coronavirus/covid-19-vaccination-programme/
https://www.psne.co.uk/utipgd.html
https://www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pharmacies-gp-practices-and-appliance-contractors/dispensing-contractors-information/nhs-community-pharmacy-contraception-management-service-pilot
https://www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pharmacies-gp-practices-and-appliance-contractors/dispensing-contractors-information/nhs-community-pharmacy-contraception-management-service-pilot


 

33 
 

 
Section four: Access to pharmaceutical services 

 

Key points 
 

County Durham has a good distribution of pharmaceutical services with the rural population 
mainly being served by dispensing GP practices. This is reflected by the fact that, in 
December 2021, all residential properties in County Durham are within a 20-minute drive of 
a pharmacy or dispensing GP; and 80% are within a 20-minute walk of a pharmacy or 
dispensing GP. This is also reflected in the public surveys where an average of 92% of 
people who responded stated that they can easily access pharmaceutical services. 
 
There is generally a good distribution of pharmacies across the 6 localities to match the 
areas of higher population density. 
 
Similarly, there is generally a good distribution of pharmacies across the 6 localities to match 
the areas of higher population density of older people. This is important since the older 
population is increasing. In addition, older patients often have higher morbidity and generally 
require more support with their medicines and access to pharmaceutical services. 
 
County Durham experiences higher levels of deprivation than the national average. 
Research by Durham University has shown that 99.8% of the population in the areas of 
highest deprivation in England have access to a community pharmacy within a 20-minute 
walk. This pattern is generally supported locally in each of the 6 localities where pharmacy 
locations are mapped against areas of deprivation. Therefore, community pharmacy is 
already well-placed to provide pharmaceutical services in the heart of deprived communities. 
 
In December 2021, County Durham has an above England average supply of community 
pharmacies, at 24 pharmacies per 100,000 population compared to the England average of 
21 per 100,000. 
 
There are no dispensing appliance contractors in County Durham.  
 
A good distribution of pharmacies exists with extended and weekend opening hours in all 
localities. People requiring urgent medication from primary care services are generally 
directed to a 100-hour pharmacy open in that locality.  
 
Out of area pharmaceutical services do not provide a necessary dispensing service in 
County Durham (only 5% of all items prescribed by GP practices in County Durham are 
dispensed outside the County). 
  
None of the predicted housing development builds by 2025 will require new pharmaceutical 
services due to reasonable cover from already existing services.  
 

 
4.1 Location of pharmaceutical services  
An important consideration in determining the adequacy of pharmaceutical services is how 
long it takes to travel to a pharmacy or dispensing GP practice. In December 2021, all 
260,141 residential properties in County Durham are within a 20-minute drive of a pharmacy 
or dispensing GP; and 80% (n=208,868) are within a 20-minute walk of a pharmacy or 
dispensing GP.  
 
In order to protect patient access in areas of deprivation or where community pharmacy 
provision is sparse, a national Pharmacy Access Scheme (PhAS) remains in place. This 

Page 71



 

34 
 

scheme pays additional monies to small and medium sized pharmacies that are a mile or 
more from another pharmacy (this is measured by road distance rather than as the crow 
flies). A list of pharmacies eligible for the 2022 PhAS, together with eligibility criteria and a 
guidance is available.65 
In County Durham, 17 pharmacies are eligible for this payment from January 2022. This is to 
be expected due to the rural nature of County Durham.  
 
4.1.1 Pharmacy services   
In December 2021, there are 127 pharmacies (13 of which are 100-hour pharmacies, and 7 
of which are distance selling premises66) in County Durham (Appendix 8).  
The number reported in the 2015-18 PNA was 125. The opening of two distance selling 
premises has increased the number from 125 to 127. 
By March 2022, the total number of pharmacies will reduce to 125 with the consolidation and 
hence the closure of a Boots pharmacy in North Road, Durham City and in Durham Road, 
Ferryhill. Neither of these consolidations will create a gap in pharmaceutical services 
provision that can be met by a routine application. 
By April 2022, the total number of pharmacies will reduce to 124 with the closure of Boots 
pharmacy in Newgate Street, Bishop Auckland. This closure does not leave a gap in 
pharmaceutical services provision. 
 
Table 9: Pharmacies in County Durham in December 2021 

Locality  Total 
number of 
pharmacies  

Number of  
100-hour 
pharmacies   

Location of 100-hour 
pharmacies  

Number of 
distance 
selling 
premises  

Dales 23 5 Bishop Auckland (4) 
Crook (1) 

0 

Easington 29 2 Peterlee 
Seaham 

2  

Derwentside 20 3 Consett 
Stanley 
Tanfield 

1 

Sedgefield 22 2 Newton Aycliffe 
Spennymoor 

2 

Durham 21 1 Dragonville Industrial 
Estate, Durham 

0 

Chester-le-
Street  

12 0 - 2 

Total 127 13  7 

 
The County Durham population in 2020 was 533,149. Projections indicate this will increase 
to 546,500 by 2028. This means that in December 2021, County Durham has 24 pharmacies 
per 100,000 population (reducing to 23 pharmacies per 100,000 population in 2028). This 
remains higher than the England average of 21 per 100,000.67 
 

                                            
65 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/community-pharmacy-contractual-framework-2019-to-
2024  
66 Information received from NHSE&I in November 2021 stated that in the North-East and North 
Cumbria Region there are a total of 19 Distance Selling Premises. 
67 In 2020-21 there are 11,600 active community pharmacies in England. 
https://www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/statistical-collections/general-pharmaceutical-services-england/general-
pharmaceutical-services-england-201516-202021. 

Page 72

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/community-pharmacy-contractual-framework-2019-to-2024
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/community-pharmacy-contractual-framework-2019-to-2024
https://www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/statistical-collections/general-pharmaceutical-services-england/general-pharmaceutical-services-england-201516-202021
https://www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/statistical-collections/general-pharmaceutical-services-england/general-pharmaceutical-services-england-201516-202021


 

35 
 

The maps at https://www.durhaminsight.info/pna/ show that there is a good distribution of 
pharmacies across County Durham, with the rural population mainly being served by 
dispensing practices (Appendix 6).  
 
The maps at https://www.durhaminsight.info/pna/ also show pharmacy locations mapped 
against population density (all ages). There is generally a good distribution of pharmacies 
across the 6 localities to match the areas of higher population density (Appendix 6).  
 
Similarly, the maps at https://www.durhaminsight.info/pna/ show pharmacy locations mapped 
against population density of the over 65’s (Appendix 6). Again, there is generally a good 
distribution of pharmacies across the 6 localities to match the areas of higher population 
density of older people. This is important since older patients often have higher morbidity 
and generally require more support with their medicines and access to pharmaceutical 
services. 
 
A study published in the British Medical Journal (BMJ) in 2014 by Durham University68 
sought to determine the percentage of the population in England that have access to a 
community pharmacy within a 20-minute walk, and how this linked to social deprivation. It 
found that 90.2% of the population in the areas of lowest deprivation have access to a 
community pharmacy within a 20-minute walk, whilst 99.8% of the population in the areas of 
highest deprivation have access to a community pharmacy within a 20-minute walk.  
This is supported locally by the maps at https://www.durhaminsight.info/pna/ where 
pharmacy locations are mapped against deprivation to show a good availability of 
pharmacies across the areas of deprivation in the 6 localities (Appendix 6). Therefore, 
community pharmacy is well-placed to provide pharmaceutical services in the heart of 
deprived communities. 
 
4.1.2 Dispensing GP practices 
In December 2021, there are 13 dispensing GP practices in County Durham (Appendix 8), 
with the rural population mainly being served by dispensing practices (maps at 
https://www.durhaminsight.info/pna/).  
The number reported in the 2015-18 PNA was 16. None of these closures were deemed to 
create a significant gap in the availability of pharmaceutical services in the areas affected.  
 
Table 10: Dispensing GP practices in County Durham in December 2021  

Locality  Total number of 
dispensing GP 
practices  

GP practice  

Dales 7  Auckland Medical Group, Bishop 
Auckland  

 Barnard Castle Surgery 

 Woodview Medical Practice, Cockfield 

 Old Forge Surgery, Middleton-in-Teesdale 

 Pinfold Medical Practice, Butterknowle 

 Evenwood Medical Practice 

 Gainford Surgery  

Easington 0 - 

Derwentside 3  Browney House Surgery, Langley Park 

 The Haven Surgery, Burnhope 

                                            
68 Todd et al. The positive pharmacy care law: an area level analysis of the relationship between 
community pharmacy distribution, urbanity and social deprivation in England. BMJ 2014 4(8) 1-8. 
http://bmjopen.bmj.com/content/4/8/e005764  

Page 73

https://www.durhaminsight.info/pna/
https://www.durhaminsight.info/pna/
https://www.durhaminsight.info/pna/
https://www.durhaminsight.info/pna/
https://www.durhaminsight.info/pna/
http://bmjopen.bmj.com/content/4/8/e005764


 

36 
 

 Oakfields Health Group, Hamsterley 
Colliery  

Sedgefield 2 
 

 Bewick Crescent Surgery, Newton Aycliffe 

 St Andrews Medical Practice, 
Spennymoor  

Durham 1  Belmont and Sherburn Medical Group, 
Belmont  

Chester-le-
Street  

0 - 

Total 13  

 
4.1.3 Dispensing appliance contractors  
There are no dispensing appliance contractors in County Durham. Information received from 
NHSE&I in November 2021 stated that in the NENC region there are 5 dispensing appliance 
contractors: 

 Amcare Ltd, Sunderland  

 B Braun Medical Limited, Sunderland  

 Fittleworth Medical Limited, Sunderland    

 BCA Direct Limited, South Shields   

 Salts Medilink, Newcastle upon Tyne  
Dispensing appliance contractors tend to operate remotely, receiving prescriptions either via 
the post or the electronic prescription service, and arranging for dispensed items to be 
delivered to the patient. 
 
On average, pharmacies and dispensing GP practices dispense 4.5 times more appliance 
items than appliance contractors (none of which are situated in County Durham):  
 
Table 11: Appliance dispensing in County Durham69 

Financial 
year  

Number of items 
prescribed by 
County Durham GP 
practices  

Number of appliance 
items dispensed by 
appliance contractors 
outside the HWB area 

Number of appliance 
items dispensed in the 
HWB area  

2018-19 
 

15,849,377 114,031 507,348 

2019-20 
 

16,287,138 107,354 491,933 

2020-21 
 

15,944,531 104,814 448,607 

 
4.1.4 Out of area dispensing  
Out of area pharmaceutical services do not provide a necessary dispensing service in 
County Durham based on the fact that approximately 5% of all items prescribed by GP 
practices in County Durham are dispensed outside the County: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                            
69 Information provided by NHS North of England Commissioning Support Unit (NECS) in January 
2022 

Page 74



 

37 
 

Table 12: Out of area dispensing70 

Financial 
year  

Number of items 
prescribed by County 
Durham GP practices  

% total items 
prescribed in County 
Durham that are 
dispensed inside 
County Durham 

% total items 
prescribed in County 
Durham that are 
dispensed outside 
County Durham  

2018-19 
 

15,849,377 94.7% 5.3% 

2019-20 
 

16,287,138 94.6% 5.4% 

2020-21 15,944,531 94.3% 5.7%  

 
4.2 Opening hours of pharmacy services 
Pharmacies and dispensing appliance contractors have two different types of opening hours: 
core and supplementary. In general, pharmacies will have either 40 or 100 (for those that 
have opened under the former exemption from the market entry test) core opening hours per 
week. In December 2021 there are 13 100-hour pharmacies which provide extended and out 
of hours cover for pharmaceutical services across the county. Dispensing appliance 
contractors are generally required to have not less than 30 core opening hours per week. 
Core opening hours can only be changed by first applying to NHSE&I. As with all 
applications, they may be granted or refused. 
Any opening hours that are over and above the core opening hours are called 
supplementary opening hours. They can be changed by giving NHSE&I at least 3 months’ 
notice. 
Therefore, all assessments on access to pharmaceutical services by opening hours are 
made using core hours only. 
 
4.2.1 Access to pharmacy services out of hours  
If a person urgently requires a doctor, then they are advised to contact their own GP practice 
between 8am – 6pm Monday to Friday. If their own GP practice cannot see them that day, 
they may be offered an appointment at the nearest primary care service.  
Outside of these hours patients are advised to contact NHS111 or visit NHS111 online to be 
signposted to the appropriate service.  
 
As of March 2022, the primary care services in the south of the county operate between 
12pm – 8pm Monday to Friday, and 8am – 1pm Saturday, Sunday, and Bank Holidays. 
These are located in: 

 Dales: Bishop Auckland  

 Sedgefield: Spennymoor and Newton Aycliffe  

 Easington: Seaham and Peterlee 
 
As of March 2022, the primary care services in the north of the county operate:  

 Central Durham: Meadowfield operate between 6.30pm – 9.00pm Monday to Friday, 
9am – 1.30pm Saturday, Sunday, and Bank Holidays. 

 Chester-le-Street: Great Lumley operate between 6.30pm – 8.00pm Monday to 
Friday, 8am – 1.00pm Saturday, Sunday, and Bank Holidays. 

 Derwentside: Tanfield View operate between 6.30pm – 9.00pm Monday to Friday, 
8am – 6.00pm Saturday, 8am – 1pm Sunday and Bank Holidays. 

 Durham: UHND site operate 12pm – 8pm Monday to Friday, 8am – 1pm Saturday, 
Sunday, and Bank Holidays. 

 

                                            
70 Information provided by NECS in January 2022 
 

Page 75



 

38 
 

All primary care services are pre-bookable services via NHS111 or GP practices and do not 
offer walk in facilities. 
 
People requiring urgent medication are generally provided with a prescription and directed to 
a 100-hour pharmacy open in that locality. Across County Durham there are 13 100-hour 
pharmacies.  
 
Table 13: Pharmacies in County Durham in December 2021  

Locality  Total 
number of 
pharmacies 
in 
December 
2021   

Number of  
100-hour 
pharmacies   

Number of  
pharmacies 
with core 
opening 
hours after 
6pm 
weekdays    

Number of 
pharmacies 
with core 
opening 
hours on 
Saturday  

Number of 
pharmacies 
with core 
opening 
hours on 
Sunday  

Dales 23 5 5 11 5 (none 
open after 
5pm) 

Easington 29 2 2 12 2 (none 
open after 
4pm)  

Derwentside 20 3 3 7 3 (none 
open after 
8pm) 

Sedgefield 22 2 2 6 2 (none 
open after 
4pm) 

Durham 21 1 1 6 3 (none 
open after 
5pm) 

Chester-le-
Street  

12 0 0 4 0 

Total 127 13 13 46 15 

 
This information can be summarised as: 
 
Table 14: Locality core opening hours 

Locality  Core opening hours  

Dales There is reasonable access to pharmaceutical services in the evenings 
and at weekends (with no pharmaceutical service after 5pm Sunday 
evenings). 
 

Easington There is reasonable access to pharmaceutical services in the evenings 
and at weekends (with no pharmaceutical service after 4pm Sunday 
evenings). 
 

Derwentside There is reasonable access to pharmaceutical services in the evenings 
and at weekends. 
 

Sedgefield There is reasonable access to pharmaceutical services in the evenings 
and at weekends (with no pharmaceutical service after 4pm Sunday 
evenings). 
 

Page 76



 

39 
 

Durham There is reasonable access to pharmaceutical services in the evenings 
and at weekends (with no pharmaceutical service after 5pm Sunday 
evenings). 
 

Chester-le-
Street  

There is reasonable access to pharmaceutical services on Saturdays with 
no pharmaceutical service after 6pm weekdays or on Sunday, however 
there is provision in the nearby Durham locality.  
 

 
There are no pharmacies open on Sunday evenings, however as of March 2022, the primary 
care services generally operate until 1pm at weekends, after which time patients will be 
directed to CDDFT out of hours service.  
 
From October 2022, PCNs will be required to operate a service from 6.30 pm to 8 pm 
weekday evenings (already provided) and from 9 am to 5 pm on Saturdays (as of March 
2022, primary care services operate until 1pm on Saturday), however there is reasonable 
access to pharmaceutical services during these times (Table 13 and 14).71 
 
The maps at https://www.durhaminsight.info/pna/ show the location of pharmacies with core 
opening hours after 6pm (these are the 100-hour pharmacies only) and pharmacies with 
core opening hours at the weekend (with a 100-hour pharmacy distinction) (Appendix 6). 
Appendix 8 lists the additional supplementary hours for each pharmacy, with a distinction of 
which pharmacies are 100-hour and which pharmacies are distance-selling, in order to give 
a full picture of total pharmacy opening hours. 
  
4.3 The public view 
Appendix 9 describes the results of the Healthwatch and Community Champion surveys in 
2020 and 2022 respectively; and the results from the statutory public consultation. Of those 
who responded, 92% reported that they can easily access pharmacy services. 
 
Responses that summarise access to pharmacy services when developing the PNA are 
described below: 
 
4.3.1 Healthwatch  
Healthwatch County Durham carried out an online survey at the beginning of 2020 to gain an 
initial insight of the experiences of people accessing pharmaceutical services in County 
Durham. Of the 260 responses received: 

 94% can easily access pharmacy services 

 54% access pharmacy services at least monthly 

 55% always visit the same pharmacy service 

 62% normally get to their pharmacy by car or taxi 

 72% use a high street pharmacy with 25% use a GP practice dispensary 

 15% have used an online / internet pharmacy 
 
4.3.2 Community Champion  
In January 2022, the Community Champion72 network promoted an online survey to their 
local communities. Of the 629 responses received: 

 92% can easily access pharmacy services 

 6% access pharmacy services at least weekly, and 55% access pharmacy services 
less than once a week but at least monthly  

                                            
71 https://www.england.nhs.uk/gp/investment/gp-contract/  
72 https://www.durham.gov.uk/covidcommunitychampion  

Page 77

https://www.durhaminsight.info/pna/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/gp/investment/gp-contract/
https://www.durham.gov.uk/covidcommunitychampion


 

40 
 

 57% always visit the same pharmacy service, and 35% usually visit the same 
pharmacy service  

 52% normally get to their pharmacy by car or taxi 

 55% use a community pharmacy with 41% use a GP practice dispensary 

 3% use an internet pharmacy service  
These responses are also available across each of the 6 localities (Appendix 9).  
 
4.4 Choice of pharmaceutical services  
The 2013 Regulations require the HWB to have regard as to whether there is sufficient 
choice to obtaining pharmaceutical services. Of those who responded to the Community 
Champion survey, 57% always visit the same pharmacy service, and 35% usually visit the 
same pharmacy service.  
 
Alongside location and opening hours of pharmaceutical services the following factors 
should also be taken into account: 

 The majority of pharmacies provide a non-commissioned goodwill delivery service 
(Appendix 7). Whilst these are not a pharmaceutical service, where provided they 
can improve the provision of, or access to, services, particularly dispensing services, 
in the areas that the pharmacy delivers to. This is a private goodwill service and can 
therefore be withdrawn at any time. 

 All pharmacies are now required to facilitate, to a reasonable extent, remote access 
to the pharmaceutical services they provide, where people wish to access them 
remotely. This change was brought into the terms of service earlier in 2021 and will 
take time to become embedded. However, it is likely that this will be an attractive 
option for certain residents, but not all as there will be those who do not have access 
to the internet or who prefer to access services on a face-to-face basis. 

 Patients can choose to use a distance selling premise (Section 3.1.5) to get their 
medication delivered to them free of charge. As of 30 June 2021, there were 379 
distance selling premises in England.73 Of those who responded to the Healthwatch 
and Community Champions surveys, the use of distance selling premises continues 
to be minimal.  

 The majority of prescriptions generated by GP practices are sent to pharmacies 
electronically which helps to support convenience and ease of access for patients 
across County Durham: 
 

Table 15: The electronic prescription service74  

Financial 
year  

% total items prescribed in 
County Durham that are 
prescribed electronically 

% total items prescribed in County 
Durham that are prescribed as 
eRepeats  

2018-19 
 

75% 26% 

2019-20 
 

82% 28% 

2020-21 
 

94% 31% 

 
4.5 Residents with a protected characteristic  
The Equality Act 201075 sets out the framework which requires service providers not to 
discriminate against persons with a disability. A person is regarded as being disabled if they 

                                            
73 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pharmaceutical-needs-assessments-information-pack  
74 Information provided by NECS in January 2022 
75 PSNC Briefing 01/16: Equality Act 2010. January 2016. http://psnc.org.uk/contract-it/pharmacy-
regulation/dda/  

Page 78

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pharmaceutical-needs-assessments-information-pack
http://psnc.org.uk/contract-it/pharmacy-regulation/dda/
http://psnc.org.uk/contract-it/pharmacy-regulation/dda/


 

41 
 

have a long term physical or mental impairment which has a substantial adverse effect on 
that person’s ability to carry out day to day activities. If there are obstacles to accessing a 
service, then the service provider must consider what reasonable adjustments are needed to 
overcome that obstacle so that access is provided to a service as close as it is reasonably 
possible to get to the standard normally offered to the public at large. The provider will be in 
breach of the legislation if there is a reasonable adjustment available which he chooses not 
to make, making the disabled person unable to access the service.   
From 2005, the funding of the NHS Pharmaceutical Services has included an element to 
recognise the additional cost of complying with disability legislation. Easy open containers, 
large print labels, and reminder charts are common adjustments in pharmacy.  
In August 2021, 19%76 of pharmacies across County Durham that responded to the 
pharmacy survey (67% response rate) did not have unaided wheelchair access but had 
processes in place to allow for aided customer access (Appendix 7). 
 
4.6 Future developments 
The PNA describes any needs for pharmaceutical services that may arise during the three-
year lifetime of the document. Matters to have regard to here include: 

 housing developments 

 regeneration projects 

 highways projects that will affect how services are accessed 

 creation of new retail and leisure facilities that will draw people to an area 

 changes in the provision of primary medical services for example the relocation of 
GP practices. 

 
4.6.1 Regeneration sites and future employment opportunities 
In line with the development plan for County Durham77 and from information gathered by 
Public Health in January 2022: 
 
Table 16: Summary of regeneration sites and future employment opportunities 

Locality  Area Description Likely to 
significantly 
increase 
pharmaceutical 
service needs 
during 2022-
25? 

Dales Crook Regeneration of town centre No 
 

Willington Regeneration of town centre No 
 

Tow Law  Regeneration of town centre No 
 

Bishop 
Auckland 

Regeneration of town centre and 
transport links  

No 
 
 

Bishop 
Auckland  

Possible further development 
Tindale Retail Park  

No 
 
 

Easington Peterlee Regeneration of town centre 
 

No 

Horden Regeneration of town centre No 

                                            
76 16 pharmacies out of the 85 that responded.  
77 https://www.durham.gov.uk/article/3266/Development-Plan-for-County-Durham  

Page 79

https://www.durham.gov.uk/article/3266/Development-Plan-for-County-Durham


 

42 
 

 

Seaham  Regeneration of town centre 
 

No 

Murton  Jade Park development: New 
employment site offering an 
estimated 2200 jobs 
 

No 
 

Derwentside Consett  Regeneration of town centre  
 

No  

Stanley Regeneration of town centre and 
road networks 
 

No  

Sedgefield Spennymoor  Spennymoor town centre 
regeneration 
 

No  

Newton 
Aycliffe  

Forrest Park development: New 
employment site offering an 
estimated 3000 jobs. 
  

No  

Durham Aykley 
Heads  

New employment site offering an 
estimated 4000 jobs  
 

No  

City centre  New leisure opportunities in centre 
and on riverbank to attract more 
evening and night-time visitors  
 

No  

Thinford  Thinford roundabout retail park 
extension  
 

No  

Bowburn  Integra 61 (Amazon) expansion: 
Comprises of a mixture of housing; 
a 70-bed hotel; a 60-bed 
residential care home; industrial 
storage and distribution; retail; 
restaurant/café; takeaway; public 
house; children's nursery; GP 
surgery and car showroom uses. 
 
As at March 2022, 180 housing 
units are expected to be completed 
by 2025-26 (Appendix 10); the 
hotel, industrial storage and 
distribution, retail, restaurant/café, 
takeaway, public house, children's 
nursery, and car showroom aren’t 
expected in the short term.  
Shorter term developments include 
a potential GP surgery and 
residential care home.  
 

No (based on 
the information 
available in 
March 2022. 
The HWB will 
keep this 
development 
under review)  
 

Chester-le-
Street  

Chester-le-
Street  

New leisure centre. Expansion at 
the riverside of sports 
  

No  

 

Page 80



 

43 
 

 
 
4.6.2 Housing developments  
For potential future changes to pharmaceutical service need due to new housing 
developments during 2022-25, an analysis of building ‘commitments’ (i.e. sites with planning 
permission) in County Durham was undertaken in October 2021.  
 
In summary, the larger housing developments continue in the areas of Spennymoor, Newton 
Aycliffe, and Durham City. An analysis of the number of prescription items prescribed in 
2018-19 and then in 2019-20 by the GP practices located in these areas showed that there 
had been a 4%, a 4% and a 1% increase in the number of items prescribed in these areas, 
respectively between 2018-19 and 2019-20.78 
 
Factors taken into account for new housing developments in order to gauge potential 
demand for pharmaceutical services include: 

 Is it a significant housing development: Appendix 10 shows the future housing 
developments of 100 or more builds and the estimated builds by 2025. Census data 
indicates an average of 2.2 people per house in County Durham. 

 What type of houses will be built in a development: For example, bungalows which are 
more likely to attract an elderly population; a housing association development which 
may be associated with a population experiencing multiple deprivations.  

 Are other developments planned within that housing development: For example, GP 
practices, schools, retail and leisure facilities, and employment. In County Durham, if a 
local centre is planned as part of a larger housing development, it is usually 3-4 units. 
Locally there is an agreement that a reasonable allocation of patients to a GP is typically 
1600 – 1700 patients to take into account any deprivation.  

 Can a judgement be reasonably made as to whether this development may result in a re-
distribution of the existing population in an area (e.g. a development specifically intended 
to meet localised housing needs) or a new population moving in to the area (e.g. a newly 
retired population moving to a local beauty spot, or as a result of the impact of a 
significant new employment opportunity)? 

 Is the predicted incoming population likely to: 
1. Alter their choice of GP practice? 
2. Have significant health needs (e.g. an elderly population, or a population suffering 

from multiple deprivations)? 
3. Be able to easily access pharmaceutical services within 20 minutes (e.g. via foot,  

sustainable transport, or by car)? However, as described in Section 4.4, residents will 
have access to all the distance selling premises in England; pharmacies will 
increasingly be offering remote access to services where this is appropriate; and the 
majority of existing pharmacies offer a private goodwill delivery service. 

 Can existing pharmacies meet an increased demand: For example, if residents do not 
have a sufficient choice of local pharmaceutical service (Appendix 10 shows the number 
of pharmacies within a 20-minute walk and a 20-minute drive of each housing 
development). 

 
The impact in each locality of sites with an estimated build of more than 100 houses by 2025 
is discussed below:  

 
4.6.2i Dales 
Table 17 lists the housing developments in the Dales locality with an estimated build of more 
than 100 houses by 2025. These sites will contain approximately 600 new houses, however 

                                            
78 Analysis available on request. 2019-20 used as the comparator year since 2020-21 is not an 
accurate reflection of activity during the pandemic. 

Page 81



 

44 
 

there are sufficient pharmacies within a 20-minute drive of these sites. One of the four sites 
also has a pharmacy within a 20-minute walk. 
Table 17: Sites with an estimated build of more than 100 houses by 2025 

Site name  Settlement  Estimated 
number of 
houses 
that will be 
built by 
2025-26 

Pharmacies 
within a 20-
minute 
drive time  

Pharmacies 
within a 20-
minute 
walk time  

Brack’s Farm Bishop 
Auckland  

150 69 0 

Land south of Douglas 
Crescent, Auckland Park 

Bishop 
Auckland 

200  68 0 

Land north of Woodhouses 
Farm and south of Etherley 
Moor Wigdan Walls Road 

Etherley Dene  140 59 0 

Land east of Deerbolt 
HMYOI and north of Bowes 
Road, Startforth 

Barnard Castle  104 13 1 

 
4.6.2ii Easington 
Table 18 lists the housing developments in the Easington locality with an estimated build of 
more than 100 houses by 2025. These sites will contain approximately 400 new houses, 
however there are sufficient pharmacies within a 20-minute drive of these sites. Two of the 
three sites also has a pharmacy(s) within a 20-minute walk. 
 
Table 18: Sites with an estimated build of more than 100 houses by 2025 

Site name  Settlement  Estimated 
number of 
houses 
that will 
be built by 
2025-26 

Pharmacies 
within a 20-
minute 
drive time  

Pharmacies 
within a 20-
minute 
walk time  

Land west of Blackhall 
Cemetery and south of 
Hesleden Road 

Blackhall 
Colliery  

123 50 2 

Land south of A182 
Seaham 

Countryside - 
East Durham 

180 36 0 

Land south-east of Stewart 
Drive 

Wingate  
125 82 1 

 
4.6.2iii Derwentside 
Table 19 lists the housing development in the Derwentside locality with an estimated build of 
more than 100 houses by 2025. This site will contain approximately 150 new houses, 
however there are sufficient pharmacies within a 20-minute walk and drive of this site. 
 
Table 19: Sites with an estimated build of more than 100 houses by 2025 

Site name  Settlement  Estimated 
number of 
houses 
that will 
be built by 
2025-26 

Pharmacies 
within a 20-
minute 
drive time  

Pharmacies 
within a 20-
minute 
walk time  

Page 82



 

45 
 

Berry Edge South, off 
Genesis Way 

Consett 150 32 3 

 
4.6.2iv Sedgefield 
Table 20 lists the housing developments in the Sedgefield locality with an estimated build of 
more than 100 houses by 2025. These sites will contain approximately 1000 new houses, 
however there are sufficient pharmacies within a 20-minute drive of these sites. Five of the 
seven sites also have a pharmacy(s) within a 20-minute walk. 
 
Table 20: Sites with an estimated build of more than 100 houses by 2025 

Site name  Settlement  Estimated 
number of 
houses 
that will 
be built by 
2025-26 

Pharmacies 
within a 20-
minute 
drive time  

Pharmacies 
within a 20-
minute 
walk time  

H30 - Copelaw Newton Aycliffe  170 47 1 

Land north of Middridge 
Road 

Newton Aycliffe  
 
200 

61 1 

Land north of West Chilton 
Terrace 

Chilton 120 78 2 

Whitworth Park Spennymoor 144 75 0 

Land south of 100 To 106 
Dean Road 

Ferryhill 
 
150 

80 3 

Land north of Durham 
Road, Middlestone Moor  

Spennymoor 150 79 0 

Land south of Eden Drive Sedgefield  123 57 1 

 
4.6.2v Durham 
Table 21 lists the housing developments in the Durham locality with an estimated build of 
more than 100 houses by 2025. These sites will contain approximately 1000 new houses, 
however there are sufficient pharmacies within a 20-minute drive of these sites. All of the 
sites have a pharmacy(s) within a 20-minute walk. 
 
Table 21: Sites with an estimated build of more than 100 houses by 2025 

Site name  Settlement  Estimated 
number of 
houses 
that will 
be built by 
2025-26 

Pharmacies 
within a 20-
minute 
drive time  

Pharmacies 
within a 20-
minute 
walk time  

Integra 61 Land south of 
Bowburn and west of A688 

Bowburn 180 105 1 

Bogma Hall Farm Coxhoe 144 94 1 

Land north-east of St. 
Mary's Terrace 

Coxhoe - 
Parkhill 

109 101 2 

Land east of Mill Lane Sherburn 
Village 

106 105 1 

Milburngate House Durham City 303 113 3 

Durham City 
H5 - Sniperley 
Park 

135 94 1 

Land on the north-east side 
of Cross Lane 

Sacriston 
 

137 75 2 

 

Page 83



 

46 
 

4.6.2vi Chester-le-Street 
Table 22 lists the housing developments in the Chester-le-Street locality with an estimated 
build of more than 100 houses by 2025. These sites will contain approximately 400 new 
houses, however there are sufficient pharmacies within a 20-minute drive of these sites. Two 
of the three sites also have a pharmacy within a 20-minute walk. 
 
Table 22: Sites with an estimated build of more than 100 houses by 2025 

Site name  Settlement  Estimated 
number 
of houses 
that will 
be built 
by 2025-
26 

Pharmacies 
within a 20-
minute 
drive time  

Pharmacies 
within a 20-
minute 
walk time  

Lambton Park, Chester 
Road 

Bournmoor 150 76 0 

Land east of Moss Close 
Farm 

Pelton 
 
130 

63 1 

Land west of Valley Road,  
Pelton Fell  

Pelton Fell 
 
135 

63 1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 84



 

47 
 

List of abbreviations 

 
AAP    Area Action Partnership  
 
ABPM    Ambulatory Blood Pressure Monitoring  
 
AUR    Appliance Use Review 
 
BMJ    British Medical Journal  
 
CCG    Clinical Commissioning Group  
 
CDDFT   County Durham and Darlington Foundation Trust  
 
CHD    Coronary heart disease 
 
COPD    Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease  
 
CPCD    Community Pharmacy County Durham 
 
CPCS    Community Pharmacist Consultation Service  
 
CVD    Cardiovascular disease  
 
DCC    Durham County Council  
 
DHSC    Department of Health and Social Care  
 
DMS    Discharge Medicines Service 
 
EOHC    Emergency oral hormonal contraception 
 
HLP    Healthy Living Pharmacy   
 
HWB    Health and Wellbeing Board  
 
IBA    Alcohol brief intervention  
 
ICB    Integrated Care Board  
 
ICS    Integrated Care System 
 
JHWS     Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy  
 
JSNA     Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 
 
LFT    Lateral flow test  
 
LPC    Local Pharmaceutical Committee  
 
LPS    Local Pharmaceutical Services  
 
LTC    Long term condition  
 

Page 85



 

48 
 

MDS    Monitored dosage system  
 
MECATS   Minor Eye Conditions and Treatment Service  
 
NECS    NHS North of England Commissioning Support Unit  
 
NENC ICS   North-East and North Cumbria Integrated Care System  
 
NHS BSA   NHS Business Service Authority  
 
NHSE&I   NHS England and Improvement 
 
NHSCB   NHS Commissioning Board  
 
NMS    New Medicines Service  
 
NRT    Nicotine replacement therapy  
 
PCSE    Primary Care Support England 
 
PhAS    Pharmacy access scheme  
 
PCN    Primary Care Network  
 
PGD    Patient group direction  
 
PNA    Pharmaceutical needs assessment  
 
PQS    Pharmacy Quality Scheme 
 
PSNE    Pharmacy Services North-East  
 
SAC    Stoma Appliance Customisation  
 
TB    Tuberculosis  
 
The 2013 Regulations  National Health Service (Pharmaceutical and Local 

Pharmaceutical Services) Regulations 2013  
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/349/contents   
 

UHND     University Hospital North Durham  
 
UTI    Urinary Tract Infection   

Page 86

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/349/contents


 

49 
 

Appendix 1: The National Health Service (Pharmaceutical and Local Pharmaceutical 
Services) Regulations 201379  

 
Part 2: Pharmaceutical needs assessments 

 
Regulation 3. Pharmaceutical needs assessments 
3 (1) The statement of the needs for pharmaceutical services which each HWB is required to 
publish by virtue of section 128A of the 2006 Act (pharmaceutical needs assessments), 
whether it is the statement of its first assessment or of any revised assessment, is referred to 
in these Regulations as a “pharmaceutical needs assessment”. 
 
3 (2) The pharmaceutical services to which each pharmaceutical needs assessment must 
relate are all the pharmaceutical services that may be provided under arrangements made 
by the NHSCB for: 
a) the provision of pharmaceutical services (including directed services) by a person on a 

pharmaceutical list; 
b) the provision of local pharmaceutical services under an LPS scheme (but not LP 

services which are not local pharmaceutical services); or 
c) the dispensing of drugs and appliances by a person on a dispensing doctors list (but not 

other NHS services that may be provided under arrangements made by the NHSCB with 
a dispensing doctor).  

 
Regulation 4. Information to be contained in pharmaceutical needs assessments  
4 (1) Each pharmaceutical needs assessment must contain the information set out in 
Schedule 1. 

 
4 (2) Each HWB must, in so far as is practicable, keep up to date the map which it includes 
in its pharmaceutical needs assessment pursuant to paragraph 7 of Schedule 1 (without 
needing to republish the whole of the assessment or publish a supplementary statement).  
 
Regulation 6. Subsequent assessments 
6 (1) After it has published its first assessment, each HWB must publish a statement of its 
revised assessment within 3 years of its previous publication of a pharmaceutical needs 
assessment.  
 
6 (2) A HWB must make a revised assessment as soon as is reasonably practicable after 
identifying changes since the previous assessment, which are of a significant extent, to the 
need for pharmaceutical services in its area, having regard in particular to changes to: 
a) the number of people in its area who require pharmaceutical services; 
b) the demography of its area; and 
c) the risks to the health or well-being of people in its area, 
unless it is satisfied that making a revised assessment would be a disproportionate response 
to those changes. 
 
6 (3) Pending the publication of a statement of a revised assessment, a HWB may publish a 
supplementary statement explaining changes to the availability of pharmaceutical services 
since the publication of its pharmaceutical needs assessment (and any such supplementary 
statement becomes part of that assessment), where: 
a) the changes are relevant to the granting of applications referred to in section 129(2)(c)(i) 

or (ii) of the 2006 Act; and 
b) the HWB 

I. is satisfied that making its first or a revised assessment would be a 
disproportionate response to those changes, or 

                                            
79 https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/349/contents. Accessed 30.12.21  

Page 87

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/349/contents


 

50 
 

II. is in the course of making its first or a revised assessment and is satisfied that 
immediate modification of its pharmaceutical needs assessment is essential in 
order to prevent significant detriment to the provision of pharmaceutical services 
in its area. 

 
6(4) Where chemist premises are removed from a pharmaceutical list, as a consequence of 
the grant of a consolidation application, if in the opinion of the relevant HWB the removal 
does not create a gap in pharmaceutical services provision that could be met by a routine 
application: 
a) to meet a current or future need for pharmaceutical services; or 
b) to secure improvements, or better access, to pharmaceutical services, 
the relevant HWB must publish a supplementary statement explaining that, in its view, the 
removal does not create such a gap, and any such statement becomes part of its 
pharmaceutical needs assessment. 
 
Regulation 8. Consultation on pharmaceutical needs assessments  
8 (1) When making an assessment for the purposes of publishing a pharmaceutical needs 
assessment, each HWB must consult the following about the contents of the assessment it 
is making: 
a) any Local Pharmaceutical Committee for its area (including any Local Pharmaceutical 

Committee for part of its area or for its area and that of all or part of the area of one or 
more other HWBs); 

b) any Local Medical Committee for its area (including any Local Medical Committee for 
part of its area or for its area and that of all or part of the area of one or more other 
HWBs); 

c) any persons on the pharmaceutical lists and any dispensing doctors list for its area; 
d) any LPS chemist in its area with whom the NHSCB has made arrangements for the 

provision of any local pharmaceutical services; 
e) any Local Healthwatch organisation for its area, and any other patient, consumer or 

community group in its area which in the opinion of HWB has an interest in the provision 
of pharmaceutical services in its area; and 

f) any NHS trust or NHS foundation trust in its area; 
g) the NHSCB; and 
h) any neighbouring HWB. 

 
8 (2) The persons mentioned in paragraph (1) must together be consulted at least once 
during the process of making the assessment on a draft of the proposed pharmaceutical 
needs assessment. 
 
8 (3) Where a HWB is consulted on a draft under paragraph (2), if there is a Local 
Pharmaceutical Committee or Local Medical Committee for its area or part of its area that is 
different to a Local Pharmaceutical Committee or Local Medical Committee consulted under 
paragraph (1)(a) or (b), that HWB: 
a) must consult that Committee before making its response to the consultation; and 
b) must have regard to any representations received from the Committee when making its 

response to the consultation. 
 
8 (4) The persons consulted on the draft under paragraph (2) must be given a minimum 
period of 60 days for making their response to the consultation, beginning with the day by 
which all those persons have been served with the draft. 
 
8 (5) For the purposes of paragraph (4), a person is to be treated as served with a draft if 
that person is notified by HWB of the address of a website on which the draft is available and 
is to remain available (except due to accident or unforeseen circumstances) throughout the 
period for making responses to the consultation. 

Page 88



 

51 
 

 
8 (6) If a person consulted on a draft under paragraph (2): 
a) is treated as served with the draft by virtue of paragraph (5); or 
b) has been served with copy of the draft in an electronic form, but requests a copy of the 

draft in hard copy form, HWB must as soon as is practicable and in any event within 14 
days supply a hard copy of the draft to that person (free of charge). 

 
Regulation 9. Matters for consideration when making assessments 
9 (1) When making an assessment for the purposes of publishing a pharmaceutical needs 
assessment, each HWB must have regard, in so far as it is practicable to do so, to the 
following matters: 
a) the demography of its area; 
b) whether in its area there is sufficient choice with regard to obtaining pharmaceutical 

services; 
c) any different needs of different localities within its area; 
d) pharmaceutical services provided in the area of any neighbouring HWB which affect: 

I. the need for pharmaceutical services in its area, or 
II. whether further provision of pharmaceutical services in its area would secure 

improvements, or better access, to pharmaceutical services, or pharmaceutical 
services of a specified type, in its area; and 

e) any other NHS services provided in or outside its area (which are not covered by 
subparagraph (d)) which affect: 

I. the need for pharmaceutical services in its area, or 
II. whether further provision of pharmaceutical services in its area would secure 

improvements, or better access, to pharmaceutical services, or pharmaceutical 
services of a specified type, in its area. 

 
9 (2) When making an assessment for the purposes of publishing a PNA, each HWB must 
take account of likely future needs: 
a) to the extent necessary to make a proper assessment of the matters mentioned in 

paragraphs 2 and 4 of Schedule 1; and 
b) having regard to likely changes to: 

I. the number of people in its area who require pharmaceutical services, 
II. the demography of its area, and 

III. the risks to the health or well-being of people in its area. 
 

Schedule 1: Information to be contained in pharmaceutical needs assessments 
 
1. Necessary services: current provision 
A statement of the pharmaceutical services that the HWB has identified as services that are 
provided: 
a) in the area of the HWB and which are necessary to meet the need for pharmaceutical 

services in its area; and 
b) outside the area of the HWB but which nevertheless contribute towards meeting the 

need for pharmaceutical services in its area (if the HWB has identified such services). 
 
2. Necessary services: gaps in provision 
A statement of the pharmaceutical services that the HWB has identified (if it has) as services 
that are not provided in the area of the HWB but which the HWB is satisfied: 
a) need to be provided (whether or not they are located in the area of the HWB) in order to 

meet a current need for pharmaceutical services, or pharmaceutical services of a 
specified type, in its area; 

b) will, in specified future circumstances, need to be provided (whether or not they are 
located in the area of the HWB) in order to meet a future need for pharmaceutical 
services, or pharmaceutical services of a specified type, in its area. 

Page 89



 

52 
 

 
3. Other relevant services: current provision 
A statement of the pharmaceutical services that the HWB has identified (if it has) as services 
that are provided: 
a) in the area of the HWB and which, although they are not necessary to meet the need for 

pharmaceutical services in its area, nevertheless have secured improvements, or better 
access, to pharmaceutical services in its area; 

b) outside the area of the HWB and which, although they do not contribute towards meeting 
the need for pharmaceutical services in its area, nevertheless have secured 
improvements, or better access, to pharmaceutical services in its area; 

c) in or outside the area of the HWB and, whilst not being services of the types described in 
sub-paragraph (a) or (b), or paragraph 1, they nevertheless affect the assessment by the 
HWB of the need for pharmaceutical services in its area. 

 
4. Improvements and better access: gaps in provision 
A statement of the pharmaceutical services that the HWB has identified (if it has) as services 
that are not provided in the area of the HWB but which the HWB is satisfied: 
a) would, if they were provided (whether or not they were located in the area of the HWB), 

secure improvements, or better access, to pharmaceutical services, or pharmaceutical 
services of a specified type, in its area, 

b) would, if in specified future circumstances they were provided (whether or not they were 
located in the area of the HWB), secure future improvements, or better access, to 
pharmaceutical services, or pharmaceutical services of a specified type, in its area. 

 
5. Other NHS services 
A statement of any NHS services provided or arranged by a local authority, the NHSCB, a 
CCG, an NHS trust or an NHS foundation trust to which the HWB has had regard in its 
assessment, which affect: 
a) the need for pharmaceutical services, or pharmaceutical services of a specified type, in 

its area; or 
b) whether further provision of pharmaceutical services in its area would secure 

improvements, or better access, to pharmaceutical services, or pharmaceutical services 
of a specified type, in its area. 

 
6. How the assessment was carried out 
An explanation of how the assessment has been carried out, and in particular: 
a) how it has determined what are the localities in its area; 
b) how it has taken into account (where applicable): 

I. the different needs of different localities in its area, and 
II. the different needs of people in its area who share a protected characteristic; and 

c) a report on the consultation that it has undertaken. 
 
7. Map of provision 
A map that identifies the premises at which pharmaceutical services are provided in the area 
of the HWB. 
  

Page 90



 

53 
 

Appendix 2: Identifying gaps in pharmaceutical services80  
 
Background  
A PNA considers the health needs of the population, the provision of pharmaceutical 
services commissioned by NHSE&I that can meet health needs, and therefore whether there 
are any potential gaps in pharmaceutical service delivery over a 3-year period. If gaps are 
identified, a PNA then describes any needs for, or improvements or better access to 
specified pharmaceutical services (which can include a range or one specific pharmaceutical 
service) in a specified area. This can then trigger pharmaceutical applications to meet those 
needs or secure those improvements or better access to pharmaceutical services. 
 
The 2013 Regulations require a series of statements of the pharmaceutical services that the 
HWB has identified that are not provided within its area but which the board is satisfied:   

 need to be provided in order to meet a current need 

 will need to be provided in specified circumstances in order to meet a future need 

 would currently secure improvements or better access 

 would, if they were provided in specified future circumstances, secure future 
improvements or better access. 

 
Identifying gaps in pharmaceutical services to meet a current need in the PNA 
Potential gaps in pharmaceutical services could be for: 

4. Geographical gaps in the location of premises. 
5. Geographical gaps in the provision of services. 
6. Gaps in the times at which, or days on which, services are provided. 

Once any gaps are identified they are to be articulated as needs for pharmaceutical 
services, or improvements or better access to pharmaceutical services. 
 
Geographical gaps in the location of premises 
This is determined by: 

 Mapping a standardised travel time (the view of the PNA Steering Group is that an 
acceptable travel time is 20 minutes either on foot or by car / public transport) from 
the pharmacies and dispensing GP practices to allow for the identification of any 
areas where the residential population lives outside that travel time (including 
services in neighbouring HWBs for any areas the edge of the HWB area that are 
outside the chosen travel time). 

 Analysing where prescriptions are dispensed. 

 Information gained from public engagement questionnaires to gather information on 
how the public travels to pharmaceutical services.  

 
Geographical gaps in the provision of services  

 Provision of each of the NHSE&I commissioned advanced services are determined in 
order to establish any geographical gaps in provision (Note: All premises will provide 
all essential services).  

 
Current gaps in the times at which, or days on which, services are provided  

 Consideration is given as to whether there are any gaps in the times at which 
services are provided. This could be for a specific service e.g. the need for the 
provision of the CPCS at the weekend, or a range of services. 

 When considering times of service provision, this should be based on core opening 
hours since supplementary opening hours can be changed with at least 3 months’ 
notice. 

                                            
80 Adapted from https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pharmaceutical-needs-assessments-
information-pack 

Page 91

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pharmaceutical-needs-assessments-information-pack
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pharmaceutical-needs-assessments-information-pack


 

54 
 

 
Articulating a current need in the PNA 
 
Geographical gaps in the location of premises 
If the current need for a pharmacy is identified, then the PNA should state that. However, it 
should be noted that a pharmacy of itself is not a pharmaceutical service, therefore the need 
would be expressed as follows: 
“There is a current need for a pharmacy providing the following services, Monday to 
Saturday in Anytown: 

 all essential services, 

 the CPCS, 

 the NMS, and 

 flu vaccinations.” 
The HWB could go on and specify the required opening hours.  
 
Geographical gaps in the provision of services 
The PNA should include a precise statement of the service(s) that needs to be provided in 
order to meet a need for that service(s).  This precise statement should include a description 
of: 

 The service(s) required 

 In what location 

 At what times of the day  
An example of such a statement would be: 

 “There is a current need for the provision of the CPCS on Saturdays and Sundays 
between the hours of 09.00 and 19.00 in Anytown.” 

 
Current gaps in the times at which, or days on which, services are provided  
Opening hours are not in themselves pharmaceutical services. Therefore, if there is a gap in 
the provision of services of certain times this would be articulated as an improvement or 
better access to specified services at specified times. For example: 
“Better access to the following services would be secured by their provision on weekday 
evenings between 17.00 and 19.30 in Anytown: 

 all essential services, 

 the CPCS, and 

 the NMS.” 
 
Identifying gaps in provision to meet a future need 
The PNA must set out any needs for pharmaceutical services that may arise during the 3-
year lifetime of the document. Matters to have regard to here include (Section 4.6): 

 housing developments 

 regeneration projects 

 highways projects that will affect how services are accessed 

 creation of new retail and leisure facilities that will draw people to an area 

 changes in the provision of primary medical services for example the relocation of 
GP practices. 

 
Articulating a future need in the PNA  
If a pharmacy providing a specified range of services is identified as needed within a 
housing development, then consideration will need to be given as to the trigger for that need. 
Is it on: 

 Completion of a certain number of houses? 

 Occupation of a certain number of houses? 

 Completion of a certain phase of the development? 

 Completion of the whole development? 

Page 92



 

55 
 

 Completion of some or all of the other facilities? 
For example: 
“There is a future need for a pharmacy within the village centre of the development on 
occupation of 1,000 houses, that is open Monday to Friday between 09.00 and 19.00, and 
on Saturdays 09.00 to 17.30, providing the following services: 

 all essential services, and 

 the following advanced services: CPCS, flu vaccination.” 
 
  

Page 93



 

56 
 

Appendix 3: Timeline for the development of the PNA  
 

Meeting 
 

Date Purpose 

PNA Steering Group  By the beginning 
of April 

To agree first draft to send to Management 
Teams  

Public Health Senior 
Management Team 

27/04/22 For comment  

PNA Steering Group  
 

06/05/22  Agree consultation draft for statutory 
consultation 

Briefing on PNA with Cllr 
Sexton 

April 2022 Briefing for Cllr Sexton on PNA consultation 

Statutory 60-day 
consultation  
 

16/05/22 – 
14/07/22 
 

Public consultation 

Adults Wellbeing and 
Health Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 

15/07/22 Consultation 

PNA Steering Group  28/07/22  To agree final draft to send to Management 
Teams and HWB 

Public Health Senior 
Management Team 

03/08/22 Revised PNA following consultation  

Adults and Health Services 
Senior Management Team 

11/08/22  Revised PNA following consultation 

Corporate Management 
Team 

17/08/22 Revised PNA following consultation 

Briefing on PNA with Cllr 
Sexton 

August 2022 Briefing for Cllr Sexton on PNA before 
comes to Health and Wellbeing Board 

Officer Health and 
Wellbeing Group 

05/09/22 Revised PNA following consultation 

Health and Wellbeing 
Board 

28/09/22  Formal agreement of PNA 

Publication on DCC 
website 
 

1/10/22 Content required at 
https://www.durhaminsight.info/pna/:  

 Final PNA document 

 Section for supplementary statements 

 Pharmaceutical services listing and 
map 

Cabinet report  12/10/22 Final PNA for information  

 
  

Page 94

https://www.durhaminsight.info/pna/


 

57 
 

Appendix 4: Process for updating the PNA81  
 
Once the PNA has been published, the HWB has a process for publishing new versions of 
the PNA (every 3 years, or sooner if it identifies any significant changes to the need for 
pharmaceutical services) and supplementary statements (statements of fact describing 
significant changes to the availability of pharmaceutical services). This is a delegated duty 
carried out by Public Health and the Partnerships Team in DCC.  
 

Publishing a new version of the PNA: Significant changes to the need for 
pharmaceutical services 

Once a PNA is published, the 2013 Regulations require the HWB to produce a new one if it 
identifies changes to the need for pharmaceutical services, which are of a significant extent. 
This could be due to changes to: 

 the number of people in the area who require pharmaceutical services, 

 the demography of the area, or 

 risks to the health or wellbeing of people in the area. 
The only exception to this requirement is where the HWB is satisfied that producing a new 
PNA would be a disproportionate response to the changes. 
 

An example is: 
Whilst drafting its next PNA, the HWB notes that the regeneration of a steelworks plant is 
due to start in 4 years’ time. As well as 15,000 houses there will also be a business park, 
retail area and extensive leisure and recreational facilities. It is anticipated that when finished 
the development will draw a considerable number of daily visitors. 
Whilst groundworks will start in year 3, building of the first phase of housing is not due to 
start until the following year. The HWB is of the opinion that a pharmacy providing a 
specified range of pharmaceutical services 7 days a week will be required in the future but 
decides not to include the project in the PNA as it will not generate any need for 
pharmaceutical services within the 3-year lifetime of the PNA. 
Six months after the PNA is published, it is announced that the project is being bought 
forward in order to stimulate the local economy and the first phase of housing will commence 
within the next 6 months. 
Due to the location of the development on the edge of a town from which it is separated by a 
busy motorway, there is no easy access to the nearest pharmacies. 
The HWB board is of the opinion that this represents a significant change to the need for 
pharmaceutical services and starts the process of producing its next PNA. 

 
Publishing supplementary statements: Significant changes to the availability of 

pharmaceutical services 
PCSE is responsible for notifying a range of organisations when: 

 a pharmacy or dispensing appliance contractor opens new premises or relocates to 
new premises 

 a change of ownership application takes place 
NHSE&I is responsible for notifying a range of organisations when: 

 core and/or supplementary opening hours change 

 pharmacy or dispensing appliance contractor premises close permanently  

 a dispensing practice ceases to dispense either to a particular area or 
completely 

 
A supplementary statement is published to explain significant changes to the availability of 
pharmaceutical services where: 

                                            
81 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pharmaceutical-needs-assessments-information-pack  

Page 95

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pharmaceutical-needs-assessments-information-pack


 

58 
 

 the changes are relevant to the granting of a future application(s) for inclusion in the 
pharmaceutical list for the HWB area; 

 the HWB is satisfied that producing a new PNA would be a disproportionate 
response to those changes (or it is already producing its next PNA but is satisfied 
that it needs to immediately modify the existing document in order to prevent 
significant detriment to the provision of pharmaceutical services). 

 
Supplementary statements are statements of fact only; they do not make any assessment of 
the impact the change may have on the need for pharmaceutical services. Effectively, they 
are an update of what the PNA says about the availability of pharmaceutical services. They 
are not a vehicle for updating what the PNA says about the need for pharmaceutical 
services. 
 
Once published the supplementary statement becomes part of the PNA and will therefore be 
referred to by NHSE&I when it determines applications for inclusion in a pharmaceutical list. 
It will also be referred to by NHS Resolution when it determines an appeal. Supplementary 
statements are therefore published alongside the PNA. 
 
Publication of a supplementary statement can then lead to applications to meet a current 
need as a current need would be inferred by the publication of the supplementary statement. 
 
Where the HWB identifies changes to the availability of pharmaceutical services that are not 
relevant to the granting of applications and therefore does not issue a supplementary 
statement, it willkeep a record of these changes so that they can be incorporated into the 
next version of the PNA. 
 

Examples of where a supplementary statement would need to be considered82  
 
When there is no significant change in the availability of pharmaceutical services that 
would be relevant to the granting of a future application(s), a supplementary 
statement would not need to be published. Examples include: 
 
A change of ownership of a pharmacy (this not a change to the availability of pharmaceutical 
services and therefore no supplementary statement is issued). 
 
A pharmacy has relocated three doors down the road i.e. a no significant change relocation 
(this is a very minor change to the availability of pharmaceutical services and is not relevant 
to the granting of a future application for inclusion in the pharmaceutical list and therefore no 
supplementary statement is issued. The HWB would update the map showing the premises 
at which pharmaceutical services are provided). 
 
One of three pharmacies that are on the same road within 600 metres of each other reduces 
its supplementary opening hours on a Saturday and now closes at 13.00 instead of 17.00. 
The other two pharmacies open on Saturday afternoons, one until 22.00 as it is a 100-hour 
pharmacy (whilst this is a change to the availability of pharmaceutical services it is not 
relevant to the granting of a future application due to the close proximity of the two other 
pharmacies, one of which must stay open until 22.00, therefore a supplementary statement 
does not need to be issued). 
 
When there is a significant change in the availability of pharmaceutical services that 
is relevant to the granting of a future application(s), a supplementary statement would 
need to be published. Examples include: 

                                            
82 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pharmaceutical-needs-assessments-information-pack  
 

Page 96

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pharmaceutical-needs-assessments-information-pack


 

59 
 

 
The only pharmacy in a deprived part of a town closes. The next nearest pharmacy is 2 
miles away. This is a change to the availability of pharmaceutical services, so the HWB 
considers whether the change is therefore relevant to the granting of a future application for 
inclusion in the pharmaceutical list by considering e.g. travel times to the nearest pharmacy, 
the availability of private and public transport, the fact it is likely to be too far to walk for many 
people, and the availability of other NHS services. If the HWB considers that there is now a 
gap in the provision of pharmaceutical services, then it would need to publish a 
supplementary statement. This can then lead applications to meet a current need as the 
current need would be inferred by the publication of the supplementary statement. Following 
the closure of the pharmacy the HWB must update the map showing the premises at which 
pharmaceutical services are provided. 
 
The PNA identifies the need for a new pharmacy. An application is subsequently received, 
granted and the pharmacy opens. This is a change to the availability of pharmaceutical 
services and is also relevant to the granting of future applications as the PNA only identified 
the need for one pharmacy. A supplementary statement is therefore published so as to avoid 
the submission of unnecessary applications. Following the opening of the pharmacy the 
HWB must update the map showing the premises at which pharmaceutical services are 
provided. 
 
An unforeseen benefits application for a pharmacy within a village is granted. This is a 
change to the availability of pharmaceutical services and is also relevant to the granting of 
further applications. A supplementary statement would therefore need to be published so as 
to avoid the submission of unnecessary applications. 
 
Consolidation applications – see below.  
 

 
Consolidation applications83  
A supplementary statement must be issued in connection with the granting of a consolidation 
application.  
Since 5 December 2016 pharmacies have been able to apply to NHSE&I to consolidate the 
provision of pharmaceutical services at two pharmacies onto one site, i.e. one set of 
premises closes. However, such applications: 

 cannot involve distance selling premises  

 can only involve two pharmacies that are in the area of the same HWB 

 may be submitted where the applicant owns both pharmacies 

 may be submitted where the applicant owns one of the pharmacies and another 
contractor owns the other pharmacy. 

NHSE&I is directed to refuse a consolidation application if it satisfied that to grant it would 
create a gap in pharmaceutical services provision that could be met by an application 
offering to: 

 meet a current or future need for pharmaceutical services, or 

 secure improvements or better access to pharmaceutical services. 
HWBs have a statutory duty to make representations in writing which indicate whether or not 
granting the application would create such a gap. The HWB therefore has a process by 
which a consideration can be made as to whether the closure of one of the pharmacies 
would result in such a gap. 
 
When the pharmacy that is to close does so the HWB will be notified of this by PCSE. At that 
point the HWB issues a supplementary statement where it is of the opinion that the closing 

                                            
83 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pharmaceutical-needs-assessments-information-pack 

Page 97

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pharmaceutical-needs-assessments-information-pack


 

60 
 

of one of the pharmacies does not create a gap that could be met by an application offering 
to meet a need for, or secure improvements or better access to, pharmaceutical services. 
Such a supplementary statement remains in place and provides regulatory protection for the 
continuing pharmacy against an application offering to meet a need for, or secure 
improvements or better access to, pharmaceutical services for the remaining lifetime of the 
PNA.  
 
Having granted a consolidation application NHSE&I must then refuse any further 
“unforeseen benefits” applications by other pharmacy contractors seeking inclusion in the 
pharmaceutical list, if the applicant is seeking to rely on the consolidation as evidence of a 
gap in provision. This would be the case at least until the next revision of the PNA. 
 
When the PNA is then to be revised, the HWB will need to consider again where there are 
any current geographical gaps in the location of premises. The HWB will be aware that the 
consolidation did not previously create a gap and a supplementary statement was published 
at the time to this effect. Unless there have been other changes in the locality, and these are 
then sufficient to have created a need for an additional pharmacy or the provision of a 
pharmaceutical service or services at certain times, there will continue to be no gap. It is 
recommended that within the PNA that it is noted that a pharmacy previously closed as the 
result of a consolidation but that did not create a gap and the HWB remains of that opinion. 
This will then ensure that the regulatory protection conferred by the consolidation will 
continue for the lifetime of the next PNA. 
 
HWBs should note that if a consolidation application is refused the owner of the site that was 
to be closed can still give notice to NHSE&I that they intend to close the pharmacy. The 
HWB would then need to consider whether it will need to provide a supplementary statement 
following this closure. If the refusal was because NHSE&I was satisfied that to grant the 
consolidation would create a gap in pharmaceutical services provision, then a 
supplementary statement would be required following the closure of the premises. 
 
  

Page 98



 

61 
 

Appendix 5: Targets in the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy  
 
The JHWS outlines a vision for improving health and wellbeing, and for addressing health 
inequalities in the county. The JHWS 2021-25 informs and influences decisions about health 
and social care services in County Durham, so that they are focused on the needs of the 
people who use them and tackle the factors that affect health and wellbeing, for example 
drugs, alcohol, unhealthy weight, mental and physical wellbeing.84 
 
The HWB adopts a life course approach to these priorities, recognising the importance of 
mental health and wellbeing, physical activity and the social determinants of health cutting 
across all the priorities. These priorities are: 

 Starting Well 

 Living Well 

 Ageing Well 
 
The extract taken below was correct in February 2022. This information only includes those 
targets and actions that can be supported by the provision of pharmaceutical services. 
 
Strategic Priority 1 Starting Well: This priority covers the early years of life from 
conception to young adulthood and includes pregnancy, birth, and childhood. 
Priorities include: 

 Ensure immunisation rates are maintained. 

 Develop whole system commission for wellbeing and mental health. 

 Support women to achieve a smoke free pregnancy.  

 Support women to initiate and continue breastfeeding their babies. 

 Continue the countywide offer around physical activity and good nutrition.  

 Reduce preventable unintentional injuries among children and young people.  
 
Strategic Priority 2 Living Well: This priority covers adulthood, from leaving 
school/university to retiring and includes our working life. 
Priorities include: 

 Work with a range of partners to deliver Making Every Contact Count to enable every 
contact to be a healthy contact. 

 Better identify the rate of self-harm and reduce the levels of suicide across County 
Durham. 

 Reduce the prevalence of harm caused by smoking. 

 Develop a Sexual Health Strategy for County Durham to ensure equitable access 
and a strategic focus on reducing sexually transmitted infections and good 
contraceptive health. 

 Help people to manage their own long-term conditions including diabetes and 
respiratory conditions. 

 Implement initiatives to support individuals to develop healthy eating habits and take 
part in physical activity. 

 
Strategic Priority 3 Ageing Well: This priority covers additional actions in later life, noting 
that ageing begins at birth. 
Priorities include: 

 Promote the uptake of the vaccinations including flu, pneumococcal and shingles. 

 Ensure dementia is identified and diagnosed at an early stage and families, carers 
and communities are helped to manage their condition. 

 Continue to work with partners and providers to reduce the incidence of falls and 
fractures in older people. 

                                            
84 www.durham.gov.uk/jhws. Accessed 09.02.22 

Page 99

http://www.durham.gov.uk/jhws


 

62 
 

 Ensure the frail elderly are able to live well at home for as long as possible and 
receive high quality, consistent levels of service. 

 Improve the end of life pathway to ensure providers aspire to delivering support to 
people at the end of their life to deliver personal, bespoke care. 

 Develop and implement an Active Ageing Strategy. 
  

Page 100



 

63 
 

Appendix 6: Pharmaceutical service maps  
 
Master map of pharmaceutical services in County Durham  
The up-to-date listing and map of all pharmacies and dispensing GP practices in County 
Durham is at https://www.durhaminsight.info/pna/.  It is a statutory requirement to keep this 
information up to date (Appendix 1). 
 
Mapping exercise for the PNA 2022-25  
This mapping exercise was undertaken in December 2021 and is available at 
https://www.durhaminsight.info/pna/. 
 
These maps can be viewed as the 6 PNA localities of: 

 Dales  

 Easington  

 Derwentside  

 Sedgefield  

 Durham  

 Chester-le-Street  
 
The following maps were created in December 2021: 
 
Population 

 Location of pharmacies mapped against population density (all ages).  

 Location of pharmacies mapped against population density of the over 65’s.   

 Location of pharmacies mapped against deprivation.  
 
Access  

 Pharmacies open after 6pm (with a 100 hour pharmacy distinction). 

 Pharmacies open at the weekend (with a 100 hour pharmacy distinction). 
Note: This information is based on core opening hours only since additional supplementary 
opening hours can, with a 3 month notice to NHSE&I, change at any time. Information on 
core opening hours was obtained from NHSE&I in October 2021.  
 
Examples of advanced service provision 

 Pharmacies providing the Seasonal Influenza Vaccination Service.   
Note: This information is based on NHSE&I data in October 2021. 
 
Examples of public health pharmacy service provision  

 Pharmacies providing the EOHC Service. 

 Pharmacies providing the Supervised Consumption Service. 
Note: This information was based on PharmOutcomes claims and commissioner service 
data in November 2021.  
 
Examples of CCG commissioned service provision  

 Pharmacies providing the Palliative Care Service. 
Note: This information is based on commissioner service data in November 2021.  
  

Page 101

https://www.durhaminsight.info/pna/
https://www.durhaminsight.info/pna/


 

64 
 

Appendix 7: Results of community pharmacy survey work 
 
An online survey of all pharmacies was carried out via a PharmOutcomes questionnaire 
(template available on request) in August 2021. 67% of contractors (85 out of 127) replied, 
and the results are represented in each of the 6 localities.  
Note: For the analysis of advanced services provided by pharmacies for the purposes of the 
PNA, this is taken from data provided by the services commissioner (i.e. NHSE&I) and not 
from the data provided below. 
 

Chester-le-Street 
 

In August 2021, 3 of the 12 pharmacies in this locality responded to the pharmacy survey. Of 
the pharmacies that responded, the key results are:  
 
Pharmacy premises 

 Two of the pharmacies that responded do not have unaided wheelchair access. At 
these pharmacies, the customer rings the doorbell or rings the pharmacy for aided 
access. 

 
National pharmacy contract  
Pharmacy Access Scheme payment 

 None of the pharmacies that responded receive PhAS payments. 
Advanced pharmacy services 

Service  Of the 3 pharmacies that responded, 
the number providing the service 

NMS 3 

AUR 0 

SAC 0 

Influenza Vaccination 2021-22 3 

CPCS  3 

Hepatitis C Antibody Testing Service 0 

Lateral Flow Device Distribution Service 3 

Pandemic Medicines Delivery Service 2 

 
CCG locally commissioned services  

Service Of the 3 pharmacies that responded, 
the number providing the service 

Minor Ailment Service 3 

Palliative Care Scheme  1 

Reimbursement of TB Medication Costs 1 

Food Thickening Voucher Scheme 2 

MECATS  1 

 
Local Authority locally commissioned services  

Service Of the 3 pharmacies that responded, 
the number providing the service 

NRT Voucher Scheme 3 

Level 2 Stop Smoking Service 0 

Supervised Consumption Service 3 

Naloxone Supply Service  1 

Needle Exchange Service  2 

Alcohol Brief Intervention Service 2 

EOHC Service  3 

Page 102



 

65 
 

Service Of the 3 pharmacies that responded, 
the number providing the service 

C Card Scheme   1 

 
Non-commissioned services 

Service Of the 3 pharmacies that responded, 
the number providing the service 

Supply of medication in a MDS    3 

Delivery of dispensed medicines (over 
and above the requirements of Pandemic 
Medicines Delivery Service)           

3 

 
Dales 

 
In August 2021, 19 of the 23 pharmacies in this locality responded to the pharmacy survey. 
Of the pharmacies that responded, the key results are:  
 
Pharmacy premises 

 Three of the pharmacies that responded do not have unaided wheelchair access. At 
these pharmacies, the customer rings the doorbell or rings the pharmacy for aided 
access. 

 
National pharmacy contract  
Pharmacy Access Scheme payment 

 Four of the pharmacies that responded receive PhAS payments. 
Advanced pharmacy services 

Service  Of the 19 pharmacies that responded, 
the number providing the service  

NMS 18 (with 1 intending to provide in the next 
12 months) 

AUR 2 

SAC 0 

Influenza Vaccination 2021-22 15 (with 1 intending to provide in the next 
12 months)  

CPCS  17 (with 2 intending to provide in the next 
12 months) 

Hepatitis C Antibody Testing Service 0 

Lateral Flow Device Distribution Service 19 

Pandemic Medicines Delivery Service 15 (with 1 intending to provide in the next 
12 months)  

 
CCG locally commissioned services  

Service Of the 19 pharmacies that responded, 
the number providing the service 

Minor Ailment Service 18 (with 1 intending to provide in the next 
12 months) 

Palliative Care Scheme  15 

Reimbursement of TB Medication Costs 1 (with 2 intending to provide in the next 
12 months) 

Food Thickening Voucher Scheme 13 (with 2 intending to provide in the next 
12 months) 

MECATS  13 (with 1 intending to provide in the next 
12 months) 

Page 103



 

66 
 

 
Local Authority locally commissioned services  

Service Of the 19 pharmacies that responded, 
the number providing the service 

NRT Voucher Scheme 18 (with 1 intending to provide in the next 
12 months) 

Level 2 Stop Smoking Service 4 (with 2 intending to provide in the next 
12 months) 

Supervised Consumption Service 12 

Naloxone Supply Service  9 

Needle Exchange Service  1 

Alcohol Brief Intervention Service 9 (with 4 intending to provide in the next 
12 months) 

EOHC Service  17 (with 1 intending to provide in the next 
12 months) 

C Card Scheme   18 

 
Non-commissioned services 

Service Of the 19 pharmacies that responded, 
the number providing the service 

Supply of medication in a MDS    16 

Delivery of dispensed medicines (over 
and above the requirements of 
Pandemic Medicines Delivery 
Service)           

16 

 
Derwentside 

 
In August 2021, 15 of the 20 pharmacies in this locality responded to the pharmacy survey. 
Of the pharmacies that responded, the key results are:  
 
Pharmacy premises 

 One pharmacy does not have unaided wheelchair access. At these pharmacies, the 
customer rings the doorbell or rings the pharmacy for aided access. 

 
National pharmacy contract  
Pharmacy Access Scheme payment 

 One pharmacy receives PhAS payments. 
Advanced pharmacy services 

Service  Of the 15 pharmacies that responded, 
the number providing the service 

NMS 15 

AUR 2 

SAC 0 

Influenza Vaccination 2021-22 14 

CPCS  15 

Hepatitis C Antibody Testing Service 0 

Lateral Flow Device Distribution Service 15 

Pandemic Medicines Delivery Service 9 

 
 
 
 

Page 104



 

67 
 

CCG locally commissioned services  

Service Of the 15 pharmacies that responded, 
the number providing the service 

Minor Ailment Service 15 

Palliative Care Scheme  9 

Reimbursement of TB Medication Costs 8 

Food Thickening Voucher Scheme 11 

MECATS  6 

 
Local Authority locally commissioned services  

Service Of the 15 pharmacies that responded, 
the number providing the service 

NRT Voucher Scheme 15 

Level 2 Stop Smoking Service 10 

Supervised Consumption Service 9 

Naloxone Supply Service  6 

Needle Exchange Service  2 

Alcohol Brief Intervention Service 12 

EOHC Service  14(with 1 intending to provide in the next 
12 months)  

C Card Scheme   12 (with 1 intending to provide in the next 
12 months) 

 
Non-commissioned services 

Service Of the 15 pharmacies that responded, 
the number providing the service 

Supply of medication in a MDS    9 

Delivery of dispensed medicines (over 
and above the requirements of 
Pandemic Medicines Delivery 
Service)          

14 

 
Durham 

 
In August 2021, 18 of the 21 pharmacies in this locality responded to the pharmacy survey. 
Of the pharmacies that responded, the key results are:  
 
Pharmacy premises 

 Six pharmacies do not have unaided wheelchair access. At these pharmacies, the 
customer rings the doorbell or rings the pharmacy for aided access.  

 
National pharmacy contract  
Pharmacy Access Scheme payment 

 Four pharmacies receive PhAS payments. 
Advanced pharmacy services 

Service  Of the 18 pharmacies that responded, 
the number providing the service 

NMS 16 (with 1 intending to provide within the 
next 12 months)  

AUR 1 

SAC 1 

Page 105



 

68 
 

Influenza Vaccination 2021-22 16 (with 1 intending to provide within the 
next 12 months) 

CPCS  18 

Hepatitis C Antibody Testing Service 0 (with 1 intending to provide within the 
next 12 months) 

Lateral Flow Device Distribution 
Service 

18 

Pandemic Medicines Delivery Service 11 

 
CCG locally commissioned services  

Service Of the 18 pharmacies that responded, 
the number providing the service 

Minor Ailment Service 18 

Palliative Care Scheme  10 

Reimbursement of TB Medication 
Costs 

8 

Food Thickening Voucher Scheme 9 (with 1 intending to provide within the 
next 12 months) 

MECATS  6 

 
Local Authority locally commissioned services  

Service Of the 18 pharmacies that responded, 
the number providing the service 

NRT Voucher Scheme 18 

Level 2 Stop Smoking Service 4 (with 1 intending to provide within the 
next 12 months) 

Supervised Consumption Service 7 (with 1 intending to provide within the 
next 12 months) 

Naloxone Supply Service  4 (with 1 intending to provide within the 
next 12 months) 

Needle Exchange Service  0 

Alcohol Brief Intervention Service 8 (with 3 intending to provide within the 
next 12 months) 

EOHC Service  12 

C Card Scheme   11 

 
Non-commissioned services 

Service Of the 18 pharmacies that responded, 
the number providing the service 

Supply of medication in a MDS    16 

Delivery of dispensed medicines (over 
and above the requirements of 
Pandemic Medicines Delivery 
Service)                

17 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 106



 

69 
 

Easington 
 
In August 2021, 16 of the 28 pharmacies in this locality responded to the pharmacy survey. 
Of the pharmacies that responded, the key results are:  
 
Pharmacy premises 

 Three pharmacies do not have unaided wheelchair access. At these pharmacies, the 
customer rings the doorbell or rings the pharmacy for aided access. 

 
National pharmacy contract  
Pharmacy Access Scheme payment 

 Three pharmacies receive PhAS payments. 
Advanced pharmacy services 

Service  Of the 16 pharmacies that responded, 
the number providing the service 

NMS 16 

AUR 1 

SAC 0 

Influenza Vaccination 2021-22 11 

CPCS  16 

Hepatitis C Antibody Testing Service 0 (with 1 intending to provide within the 
next 12 months)  

Lateral Flow Device Distribution 
Service 

16 

Pandemic Medicines Delivery Service 7 (with 1 intending to provide within the 
next 12 months) 

 
CCG locally commissioned services  

Service Of the 16 pharmacies that responded, 
the number providing the service 

Minor Ailment Service 14 

Palliative Care Scheme  11 

Reimbursement of TB Medication 
Costs 

5 

Food Thickening Voucher Scheme 5 

MECATS  8 

 
Local Authority locally commissioned services  

Service Of the 16 pharmacies that responded, 
the number providing the service 

NRT Voucher Scheme 14 

Level 2 Stop Smoking Service 6 (with 2 intending to provide within the 
next 12 months) 

Supervised Consumption Service 7 

Naloxone Supply Service  5 

Needle Exchange Service  0 

Alcohol Brief Intervention Service 7 (with 1 intending to provide within the 
next 12 months) 

EOHC Service  11 

C Card Scheme   7 (with 2 intending to provide within the 
next 12 months) 

 

Page 107



 

70 
 

Non-commissioned services 

Service Of the 16 pharmacies that responded, 
the number providing the service 

Supply of medication in a MDS    12 

Delivery of dispensed medicines (over 
and above the requirements of 
Pandemic Medicines Delivery 
Service)                

14 

 
Sedgefield 

 
In August 2021, 14 of the 22 pharmacies in this locality responded to the pharmacy survey. 
Of the pharmacies that responded, the key results are:  
 
Pharmacy premises 

 One pharmacy does not have unaided wheelchair access. At these pharmacies, the 
customer rings the doorbell or rings the pharmacy for aided access. 

 
National pharmacy contract  
Pharmacy Access Scheme payment 

 One pharmacy receives PhAS payments. 
Advanced pharmacy services 

Service  Of the 14 pharmacies that responded, 
the number providing the service 

NMS 14 

AUR 1 

SAC 0 

Influenza Vaccination 2021-22 14 

CPCS  14 

Hepatitis C Antibody Testing Service 0 (with 1 intending to begin within next 12 
months) 

Lateral Flow Device Distribution 
Service 

13 

Pandemic Medicines Delivery Service 9 

 
CCG locally commissioned services  

Service Of the 14 pharmacies that responded, 
the number providing the service 

Minor Ailment Service 13 

Palliative Care Scheme  10 (with 1 intending to begin within next 
12 months) 

Reimbursement of TB Medication 
Costs 

3 

Food Thickening Voucher Scheme 10 

MECATS  9 

 
Local Authority locally commissioned services  

Service Of the 14 pharmacies that responded, 
the number providing the service 

NRT Voucher Scheme 12 

Level 2 Stop Smoking Service 5 (with 1 intending to begin within next 12 
months) 

Supervised Consumption Service 13 

Page 108



 

71 
 

Service Of the 14 pharmacies that responded, 
the number providing the service 

Naloxone Supply Service  6 

Needle Exchange Service  1 

Alcohol Brief Intervention Service 5 (with 2 intending to begin within next 12 
months) 

EOHC Service  14 

C Card Scheme   8 (with 1 intending to begin within next 12 
months) 

 
Non-commissioned services 

Service Of the 14 pharmacies that responded, 
the number providing the service 

Supply of medication in a MDS    11 

Delivery of dispensed medicines (over 
and above the requirements of 
Pandemic Medicines Delivery 
Service)           

13 

 
 
 
 
  

Page 109



 

72 
 

 
Appendix 8: Location and opening hours of pharmaceutical services85 

 
 
ODS Code 
 

 
Pharmacy or GP Surgery 

 
Trading 
Name 

 
Address 1  

 
Address 2  

 
Postcode 

Pharmacy Core 
hours, or GP 
Dispensary Opening 
Hours 

Additional 
Pharmacy 
Supplementary 
Hours   

Dales86   

FA121 Tesco Stores Limited Tesco 
Pharmacy 

St Helen 
Auckland 
Industrial Estate  

Bishop 
Auckland 

DL14 9AB Mon: 08:00-22:30,  
Tue-Fri: 06:30-22:30, 
Sat: 06:30-22:00,  
Sun: 10:00-16:00 

None 

  
FC495 Boots UK Limited Boots 

Pharmacy 
Unit 8 Bishop 
Auckland 
Shopping Park 

Bishop 
Auckland 

DL14 9FA Mon-Fri: 08:00-24:00, 
Sat: 09:00-23:00,  
Sun: 10:00-16:00 

None  

  
FAL36 Lloyds Pharmacy Limited Lloyds 

Pharmacy 
St Helen's 
Industrial Estate,  
St Helen's 
Auckland  

Bishop 
Auckland 

DL14 9TT Mon: 08:00-23:00,  
Tue-Fri: 07:00-23:00, 
Sat: 07:00-22:00,  
Sun: 11:00-17:00 

None 

  
FA415 Asda Stores Ltd Asda 

Pharmacy  
South Church 
Road 

Bishop 
Auckland 

DL14 7LB Mon: 08:00-23:00,  
Tue-Fri: 07:00-23:00, 
Sat: 07:00-22:00,  
Sun: 10:00-16:00 

None 

  
  Auckland Medical Group    The Old Fire 

House, Watling 
Street  

Bishop 
Auckland 

DL14 6RP Mon-Fri: 08:00-13:00; 
14:00-18:00 

 

  
FXF69 Bestway National Chemists 

Limited 
Well 
Pharmacy  

Unit 7, Newgate 
Centre 

Bishop 
Auckland 

DL14 7JQ Mon-Fri: 09:00-17:00 Sat: 09.00-1300  

  
FTJ49 Boots UK Limited Boots 

Pharmacy 
Primary Care 
Centre, Watling 
Road 

Bishop 
Auckland  

DL14 6RP Mon-Fri: 09:00-13:00; 
14:00-18:00 

Mon-Fri: 13:00-
14:00, 
Thurs: 08:00-09:00   

FH490 Norchem Healthcare 
Limited 

Knights M&M 
Pharmacy 

172-174 Newgate 
Street 

Bishop 
Auckland 

DL14 7EJ Mon-Fri: 08:00-12:30; 
13:30-17:00,  

Mon-Fri: 12:30-
13:30; 17:00-17:30,    

                                            
85 Information based on: NHS BSA dispensing doctor list in October 2021; NHSE&I pharmacy listing and core opening hours October 2021; subsequent ongoing significant pharmacy changes to this 
information from October 2021 – May 2022 (information available on request) 
86 Key: Green: 100 hour pharmacies, Blue: Dispensing practices, Purple: Distance selling pharmacies  

 

P
age 110



 

73 
 

 
ODS Code 
 

 
Pharmacy or GP Surgery 

 
Trading 
Name 

 
Address 1  

 
Address 2  

 
Postcode 

Pharmacy Core 
hours, or GP 
Dispensary Opening 
Hours 

Additional 
Pharmacy 
Supplementary 
Hours   

 Sat: 09:00-12:00 

FHV08 Norchem Healthcare 
Limited 

Knights M&M 
Pharmacy 

Station View 
Medical Centre,  
29a Escomb 
Road  

Bishop 
Auckland 

DL14 6AB Mon-Fri: 08:45-13:00; 
14:00-17:45 

None 

  
  Barnard Castle Surgery 

 

Victoria Road Barnard 
Castle 

DL12 8HT  Mon-Wed: 08:00-
17:45,  
Thurs: 08:00 -14:00, 
Fri: 08:00-17:45 

 

  
FV380 Day Lewis Plc Day Lewis 

Plc 
86 Galgate Barnard 

Castle 
DL12 8BJ Mon-Fri: 09:00-17:00 Mon-Fri: 08:30-

09:00; 17:00-18:00,  
Sat: 08:30-13:00   

FMD09 Boots UK Limited  Boots 
Pharmacy 

37-39 Market 
Place 

Barnard 
Castle 

DL12 8NE Mon-Tue: 09:00-
13:00; 14:00-17:30,  
Wed: 09:00-17:30,  
Thu: 09:00-13:00; 
14:00-17:30,  
Fri: 09:00-17:30,  
Sat: 09:00-13:00; 
14:00-17:30 

Mon-Tues: 13:00-
14:00, 
Thurs: 13:00-14:00, 
Sat: 13:00-14:00 
 

  
FVV69 C & C Forster Ltd Welsh 

Chemist 
144 Melrose Drive St Helen 

Auckland 
DL14 9DN Mon-Fri: 08:30-13:00; 

14:00-17:30 
None 

  
FF689 M J & A Gordon Limited Tow Law 

Pharmacy 
24 High Street  Tow Law DL13 4DL Mon-Wed: 09:00-

12:30; 13:30-18:00,  
Thurs: 09:00-12:30; 
13:30-15.00,  
Fri: 09:00-12:30; 
13:30-18:00,  
Sat: 09:00-12:00 

None 

  
FRW33 Gill & Schofield 

Pharmaceutical Chemists 
Coundon 
Pharmacy  

Victoria Lane Coundon DL14 8NL Mon-Fri: 08:45-13:15; 
14:00-17:30 

None 

  
FJ779 Stanhope Chemists Ltd  Stanhope 

Chemists Ltd 
79 Front Street Stanhope DL13 2TZ Mon-Tues: 09:00-

12:15; 13:30-17:30,  
None 

  P
age 111



 

74 
 

 
ODS Code 
 

 
Pharmacy or GP Surgery 

 
Trading 
Name 

 
Address 1  

 
Address 2  

 
Postcode 

Pharmacy Core 
hours, or GP 
Dispensary Opening 
Hours 

Additional 
Pharmacy 
Supplementary 
Hours   

Wed: 09:00-12:15; 
13:30-16.00, 
Thurs-Fri: 09:00-
12:15; 13:30-17:30, 
Sat: 09:00-12:15 

  Woodview Medical 
Practice 

 

 The Surgery  Cockfield DL13 5AF Mon-Tues: 08:30 -
16:00,  
Wed-Thurs: 8:30-
15:00 
Fri: 08:30-18:00 

 

  
FGF94 Whitworth Chemists 

Limited 

Whitworth 
your family 
pharmacy  

38 Front Street Cockfield DL13 5DS Mon: 08:45-13:00; 
14:00-18:15,  
Tue-Thurs: 08:45-
13:00; 14:00-17:30,  
Fri: 08:45-13:00; 
14:00-18:00 

Mon-Fri:  
13:00 - 14:00,  
Sat: 08:45 -13:00 

  
FT188 Wolsingham Pharmacy Ltd Wolsingham 

Pharmacy 
12 Market Place Wolsingham DL13 3AE Mon: 09:00-12:15; 

13:30-17:30,  
Tues: 09:00-12:15; 
13:30-17:00,   
Wed: 09:00-12:15,  
Thu: 09:00-12:15; 
13:30-17:00,  
Fri: 09:00-12:15; 
13:30-17:30,  
Sat: 09:00-12:15 

None 

  
  Old Forge Surgery     The Surgery Middleton-In-

Teesdale 
DL12 0QE Mon-Fri: 08:00-18:00  

  
FRH84 Day Lewis Plc  Day Lewis 

Plc 
19 Market Place Middleton-In-

Teesdale 
DL12 0QG Mon-Tues: 09:00-

17:30, Wed: 09:00-
13:00,  
Thu-Fri: 09:00-17:30, 
Sat: 09:00-13:00 

None 

  

P
age 112



 

75 
 

 
ODS Code 
 

 
Pharmacy or GP Surgery 

 
Trading 
Name 

 
Address 1  

 
Address 2  

 
Postcode 

Pharmacy Core 
hours, or GP 
Dispensary Opening 
Hours 

Additional 
Pharmacy 
Supplementary 
Hours   

FQ026 Northern Pharmacy Group 
Ltd 

Crook 
Pharmacy  

50 Hope Street  Crook DL15 9HU Mon-Fri: 07:00-23:00, 
Sat: 08:00-22:00,  
Sun: 10:00-16:00 

None 

  
FLA09 Boots UK Limited Boots 

Pharmacy 
8 North Terrace  Crook DL15 9AZ Mon-Sat:  09:00-17:30 None 

  
FR233 Clemitsons Ltd Clemitsons 

Ltd 
25A Hope Street  Crook DL15 9HS Mon-Fri: 08:30-12:30; 

13:00-17:00 
Mon-Fri: 12:30-
13:00, 
Sat: 09:00-12:00   

FXH47 Clemitsons Ltd Clemitsons 
Ltd 

51 Hope Street  Crook DL15 9HU Mon-Fri: 08:30-12:00; 
13:30-18:00 

Mon-Fri: 12:00-13:30  
   

FFV56 Britton & Robson Ltd 

Britton & 
Robson Ltd 

46 High Street Willington DL15 0PG Mon-Fri: 08:30-12:30; 
13:30-17:30 

Mon & Wed: 08:00-
08:30; 12:30-13:30; 
17:30-18:00, 
Tues, Thurs & Fri: 
08:00-08:30; 12:30-
13:30; 17:30-19:00, 
Sat: 08:30-12:30   

  Pinfold Medical Practice 

 

Pinfold Lane Butterknowle DL13 5NX Mon: 08:30-18:00,  
Tues 08:30-17:00,  
Wed 08:30-18:00, 
Thurs 08:30-17:00,  
Fri 08:30-18:00.  
Closed every day 
between 12:30-14:00 
 

 

  
  Evenwood Medical 

Practice 

 

Copeland Lane Evenwood DL14 9SU Mon: 10.00–12.00; 
13.00-18.00,  
Tues: 08.00-12.00, 
13:00-15:00  
Wed: 08.00-13.00, 
Thurs: 08.00–12.00; 
13.00-18.00,  
Fri: 08.00–12.00; 
14.00-15.30 

 

  

P
age 113



 

76 
 

 
ODS Code 
 

 
Pharmacy or GP Surgery 

 
Trading 
Name 

 
Address 1  

 
Address 2  

 
Postcode 

Pharmacy Core 
hours, or GP 
Dispensary Opening 
Hours 

Additional 
Pharmacy 
Supplementary 
Hours   

  Gainford Surgery  Main Road Gainford DL2 3BE Mon-Fri: 08:00-18:00    
Easington87 

  

FDE75 Asda Stores Ltd Asda 
Pharmacy 

Surtees Road Peterlee SR8 5HA Mon: 08:00-23:00,  
Tue-Fri: 07:00-23:00, 
Sat: 07:00-22:00,  
Sun: 10:00-16:00 

None 

  

FHD21 Boots UK Limited  Boots 
Pharmacy 

30-32 The Chare Peterlee SR8 1AE Mon - Fri: 09:00-
13:00; 14:00-16:45,   
Sat: 09:00-12:00; 
13:00-16:45  

Mon-Fri: 08:30-
09:00; 13:00-14:00; 
16:45-17:30, 
Sat: 08:30-09:00;  
16:45-17:30   

FCJ51 York Road Co Ltd York Road 
Pharmacy  

60 York Road Peterlee SR8 2DP Mon-Tues: 09:00-
13:00; 13:30-17:30,  
Wed: 09:00-13:00,  
Thu-Fri: 09:00-13:00; 
13:30-17:30,  
Sat: 09:00-13:00 

None 

  

FDH51 IntraHealth Pharmacy 
Limited 

IntraHealth 
Pharmacy 
Limited 

William Brown 
Centre, Manor 
Way  

Peterlee SR8 5SB Mon-Fri: 09:00-12:30; 
13:30-18:00 

Mon: 08:30-09:00; 
12:30-13:30, 
Tues-Fri: 08:30-
09:00; 12:30-13:30; 
18:00-19.00   

FVF01 Bestway National Chemists 
Limited 

Well 
Pharmacy  

9 The Chare Peterlee SR8 1AE Mon-Fri: 09:00-13:00; 
14:00-17:30,  
Sat: 09:00-11:30 

Sat: 11:30-13:00 

  

FF604 Boots UK Limited Boots 
Pharmacy 

17 Blackhills 
Road 

Horden SR8 4DW Mon - Fri: 09:00-
12:30; 13:30-17:30, 
Sat: 09:00-11:30 

Mon – Fri: 12:30-
13:00, 
Sat: 11:30-12:00   

                                            
87 Key: Green: 100 hour pharmacies, Blue: Dispensing practices, Purple: Distance selling pharmacies  

 

P
age 114



 

77 
 

 
ODS Code 
 

 
Pharmacy or GP Surgery 

 
Trading 
Name 

 
Address 1  

 
Address 2  

 
Postcode 

Pharmacy Core 
hours, or GP 
Dispensary Opening 
Hours 

Additional 
Pharmacy 
Supplementary 
Hours   

FY376 M Whitfield Limited  M Whitfield 
Limited 

30 Forth Street Horden SR8 4LB Mon-Fri: 09:00-12:30; 
13:30-17:30,  
Sat: 09:00-11:30 

Sat: 11:30-12:30  

  

FNC75 Boots UK Limited Boots 
Pharmacy 

South Hetton 
Health Centre, 
Front Street 

South Hetton DH6 2TH Mon-Fri: 09.00-17.00 Mon-Fri: 08:30-
09:00; 17:00-17:30 

  

FL649 Boots UK Limited Boots 
Pharmacy 

1 Seaside Lane Easington 
Colliery 

SR8 3PF Mon-Fri: 09:00-13:00; 
13:30-17:30 

Mon-Fri: 13:00-
13:30, 
Sat: 09:00-13:00   

FCH78 Boots UK Limited Boots 
Pharmacy 

Craddock House, 
Seaside Lane 

Easington 
Colliery 

SR8 3PF Mon-Fri: 09:00-13:00; 
13:30-17:30 

Mon-Fri: 13:00-
13:30,  
Sat: 09:00-13:00   

FQ606 Asda Stores Ltd Asda 
Pharmacy  

Byron Place, 
South Terrace 

Seaham SR7 7HN Mon: 08:00-23:00,  
Tue-Fri: 07:00-23:00, 
Sat: 07:00-22:00,  
Sun: 10:00-16:00 

None 

  

FA709 Boots UK Limited Boots 
Pharmacy 

63 Church Street Seaham SR7 7HF Mon-Sat: 09:00-13:00; 
14:00-16:45 

Mon-Fri: 16:45-17:00 

  

FN907 Bestway National Chemists 
Limited 

Well 
Pharmacy  

43 Church Street Seaham SR7 7HF Mon-Fri: 08:30-12:30; 
14:00-18:00 

Mon-Fri: 13:30-14:00 
  

FEM40 Norchem Healthcare 
Limited 

Knights 
Deneside 
Pharmacy  

1 The Avenue, 
Deneside 

Seaham SR7 8LQ Mon-Fri: 09:00-13:00; 
14:00-18:00 

None 
 

  

FNE72 J S Locum Services Ltd Kaila 
Pharmacy  

8 Blandford Place Seaham SR7 7EL Mon-Fri: 09:00-13:00; 
14:00-18:00 

Mon-Fri: 13:00-14:00 
  

FGQ15 Vangmayi Ltd  J & J 
Pharmacy 

1 West Grove, 
Westlea Estate  

Seaham SR7 8EL Mon-Fri: 09:00-14:00; 
14:30-17:30 

Mon-Fri:  
14:00-14:30,  
Sat: 09:15-13:00   

FKG29 Norchem Healthcare 
Limited 

Knights 
Harbour 
Pharmacy  

Seaham Primary 
Care Centre,  
St Johns Square  

Seaham  SR7 7JE Mon-Fri: 09:00-18:00 Mon- Fri: 08:00-
09:00 
   

FV165 G Whitfield Limited  G Whitfield 
Limited 

16 Woods 
Terrace East 

Murton  SR7 9AA Mon-Wed: 09.00-
12.30; 13.30-18:00, 

Mon-Wed: 08:30-
09:00; 12:30-13:30,    P

age 115



 

78 
 

 
ODS Code 
 

 
Pharmacy or GP Surgery 

 
Trading 
Name 

 
Address 1  

 
Address 2  

 
Postcode 

Pharmacy Core 
hours, or GP 
Dispensary Opening 
Hours 

Additional 
Pharmacy 
Supplementary 
Hours   

Thurs-Fri: 09.00-
12.30; 13.30-17:00,  
Sat: 09:00-12:30 

Thu-Fri: 08:30-09:00; 
12:30-13:30; 17:00-
18:00 

FEQ59 Whitworth Chemists 
Limited 

Whitworth 
your family 
pharmacy  

13/15 Woods 
Terrace 

Murton  SR7 9AD Mon-Fri: 08:30-12:30; 
13:30-17:30 

Mon-Wed: 17:30 - 
18:00,   
Sat: 09:00 - 12:00   

FJW29 Crispin Pharmacy Ltd Shotton 
Pharmacy 

2 Front Street Shotton 
Colliery 

 DH6 2LT Mon-Fri: 09:00-13:00; 
14:00-18:00 

Sat: 09:00-12:30 
  

FL004 Haswell Pharmacy Limited  Haswell 
Pharmacy 

80 Front Street Haswell  DH6 2BL Mon-Wed: 09:00-
17:30, 
Thurs: 09:00-15.00,  
Fri: 09:00-17:30 

Thurs: 15:00-17:30 

  

FQL31 M Whitfield Limited  M Whitfield 
Limited 

2 Stanley Terrace Thornley  DH6 3ES Mon-Wed: 09:00-
12:30; 14:00-18:00,  
Thurs: 09:00-12:30; 
14:00-17.30,  
Fri: 09:00-12:30; 
14:00-18:00,  
Sat: 09:00-12:00  

None 

  

FVH83 Norchem Healthcare 
Limited 

Knights 
Meikle 
Pharmacy  

51 Middle Street Blackhall 
Colliery 

TS27 4EE Mon-Fri: 09:00-17:30 None 

  

FCK33 M Whitfield Limited 
M Whitfield 
Limited 

28 Middle Street Blackhall 
Colliery 

TS27 4EA Mon-Fri: 09:00-12:30; 
13:30-17:30,  
Sat: 09:00-11:30 

None 

  

FLO73 Boots UK Limited Boots 
Pharmacy 

 The Medical 
Centre, Front 
Street 

Wingate  TS28 5PZ Mon-Fri: 09:00-13:00; 
14:00-18:00 

Mon-Fri: 08:30-
09:00; 13:00-14:00,  
Sat: 09:00-12:00 
   

FTA07 North Care Pharmacies 

Phillips 
Chemists 

11 Luke Street Trimdon 
Colliery 

TS29 6DP Mon-Tues:  
08:30 - 16:30,  
Wed-Fri: 08:30 - 12:30 

Mon-Wed; 16:30-
17:30, 
Thurs-Fri; 13:30-
17:30   

P
age 116



 

79 
 

 
ODS Code 
 

 
Pharmacy or GP Surgery 

 
Trading 
Name 

 
Address 1  

 
Address 2  

 
Postcode 

Pharmacy Core 
hours, or GP 
Dispensary Opening 
Hours 

Additional 
Pharmacy 
Supplementary 
Hours   

FFH88 M Whitfield Limited M Whitfield 
Limited  

The Primary Care 
Centre, Thornley 
Road  

Wheatley Hill DH6 3NR Mon-Wed: 09:00-
12:30; 14:00-18:00,  
Thurs: 09:00-12:30; 
14:00-17:30,  
Fri: 09:00-12:30; 
14:00-18:00,  
Sat: 09:00-12:00  

None 

  

FLG08 Kaur Pharma Limited  Peterlee 
Pharmacy  

81 Edenhill Road Peterlee SR8 5DD Mon-Fri: 09:00-17:00 None 
  

FWT31 D & D Healthcare (NE) Ltd Netscripts 
Direct 

Byron House, Hall 
Dene Way,  
Seaham Grange 
Industrial Estate 

Seaham  SR7 0PY Mon-Fri: 09:00-18:00  None  

  

Derwentside88 
  

FW704 Boots UK Limited Boots 
Pharmacy 

Tanfield View 
Surgery, Scott 
Street 

Tanfield DH9 8AD Mon-Fri: 07:00-23:00, 
Sat-Sun: 09:00-19:00 

None 

  

FTW78 Avicenna Retail Limited Annfield 
Plain 
Pharmacy  

3 West Road Annfield 
Plain 

DH9 7XA Mon-Fri: 09:00-13:00; 
14:00-18:00 

Mon-Fri:  
13:00-14:00,  
Sat: 09:00-13:00   

  Browney House Surgery   Front Street Langley Park DH7 9YT Mon-Fri: 09:00-17:30    

FDR43 Bestway National Chemists 
Limited 

Well 
Pharmacy  

40 Front Street Langley Park DH7 9SA Mon-Fri: 09:00-17:00 Mon-Fri: 08:30-
08:45; 17:30-18:00,  
Sat: 08:45-12:30   

FRK79 T & J Healthcare Ltd Station Road 
Pharmacy 

9 Station Road Consett DH8 5RL Mon-Sat: 08:00-23:00, 
Sun: 10:00-20:00 

None 

  

FR810 John Low Ltd Moorside 
Pharmacy 

Consett Park 
Terrace, Moorside  

Consett DH8 8ET Mon-Fri: 08:30-14:30  None 
  

FJL38 John Low Ltd  John Low 
Ltd 

83 Queens Road, 
Shotley Bridge 

Consett  DH8 0BW Mon-Fri: 08:30-13:30; 
14:00-17:00  

Mon-Fri:  
13:30 - 14:00    

                                            
88 Key: Green: 100 hour pharmacies, Blue: Dispensing practices, Purple: Distance selling pharmacies  

 

P
age 117



 

80 
 

 
ODS Code 
 

 
Pharmacy or GP Surgery 

 
Trading 
Name 

 
Address 1  

 
Address 2  

 
Postcode 

Pharmacy Core 
hours, or GP 
Dispensary Opening 
Hours 

Additional 
Pharmacy 
Supplementary 
Hours   

FHM85 Lloyds Pharmacy Limited Lloyds 
Pharmacy 

12 Station Road Consett DH8 5RL Mon-Fri: 08:45-12:45; 
14:30-17:45,  
Sat: 09:15-13:00 

Mon-Fri;  
12:45-14:30,  
Sat: 09:00-09:15   

FQR60 Bestway National Chemists 
Limited 

Well 
Pharmacy  

The Derwent 
Centre, Middle 
Street  

Consett DH8 5QP Mon-Tues 09:30-
14:00; 15:00-17:30,  
Wed-Sat 09:30-14:00; 
15:00-17:00  

Mon-Tues: 09:00-
09:30, 14:00-15:00,  
Wed-Sat: 09:00-
09:30; 14:00-15:00; 
17:00-17:30    

FH756 Boots UK Limited Boots 
Pharmacy 

Station Yard 
West, Delves 
Lane  

Consett DH8 5YA Mon-Fri: 08:30-13:00; 
14:00-17:30 

Mon-Fri: 13:00-
14:00,  
Sat: 08:30-12:00   

FA527 Farah Chemists Limited Burnopfield 
Pharmacy 

Cedar Crescent Burnopfield NE16 6HU Mon-Fri: 09.00-17.30 None 

  

FNR44 Farah Chemists Limited Dipton 
Pharmacy 

Lesbury House, 
Front Street  

Dipton  DH9 9AD Mon-Fri: 09:00-13:00; 
14:00-18:00 

Mon-Fri:  
08:30-09:00   

FK668 Farah Chemists Limited Leadgate 
Pharmacy 

George Ewen 
House, Watling 
Street 

Leadgate DH8 6DP Mon-Fri: 09:00-17:00 Tue: 17:00-18:00, 
Thu: 17:00-18:00 

  

FLX61 Lydon Pharmacy Group 
Ltd 

Craghead 
Pharmacy  

6 Standerton 
Terrace 

Craghead DH9 6DD Mon: 08:30-12:30; 
13:00-19:00,  
Tue-Wed: 08:30-
12:30; 13:00-17:30,  
Thu: 08:30-13:00,  
Fri: 08:30-12:30; 
13:00-17:30 

None 

  

FW299 Asda Stores Ltd Asda 
Pharmacy 

Front Street Stanley DH9 0NB Mon: 08:00-23:00,  
Tue-Fri: 07:00-23:00, 
Sat: 07:00-22:00,  
Sun: 10:00-16:00 

None 

  

FTH09 Boots UK Limited  Boots 
Pharmacy 

53 Front Street Stanley DH9 0SY Mon: 08:30-13:00; 
14:00-17:30,  
Tue-Sat: 08:30-13:00; 
14:00-17:00 

Mon-Sat: 13:00-
14:00, 
Tue-Fri:  
17:00-17:30   

P
age 118



 

81 
 

 
ODS Code 
 

 
Pharmacy or GP Surgery 

 
Trading 
Name 

 
Address 1  

 
Address 2  

 
Postcode 

Pharmacy Core 
hours, or GP 
Dispensary Opening 
Hours 

Additional 
Pharmacy 
Supplementary 
Hours   

FRR32 Lloyds Pharmacy Limited Lloyds 
Pharmacy 

Clifford Road Stanley DH9 0AB Mon: 09:00-13:00; 
14:00-18:00,  
Tue-Fri: 09:00-12:00; 
14:00-18:00,  
Sat: 09:00-13:00 

Mon: 13:00-14:00,  
Tue-Fri: 12:00-14:00,  
 

  

FWL23 Lydon Pharmacy Group 
Ltd 

Stanley 
Pharmacy  

79 Front Street Stanley DH9 0TB Mon-Fri: 09:00-17:00 Mon-Fri: 08:30-
09:00; 17:00-18:00,  
Sat: 09:00-13:00   

  The Haven Surgery    The Haven  Burnhope DH7 0BD Mon-Fri: 08:00-18:00    

FFF81 M D & A G Burdon Ltd Lanchester 
Pharmacy 

15 Front Street Lanchester DH7 0LA Mon-Fri: 09:00-13.00; 
14.00-18:00 

Mon-Fri: 08:30-
09:00; 13.00-14.00, 
Sat: 09:00-17:00   

FYR54 Blue House Retail Ltd Taylors 
Pharmacy 

226 Park Road South Moor DH9 7AN Mon-Fri: 09:00-17:00 Mon-Fri:17:00-18:00,  
Sat: 09:00-12:00   

  Oakfields Health Group    Oakfields Health 
Centre 

Hamsterley 
Colliery  

NE17 7SB Mon-Wed: 08:30-
18:00, Thurs: 08:30-
12:00,  
Fri: 08:30-18:00. 
Closed every day 
between 12:00-14:00 

 

  

FRQ35 Sri Vijaya Venkata LLP Consett 
Pharmacy 

Unit 19b Number 
One Industrial Est 

Consett DH8 6SY Mon-Fri: 09:00-13:00; 
14:00-18:00 

Mon-Fri:13:00-14:00,  
Sat: 09:00-18:00   

Sedgefield89 
  

FMH62 Tesco Stores Limited Tesco 
Pharmacy 

Greenwell Road  Newton 
Aycliffe 

DL5 4DH Mon: 08:00-22:30,  
Tue-Fri: 06:30-22:30, 
Sat: 06:30-22:00,  
Sun: 10:00-16:00 

None 

  

 Bewick Crescent Surgery  27 Bewick 
Crescent 

Newton 
Aycliffe 

DL5 5LH Mon: 08.00–18:00 
Tues: 08.00–09:30, 
Wed: 08.00-18:00;  

 

  

                                            
89 Key: Green: 100 hour pharmacies, Blue: Dispensing practices, Purple: Distance selling pharmacies  

 

P
age 119



 

82 
 

 
ODS Code 
 

 
Pharmacy or GP Surgery 

 
Trading 
Name 

 
Address 1  

 
Address 2  

 
Postcode 

Pharmacy Core 
hours, or GP 
Dispensary Opening 
Hours 

Additional 
Pharmacy 
Supplementary 
Hours   

Thurs: 08.00–18.00,  
Fri: 08.00-18.00 

FPL65 A R McConnell Limited The Village 
Pharmacy 

Pioneering Care 
Centre, Cobbler's 
Hall, Burn Lane 

Newton 
Aycliffe 

DL5 4SE Mon-Fri: 08:30-13:00; 
14:00-17:30 

Sat: 09:00-12:00 

  

FGR42 Boots UK Limited 

Boots 
Pharmacy 

57 Beveridge 
Way 

Newton 
Aycliffe 

DL5 4DU Mon-Fri: 09:00-13:00; 
14:00-17:00,  
Sat: 09:00-13:00; 
14:00-15:00 

Sat: 13:00-14:00; 
15:00-17:00 

  

FFK86 Robert & Roberts Limited Bewick 
Pharmacy 

27 Bewick 
Crescent 

 Newton 
Aycliffe 

DL5 5LH Mon-Fri: 09:00-17:00 Mon-Fri: 08:30-
09:00; 17:00-18:00    

FWF67 Lloyds Pharmacy Limited Lloyds 
Pharmacy 

Pease Way 
Medical Centre 

Newton 
Aycliffe 

DL5 5NH Mon-Fri :09:00-13:00; 
14:00-18:00  

Mon-Fri: 13:00 - 
14:00  
   

FE649 Asda Stores Ltd Asda 
Pharmacy 

St Andrew's Lane Spennymoor DL16 6QB Mon: 08:00-23:00,  
Tue-Fri: 07:00-23:00, 
Sat: 07:00-22:00,  
Sun: 10:00-16:00 

None 

  

  St Andrews Medical 
Practice 

  Sensier House, St 
Andrew's Lane 

Spennymoor DL16 6QA Mon-Fri: 08:30-13:00; 
14:00-18:00 

 
  

FGN07 Bestway National Chemists 
Limited 

Well 
Pharmacy  

St Andrews 
Medical Centre 

Spennymoor DL16 6QA Mon-Fri: 09:00-13:00; 
13:30-17:30 

Mon-Fri: 08:30-
09:00; 13:00-13:30; 
17.30-18.00   

FED01 Empharm North East Ltd Miller 
Chemist 

22 Cheapside Spennymoor DL16 6DJ Mon-Fri: 09:00-12:30; 
13:30-18:00 

Mon-Fri: 08:45-
09:00; 12:30-13:30,  
Sat: 09:00-13:00   

FPC89 Boots UK Limited Boots 
Pharmacy 

18 Cheapside Spennymoor DL16 6DJ Mon-Fri: 09:00-13:00; 
14:00-18:00  

Mon-Fri: 13:00-
14:00,  
Sat: 09:00 - 16:00   

FV584 Boots UK Limited Boots 
Pharmacy 

2 North Street Ferryhill DL17 8HX Mon-Fri: 09:00-13:00; 
14:00-18:00 

Sat: 09:00-12:0090 
  

                                            
90 Added following the consolidation of two Boots sites in Ferryhill in March 2022. 

P
age 120



 

83 
 

 
ODS Code 
 

 
Pharmacy or GP Surgery 

 
Trading 
Name 

 
Address 1  

 
Address 2  

 
Postcode 

Pharmacy Core 
hours, or GP 
Dispensary Opening 
Hours 

Additional 
Pharmacy 
Supplementary 
Hours   

FE061 J’s Healthcare Limited Higginbottom 
Pharmacy 

11 Main Street Ferryhill DL17 8LA Mon-Fri: 09:00-17:00 Mon-Fri: 08:30-
09:00; 17:00-17:30    

FWC49 Centrechem Ltd Sedgefield 
Pharmacy 

11 Front Street Sedgefield TS21 3AT Mon-Fri: 09:00-13:00; 
14:00-18:00  

Sat: 09:00-12:00 
  

FVW28 Norchem Healthcare 
Limited  

Knights M&M 
Pharmacy 

14 Church Street Shildon DL4 1DX Mon-Fri: 08:30-13:00; 
14:00-17:30 

Sat: 09:00-12:00 
  

FM788 Hancock & Ainsley Ltd 
Hancock & 
Ainsley Ltd 

1 Main Street Shildon DL4 1AJ Mon-Fri: 09:00-13:00; 
14:00-18:00 

Mon-Fri; 13:00-
14:00, 
Sat: 09:00-12:00   

FTH97 Intrahealth Pharmacy 
Limited 

Cheapside 
Chemist   

5 Cheapside Shildon DL4 2HP Mon-Thurs: 09:00-
13:00; 14:00-17:30,  
Fri: 09:00-13:00; 
14:00-17:00,  
Sat: 09:00-12:00 

None 

  

FPM81 Intrahealth Pharmacy 
Limited 

Chilton 
Chemist 

Chilton Health 
Centre, Norman 
Terrace 

Chilton DL17 0HF Mon: 08:45-12:30; 
13:30-17:45,  
Tues: 08:45-12:30; 
13:30-17:30,  
Wed: 08:45-12:30; 
13:30-17:45,  
Thu: 08:45-13:30,  
Fri: 08:45-12:30; 
13:30-17:45. Sat: 
08:30-12:00 

None 

  

FG885 Intrahealth Pharmacy 
Limited 

Intrahealth 
Pharmacy 
Limited 

West Cornforth 
Medical Centre,  
Reading Street  

West 
Cornforth 

DL17 9LH Mon-Fri: 09:00-13:00; 
13:30-17:30  

None 

  

FC276 North Care Pharmacies  Phillips 
Chemists 

21a Church Road Trimdon 
Village 

TS29 6PY Mon-Fri: 09:00-12:45; 
13:45-18:00 

Sat: 09:00-12:00 
  

FYV47 North Care Pharmacies   Phillips 
Chemists 

9 Alhambra 
Terrace 

Fishburn TS21 4BU Mon-Fri: 08:50-12.30; 
13.30-17.30 

Sat: 09:00-12:00 
  

FMN51 Robert & Roberts Limited Neville 
Pharmacy 

6 Neville Parade Newton 
Aycliffe 

DL5 5DH Mon-Fri: 09:00-13:00; 
14:00-18:00 

None 
 
   

P
age 121



 

84 
 

 
ODS Code 
 

 
Pharmacy or GP Surgery 

 
Trading 
Name 

 
Address 1  

 
Address 2  

 
Postcode 

Pharmacy Core 
hours, or GP 
Dispensary Opening 
Hours 

Additional 
Pharmacy 
Supplementary 
Hours   
 

FDK64 Norchem Healthcare 
Limited  

Knights 
Pharmacy 

Norchem House, 
Chilton Industrial 
Estate  

Chilton DL17 0PD Mon-Fri: 08:00-16:00 Mon-Fri: 16:00-17:00 

  

Durham91   

FLL39 Tesco Stores Limited Tesco 
Pharmacy 

Dragonville 
Industrial Estate, 
Dragon Lane 

Durham DH1 2XQ Mon: 08:00-22:30,  
Tue-Fri: 06:30-22:30, 
Sat: 06:30-22:00,  
Sun: 10:00-16:00 

None 

  
FVC46 Alrahi & Singh Ltd Pharmacy 

Express 
Hilary House Kelloe DH6 4PE Mon-Fri: 08:30 - 16:30 None 

  
FHD04 Bestway National Chemists 

Limited 
Well 
Pharmacy  

25 Gilesgate Gilesgate DH1 1QW Mon-Fri: 09.00-17:00 Mon-Fri: 08:30-
09:00; 17:00-18:00   

FTT54 M Whitfield Limited 
M Whitfield 
Limited 

34 Sunderland 
Road 

Gilesgate DH1 2LG Mon-Fri: 09:00-12:30; 
14:00-18:00,  
Sat: 09:00-11:30  

None 

  

FQK30 Parkchem Ltd Sherburn 
Village 
Pharmacy 

2 Harley Terrace Sherburn  DH6 1DS Mon-Wed: 08:45-
13:00; 14:00-18:00,  
Thu: 08:45-12:00; 
13:00-17:00,  
Fri: 09:00-13:00; 
14:00-18:00 

Mon-Wed: 13:00 - 
14:00,   
Thu: 12:00 - 13:00,  
Fri: 08:45 - 09:00; 
13:00 - 14:00 

  

  Belmont & Sherburn 
Medical Group  

 
Broomside Lane  Belmont  DH1 2QW Mon: 08:15-18:00, 

Tues: 08:15-13:00, 
Wed-Fri: 08:15-18:00 

 

  
FLK46 IntraHealth Pharmacy 

Limited  
Belmont 
Pharmacy  

6 Blue House 
Buildings, High 
Street 

Belmont  DH1 1AR Mon-Fri: 09:00-13:00; 
14:00-18:00 

 

  
FK785 James & Lindsey Clark J & L C Clark 

Chemists 
10 Cheveley 
Park, Shopping 
Centre  

Belmont DH1 2AA Mon-Fri: 09:00-17:00 Mon-Fri:  
17.00-17:30,  
Sat: 09.00-13.00   

                                            
91 Key: Green: 100 hour pharmacies, Blue: Dispensing practices, Purple: Distance selling pharmacies  

 

P
age 122



 

85 
 

 
ODS Code 
 

 
Pharmacy or GP Surgery 

 
Trading 
Name 

 
Address 1  

 
Address 2  

 
Postcode 

Pharmacy Core 
hours, or GP 
Dispensary Opening 
Hours 

Additional 
Pharmacy 
Supplementary 
Hours   

FD330 Boots UK Limited  Boots 
Pharmacy 

Unit 9, Durham 
City Retail Park 

Belmont DH1 2RP Mon-Fri: 09:00-13:00; 
14:00-18:00  

Mon-Fri: 13:00-
14:00, 
Sat: 10:00-16:00   

FMG71 Boots UK Limited  Boots 
Pharmacy 

Unit B, Arnison 
Centre Retail 
Park 

Pity Me  DH1 5GB Mon-Fri: 09:00-14:00; 
15:00-18:00 

Mon-Fri: 14:00-
15:00; 18:00-19:00, 
Sat: 09:00-18:00,  
Sun: 10:30-16:30   

FV167 Lloyds Pharmacy Limited Lloyds 
Pharmacy 

Arnison Centre 
Retail Park 

Pity Me DH1 5GD Mon-Sat: 09:00-12:00; 
14:00-17:00 
Sun: 10:00-14:00 

Mon-Sat: 08:00-
09:00; 12:00-14:00; 
17:00-20:00 
Sun: 14:00-16:00   

FLJ01 Coolmain Services Ltd Leak 
Chemists 

29 Front Street Framwellgate 
Moor 

DH1 5EE Mon-Fri: 09:00-13:00; 
14:00-18:00 

Sat: 09:00-13:00 

  
FRK21 Hall Newton Trading Ltd  Newton Hall 

Pharmacy 
55 Carr House 
Drive 

Framwellgate 
Moor 

DH1 5LT Mon-Fri:  09:00-13:00; 
14:00-18:00 

None 

  
FV365 Winning Esh Trading Ltd  Esh Winning 

Pharmacy 
1 New House 
Road 

Esh Winning DH7 9JU Mon-Fri: 09:00-12:30; 
13:30-18:00 

Sat: 09.00-12.30 

  
FML39 W Smith (Durham) Ltd W Smith 

(Durham) Ltd 
Flass Terrace Ushaw Moor  DH7 7LD Mon-Fri: 09:00-12:30; 

13:30-18:00 
Sat: 09.00-12.30 

  
FX194 Mr T Grey The 

Storehouse 
Pharmacy 

The Store House 
 

Rainton Gate  DH4 6SQ Mon-Fri: 08:30 - 
12:30; 13:30 - 17:30  

Mon-Fri: 08:15 - 
08:30; 17:30 - 18:00  
   

FYR53 Boots UK Limited Boots 
Pharmacy 

2-5 Market Place Durham City DH1 3NB Mon-Sat: 08:30-17:30, 
Sun: 11:00-17:00 

None 

  
FA268 Bowburn Pharmacy 

Company Ltd 
Bowburn 
Pharmacy 

2 Ash Terrace Bowburn DH6 5AS Mon-Fri: 08:45-12:30; 
13:45-18:00 

None  

  
FGL33 M Whitfield Limited 

M Whitfield 
Limited 

1 Sanderson 
Street 

Coxhoe  DH6 4DF Mon -Tues: 09:00-
12:30; 14:00-18:00,  
Wed: 09:00-12:30; 
14:00-17:30, 
Thurs – Fri: 09:00-
12:30; 14:00-18:00, 
Sat: 09:00-12:00 

Mon -Fri: 12:30 -
13:00,  
Wed: 17:30-18:00 
 

  P
age 123



 

86 
 

 
ODS Code 
 

 
Pharmacy or GP Surgery 

 
Trading 
Name 

 
Address 1  

 
Address 2  

 
Postcode 

Pharmacy Core 
hours, or GP 
Dispensary Opening 
Hours 

Additional 
Pharmacy 
Supplementary 
Hours   

FRQ38 Norchem Healthcare 
Limited 

Knights M&M 
Pharmacy 

The Health 
Centre, Sawmills 
Lane  

Meadowfield DH7 8NJ  Mon-Fri: 08:15-12:30; 
13:30-17:15 

Mon-Fri: 17:15-18:00 

  
FGV81  Lalitha Consulting Ltd  Brandon 

Pharmacy 
Manchester 
House, 
Commercial 
Street  

Brandon DH7 8PL Mon-Fri: 09:00-13:00; 
14:00-18:00 

Mon-Fri: 13:00-14:00 

  
Chester-le-Street92   

FAX71 Gorgemead Limited Cohens 
Chemist 

5 Bridge End Chester-le-
Street 

DH3 3RE Mon-Fri: 09:00-12:30; 
14:00-18:00,  
Sat: 09:00-10:00; 
11:30-13:00  

Mon-Fri: 12:30-
14:00, 
Sat: 10:00-11:30 

  
FG999 Gorgemead Limited Cohens 

Chemist 
15 Middle Chare Chester-le-

Street 
DH3 3QD Mon-Fri:  09:00-17:30 Mon-Fri: 17:30-18:00 

  
FQG19 Boots UK Limited 

Boots 
Pharmacy 

8-9 St.Cuthberts 
Walk 

Chester-le- 
Street 

DH3 3YQ Mon-Sat: 09:00-13:00; 
14:00-17:00  

Mon-Sat: 13:00-
14:00; 17:00-17:30 
   

FDD30 Superdrug Stores Plc Superdrug 
Pharmacy  

48-50 Front Street Chester-le-
Street 

DH3 3BD Mon-Sat: 08:30-14:00; 
14:30-17:30 

None 

  
FPQ55 Boots UK Limited  Boots 

Pharmacy 
Cestria Health 
Centre, Whitehill 
Way  

Chester-le-
Street 

DH2 3DJ Mon-Fri: 09:00-17:00 Mon-Fri: 08:30-
09:00; 17:00-17:30  
   

FE898 Centrechem Ltd Centrechem 
Ltd 

Pelton Primary 
Care Centre, 
Ouston Lane  

Pelton DH2 1EZ Mon-Fri: 09:00-18:00 Mon-Fri: 08:30-09:00 
Sat: 09:00-12:00 

  
FCQ82 Fletcher Gamble Limited Pelton Fell 

Pharmacy 
Fell Road Pelton Fell DH2 2NR Mon-Fri: 09:00-12:00; 

13:00-18:00 
 
 

None 

  
FQQ83 G Whitfield Limited  G Whitfield 

Limited 
38 Gill Crescent 
North 

Fencehouses DH4 6AW Mon-Wed: 09:00-
12:30; 14:00-18:00,  

None 

  

                                            
92 Key: Green: 100 hour pharmacies, Blue: Dispensing practices, Purple: Distance selling pharmacies  

 

P
age 124



 

87 
 

 
ODS Code 
 

 
Pharmacy or GP Surgery 

 
Trading 
Name 

 
Address 1  

 
Address 2  

 
Postcode 

Pharmacy Core 
hours, or GP 
Dispensary Opening 
Hours 

Additional 
Pharmacy 
Supplementary 
Hours   

Thu: 09:00-12:30; 
14:00-17:00,  
Fri: 09:00-12:30; 
14:00-18:00,  
Sat: 09:00-12:30 

FA773  Boots UK Limited Boots 
Pharmacy 

The Medical 
Centre, Front 
Street  

Sacriston DH7 6JW Mon-Fri: 09:00-13:00; 
14:00-18:00 

None 

  
FMQ48 J Dinning (Lumley) Limited Lumley 

Pharmacy  
13 Lombard Place Great Lumley DH3 4QP Mon-Fri: 08:30-17:45 None 

  
FW641 Amerikana LLP Vigo 

Pharmacy 
Unit 1D, Drum 
Industrial Estate 

Chester-le- 
Street 

DH2 1SS Mon-Fri : 09:00-13:00; 
14:00-18:00 

Mon-Fri:  
13:00-14:00, 
   

FWV77 Amerikana LLP Sacriston 
Pharmacy  

Suite 4, AMR 
Building, 
Sacriston 
Industrial Estate, 
Plawsworth Road  

Sacriston  DH7 6JX Mon-Fri 09:00-17:00 None 

  

 

  

P
age 125



 

88 
 

Appendix 9: Public views of pharmacy services 
 

Public views gathered before and during the preparation of the draft PNA 
 
Healthwatch 
 
Local Healthwatch survey 
Healthwatch County Durham carried out an online survey at the beginning of 2020 to gain an 
initial insight of the experiences of people accessing pharmaceutical services in County 
Durham. This work aimed to determine: 

 The public’s knowledge of services that pharmacies can offer. 

 The effects of the local publicity campaign for pharmacy. 

 The public’s view of access to medicines, particularly delivery of medicines in the 
Dales. 

The work programme was halted by Covid-19, and as a result there was no face-to-face 
engagement in the Dales as originally planned. However, overall the views and experiences 
of 260 individuals were collected for a report which is available at 
https://www.healthwatchcountydurham.co.uk/report/2020-10-05/pharmacies-services-or-
dispensing-doctors-county-durham. The executive summary describes what people told 
Healthwatch and, in response to these comments, the subsequent Healthwatch 
recommendations. These are described below: 
What people told Healthwatch93 

 94% can easily access pharmacy services 

 54% access pharmacy services at least monthly 

 55% always visit the same pharmacy service 

 62% normally get to their pharmacy by car or taxi 

 72% use a high street pharmacy with 25% use a GP practice dispensary 

 15% have used an online / internet pharmacy 
 

 77% said that the pharmacy usually has their prescribed medication in stock. 

 36% had problems obtaining their medication from their pharmacy (The main 
problem identified was that medication was in short supply/out of stock/discontinued). 
 

 Other services that respondents would like to access from pharmacies include a 
range of health checks e.g. blood pressure, blood tests, cholesterol checks, urine 
samples. Several people commented that they would like the pharmacist to be able 
to prescribe certain medications that would result in fewer visits to the GP surgery. 
 

 74% had new medication explained to them by a pharmacist. 

 93% said that the pharmacy staff are polite and helpful. 

 The thing 3 things that pharmacies do well are making sure prescriptions are 
appropriate and available in a timely manner; knowledgeable staff provide advice and 
information; good customer care with friendly, caring staff. 

 

 Pharmacy services could be improved by dispensing more quickly; patients receiving 
a text message to say when medication is ready to collect; reducing paper copies 
when collecting medication to be more environmentally friendly. 
 

 83% said they were aware of national and local publicity from the NHS to ‘selfcare’ 
i.e. to make more use of community pharmacy services as the first port of call for 
advice and treatment. 

 68% said they were now more likely to contact/visit a pharmacy for advice. 

                                            
93 The report compares the results to the 2017 Healthwatch pharmacy survey  

Page 126

https://www.healthwatchcountydurham.co.uk/report/2020-10-05/pharmacies-services-or-dispensing-doctors-county-durham
https://www.healthwatchcountydurham.co.uk/report/2020-10-05/pharmacies-services-or-dispensing-doctors-county-durham


 

89 
 

 Awareness of the services that pharmacies provided ranged from dispensing 
medicines (97%) and flu vaccination services (82%) to sexual health services (47%) 
and supplying a limited amount of prescription medication in an emergency (47%). 

 Use of services ranged from the dispensing medicines service (91%) to sexual health 
services (6%) and supplying a limited amount of prescription medication in an 
emergency (20%). 
 

 76% feel comfortable about getting advice from and talking to a pharmacist about 
health problems. 

 59% are able to talk in the pharmacy without being overheard. 
 

Healthwatch recommendations included 
Healthwatch carried out a survey on pharmacy services in 2017 and some of the 
recommendations made then continue to be appropriate, based on the responses of those 
who have participated in this survey: 

 Respondents asked if pharmacies could dispense medications more quickly. In 
addition, 36% had problems obtaining their medication from their pharmacy. We 
would suggest that this is looked into further to identify where improvements could be 
made. 

 Consideration should be given to offer additional health checks within pharmacies 
and to be able to prescribe certain medications, to reduce the need to visit the GP. 

 The main reason cited for not accessing pharmacies for advice was the lack of 
privacy, with only 59% of respondents saying they could talk in the pharmacy without 
being overheard. Facilities to enable customers to talk to the pharmacist without 
being overheard should be made available and clearly advertised. 

 When explaining new medication to customers, pharmacists should make it clear that 
this is what they are doing as currently only 74% of respondents were aware of this 
happening. 

 One of the recommendations in the Healthwatch 2017 report was to raise public 
awareness of the services pharmacies offer. As a result, the Public Health team at 
DCC worked in partnership with the LPC, the CCG and Healthwatch to develop a 
publicity campaign across the County that focused on ‘self-care’. A national 
campaign was also conducted and 68% of respondents said they were now more 
likely to contact/visit a pharmacy for advice. Further awareness campaigns should be 
considered. 

 
National Healthwatch survey  
Healthwatch published the results of a national public survey in August 2021 at 
https://www.healthwatch.co.uk/news/2021-08-23/covid-19-what-can-pharmacists-learn-
peoples-experiences-services which aimed to find out what the public thought worked well, 
and what could have been better when it came to the support pharmacies provided during 
the pandemic. A summary is: 
What was working well? 
Across the country, people particularly praised: 

 Timeslots for prescription collection. 

 Medication deliveries, which have been crucial for people self-isolating or shielding.   

 Pharmacies being open while other services were difficult or impossible to access.  

 Being able to collect or order repeat prescriptions in person. 
What improvements do people want to see? 

 Availability of medication: Many people have told us their medication has been 
delayed or is out of stock, sometimes because of missing or incorrect prescriptions. 
As a result, people are making multiple trips to their pharmacy. 

 Waiting times: People struggled with long waiting times and queues, particularly 
those more vulnerable or during winter. 

Page 127

https://www.healthwatch.co.uk/news/2021-08-23/covid-19-what-can-pharmacists-learn-peoples-experiences-services
https://www.healthwatch.co.uk/news/2021-08-23/covid-19-what-can-pharmacists-learn-peoples-experiences-services


 

90 
 

 Safety: Social distancing and infection control measures were not always in place or 
followed, leaving people feeling anxious and stressed about going to the pharmacy.  

 Coordination: People experienced poor communication and coordination between 
pharmacies and GPs, with people finding a lack of coordination. It has then been 
difficult to resolve any issues caused by this.   

 Delivery: Medication delivery has got worse or stopped completely in some areas, 
causing difficulties for those self-isolating or shielding. 

 Better understanding about what pharmacists can do: The main reason people use 
pharmacies is to get their medication. But not everyone understands the full range of 
services and support you offer, such as preventative advice and treatment for minor 
ailments. 

 

Community Champions 
In January 2022, the Community Champion94 network promoted an online survey to their 
local communities. The following questions were asked: 

1. How often do you use a pharmacy service?  
2. Do you use the same pharmacy service?  
3. What type of pharmacy service do you use the most?  
4. Can you easily access pharmacy services?  
5. Thinking about the pharmacy service you use most often, how do you normally get 

there (if applicable)?  
6. What does your pharmacy service do well?  
7. Are there any other services you would like to access from your pharmacy service? 
8. Is there any way your pharmacy service could be improved? 
9. In which of the following local areas do you live? 

 Dales (Bishop Auckland, Crook, Teesdale, Weardale) 

 Easington (Peterlee, Seaham, Horden) 

 Derwentside (Consett, Stanley, Lanchester) 

 Sedgefield (Newton Aycliffe, Spennymoor, Ferryhill, Shildon) 

 Durham (Sherburn, Belmont, Bowburn, Coxhoe, Meadowfield) 

 Chester-le-Street (Pelton, Sacriston, Fencehouses)  

 Don’t know / none of these 
 
The following answers were received from a total of 629 responses95: 
 
Responses from across County Durham (n=629) 
 

How often do you 
access local 
pharmacy services 
in your area? 

At least 
once a 
week 
 
 
6% 

Less than 
once a week 
but at least 
monthly 
 
55% 

Around 
every 
few 
months 
 
26% 

Around 
every six 
months 
 
 
6% 

Around 
once a 
year 
 
 
4% 

Less than  
once a 
year 
 
 
3% 

Never 
 
 
 
 
2% 

 

Do you always visit 
the same pharmacy 
service? 

Always 
 
57% 

Usually 
 
35% 

No 
 
9% 

 

Can you easily 
access pharmacy 
services? 

Yes 
 
92% 

No 
 
7% 

Don’t know / NA 
 
1% 

                                            
94 https://www.durham.gov.uk/covidcommunitychampion  
95 Individual comments on named pharmacies have been removed and fed back to CPCD. Comments 
that are relevant to the scope of PNA have been considered.  

Page 128

https://www.durham.gov.uk/covidcommunitychampion


 

91 
 

 

Thinking about the 
pharmacy service 
you visit most 
often, how do you 
normally get there? 

On foot 
 
43% 

Public transport 
 
2% 

Car or taxi 
 
52% 

Other 
 
3% 

 

What type of 
pharmacy service 
is it? 
 

Community 
Pharmacy 
55% 

GP Practice 
 
41% 

Internet pharmacy 
service 
3% 

Other 
 
1% 

 
Responses from the Dales (n=122) 
 

How often do you 
access local 
pharmacy services 
in your area? 

At least 
once a 
week 
 
 
4% 

Less than 
once a week 
but at least 
monthly 
 
65% 

Around 
every 
few 
months 
 
19% 

Around 
every six 
months 
 
 
5% 

Around 
once a 
year 
 
 
5% 

Less than  
once a 
year 
 
 
3% 

Never 
 
 
 
 
0% 

 

Do you always visit 
the same pharmacy 
service? 

Always 
 
60% 

Usually 
 
34% 

No 
 
7% 

 

Can you easily 
access pharmacy 
services? 

Yes 
 
94% 

No 
 
5% 

Don’t know / NA 
 
1% 

 

Thinking about the 
pharmacy service 
you visit most 
often, how do you 
normally get there? 

On foot 
 
34% 

Public transport 
 
1% 

Car or taxi 
 
60% 

Other 
 
6% 

 

What type of 
pharmacy service 
is it? 
 

Community 
Pharmacy 
44% 

GP Practice 
 
53% 

Internet pharmacy 
service 
3% 

Other 
 
1% 

 

What does your pharmacy or GP practice dispensary do well? Comments included:  
 
Staff 

 Customer service. 

 Friendly, approachable, reliable. 

 Customer service is excellent. Staff are always friendly and polite. Being able to speak to 
someone privately is relatively easy. Vaccinations (e.g. flu) are handled well.  

 Assist with health questions. 

 Friendly with advice when needed. 

 Recommend products and provides advice. 

 Knows me and is quick and efficient. 

 Very friendly and accommodating. 

 Courteous. 
 
Service 

 Well organised. 

 Always satisfied the needs of our family. 

 Works as it should. 

Page 129



 

92 
 

 Text when my script is ready. 

 Online prescription ordering.  

 Provide quick turnaround of prescriptions. 

 Dispenses repeat prescriptions. 

 They stock the items and reorder for repeat medications. Can get flu vaccination there. 

 Always have supplies in and ready.  

 Good selection of medicine and toiletries. 

 Great service and products on sale. 

 Dispenses medication for a person for whom I am a carer. 

 Supply what I need on time every time, and with a smile. 

 Vaccinations. 

 Always ring to ask how we are getting on with a new prescription. Check with us regularly, 
delivers to home, and easy to order repeat prescriptions. 

 
Access 

 Provides very quick direct service from my dispensing GP. 

 Social distancing and Covid-19 restrictions have been well maintained without being excessive. 

 They are always available with clearly signed opening times. 

 Quick / good service.  

 Dispatch things promptly.  

 It’s local. 

 Deliveries. 

 Customer service and opening times.  

 Convenient location. 
   

Are there any other services you would like to access from your local pharmacy or GP practice 
dispensary? Comments included: 
 

 Vaccinations for Covid-19. 

 Information on reliable private services in the community. 

 Information on cancer services would be helpful. 

 Deliver my prescriptions. 

 It's in the doctor's surgery so hours can be difficult. 

 Better stocked shop. 

 Not sure if they do checks blood test etc. 
 

Is there any way your pharmacy or GP practice dispensary could be improved? Comments 
included: 
 
Staff 

 Making it clear that counter staff hold appropriate qualifications so their advice can be taken 
reliably. 

 
Service 

 Communication with the GP practice.  

 More seating while waiting for prescription. 

 Card payment. 

 Send a text when the medication is available to be collected. 

 I’d like to have to visit less often - 3 months supply of medication would be helpful and a more 
efficient. 

 More Covid-19 test kits available. 

 I would rather not be asked for my address in front of other customers. 

 Stop chopping and changing brands. 
 
Access 

 Waiting times for prescriptions take a very long time in my local pharmacy.  

 A delivery service for prescriptions. 

 Automatic door. 

Page 130



 

93 
 

 Longer opening time. 

 Revert to pre-Covid opening hours. 

 It's been worse since Covid-19 due to limited hours and limited dispensing at local surgery. 
    

 

Responses from Easington (n=67) 

How often do you 
access local 
pharmacy services 
in your area? 

At least 
once a 
week 
 
 
6% 

Less than 
once a week 
but at least 
monthly 
 
68% 

Around 
every 
few 
months 
 
18% 

Around 
every six 
months 
 
 
3% 

Around 
once a 
year 
 
 
0% 

Less than  
once a 
year 
 
 
2% 

Never 
 
 
 
 
3% 

 

Do you always visit 
the same pharmacy 
service? 

Always 
 
73% 

Usually 
 
19% 

No 
 
8% 

 

Can you easily 
access pharmacy 
services? 

Yes 
 
91% 

No 
 
10% 

Don’t know / NA 
 
0% 

 

Thinking about the 
pharmacy service 
you visit most 
often, how do you 
normally get there? 

On foot 
 
40% 

Public transport 
 
2% 

Car or taxi 
 
57% 

Other 
 
2% 

 

What type of 
pharmacy service 
is it? 
 

Community 
Pharmacy 
25% 

GP Practice 
 
70% 

Internet pharmacy 
service 
2% 

Other 
 
3% 

 

What does your pharmacy or GP practice dispensary do well? Comments included:  
 
Staff 

 Very cheerful drivers. 

 Always polite and try to be helpful.  

 Pleasant, friendly service where they know you by name.  

 I feel valued. 

 Friendly and knowledgeable. 

 Customer service.  
 
Service 

 Good medical advice. 

 Dispenses medicines. 

 Text me when prescription is ready. 

 Great service in a timely manner. 

 Always have the right medication in stock. 

 Online prescription is usually correct and on time.  
 
Access 

 Delivers prescriptions. 

 Prescription pick-up. 
         

Are there any other services you would like to access from your local pharmacy or GP practice 
dispensary? Comments included: 
 

Page 131



 

94 
 

 Vaccinations would be handy. 

 More weekend out of hours service. Pharmacies are limited outside of the regular 9-5 Monday to 
Friday. 

 Faster service. 

 More baby products.  

 Free products that are relevant to younger children’s ailments.  

 Health check-ups.  
            

Is there any way your pharmacy or GP practice dispensary could be improved? Comments 
included: 
 
Staff 

 Only one staff member on the front of service. 

 More pharmacists. 

 Some staff don’t seem competent in certain areas and can't sign post on other options available. 

 Pharmacy staff need to acknowledge customers when they arrive at the front desk. 
 
Service 

 They are slow at getting prescriptions from doctors and sometimes say they haven’t got them in 
stock. 

 More varied stock. 

 Better communication between staff and customer regarding the fulfilment of a prescription.  
 
Access 

 Longer opening hours. 

 Emergency pharmacy services on weekends. 

 Don’t open at lunchtime or offer a late-night service. 

 Reduce the time it takes to dispense medication. 

 The service is to slow. 

 It can take a week from prescription being requested from GP to then actually receiving it. 
 

 

Responses from Derwentside (n=40) 
 

How often do you 
access local 
pharmacy services 
in your area? 

At least 
once a 
week 
 
 
8% 

Less than 
once a week 
but at least 
monthly 
 
48% 

Around 
every 
few 
months 
 
28% 

Around 
every six 
months 
 
 
8% 

Around 
once a 
year 
 
 
5% 

Less than  
once a 
year 
 
 
3% 

Never 
 
 
 
 
3% 

 

Do you always visit 
the same pharmacy 
service? 

Always 
 
49% 

Usually 
 
36% 

No 
 
15% 

 

Can you easily 
access pharmacy 
services? 

Yes 
 
100% 

No 
 
0% 

Don’t know / NA 
 
0% 

 

Thinking about the 
pharmacy service 
you visit most 
often, how do you 
normally get there? 

On foot 
 
36% 

Public transport 
 
3% 

Car or taxi 
 
61% 

Other 
 
0% 

 

What type of 
pharmacy service 
is it? 

Community 
Pharmacy 
64% 

GP Practice 
 
28% 

Internet pharmacy 
service 
8% 

Other 
 
0% 

Page 132



 

95 
 

 

 
 

What does your pharmacy or GP practice dispensary do well? Comments included:  
 
Staff 

 Have staff on hand to give practical advice. 

 Quick service, friendly and knowledgeable staff. 

 Friendly and know my dad's usual medication. 

 Friendly and approachable. 

 
Service 

 Local and helpful. 

 Small and convenient.     

 Does what it is expected to do. 

 Keeps me informed about my prescription.  

 Also good at telling me when other services are available such as flu jabs.  

 Text message to let me know when my prescription is ready. 

 Always timely with prescriptions, manage social distancing and Covid-19 regulations very well.  

 Prescriptions are always on time. 

 Offer health advice and can prescribe drugs without the need to attend the doctor’s surgery. 

 Competitive pricing for my private prescription items. 

 I like that my prescriptions are sent electronically from the GP surgery. I have been able to speak 
with the pharmacist for advice when required also. 

 
Access 

 In a large supermarket, so long opening hours. Easy to access the service, as I work varying 
shifts. 

 Easy access to repeat prescription items. 
 

Are there any other services you would like to access from your local pharmacy or GP practice 
dispensary? Comments included: 
 

 The ability to drop off samples for testing. 

 Advice on support services for people with long term conditions. 

 Links to advice services. 

 More advice on mental health. 

 General health check 

 Antibiotics for things such as eye/throat infections as I feel this is a waste of doctor’s surgeries 
time. 
 

Is there any way your pharmacy or GP practice dispensary could be improved? Comments 
included: 
 
Staff 

 More staff at busier times. 
 
Service 

 If they had a website, as the GP does. 

 Better in dealing with people with mental illness. 

 Consistency with medication brands. 

 Bigger premises so more stock could be held. 
 
Access 

 It could use first class post. 

 

 
Responses from Sedgefield (n=83) 

Page 133



 

96 
 

 
How often do you 
access local 
pharmacy services 
in your area? 

At least 
once a 
week 
 
 
6% 

Less than 
once a week 
but at least 
monthly 
 
65% 

Around 
every 
few 
months 
 
24% 

Around 
every six 
months 
 
 
2% 

Around 
once a 
year 
 
 
1% 

Less than  
once a 
year 
 
 
1% 

Never 
 
 
 
 
0% 

 

Do you always visit 
the same pharmacy 
service? 

Always 
 
63% 

Usually 
 
31% 

No 
 
6% 

 

Can you easily 
access pharmacy 
services? 

Yes 
 
95% 

No 
 
4% 

Don’t know / NA 
 
1% 

 

Thinking about the 
pharmacy service 
you visit most 
often, how do you 
normally get there? 

On foot 
 
47% 

Public transport 
 
1% 

Car or taxi 
 
48% 

Other 
 
4% 

 

What type of 
pharmacy service 
is it? 
 

Community 
Pharmacy 
69% 

GP Practice 
 
25% 

Internet pharmacy 
service 
4% 

Other 
 
2% 

 

What does your pharmacy or GP practice dispensary do well? Comments included:  
 
Staff 

 Pharmacist excellent and happy to do consultations and give advice. 

 Friendly, helpful, knowledgeable service from staff.  
 
Service 

 Good service.  

 Advice, flu vaccines, well stocked.  

 Have the prescription ready for collection. 

 Helpful when medication was very difficult to get. 

 Prescriptions, flu jab, help getting Covid-19 LFTs. 

 Excellent repeat prescription service. 

 Well- linked with GP’s. 

 Sort things out when need medication with short notice. 

 Provides good service in my village for the basic needs. 

 Keeping me informed and up to date with any changes. 
 

Access 

 Delivery service.  

 Good opening times, friendly service. 

 Convenience and flexibility. 
 

Are there any other services you would like to access from your local pharmacy or GP practice 
dispensary? Comments included: 
 

 Weight management clinic possibly. 

 Already offers free blood pressure checks, would benefit from blood sugar checks for diabetes. 

 Flu jabs. 

 Covid-19 vaccinations. 

Page 134



 

97 
 

Is there any way your pharmacy or GP practice dispensary could be improved? Comments 
included: 
 
Staff 

 More staff. 

 Staff to be friendly. 
 
Service 

 Give out my address to all that can hear. 

 Explanation of the prescriptions. 

 It is not uncommon for my prescription to be "lost" in the IT system linking the GP and the 
pharmacy. 

 Larger premises to accommodate growing demands and service expansion. 

 Dispensing NHS prescriptions correctly and in a timely manner. 

 Inform me when my prescription is ready. 

 We order direct from the pharmacy.  Sometimes we get additional items which we have 
specifically advised are not required. The items are returned but I understand that once dispensed 
they are destroyed which is a waste of money to the NHS & taxpayers. 

 Consistency in stocking. 
 
Access 

 Open for more than 5 days per week.  

 Parking. 

 Extended opening hours so people who work full time can access the service. 
 

 

Responses from Durham (n=126) 
 

How often do you 
access local 
pharmacy services 
in your area? 

At least 
once a 
week 
 
 
6% 

Less than 
once a week 
but at least 
monthly 
 
47% 

Around 
every 
few 
months 
 
32% 

Around 
every six 
months 
 
 
6% 

Around 
once a 
year 
 
 
3% 

Less than  
once a 
year 
 
 
5% 

Never 
 
 
 
 
2% 

 

Do you always visit 
the same pharmacy 
service? 

Always 
 
49% 

Usually 
 
39% 

No 
 
12% 

 

Can you easily 
access pharmacy 
services? 

Yes 
 
87% 

No 
 
11% 

Don’t know / NA 
 
2% 

 

Thinking about the 
pharmacy service 
you visit most 
often, how do you 
normally get there? 

On foot 
 
54% 

Public transport 
 
3% 

Car or taxi 
 
40% 

Other 
 
3% 

 

What type of 
pharmacy service 
is it? 
 

Community 
Pharmacy 
83% 

GP Practice 
 
12% 

Internet pharmacy 
service 
3% 

Other 
 
2% 

 

What does your pharmacy or GP practice dispensary do well? Comments included:  
 
Staff  

 Providing advice / consultations. 

 Friendly, reliable, and welcoming staff and knowledgeable. 

Page 135



 

98 
 

 Customer service and communication.  
 
Service  

 Dispensing prescriptions, delivering and advising on updates. 

 Dealing with electronic prescriptions from the GP, and with repeats. Flu vaccines and Covid-19 
vaccines. BP checks. 

 Reminds me to re-order my medication and delivers it efficiently tells me when my tablets are 
ready by text.  

 Provides an excellent re-ordering service via the internet. 

 Convenient opening hours, reliable brand, efficient and friendly service. 

 Carry out tests, do injections and discuss problems in a small private cabin.  

 Attentive to the community's needs and make themselves part of the community so they 
understand their role and the priorities of the local area. 

 Good range of products. 

 I order repeat prescriptions through NHS App - and there is an arrangement in place that GP 
surgery forwards prescription to specific pharmacy who text me when it is ready for collection. 
System has worked well for me. 

 Sending messages when prescription is ready. 
 

Access 

 Convenient location. 

 Prompt service on site. 

 Easy to see the pharmacist for advice. 
  

Are there any other services you would like to access from your local pharmacy or GP practice 
dispensary? Comments included: 
 

 Testing services. 

 Dietary counselling advice. 

 Access to PrEP and anonymous STI/ HIV testing kits. 

 A doctor attached to the pharmacy would be a nice idea. 

 Health checks but staffing levels would need to increase as my local pharmacy wouldn't cope with 
the demands of any additional services.  

 Covid-19 vaccinations.  

 Larger range of injections. 

 Could repeat prescriptions be ordered through the pharmacy to save on GP practice time? 

 Flu vaccination. 

 Delivery to home addresses. 

 Free contraception for adults. 
 

Is there any way your pharmacy or GP practice dispensary could be improved? Comments 
included: 
 
Staff 

 More pharmacists.  

 More staff. 
 
Service 

 Sometimes they get my prescriptions muddled up and they are not always processed together. 

 A better stock of everyday medicines. 

 Having LFT kits available. 

 Cheaper brands.  

 Covid-19 booster injections in the pharmacy - organisation was chaotic and booking times 
ignored. 

 Often not having the items prescribed and return visits necessary. 
 

Access 

 The access through the website is dreadful.  

Page 136



 

99 
 

 Make a shorter time between submitting prescription request and receiving it. 

 Delivery of items. 

 Sometimes very long wait times. 

 Better arrangements for queuing. 

 Improve waiting time.  

 Open at weekend or longer hours. 

 Be within walking distance.  

 We just don't have enough. None in Langley Moor or Crossgate Moor so have to go to town. 

 There is none in easy walking distance of Merryoaks or Neville’s Cross.  

 More local.  

 My regular pharmacy at Boots, North Road is about to close, and I’d like to see it remain open. 
  

 

Responses from Chester-le-Street (n=37) 
 

How often do you 
access local 
pharmacy services 
in your area? 

At least 
once a 
week 
 
 
3% 

Less than 
once a week 
but at least 
monthly 
 
51% 

Around 
every 
few 
months 
 
30% 

Around 
every six 
months 
 
 
5% 

Around 
once a 
year 
 
 
8% 

Less than  
once a 
year 
 
 
0% 

Never 
 
 
 
 
1% 

 

Do you always visit 
the same pharmacy 
service? 

Always 
 
58% 

Usually 
 
36% 

No 
 
6% 

 

Can you easily 
access pharmacy 
services? 

Yes 
 
97% 

No 
 
3% 

Don’t know / NA 
 
0% 

 

Thinking about the 
pharmacy service 
you visit most 
often, how do you 
normally get there? 

On foot 
 
51% 

Public transport 
 
0% 

Car or taxi 
 
46% 

Other 
 
3% 

 

What type of 
pharmacy service 
is it? 
 

Community 
Pharmacy 
50% 

GP Practice 
 
47% 

Internet pharmacy 
service 
3% 

Other 
 
0% 

 
 

What does your pharmacy or GP practice dispensary do well? Comments included: 
 
Staff 

 Polite staff. 

 Extremely helpful and knowledgeable. 

 Customer service.  
 
Service 

 My GP can send prescriptions directly to my pharmacy.      

 Dispensing. 

 Repeat prescriptions.  

 Texts received informing me prescription ready for collection.  
 
Access 

 Quick process. 

 Linked to GP surgery next door. 

Page 137



 

100 
 

 Delivery of prescriptions. 
     

Are there any other services you would like to access from your local pharmacy or GP practice 
dispensary? Comments included: 
 

 Immunisations. 

 Covid-19 jabs. 
 

Is there any way your pharmacy or GP practice dispensary could be improved? Comments 
included: 
 
Service 

 Too small for the community served there is no space inside shop. 

 Need to have prescriptions ready, to avoid waiting. 

 Dislike giving address's when people in chemist. 

 Improve the wait time until collection is possible i.e. under a week. 

 We would like to receive texts when our prescriptions are ready for collecting. 

 Digital notification when prescription ready to collect. 

 Website. 
 
Access 

 Open on weekends or longer hours. 
      

 
Responses during the statutory 60-day consultation in the summer 2022 

National guidance 
Regulation 8 of the 2013 Regulations describe the process of PNA consultation (Appendix 
1). The 2013 Regulations require a report of the consultation to be included in the final 
version of the PNA.  
 
The Durham County Council public consultation  
The statutory 60-day public consultation ran from 16 May to 14 July at 
https://www.durham.gov.uk/consultation.  
 
Responses to the consultation were received via email to pnaconsultation@durham.gov.uk 
or via an online questionnaire aimed at either County Durham residents; or organisations / 
groups, health care professionals or other. 
 

Comments received from County Durham residents 
The online questionnaire asked the following questions of County Durham residents 
(reflecting the Community Champion survey conducted in January 2022): 

1. How often do you use a pharmacy service?  
2. Do you use the same pharmacy service?  
3. What type of pharmacy service do you use the most?  
4. Can you easily access pharmacy services?  
5. Thinking about the pharmacy service you use most often, how do you normally get 

there (if applicable)?  
6. What does your pharmacy service do well?  
7. Are there any other services you would like to access from your pharmacy service? 
8. Is there any way your pharmacy service could be improved? 
9. In which of the following local areas do you live? 

 Dales (Bishop Auckland, Crook, Teesdale, Weardale) 

 Easington (Peterlee, Seaham, Horden) 

 Derwentside (Consett, Stanley, Lanchester) 

 Sedgefield (Newton Aycliffe, Spennymoor, Ferryhill, Shildon) 

Page 138

https://www.durham.gov.uk/consultation
pnaconsultation@durham.gov.uk%20


 

101 
 

 Durham (Sherburn, Belmont, Bowburn, Coxhoe, Meadowfield) 

 Chester-le-Street (Pelton, Sacriston, Fencehouses)  

 Don’t know / none of these 
 
The following answers were received from a total of 333 County Durham responses:96 
 
Responses from across County Durham (n=333) 
 

How often do you 
use pharmacy 
services in your 
area? 

At least 
once a 
week 
 
 
31% 

Less than 
once a week 
but at least 
monthly 
 
62% 

Around 
every 
few 
months 
 
23% 

Around 
every six 
months 
 
 
2% 

Around 
once a 
year 
 
 
3% 

Less than  
once a 
year 
 
 
1% 

Never 
 
 
 
 
1% 

 

Do you always visit 
the same pharmacy 
service? 

Always 
 
55% 

Usually 
 
40% 

No 
 
5% 

 

Can you easily 
access pharmacy 
services? 

Yes 
 
91% 

No 
 
8% 

Don’t know / NA 
 
2% 

 

Thinking about the 
pharmacy service 
you use most often, 
how do you 
normally get there? 

On foot 
 
31% 

Public transport 
 
2% 

Car or taxi 
 
59% 

Other 
 
5% 

Not applicable  
 
3% 

 

What type of 
pharmacy service 
is it? 
 

Community 
Pharmacy 
 
67% 

GP Practice 
 
 
29% 

Internet pharmacy 
service 
 
2% 

Other 
 
 
2% 

 
Responses from the Dales (n=55) 
 

How often do you 
use pharmacy 
services in your 
area? 

At least 
once a 
week 
 
 
6% 

Less than 
once a week 
but at least 
monthly 
 
66% 

Around 
every 
few 
months 
 
24% 

Around 
every six 
months 
 
 
0% 

Around 
once a 
year 
 
 
2% 

Less than  
once a 
year 
 
 
4% 

Never 
 
 
 
 
0% 

 

Do you always visit 
the same pharmacy 
service? 

Always 
 
46% 

Usually 
 
44% 

No 
 
9% 

 

Can you easily 
access pharmacy 
services? 

Yes 
 
86% 

No 
 
15% 

Don’t know / NA 
 
0% 

 

Thinking about the 
pharmacy service 
you use most often, 

On foot 
 
32% 

Public transport 
 
0% 

Car or taxi 
 
62% 

Other 
 
4% 

Not applicable  
 
2% 

                                            
96Individual comments on named pharmacies have been removed and fed back to CPCD. Comments 
that are relevant to the scope of PNA have been considered.  
  

Page 139



 

102 
 

how do you 
normally get there? 

 

What type of 
pharmacy service 
is it? 
 

Community 
Pharmacy 
 
64% 

GP Practice 
 
33% 

Internet pharmacy 
service 
 
4% 

Other 
 
 
0% 

 

What does your pharmacy or GP practice dispensary do well? Comments included:  
 

Staff 

 Polite, gets stock in next day, open long hours. 

 The staff are nice, the prescriptions are correct most the time. 

 Late night openings. 

 Helpful advice. 

 Good customer relations since staff know their customers. Sometimes prescription is not ready 
despite having received an email.  Staff helpful and tell customers information re their 
prescriptions if it is a new one. 

 It dispenses the prescriptions very promptly.  The pharmacist is available for advice if needed. 

 Friendly, efficient, easy. 

 The community pharmacist is great, quite well stocked, friendly, knowledgeable and efficient. 
 

Service 

 Always has the medication, friendly, professional and approachable. 

 Quick service. 

 Dispense my monthly prescription. 

 Liaise with my consultant as required because every prescription lately has been to order as 
out of stock or required an alternative. 

 Checks out minor injuries, infections etc and recommends treatment.  Brilliant pharmacist. 

 Rapid dispensing of scrips from an online request. 

 Delivery.  Prescriptions done quickly. 

 Always have items in stock, unlike others that take your prescription and then say “sorry, can 
you come back tomorrow”. 

 Home delivery. 

 Reorders taken on collection of current order. 

 Providing prescribed medication.  

 Repeat prescription service. 

 You can order online. 

 All services are provided well. 

 Gives advice on the medications prescribed by doctors, minor ailments.  If medication 
becomes unavailable from one supplier they will try to obtain it elsewhere. 

 Answers questions about over the counter medicines. Helping to make it unnecessary for me 
to take up GP time. 
 

Access 

 Easy to access and timely. 

 Located in GP practice. 

 Local. 

 Opening times and days. 

 Gets things in quickly, open very late, open on Sundays. 

 They are close to our GP and home. 
 

Are there any other services you would like to access from your local pharmacy or GP practice 
dispensary? Comments included: 
 

 Access to information particularly for new medicines and medication reviews. 
 All prescription available first time. 
 I would like to be able to buy over the counter items. 

Page 140



 

103 
 

 The required prescription i.e. right dosage or brand without required amendments from 
consultant. 

 More services ie weight loss. 
 Full consultations. 
 Nurse practitioner in the pharmacy. 
 Delivery service. 
 Text message notifications. 
 OTC clinical service, vaccination, telephone / online advice. 
 Be good to have BP checks, cholesterol checks, general health promotion. 
 Lunchtime opening. 
 The GP pharmacy needs to be massively improved e.g. telephone prescription reorders instated; 

more staff; much better communication. 
 

Is there any way your pharmacy or GP practice dispensary could be improved? Comments 
included: 
 
Staff 

 Staff to be more respectful of customers and not shout out your first name for all to hear when 
dispensing a prescription. 

 Missing items, confused staff, long waits and unprofessional attitudes… they act like you are 
buying sweets and it’s not serious or essential, not like this is something you depend on to stay 
alive. Everything is ‘not their problem’. 

 More friendly / regular pharmacist. 

 Maybe more use of the confidential area - I don't always want everyone in the pharmacy to hear 
what I am saying if I have a problem to discuss.  There is an area (I think) but it isn't really offered 
or used. 

 Better customer service. 

 More staff. 
 
Service 

 Very expensive and sparce stock, slow prescription services. 

 It is very disorganised with poor communication. 

 No information is given when medicines are handed across the counter. As this is from a 
dispensary in a GP surgery and done at the main reception desk there is no confidential area to 
give or receive information. 

 Have prescription fulfilled first time. 

 Not closing for an hour and a half for lunch, holding more stock. 

 Increase size of the shop for space and to sell more too. 

 The online request service sometimes does not work and when I've relied on this in the past, it is 
not unusual for the pharmacist to say they have no knowledge of this.   

 Delivery service. And I have opted for a private delivery service, which is cheaper then go and 
delivered. 

 Yes, have prescriptions ready for collection on Fridays when they were put in at the doctors on a 
Friday. 

 Everything: process, efficiency, dispensing, OTC services. 

 GP dispensary must be improved. Especially communication, information, waiting times and 
opening hours. Telephone prescription reorders must be reinstated. 

 
Access 

 Longer opening hours including weekends. 

 Be open more hours - it is only part time. 

 Yes, village pharmacy to have same opening times as GP surgery. Also open on a Saturday. 

 Late opening 1 night a week. 

 Remain open through lunch hours. 

 The return of Boots in Newgate Street, Bishop Auckland, would be a wonderful thing. I realise this 
is not going to happen, but that was the pharmacy I accessed most easily and used most often.  
  

 

Responses from Easington (n=30) 

Page 141



 

104 
 

How often do you 
use pharmacy 
services in your 
area? 

At least 
once a 
week 
 
 
13% 

Less than 
once a week 
but at least 
monthly 
 
63% 

Around 
every 
few 
months 
 
23% 

Around 
every six 
months 
 
 
0% 

Around 
once a 
year 
 
 
0% 

Less than  
once a 
year 
 
 
0% 

Never 
 
 
 
 
0% 

 

Do you always visit 
the same pharmacy 
service? 

Always 
 
47% 

Usually 
 
50% 

No 
 
3% 

 

Can you easily 
access pharmacy 
services? 

Yes 
 
90% 

No 
 
7% 

Don’t know / NA 
 
3% 

 

Thinking about the 
pharmacy service 
you use most often, 
how do you 
normally get there? 

On foot 
 
17% 

Public transport 
 
7% 

Car or taxi 
 
67% 

Other 
 
7% 

Not applicable  
 
3% 

 

What type of 
pharmacy service 
is it? 
 

Community 
Pharmacy 
 
53% 

GP Practice 
 
 
37% 

Internet pharmacy 
service 
 
0% 

Other 
 
 
10% 

 

What does your pharmacy or GP practice dispensary do well? Comments included:  
 
Staff 

 Friendly staff who know you by name, they give a personal service and I feel confident in asking 
them discreet question. 

 Friendly, polite staff and very informative. Quick service. 

 Works quickly. 

 Good customer service. 

 Very knowledgeable pharmacists and other staff. 
 

Service 

 Rings regional hospital to chase up prescription. 

 Text when i can pick up, flu jab when doctors could not, friendly helpful staff. 

 They are good at ensuring that my son's medication is available for him.  Additionally, I used a 
different pharmacy for my Covid booster and the service was excellent. 

 Fast and reliable service, good advice when needed. 

 Help with problems when you can’t get in to see a doctor. 

 Text when prescription is ready to collect. 

 Flu jabs, good advice, prompt service. 

 Local so knows the patients. 

 Very efficient, delivering prescriptions. 

 Always there for help if needed. Also helped me with medication when I have ran out and waiting 
for my prescription to come from doctors. 

 Having prescriptions sent from the doctors ready on time. Giving good advice when needed, a 
fantastic service. 

 Delivers prescriptions promptly and for no charge. You can also ring and speak to the pharmacist 
at any time. 

 Advice, consultations on minor ailments, recommending over the counter medication - often a 
cheaper option, flu jabs, dispensing. 

 I do think pharmacies have offered an excellent service throughout and are now often the go to 
service for information. 

 
Access 

Page 142



 

105 
 

 It provides a service situated in GP practice. 

 Good opening times. 
 

Are there any other services you would like to access from your local pharmacy or GP practice 
dispensary? Comments included: 
 

 Vaccinations. 

 Covid jab, antibiotic creams & pills as seeing GP quickly is next to impossible. 

 Minor ailments free treatments. 

 Blood tests. 

 Blood pressure and similar. 

 Maybe more stop smoking resources/advice etc. 

 More consultations and access to health services to be able to by-pass the GP surgery, unless 
severe illness.  
        

Is there any way your pharmacy or GP practice dispensary could be improved? Comments 
included: 
 
Service 

 The prescription service across the region is in meltdown in my experience. My hospital led team 
now take over direct management of critical meds. Dispatched from hospital pharmacy with follow 
up calls to ensure I'm not left without full prescription or missing items. 

 Free medication delivery if needed. 

 Prescribing drugs. 

 Two GP surgeries next to each other and the pharmacy is not really big enough. 

 Sometimes doesn't have items in stock. 

 Less delay between requests for medication and dispensing. 

 Commission more services from pharmacies - they run very efficiently, are accessible, really enjoy 
helping people and supporting health improvement and prevention of ill health, they break down 
barriers that GP practices create.  But don't overload them - always make sure new services are 
resourced properly.  Take pressure off GPs to allow them to look after those that need the most 
help. 

 All medicines available from one pharmacy would be helpful. Rarely get a full prescription without 
return trips. 
 

Access 

 Having a late night service. 

 Parking outside shop. 

 Only open Mon - Fri when surgery is open. 

 Be open on a Saturday. 
 

 

Responses from Derwentside (n=50) 
 

How often do you 
use pharmacy 
services in your 
area? 

At least 
once a 
week 
 
 
16% 

Less than 
once a week 
but at least 
monthly 
 
66% 

Around 
every 
few 
months 
 
12% 

Around 
every six 
months 
 
 
4% 

Around 
once a 
year 
 
 
2% 

Less than  
once a 
year 
 
 
0% 

Never 
 
 
 
 
0% 

 

Do you always visit 
the same pharmacy 
service? 

Always 
 
62% 

Usually 
 
34% 

No 
 
4% 

 

Can you easily 
access pharmacy 
services? 

Yes 
 
88% 

No 
 
12% 

Don’t know / NA 
 
0% 

Page 143



 

106 
 

 

Thinking about the 
pharmacy service 
you use most often, 
how do you 
normally get there? 

On foot 
 
28% 

Public transport 
 
6% 

Car or taxi 
 
54% 

Other 
 
4% 

Not applicable  
 
8% 

 
 

What type of 
pharmacy service 
is it? 
 

Community 
Pharmacy 
 
76% 

GP Practice 
 
 
24% 

Internet pharmacy 
service 
 
0% 

Other 
 
 
0% 

 
 

What does your pharmacy or GP practice dispensary do well? Comments included:  
 
Staff 

 Helpful, friendly, knowledgeable. 

 Listens to concerns and supports my needs. 

 Friendly, very helpful. 

 Efficient staff. Knowledgeable.  Inform me of services they give such as vaccines to help the 
doctors. 

 
Service 

 Efficient and helpful. 

 Provides prescribed medicines quite promptly and often quickly. 

 Provide medication quickly. 

 Deliver prescriptions. 

 Delivers prescriptions and offers advice over phone. 

 Contacts me by text when my repeat prescription is ready to collect. 

 Stock what is needed. 

 It’s near the doctors and accepts electronic prescriptions usually available quicker. 

 Everything from dispensing prescriptions to giving excellent advice. 

 Also good at advising if I need to check anything with my GP. 

 They ensure my prescriptions are filled and that I have all my medicines. 

 Access to flu jab. 

 Click and collect. 

 Provides medication which meets my intolerance needs. 
 
Access 

 Open 7 days/week. 

 It’s local. 
 

Are there any other services you would like to access from your local pharmacy or GP practice 
dispensary? Comments included: 
 

 Prescribing for minor ailments. 

 Repeat prescription without need of GP appointment. 

 Home delivery. 

 Vaccination. 

 Urine testing for suspected infections. Vaccines. 

 Pharmacist who could prescribe medication. 

 Minor ailment clinics so GP appointments aren’t taken up. Health checks etc 

 Over the counter medicines. I have to purchase safety lancets and test strips as my GP surgery 
don’t provide free for type 2 diabetics. 

 Flu vaccine. 

 Review of medications. 
 

Page 144



 

107 
 

Is there any way your pharmacy or GP practice dispensary could be improved? Comments 
included: 
 
Staff 

 Better customer service. 

 Yes, could be polite and more efficient. 
 
Service 

 Multiple issues around not having medicines. 

 Improved waiting times, medicines being processed more quickly, stock for standard medicines 
being replaced more quickly. 

 Improve stock availability and have prescriptions dispensed ready for collection. 

 Faster service. 

 Expanded product range. 

 The pharmacy is very busy for a rising population with a lot of elderly people. Can seem a bit 
disorganised at times.  

 Prescriptions to be ready when they are meant to be. They are never ready, always have to wait 
at least 30 minutes or return later. 

 Waiting for chemists to be able to source supplies. 

 Accurate knowledge of compatibility when prescribing a new medicine.  

 Could let you know when prescriptions are ready to collect either by email or text. 

 Have the drugs available and dispense in a timely manner. Two hours for lunch is unacceptable 
as no prescriptions can be dispensed. 

 Have sessions where a nurse was available for blood tests and screening services. 

 Better communication when ordering in meds, offering more support to minor ailments. 

 Open on time and be quicker to service. 

 They could stock the necessary diabetic needs. 

 Provide access to care home residents. 
 
Access 

 One later night and somewhere open on a Saturday morning. It's really hard to get there without 
taking time off from work. 

 Unfortunately, the pharmacy closes over lunchtime anytime between 1200- 1430. It would be 
handy if this was identified as you enter the building, rather than waiting to be seen then to be told 
to come back later. 

 Open on Saturday or a late evening once a week. 
 

 
Responses from Sedgefield (n=37) 
 

How often do you 
use pharmacy 
services in your 
area? 

At least 
once a 
week 
 
 
 
8% 

Less than 
once a 
week but at 
least 
monthly 
 
73% 

Around 
every 
few 
months 
 
 
16% 

Around 
every six 
months 
 
 
 
0% 

Around 
once a 
year 
 
 
 
0% 

Less than  
once a 
year 
 
 
 
0% 

Never 
 
 
 
 
 
3% 

 

Do you always visit 
the same pharmacy 
service? 

Always 
 
64% 

Usually 
 
36% 

No 
 
0% 

 

Can you easily 
access pharmacy 
services? 

Yes 
 
100% 

No 
 
0% 

Don’t know / NA 
 
0% 

 

Thinking about the 
pharmacy service 

On foot 
 

Public transport 
 

Car or taxi 
 

Other 
 

Not applicable  
 

Page 145



 

108 
 

you use most often, 
how do you 
normally get there? 

33% 0% 61% 46 0% 

 

What type of 
pharmacy service 
is it? 
 

Community 
Pharmacy 
 
69% 

GP Practice 
 
 
31% 

Internet pharmacy 
service 
 
0% 

Other 
 
 
0% 

 

What does your pharmacy or GP practice dispensary do well? Comments included:  
 
Staff 

 Customer service. 

 The employees are always very pleasant, helpful and go the extra mile to give satisfaction. 

 Friendly, professional, helpful staff. 

 Informative and helpful. 

 Talking to you. 

 Good customer service, very helpful, and they can't do enough for you. 

 Efficient. 

 Gives good advice. 

 Talk to you. 
 
Service 

 Always has medicines in stock as requested. 

 Helpful with obscure prescription. 

 Delivers my prescriptions. 

 They work closely with doctors surgery. 

 Have my prescription ready a day after I ring for repeat dispensing. 

 Sourcing the medication required. 

 Send me a text message when my medication is ready to collect. 

 Very well organised and efficient. 
 

Access 

 Opening hours, easy access and helpful staff 
 

Are there any other services you would like to access from your local pharmacy or GP practice 
dispensary? Comments included: 
 

 Alternative remedies. Holistic remedies. 

 The CCG should allow the pharmacy to order repeat prescriptions as they did previously, I found it 
to be more convenient and reduced the number of prescriptions I needed. 

 Water infection screening. 
 

Is there any way your pharmacy or GP practice dispensary could be improved? Comments 
included: 
 
Staff 

 More staff. 
 

Service 

 Faster prescription from GP to pharmacy. 

 Not wait as long. 

 Separate the drug dependency bit. 

 Communication isn’t great, due to pressure they face prescriptions are delayed, not ready for 
collection. 

 Better confidentiality.  

Page 146



 

109 
 

 Pharmacies are more focused on MURs and NMS and this is taking the focus off the patient as 
they just want to get you in that consultation room and that is taking the pharmacist away from 
being more accessible. 
 

Access 

 Longer opening hours.  

 Bigger premises. 

 Saturday opening if possible. 
 

 
Responses from Durham (n=47) 
 

How often do you 
use pharmacy 
service in your 
area? 

At least 
once a 
week 
 
 
9% 

Less than 
once a week 
but at least 
monthly 
 
57% 

Around 
every 
few 
months 
 
32% 

Around 
every six 
months 
 
 
0% 

Around 
once a 
year 
 
 
2% 

Less than  
once a 
year 
 
 
0% 

Never 
 
 
 
 
0% 

 

Do you always visit 
the same pharmacy 
service? 

Always 
 
36% 

Usually 
 
60% 

No 
 
4% 

 

Can you easily 
access pharmacy 
services? 

Yes 
 
89% 

No 
 
9% 

Don’t know / NA 
 
2% 

 

Thinking about the 
pharmacy service 
you use most often, 
how do you 
normally get there? 

On foot 
 
30% 

Public transport 
 
2% 

Car or taxi 
 
63% 

Other 
 
2% 

Not applicable  
 
2% 

 

What type of 
pharmacy service 
is it? 
 

Community 
Pharmacy 
 
85% 

GP Practice 
 
 
11% 

Internet pharmacy 
service 
 
2% 

Other 
 
 
2% 

 
 

What does your pharmacy or GP practice dispensary do well? Comments included:  
 
Staff  

 Pharmacist available with advice.    

 Polite staff. 

 Good reliable and friendly staff. 

 Always helpful. 

 Good customer service. 
 
Service  

 informing you when your prescription is ready to collect so as to not waste any time. 

 Gives good advice on medical problems that I don't need to trouble a doctor with. Gets my 
medication correct every time. 

 Provides vaccinations and annual flu jabs. 

 Repeat prescriptions. 

 Dispense medication. 

 Delivery service for vulnerable. 

 Helps advise on conditions. 

 Short waiting time. 

Page 147



 

110 
 

 Very good at discussing medicines and what to expect or suggesting what to use. 

 Online services. 

 Personal service. 

 Caring and know me. 
 

Access 

 Is open 6 days/week. 

 Evening opening. 

 Open on Saturdays. 

 Good opening hours. 

 Good mix in Durham area. 
 

Are there any other services you would like to access from your local pharmacy or GP practice 
dispensary? Comments included: 
 

 Delivery service. 

 Medicines that sometimes need a doctor’s prescription. 

 Regular BP screening, weight checks and dietary support. 

 Publicise the consultancy service with better more private consultancy area. 

 Be able to get an alternative if prescribed medication is unavailable. 

 More GP type services like medication review.  

 Ear infection advice, urine infection detection. 

 Flu/Covid jabs, jabs for travel. 

 To reopen on a Saturday or to do a late evening. 

 Health checks and blood checks. 
 

Is there any way your pharmacy or GP practice dispensary could be improved? Comments 
included: 
 
Staff 

 Staff to be more efficient and courteous. 

 More staff. 
 
Service 

 Speed up their processes. Not having to have a pharmacist on premises to hand over your meds. 

 Better at getting prescriptions correct. 

 Faster services. 

 More stocked goods. 

 Be able to pass prescriptions between pharmacies so you can gets meds on time. 

 Answering the telephone. 

 Faster ordered prescription turnaround. 

 When you try to redeem your script the chemist may not have the meds and it’s almost impossible 
to transfer the script to another chemist. 

 
Access 

 If you need to access 111 for medications at weekends it becomes problematic as they can only 
send a script to very few chemists and they may be quite far away from you.  

 Out of hours service. 

 Larger premises.  

 Better websites with clear information e.g. opening times etc. 

 Better opening hours including Saturdays. 

 Late evening openings. 

 

Responses from Chester-le-Street (n=54) 
 

How often do you 
use pharmacy 

At least 
once a 
week 

Less than 
once a week 

Around 
every 

Around 
every six 
months 

Around 
once a 
year 

Less than  
once a 
year 

Never 
 
 

Page 148



 

111 
 

services in your 
area? 

 
 
2% 

but at least 
monthly 
 
61% 

few 
months 
 
26% 

 
 
4% 

 
 
6% 

 
 
2% 

 
 
0% 

 

Do you always visit 
the same pharmacy 
service? 

Always 
 
57% 

Usually 
 
37% 

No 
 
6% 

 

Can you easily 
access pharmacy 
services? 

Yes 
 
91% 

No 
 
7% 

Don’t know / NA 
 
2% 

 

Thinking about the 
pharmacy service 
you use most often, 
how do you 
normally get there? 

On foot 
 
33% 

Public transport 
 
0% 

Car or taxi 
 
56% 

Other 
 
10% 

Not applicable  
 
2% 

 

What type of 
pharmacy service 
is it? 
 

Community 
Pharmacy 
 
52% 

GP Practice 
 
 
44% 

Internet pharmacy 
service 
 
4% 

Other 
 
 
0% 

 

What does your pharmacy or GP practice dispensary do well? Comments included: 
 
Staff 

 Friendly service. 

 Polite staff. 

 Great knowledge and service from pharmacist. 

 Helps if doctors have forgotten to send prescription, are friendly approachable and professional. 
 

Service 

 Text me when my prescription is ready. 

 Delivers prescription. 

 Attached to the GP so easy following appointments. 

 Quick turnaround of prescriptions. 

 Liaising with GP. 

 My son has ADHD and takes medication which is a controlled drug. They are responsive to his 
needs and make sure we do not go without. My son's prescriptions are delivered to our home as 
balancing full-time work and caring responsibilities mean going out is frequently impractical. 

 Getting medication on time. 

 All routine services I require, including prescription orders through GP, ready next day or so. 

 Reminder service. 

 Delivery of monthly prescriptions. 

 The turnaround from reordering to delivery is generally the next working day. Always pleasant 
delivery driver. 

 Explain how to take medication. 
 

Access 

 Good parking. 

 Convenience of it being next door to the GP. 

 Nearby residential area. 
 

Are there any other services you would like to access from your local pharmacy or GP practice 
dispensary? Comments included: 
 

 Advice and treatment without having to go to GP.  

Page 149



 

112 
 

 Travel injections. 

 Vaccines. I’ve had my flu one there. 
 

Is there any way your pharmacy or GP practice dispensary could be improved? Comments 
included: 
 
Staff 

 More staff. 

 Better customer service from staff. 

 It would be nice to have access to pharmacist for advice instead of just the shop assistant. 
 

Service 

 Faster service. 

 Better stock of medicines.  

 GP surgery will not accept prescription requests by telephone. The online portal works and is 
effective, but is complicated to sign up to.  

 NHS led pharmacy service rather than private organisations. 

 Free delivery of medication. 

 They could take over simple prescriptions and also give advice. 

 Reduce time in sending prescriptions from GP to pharmacies. 

 Better computing system. 

 Quicker at dispensing. 

 Very little over the counter meds stocked due to small premises. 
 
Access 

 Better opening times, longer hours and weekends. 

 Better waiting areas. 

 Larger premises due to the creation of new homes. 

 They should have earlier or longer opening hours for people who work to collect their 
prescriptions. 

 To be able to access the service on a Sunday. Superdrug is open but the pharmacy is not (neither 
are other pharmacies in Chester-le-Street).     

 
Comments received from organisations 

Comments received are described below along with the response from the PNA Steering 
Group (on behalf of the HWB). 
 

Organisation  Summary of comments  PNA Steering Group 
response  

Adults Wellbeing 
and Health 
Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee  

Members welcome input of County 
Durham Healthwatch and the Community 
Champion network and the survey work 
undertaken to gauge the experiences of 
people accessing pharmaceutical services 
in County Durham. 
 
Feedback received from these surveys is 
mostly positive with a high percentage of 
respondents stating that they can easily 
access pharmacy services. 
 
Lack of pharmacy services in certain areas 
is a concern particularly the absence of 
any 100-hour pharmacies, pharmacies 
with core opening hours after 6pm 
weekdays and any with core opening 
hours on a Sunday in the Chester-le-Street 
locality. 

This concern is noted by the 
HWB. 
 
For the Chester-le-Street 
locality, public survey results 
(n=91) indicates that on 
average 94% of residents can 
easily access pharmacy 
services. Pharmacy services 
with evening and Sunday 
opening times are available in 
the near by Durham City and 
Birtley.  
 
Residents in Chester-le-Street 
can access between 1 and 4 
pharmacies within a 20-minute 
walk, and on average over 50 

Page 150



 

113 
 

 
Committee notes and supports the 
statements in the draft PNA. 
 
Whilst outside the scope of the PNA 
process, the Committee would like the 
current supply chain issues raised with 
appropriate bodies including CPCD. 
 

pharmacies within a 20-minute 
drive.  
 

Horden Parish 
Council 

Horden North Ward has a significant 
population with health challenges and no 
pharmacy services within the ward, with 
some residents, particularly the 
"Crossroads Estate" having a significant 
walk to access services. 

This concern is noted by the 
HWB. 
 
For the Easington locality, 
public survey results (n=97) 
indicates that on average 91% 
of residents can easily access 
pharmacy services. 
Residents in Horden North can 
access 2 pharmacies within a 
20-minute walk, and over 40 
pharmacies within a 20-minute 
drive. 
As described in section 4.4, 
residents have a choice of how 
to access pharmaceutical 
services. 
 

Coxhoe Parish 
Council  

Coxhoe Parish Councillors are pleased 
that Coxhoe has a chemist, and they 
would not want to lose it. 
 

 

Community 
Pharmacy County 
Durham 

Information in the PNA  
provide a definite case that no more 
community pharmacies are required to 
secure the adequate provision of 
pharmaceutical services. CPCD fully 
supports the key conclusion that there are 
sufficient pharmaceutical services across 
Co Durham. For clarity and consistency 
this statement should be included in the 
PNA 2022. 
 
CPCD notes that in paragraph 3.3.2 the 
draft PNA states CPCD should encourage 
as many pharmacies as possible to 
provide the following services: 
•   Influenza vaccination service 
•   Hypertension case finding service 
•   Discharge smoking service 
One of CPCD’s roles is to make 
pharmacies aware of the community 
pharmacy services that are commissioned, 
either locally or nationally, and to support 
those pharmacies which wish 
to sign up to, and provide, those services. 
Pharmacies will make a decision to 
engage based on their own individual 
circumstances. 
With regards to providing the influenza 
vaccination service, County Durham 

The HWB notes the comments 
on the influenza vaccination 
service. A more equitable 
provision across County 
Durham is encouraged where 
appropriate.  
 
Summary of changes made to 
the PNA: 
 
Statement of sufficient 
pharmaceutical services across 
County Durham included in 
Executive Summary.  
 
In paragraph 3.3.2 a 
recognition that pharmacies 
will make a decision to engage 
in services based on their own 
individual circumstances. 
 
Section added describing 
information on forthcoming 
pharmaceutical services. 
 
 

Page 151



 

114 
 

pharmacies have been willing and very 
active providers, a pattern which has 
continued with the Covid vaccination 
service since 2020. 
As at 20 June 2022, 48% of County 
Durham pharmacies have signed up to 
provide the hypertension case finding 
service. 
Community pharmacy activity under the 
Discharge Smoking Services relies on 
referrals to pharmacy from Trusts. 
Currently, the Trusts have not had chance 
to implement the necessary processes to 
facilitate referrals. When this happens, and 
referrals are frequent and in sufficient 
numbers, it is anticipated that more 
pharmacies will register as providers. 
 
Add an additional section which includes 
information about forthcoming services. 
 

Boots UK Limited  Recent changes in opening hours of a 
number of Boots pharmacies have not 
been reflected in the draft PNA. 
 
Remove significant from section 4.1.1 
description of Newgate Street, Bishop 
Auckland Boots pharmacy closure. 
 

Opening hours in Appendix 8 
checked (reflects information 
provided by NHS in October 
2021, with subsequent 
changes up to May 2022).  
 
Wording altered for 
consistency in section 4.1.1. 
 

Deerness Valley 
Nursery  

There is only one pharmacy in Ushaw 
Moor for Ushaw Moor, New Brancepeth, 
Bearpark, Broompark 
 
Provision of healthy start vitamins by 
pharmacies.  

This concern is noted by the 
HWB. 
 
For the Durham locality, public 
survey results (n=173) 
indicates that on average 88% 
of residents can easily access 
pharmacy services. 
Residents in this area have 
access to Ushaw Moor 
Pharmacy and over 70 
pharmacies within a 20-minute 
drive. 
As described in section 4.4, 
residents have a choice of how 
to access pharmaceutical 
services. 
 
In 2022, a locally 
commissioned pharmacy 
service to supply healthy start 
vitamins is being considered. 
 

 
 
 

Page 152



 

115 
 

Appendix 10: Housing developments in County Durham of 100 properties or more, and with estimated builds by 202597  

 

Site name Settlement Total no 
of units 

Total 
completed   

Total left 
to build  

Estimated 
number of 
houses that 
will be built by 
2025-26 

Pharmacies 
within a 20-
minute drive 
time  

Pharmacies 
within a 20-
minute walk 
time  

Dales 

Brack’s Farm Bishop Auckland  300 96 204 150 69 0 

Land south of Douglas Crescent, 
Auckland Park 

Bishop Auckland 500 94 406 200  68 0 

Former Cemex site St Helen Auckland  100 17 83 83 58 4 

Land north of Woodhouses Farm 
and south of Etherley Moor 
Wigdan Walls Road 

Etherley Dene  234 0 234 140 59 0 

High Riggs (land adjacent 
Darlington Road) 

Barnard Castle  107 60 47 47 16 2 

Land east of Deerbolt HMYOI and 
north of Bowes Road, Startforth 

Barnard Castle  162 58 104 104 13 1 

H22 - High West Road Crook  250 0 250 85 59 4 

Former Riding Carpets site Willington 213 155 58 58 79 1 

Easington 

Low Hills (land between 
Easington and Peterlee) 

Peterlee 900 0 900 90 57 1 

Land west of Blackhall Cemetery 
and south of Hesleden Road 

Blackhall Colliery  123 0 123 123 50 2 

Field to the south of Wayside, 
Wingate Lane 

Wheatley hill  106 98 8 8 78 1 

Land South of A182, Seaham Countryside - East 
Durham 

1500 0 1500 
180 36 0 

Land south-east of Stewart Drive Wingate  250 0 250 125 82 1 

East of Martindale Walk, south of 
Wellfield Road South 

Wingate  166 128 38 
38 48 0 

Derwentside 

Shotley Bridge Hospital Consett – Shotley 
Bridge 

280 207 73 73 30 1 

                                            
97 Information correct October 2021 

P
age 153



 

116 
 

Site name Settlement Total no 
of units 

Total 
completed   

Total left 
to build  

Estimated 
number of 
houses that 
will be built by 
2025-26 

Pharmacies 
within a 20-
minute drive 
time  

Pharmacies 
within a 20-
minute walk 
time  

Land south of Fenwick Way  Consett 319 273 46 46 32 4 

Berry Edge South, off Genesis 
Way 

Consett 406 59 347 150 32 3 

Former Explorer Group Delves 
Lane Dales View 

Delves Lane 
227 194 33 

 
33 

40 4 

Middles Farm Village Craghead 296 230 66 66 54 2 

Land north-east of Annfield Auto 
Services Residential Development 
Site, Shieldrow Lane 

New Kyo 102 66 36 
36 54 2 

Sedgefield 

Land east of Clare Lodge and 
Durham Road 

Chilton 191 157 34 34 73 1 

Land north of West Chilton 
Terrace 

Chilton 123 0 123 120 78 2 

Whitworth Park Spennymoor 726 582 144 144 75 0 

Black & Decker (Durham Gate)  Spennymoor 279 243 36 36 87 0 

Former Electrolux site, Merrington 
Lane  

Spennymoor 425 0 425 60 78 5 

Thorns Lighting, Merrington Lane Spennymoor 414 351 63 63 83 5 

Land at and to West of K Hartwell 
LTD Butchers, Race Green Lane 
Industrial Estate  

Spennymoor 108 84 24 
 
24 

85 0 

Land south of 100 To 106 Dean 
Road 

Ferryhill 161 0 161 
 
150 

80 3 

Land north of Durham Road, 
Middlestone Moor  

Spennymoor 300 22 278 150 79 0 

Land at Spout Lane Shildon 278 226 52 52 52 1 

H30 - Copelaw Newton Aycliffe  1400 0 1400 170 47 1 

Land north of Middridge Road Newton Aycliffe  256 54 202 
 
200 

61 1 

Site O - Cobblers Hall Newton Aycliffe  175 151 24 24 60 1 

Land at former Sedgefield 
Community Hospital, Salters Lane 

Sedgefield  100 21 79 
 
79 

70 1 

P
age 154



 

117 
 

Site name Settlement Total no 
of units 

Total 
completed   

Total left 
to build  

Estimated 
number of 
houses that 
will be built by 
2025-26 

Pharmacies 
within a 20-
minute drive 
time  

Pharmacies 
within a 20-
minute walk 
time  

Land south of Eden Drive Sedgefield  277 154 123 123 57 1 

Durham 

Integra 61 land south of Bowburn 
and west of A688 

Bowburn 270 13 257 180 105 1 

Former Cape Asbestos Works, 
Durham Road (The Grange) 

Bowburn  360 286 74 74 100 1 

Bogma Hall Farm Coxhoe 153 9 144 144 94 1 

Land west of Browney Lane Meadowfield 292 286 6 6 97 1 

Land to north-east of St. Mary's 
Terrace 

Coxhoe - Parkhill 210 101 109 109 101 2 

Land east of Mill Lane Sherburn Village 132 26 106 106 105 1 

Land north of Ladysmith Terrace Ushaw Moor 167 147 20 20 82 1 

Mount Oswald Durham City 291 236 55 55 98 3 

Milburngate House Durham City 303 0 303 303 113 3 

Former Police HQ, Aykley Heads Durham City - Aykley 
Heads 

217 162 55 55 85 2 

Durham City H5 - Sniperley Park 1700 0 1700 135 94 1 

Durham City H6 - Sherburn Road 420 0 420 40 107 3 

Land north-east side of Cross 
Lane 

Sacriston 
 
 

200 63 137 
 
137 

75 2 

Chester-le-Street 

British Oxygen Co, Vigo Lane Chester-le-Street 233 196 37 37 71 0 

Lambton Park, Chester Road Bournmoor 400 13 387 150 76 0 

Land rear of Newfield Terrace 
Newfield Farm 

Newfield  274 258 16 16 59 0 

Land east of Moss Close Farm Pelton 190 0 190 
 
130 

63 1 

Land off former Parkside School 
Heathway 

Parkside  116 71 45 
45 35 2 

Land west of Valley Road,  
Pelton Fell  

Pelton Fell 165 0 165 
 
135 

63 1 

P
age 155



 

118 
 

 

P
age 156



PHARMACEUTICAL NEEDS 

ASSESSMENT 2022-25

P
age 157



PNA 2022-25 

• HWB responsible for production of a Pharmaceutical Needs 
Assessment (PNA) every 3 years. 

• PNA is an assessment of need for pharmaceutical services in a 
HWB area. Pharmaceutical services are nationally 
commissioned services provided by community pharmacies, 
dispensing appliance contractors, and dispensaries in GP 
practices.

• Next PNA is due for publication by 1 October 2022 at 
https://www.durhaminsight.info/pna/.

• Final draft agreed by PNA Steering Group (HWB sub-group) 
following a statutory 60-day public consultation. 

P
age 158



PNA 2022-25

• PNA considers population health needs (considers JSNA and JHWS), 
current provision of nationally commissioned pharmaceutical services that 
can meet health needs, and therefore whether there are any potential 
gaps in pharmaceutical service delivery over a 3-year period. 

• PNA describes public views of pharmacy services (gathered during 
preparation of the PNA and then during statutory public consultation).

• If gaps are identified, a PNA then describes any needs for, or 
improvements or better access to specified pharmaceutical services in a 
specified area. This can then trigger applications to meet those needs or 
to secure those improvements or better access to pharmaceutical 
services.

P
age 159



Conclusions 

There are still sufficient pharmaceutical services across County Durham:

• There is a good distribution of pharmaceutical services in areas of high 
population density, and in areas with more significant health needs.

• Reasonable distribution of pharmacies exists with extended and weekend 
opening hours in all localities.

• Estimated builds of future housing developments by 2025 will not require new 
pharmaceutical services.

• County Durham has 24 pharmacies per 100,000 population. This is higher than 
the England average of 21 per 100,000.

• Public surveys of pharmaceutical services indicate that on average                 
92% of people who responded stated that they could easily access 
pharmaceutical services.  

P
age 160



Key statements 

• Provision of all essential and necessary advanced services (New Medicine 
Service and Community Pharmacist Consultation Service) in County Durham 
are adequate to meet current and future needs for pharmaceutical services.

• Provision of the other relevant advanced service, the Community Pharmacy 
Seasonal Influenza Vaccination is adequate however a more equitable 
provision is required across all localities.

• Widespread provision of the new other relevant advanced services 
(Hypertension Case-Finding Service and Smoking Cessation Service) should 
be encouraged. 

P
age 161



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

             

       

 Health and Wellbeing Board 

 28 September 2022 

The Approach to Wellbeing 

Recommendations arising from the final 

evaluation   

 

Report of Gordon Elliott, Head of Partnerships and Community 
Engagement, Durham County Council 
Amanda Healy, Director of Public Health, Durham County Council 

Electoral Division(s) affected: 

Countywide  

Purpose of the Report 

1 The purpose of the report is to present the Health and Wellbeing 
Board with the recommendations from the Evaluation of the Approach 

to Wellbeing (A2WB) in County Durham carried out by Teesside 
University and provide an update on action being taken to implement 
them.   

Executive Summary 
 

2 The A2WB was adopted across the County Durham Partnership 
(CDP) in 2019 and since that time has been subject to a three-year 
evaluation by Teesside University. The evaluation was undertaken in 
three stages with the final report being completed in March 2022, 
resulting in 5 overarching recommendations being made about 
actions that could be taken to further embed the approach across the 
CDP.  The summary and full Evaluation Report resulting from this 
evaluation are attached at Appendices 2 and 3. 
 

3 These 5 recommendations included: increasing efforts to recruit 
representative community champions from less well-connected 
areas; complementing A2WB training with measures to place the 
approach into role specifications and internal processes; developing 
practical ways in which the approach can be used to engage 
communities; and implementing measures that can be used longer-
term to measure the success of the approach and the community 
engagement work across the CDP.  These recommendations were 
presented to the A2WB steering group on 14 April 2022, and an 
action plan has been created in response.  

Page 163

Agenda Item 8



 

Recommendations 

4. The Health and Wellbeing Board is recommended to: 

(a) Accept the Evaluation of the Approach to Wellbeing in County 
Durham 

(b) Note action being taken relating to the overarching 
recommendations. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 164



 

Background  

5. In 2019, County Durham developed an Approach to Wellbeing (A2WB) 
that was an asset-based model intended to engage communities and 
encourage devolution of power to them, alongside increasing shared 
decision making. The Approach built on the success of Area Action 
Partnerships (AAPs) and their long-established work with communities 
across County Durham.  

6. The principles of the A2WB model were developed as part of an 
iterative process engaging members of the Resilient Communities 
Group, the Mental Health Strategic Partnership Board, the Public Health 
Team, the Mental Health Stakeholder Forum and teams within Durham 
County Council and the NHS.  

7. Implementation of the model resulted in two strands of work; the design 
of a theoretical model and an ‘audit’ tool that would enable people to put 
the principles into practice, which resulted in the development of the 
Self-Assessment Framework. 

8. The implementation of the A2WB was subject to a three-year evaluation 
undertaken by Teesside University. This evaluation was intended to 
take place in three phases with associated objectives as follows: 

9. Phase 1: A retrospective review of early adopters in order to:  

a) Explore the reasons why some teams adopted the use of the 
Wellbeing principles at an early stage to influence their work.  

b) Consider what barriers there may be to others adopting the 
Wellbeing approach and how those barriers could be lifted.  

c) Determine whether the use of the wellbeing principles has been 
helpful in framing future and more long-term intentions of use.  

d) Explore whether the Wellbeing approach was used to underpin any 
emergency strategy or response put in place during the COVID-19 
global pandemic  
 

10. Phase 2: A contemporaneous chronicle of activities pertaining to 
community engagement, including testing, further development and 
refinement of the wellbeing principles, alongside the co-production of 
the evaluation objectives themselves, including:  

a) Identifying specific communities of interest. 
b) Reviewing the method of community engagement used.  
c) Exploring the extent to which solutions to issues affecting 

communities have been co-produced.  
d) Identifying examples of power being devolved to communities.  

Page 165



 
11. Phase 3: To examine essential factors pertaining to future internal 

evaluation of the adoption, impact of the adoption, and implementation 
of the wellbeing approach across relevant County Durham 
organisations, as well as development of a recommendation of a 
feasible model for how this may be achieved. This stage included:  

a) Which measures of wellbeing will be taken as constitutive of success 
when gauging outcomes from the approach to wellbeing?  

b) Where will responsibility for future evaluation lie, and how will 
continuation of evaluative measures be ensured in future?  

c) How can the wellbeing approach itself be at the heart of future 
evaluation? 
 

12. The remainder of this report is concerned with outlining the progress to 
date in implementing the A2WB, as well as highlighting the final 
recommendations arising from the evaluation.  

Progress to date 

13. Work has taken place to embed the A2WB across the County Durham 
Partnership since 2020 and includes the following: 

a) It has been formally adopted by the Health & Wellbeing Board. 

b) A2WB is embedded in strategies such as the Joint Health & 
Wellbeing Strategy; developing Physical Activity Strategy; Growing 
up in County Durham Strategy; Poverty Strategy 

c) Using the A2WB to inform the development of Community Hubs in 
response to the COVID-19 pandemic including working more closely 
with partners; taking a single point of contact approach; responding 
to local need; taking the time to ensure that needs are identified and 
met 

d) Creating links and building relationships across the County Durham 
Partnership to build understanding and awareness of the A2WB and 
support its implementation in a wide range of projects and initiatives. 

e) Developing a Self-Assessment Framework and related workshop to 
support teams to reflect on how their activities fit the A2WB 

f) Gathering case studies to illustrate practical applications of the 
A2WB and help make it more tangible. 

g) Developing an A2WB page on the County Durham Partnership 
website 

Page 166



h) Identifying opportunities to pilot the use of ONS4 wellbeing 
measurement 

Overarching Recommendations Arising from the Final Evaluation and 
related Actions 

14. The Final Evaluation Report of the A2WB summarised the three phases 
of the evaluation and reflected on progress whilst making five 
overarching recommendations.  In response to feedback, the 
recommendations have been further summarised and updated with 
action being taken to date: 

a) Recommendation 1: build on our learning from the COVID 
Community Champions model as a successful vehicle for 
implementing the A2WB. 

Action: Moving on from the COVID19 response, the County Durham 
Together Community Champions model is being developed in line 
with the A2WB with the potential to embed the A2WB through 
activities such as effective information sharing, engagement, 
feedback and co-production. 

Work will take place to identify where potential gaps exist from the 
current Community Champions and a concerted effort to fill these 
gaps will be undertaken as a complementary County-wide approach 
to disseminating information, collating local views and feeding back 
into Council and Partnership initiatives. 

b) Recommendation 2: The Self-Assessment framework (SAF) and 
wellbeing principles are useful at a strategic level but can seem 
time-consuming or removed from everyday practice in delivery 
settings. Embedding A2WB and SAF in the structure of how we 
work e.g. role descriptions, team meetings and development 
sessions to support a whole system ‘culture shift’ towards the 
Wellbeing Approach.  

Action: an online workshop based around the SAF that supports 
teams to engage with the A2WB has been successfully piloted with a 
small team working on the Belmont Community Engagement project. 
This can be adapted for use in a range of settings, including face to 
face and in the wider community. The Wellbeing Approach 
Implementation Officer will liaise with colleagues across the County 
Durham Partnership to identify opportunities to roll out this approach 
across a number of settings and provide workshops to continue to 
implement and embed the Approach.  

Further exploration with HR of how the Approach may be 
incorporated into role descriptions, training etc is required, however 

Page 167



this is interlinked with the additional work required through the County 
Durham Together Partnership with senior leaders and elected 
members. 

c) Recommendation 3: practical mechanisms should be developed 
to help people to engage with the A2WB and SAF, particularly in 
community settings, including gathering qualitative data and 
linking to other initiatives and methodologies that support 
meaningful engagement such as co-production and 
consultation. 

a) Action: a page on the CDP website is in development. It will make 
the SAF widely available to complete digitally alongside case studies 
from a range of settings. The Wellbeing Approach Implementation 
Officer is part of the Co-production Steering Group and is supporting 
the development of data sharing platforms with partners to ensure 
engagement and consultations are not duplicated.  Work is being 
undertaken to ensure the A2WB is closely aligned to the 
development of the County Durham Together Initiative.  

b) The Wellbeing Approach Implementation Officer is supporting the 
Consultation Officer Group processes including the Ladder of 
Engagement to incorporate co-production and co-design principles 
into the council’s approaches to gaining feedback from residents.  
She is also supporting specific areas of work eg the Growing Up in 
County Durham Strategy and the Inclusive Economic Strategy. 

c) Initial conversations with the VCS have suggested that working with 
groups like the Community Resilience Forum, the A2WB could form 
the basis of a ‘quality mark’ that enables smaller organisations to 
demonstrate good practice. 

d) Recommendation 4: The impact of the A2WB across County 
Durham should be measured using a standardised, consistent 
and universal measurement of wellbeing in addition to 
qualitative data gathering. 

e) Discussions have commenced about how the Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment (JSNA) can be further developed to be more of a Joint 
Strategic Asset Assessment (JSAA), utilising strengths that already 
exist in communities.  

f) Recommendation 5: ONS-4 Measures of Wellbeing should be 
piloted (in conjunction with the Personal Wellbeing Scale) as the 
quantitative measure.  

Page 168



Action: Feedback is being gathered to identify appropriate 
opportunities to pilot the measurement and establish how it can be 
used more widely.  

Conclusion 

15. This paper highlights the progress to date in embedding the Approach 
to Wellbeing in activities across the County Durham Partnership and 
summarises the recommendations arising from the final evaluation 
report along with some potential next steps.   

 

Author 
 

Andrea Petty   Andrea.Petty@durham.gov.uk  

Hannah Murray-Leslie Hannah.Murray-Leslie@durham.gov.uk  

  

Page 169

mailto:Andrea.Petty@durham.gov.uk
mailto:Hannah.Murray-Leslie@durham.gov.uk


Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

N/A 

Finance 

Funding has been made available for a post to take forward the Approach to 

Wellbeing and integrate this work across the County Durham Partnership. 

Consultation 

The principles within the Approach to Wellbeing support the Council and 

Partners in gaining feedback from residents in a meaningful way. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

N/A 

Climate Change 

N/A. 

Human Rights 

N/A. 

Crime and Disorder 

N/A. 

Staffing 

A Wellbeing Approach Implementation Officer has been recruited until 

January 2024. 

Accommodation 

N/A. 

Risk 

N/A. 

Procurement 

Procurement colleagues are part of the A2W Steering Group and have used 

to the Approach in developing the Mental Health Alliance 

Page 170



Appendix 2:  Evaluation of the Approach to Wellbeing in County 
Durham – Full Report  

 

Appendix 3:  Evaluation of the Approach to Wellbeing in County 
Durham – Summary 

 

 

 

Page 171



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

1 

 

 
An Evaluation of the County Durham Approach to 

Wellbeing  
 
Introduction 
Wellbeing is a broad concept, with often no clear definition of what it is. It has 
been defined by a UK government project as ‘a dynamic state, in which the 
individual is able to develop their potential, work productively and creatively, 
build strong and positive relationships with others, and contribute to their 
community’ (Foresight Mental Capital and Wellbeing Project, 2008, p.10). 
Wellbeing is thought to have an objective component, involving the material and 
social factors that impact on quality of life, and a subjective component, relating 
to how people feel and function (Western and Tomaszewski, 2016). 
Circumstances that are believed to improve wellbeing include: good physical, 
mental and social health; financial and personal security; rewarding 
employment; inclusive communities; and attractive environments (DEFRA, 
2011, Michaelson et al., 2012). Wellbeing helps to promote health by helping 
multiple biological systems run effectively (Ryff et al., 2004). A high level of  
wellbeing can increase resistance to illness, speed up physiological recovery, 
increase survival rates, with low wellbeing associated with slower wound 
healing (Cohen et al., 2003, J-E De Neve et al., 2013, Kiecolt-Glaser et al., 
1995, Lamers et al., 2012). 
 
Internationally, there has been an increasing recognition of the need to develop 
a broad and inclusive set of wellbeing indicators, and that a nation’s welfare 
should not be measured simply by their economic growth (ONS, 2014, Miles et 
al., 2008, Stiglitz et al., 2009). More recently, in May 2019, New Zealand 
declared itself the first country in the world to measure its success by its 
people’s wellbeing. Their entire Treasury budget is now built around a series of 
wellbeing priorities: mental health, child wellbeing, supporting Maori 
populations, building a productive nation, transforming the economy, and a 
supporting capital investment programme (Anderson and Mossialos, 2019). 
 
  

National Context  
In 2010 the UK, through the work of the Office for National Statistics (ONS), 
became one of the first countries in the world to track the wellbeing of its citizens 
using, amongst other things, measures of health, relationships, education, 
finances and the environment.  The National Wellbeing Programme was 
launched in the UK in 2010, driven, in part, by the demand for subjective 
wellbeing measures to be used in policy-making processes (Hicks et al., 2013). 
According to the Office for National Statistics (ONS), ‘Wider and systematic 
consideration of well-being has the potential to lead to better decisions by 
government, markets and the public and, as such, better outcomes’ (ONS, 

Page 173



 

 

2 

 

2013). There followed a United Nations resolution and report in 2012 on the 
importance of wellbeing and happiness in forming a ‘new economic paradigm’ 
with a World Happiness report now being published annually by the UN.  
Wellbeing is therefore becoming of increasing importance, with an All Party 
Parliamentary Group also suggesting that personal wellbeing rather than 
economic growth should be the primary aim of our own UK Government 
spending (The All Party Parliamentary Group on Wellbeing Economics, 2019).   
 
Wellbeing includes everything that is important to people and their lives. 
Wellbeing, rather than levels of employment of economic growth, even 
determines how people vote (Ward, 2019).  In purely economic terms, it is 
responsible for levels of productivity, benefit dependence and absenteeism. 
The World Health Organization defines positive mental health as ‘a state of well-
being in which the individual realizes his or her own abilities, can cope with the 
normal stresses of life, can work productively and fruitfully, and is able to make 
a contribution to his or her community’ (World Health Organization, 2001). Or 
simply, described as how satisfied we are with our lives.  This can then impact 
on a person’s physical or mental health.   
 

Wellbeing in Durham 
In recent years, County Durham has seen many improvements in people’s 
health and wellbeing, for example, as a result of targeted health improvement 
programmes, the reduction in smoking rates or improved screening 
programmes.  Consequently, Durham residents can expect to live longer lives 
than previously; however, they are not necessarily living happier and healthier 
lives and many still face a considerable number of challenges to their wellbeing. 
 
For example, alcohol related deaths are increasing, with 23.3% of adults in 
Durham (21.9% in England) reporting levels of high anxiety (Durham Insight, 
2022).  Nearly 80,000 people in the county have a common mental health 
disorder and it is estimated, that 1 in 10 children have a mental health disorder 
(Durham Insight Mental Health Infographic, 2022).  Finally, healthy life 
expectancy (the years we can expect to live in good health) is only 58.3 years 
for women in Durham (63.5 in England), and 59.6 years for men (63.2 in 
England) (Public Health England Fingertips Profile, 2022).   
 
Taken together, these figures highlight the fact that there is more to do to 
improve people’s wellbeing across County Durham, and that doing so through 
interventions that engage communities, devolve power, develop social capital 
and build resilience will not only improve people’s lives but lengthen their lives 
and improve economic and inclusive growth.  This will also support the County 
Durham Vision of More and Better Jobs, Long and Independent Lives and 
Connected Communities. 
 

Background and evolution of the Approach to Wellbeing (A2WB) 
model 

Page 174



 

 

3 

 

 
In 2019, County Durham developed an Approach to Wellbeing (A2WB) that was 
an asset-based model intended to engage communities and encourage 
devolution of power to them, alongside increasing shared decision making.  The 
Approach built on the success of Area Action Partnerships (AAPs) and their 
long-established work with communities across County Durham.   
 
The principles of the A2WB model were developed as part of an iterative 
process engaging members of the Resilient Communities Group, the Mental 
Health Strategic Partnership Board, the Public Health Team, the Mental Health 
Stakeholder Forum and teams within Durham County Council and the NHS.   
 
The original model was perceived by some partners as being ‘difficult’ to 
understand and was viewed as ‘quite high level’. It was seen as being 
theoretical and conceptual rather than being of practical use.  This resulted in 
two further strand of work.  Firstly the development a new, simpler, one page 
‘Soundbites’ model; and secondly an ‘audit’ tool that would enable people to put 
the principles into practice.  This resulted in the development of the Self-
Assessment Framework which began to be utilised by Council teams and other 
external partners. 
 
Such changes addressed the identified gap between academic theory and 
practice. 
 

Aims and Objectives of the Evaluation 
The primary aim of this study was to evaluate the implementation of the County 
Durham A2WB.  The evaluation was intended to take place in three phases with 
associated objectives as follows: 
 
Phase 1: A retrospective review of early adopters in order to:  

• Explore the reasons why some teams adopted the use of the Wellbeing 
principles at an early stage to influence their work.  

• Consider what barriers there may be to others adopting the Wellbeing 
approach and how those barriers could be lifted.  

• Determine whether the use of the wellbeing principles has been helpful 
in framing future and more long term intentions of use.  

Page 175



 

 

4 

 

 
Phase 2: A contemporaneous chronicle of activities pertaining to 
community engagement, including testing, further development and 
refinement of the wellbeing principles, alongside the co-production of the 
evaluation objectives themselves. Including:  

• Identifying specific communities of interest. 

• Reviewing the method of community engagement used.  

• Exploring the extent to which solutions to issues affecting communities 
have been co-produced. 

• Identifying examples of power being devolved to communities.  
 
Phase 3: To examine essential factors pertaining to future internal 
evaluation of the adoption, impact of the adoption, and implementation of 
the wellbeing approach across relevant County Durham organisations, as 
well as development of a recommendation of a feasible model for how this 
may be achieved. This stage includes: 

• Which measures of wellbeing will be taken as constitutive of success 
when gauging outcomes from the approach to wellbeing? 

• Where will responsibility for future evaluation lie, and how will 
continuation of evaluative measures be ensured in future? 

• How can the wellbeing approach itself be at the heart of future 
evaluation? 

 

 
Each phase comprised key questions and areas for investigation as well as 
findings and recommendations.  
 
The report is structured to provide summaries of each of the phases, with full 
reports of each phase captured in the appendices.  
 

  

Page 176



 

 

5 

 

Phase One - Early Adopter Focus Groups and 
Interviews 

 
“It’s very difficult sometimes to get colleagues to understand that their 

bit of the business impacts on the wellbeing of the population when 
actually all of our business impacts on the wellbeing of the population”. 
 

 
The full report for Phase 1 is captured as Appendix 1. Two focus groups and 
two interviews with early adopters of the approach took place remotely via 
Microsoft Teams. Thematic analysis revealed the following as significant 
themes pertaining to the approach to wellbeing. 
 

 
Understanding the approach  
It was clear that the participants had an understanding of the A2WB, and an 
understanding of why it was developed. It was felt that departments within DCC 
were already trying to deliver on a similar agenda, and so it made sense to try 
and develop a framework which would capture what was already taking place. 
However, it was evident that it had taken time for some participants to fully 
understand the approach, and also understand the tool used to measure the 
approach (the self-assessment framework). Part of that was delving into the 
question, ‘What is wellbeing?’ 
 
One of the changes that participants hoped that the approach would bring, was 
the opportunity for the local authority, and wider organisations across County 
Durham to deliver things differently by giving power back to the people. It was 
agreed that there would need to be a concerted effort to support managers and 
clinicians to feel comfortable in letting go of some elements of their work, as 
well as community members taking more responsibility for their wellbeing. The 
overall goal being to introduce, develop and finally embed the A2WB so that the 
approach becomes automatic.  

 

Challenges to engaging with and using the wellbeing approach 
There was a belief that some people might think the approach was simply 
another public health initiative, and that they wouldn’t view the approach as 

• Understanding the wellbeing approach

• Challenges to engaging with and using the 
wellbeing approach

• The impact of the wellbeing approach so far

• Developing the wellbeing approach

• Suggestions for implementation

Phase 
One: Key 

Questions

Page 177



 

 

6 

 

applicable to their area. It was felt that a way to overcome this challenge was to 
make sure the work was put in now. 
 
At first, the concept of ‘community’ was difficult for some participants to 
understand, with regards to thinking of a geographical community rather than a 
community of interest. There were some participants who didn’t struggle with 
the A2WB and believed that it worked very well for their organisation. The 
downside was that for larger organisations, the model was seen as trickier to 
adapt. 
 
It was felt that partners from the commissioning sector might struggle to engage 
with implementing the A2WB as it represents a move away from measurements 
and performance based on numbers only. Additionally, the next steps of 
embedding the A2WB were difficult due to the COVID-19 pandemic. The 
approach needs time invested in it to understand it, therefore wasn’t a priority 
during 2020. However, for the participants who had provided early feedback, 
but not had the opportunity to test the principles during COVID-19, there was 
still a willingness to utilise it moving forward. 
 

 

Developing the A2WB 
As picked up previously in the report, the difficulties in understanding the model 
were met by public health staff who were keen to listen, learn, and make 
changes to the model. Changes that have since been made have been well 
received by those participants who have seen the revision from the original 
model to the soundbites model. More importantly, it was felt that the changes 
that the model had undergone were done using a coproduction approach. 
 
It was felt that some of the questions in the principles still might be difficult to 
understand when engaging at a community level. Re-wording the principles 
might be necessary. In addition to this, the language used needed to be 
updated, as there were words that pigeon-holed the A2WB to one sector, rather 
than cutting across various. 
 
Lastly, future development of the A2WB included adding in an expected 
timeframe into the self-assessment framework. It was agreed that the 
framework should be monitored annually, but that this needed to be made 
clearer. Adding in ‘possible next steps and agreed timescales’ at the end of the 
framework would help to add some accountability, but not be so strict as a Key 
Performance Indicator. 

 
Suggestions for implementation  
Participants felt strongly that for the A2WB to be embedded successfully in their 
respective departments and organisations, it needed to be driven down from a 
strategic level. 
 

Page 178



 

 

7 

 

The timing needed to be right to start introducing the A2WB at the community 
level.  People are working so hard to support their community at the moment, 
that the approach might not be received positively. An example of engaging at 
the right time could be to make use of the AAP roadshows, where there could 
be further work around re-wording the principles. It was felt that the model ‘still 
feels a little too academic’. 
 
With regards to consultation, geography- wise, it was seen as crucial to cover 
the North, Central, and South of County Durham. This will ensure that rural, 
urban and semi-rural areas are captured, as they may have differing views. This 
will also ensure that the consultation is inclusive, giving an opportunity for all to 
engage.  
 
Finally, it was agreed that a key aspect in rolling the A2WB out was for partners, 
stakeholders, organisations and services to see what was in it for them.  How 
could the A2WB add value to the work that they carry out; their ambition, aims 
and objectives. 
 
The themes from the first phase of data collection have been used to help inform 
phase two of the evaluation with the COVID-19 Champions and will help to 
triangulate findings in the final report.  
 

 
Phase One Conclusions 
 
The findings from phase one indicated that the A2WB that was being offered 
across County Durham was understood by members of the steering group as 
well as partners who were early adopters of the approach. There was an 
understanding of why it had been developed, although this took time for some 
participants to fully understand the approach. However, it was agreed that there 
were still changes to make.  Participants in the focus groups and interviews felt 
that there were a number of challenges to the implementation and embedment 
of the approach. These included the A2WB being viewed as only a public health 
initiative, rather than cutting across different sectors; the model potentially still 
appearing too academic; communities being viewed in a geographical sense, 
rather than communities of interest; COVID-19 impacting on the speed of roll-
out, due to staff pressures and furloughed staff; and the commissioning process 
becoming more comfortable with outcomes rather than just numbers. 
 
Examples of the positive impact of the A2WB included: partners thinking about 
what their service was providing in terms of empowering communities to 
improve their wellbeing; improved accountability; providing a framework to 
demonstrate added value and providing an opportunity to showcase their work. 
The development of the model was respected, due to the nature of public health 
staff listening to feedback and coproducing any changes. To help improve and 
develop the approach further, it was suggested that revisions might be required 

Page 179



 

 

8 

 

to then introduce the model at a community level, as well as ensuring the 
language used didn’t exclude a particular sector, i.e. the A2WB can be used in 
multiple sectors. 
 
Finally, suggestions for the future implementation of the A2WB included: 
ensuring that the approach was driven down from a strategic level; working to 
introduce the approach to communities at the right time, due to COVID-19 
fatigue; ensuring that engagement and consultation was inclusive; providing 
plenty of practical examples of how to use the A2WB principles and framework; 
and emphasising the added value that the A2WB can bring to an organisation. 
 
These initial findings were utilised to drive the next stage of data collection and 
analysis and informed a number of recommendations for the next stage. It was 
suggested that the soundbites model be developed with a community of 
interest, using a good geographical spread of County Durham, for roll out at a 
community level; the language of both the soundbites and the model needs to 
be considered so that terminology is understand by all; the framework and 
model needs to be driven from the top, so that staff have the necessary directive 
within their workload; the framework and model need to be presented for 
various perspectives, not just a public health angle; there is the potential to add 
a section at the end of the self-assessment framework, which measures 
outcomes; and finally, worked, practical examples are needed, which show how 
other sectors and organisations have applied principles and framework to their 
service area. 

 

 

 
  

• Ensure the approach is driven down 
from a strategic level

• COVID-19 has provided the 
opportunity to 'reset' and apply the 
approach to wellbeing in services

• Embedding the approach is essential 
for it to succeed in the long-term

Phase One: Key 
Recommendations/ 

Findings

Page 180



 

 

9 

 

Changes to the Evaluation during 2020 
 
The first version of the A2WB evaluation protocol only had three phases: 1) 
early adopter interviews, 2) exploration of community engagement, and 3) 
looking at the longer-term impact of the introduction of the A2WB on the health 
and wellbeing of local communities. The A2W steering group were involved in 
developing phase one, with phase two and three being further defined and 
shaped by the Steering Group after the analysis of phase one.  
 
As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, the evaluation protocol was revised to 
capture the experiences of those responding to COVID-19, whilst at the same 
time exploring the use of the A2W principles.  This resulted in the inclusion of 
an additional phase within the evaluation in the form of a case study, which was 
intended to capture learning that had taken place with regard to the assimilation 
of the A2W principles as part of the COVID response. The evaluation phases 
were therefore revised to the following:  
 
Phase 1: A retrospective review of early adopters  
 
Case Study: Using the A2WB within the COVID-19 Community Hubs  
 
Phase 2: A contemporaneous chronicle of activities pertaining to 
community engagement, including testing, further development and 
refinement of the wellbeing principles, alongside the co-production of the 
evaluation objectives themselves. Including:  
 
Phase 3: To examine essential factors pertaining to future internal 
evaluation of the adoption, impact of the adoption, and implementation of 
the wellbeing approach across relevant County Durham organisations, as 
well as development of a recommendation of a feasible model for how this 
may be achieved. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 181



 

 

10 

 

 

Case Study on the use of the approach in the 
development of the Community Hubs in response to 

the Covid-19 pandemic. 
 
 
The community hub concept (which later became known as the County 
Durham Together Hub) was introduced in March 2019 as a suggested 
response to the Covid-19 pandemic to support residents to be able to access 
information around Covid-19 and initially to support around food poverty and 
hardship. This case study was designed to appraise the impact of the 
approach to wellbeing and its application to provide a real-time evaluation of 
the approach to wellbeing in a fast-moving service.  
 
Full details of the case study can be found in Appendix b. The key questions 
and findings from this phase of research are presented below:

 

 

 

 
 

•How does the A2W work in 'real 
time'?

•Using the A2W within services to 
appraise impact

• Iterative monitoring/development 
of A2W

Case 
Study: Key 
Questions 

•Having agency in which support they 
access Empowers Communities

•Mobilising a network of volunteers and 
Mutual Aid organisations during the 
pandemic  Focuses on Existing Assets

•Upskilling of redeployed staff Builds 
Greater Resilience in to system

Case Study: Key 
Recommendations/ 

Findings

Page 182



 

 

11 

 

Phase Two Methods – A contemporaneous 
chronicle of activities pertaining to community 

engagement, working with a community of interest 
COVID-19 ‘Champions’ 

 
“It just brings us closer to actually building on the thoughts of the 

community and how they feel things should go…It's using that to make 
real decision-making changes. That's where I'm coming from, I think.” 

 

 
 
The full report for Phase 2 is captured as Appendix 3. One focus group with 
COVID Champions and 2 1:1 interviews took place remotely via Microsoft 
Teams in addition to 5 completed questionnaires being returned to the 
research team. Combining these and subjecting both written responses and 
transcripts to thematic analysis revealed the following as significant themes 
pertaining to the approach to wellbeing. 
 
Purpose and scope: 
One notion to which each respondent returned over the course of interviews, 
focus groups and questionnaires was that of the purpose of the wellbeing 
approach (and by extension so too its scope). What is the wellbeing approach 
there for? Who is it there for? 
 
For many, the response to these two questions was simple: the approach to 
wellbeing was a way to ensure that the voice of the community was at the 
forefront of their role. There was also the feeling that the principle of 
consultation and empowerment was something that should apply to them (and 
other staff within DCC) as much as it did with communities themselves. 
 
This would, it was suggested, not only improve the wellbeing of staff and 
volunteers but would also allow greater efficiency within the authority as it 
would eradicate the duplication of work or the need for central ‘fact-finding’ 
about needs within certain areas, as those working and living within 
communities would already have this knowledge at their disposal. 

•Identifying specific communities of interest.

•Reviewing the method of community 
engagement used. 

•Exploring the extent to which solutions to 
issues affecting communities have been co-

produced.

•Identifying examples of power being 
devolved to communities.

Phase 
Two Key 

Questions 

Page 183



 

 

12 

 

 
One participant suggested that they felt that their primary function as a 
COVID-19 champion was to act as a conduit for both the local community and 
the local authority putting one in touch with the other, and signposting 
communities to services. 
 
For others, their role as COVID-19 Champions allowed them to directly 
contribute in ways that were not so tangible, but were no less important to 
community engagement and the wellbeing of people within those communities 
through simply listening to what people had to say. 
 
Adherence: 
A key feature of questionnaires, focus groups and interviews was finding out 
to what extent COVID-19 champions (and the network in general) were 
following the wellbeing principles and how much their everyday activities were 
guided by the principles. Perhaps unsurprisingly, the wellbeing principles, and 
their use, were not something of which the COVID-19 Champions were 
explicitly aware. 
 

The conscious effort to keep the principles in mind was much more apparent 
for those who interacted with the approach to wellbeing in a strategic manner, 
in line with the other aspects of their roles. Again, perhaps unsurprisingly, the 
way in which they interacted with the wellbeing approach was directly linked to 
the way in which they interacted with their role overall and reflected those 
things which were important within that role. As someone for whom one of the 
primary concerns of their role was evaluating and providing evidence, the 
participant below understood the approach to wellbeing and its constitutive 
principles in these terms. 
 
Although the principles as such may not have been at the forefront of the 
COVID-19 Champions’ minds, that was not to say that they were not being 
upheld in the way(s) in which they interacted with the communities they 
worked with, and both the focus group and questionnaires showed this. Some 
examples from both are included below to give a greater idea of this 
phenomenon, as well as those areas that the COVID-19 champs felt greater 
improvements could be made, mapped against each of the wellbeing 
principles. 
 
Embedding the Approach: 
Although many of the principles of the wellbeing approach were being fulfilled 
by their actions, this was not something that they were explicitly aware of. 
Furthermore, there were areas in which they highlighted certain areas in which 
they felt the programme, and DCC as a whole, needed to do more. One 
particular challenge that was highlighted throughout both focus groups and 
questionnaires, was the inconsistent nature of just how invested people were 

Page 184



 

 

13 

 

in delivering the services that were representative of the approach (and thus 
the approach itself). 
 
One of the greatest challenges that was identified at all levels was trying to 
ensure that the principles made sense to those that were expected to use 
them to guide their everyday working. 
 
The key message being shared was that embedding the approach to 
wellbeing at all levels was the thing which needed greatest investment from all 
levels of the local authority, but particularly those at executive or strategic 
level, in order to ensure that the approach to wellbeing and its principles 
permeated every aspect of DCC. How this embedding was to take place, and 
how best to ensure its success was largely dependent on the nature of the 
role to which the principles were being applied. For those in largely strategic 
roles, treating the approach to wellbeing in terms of engaging directly with the 
high-level principles that underpinned it yielded positive results. 
 
However, in discussions with all participants (and as can be seen in the 
previous section) it emerged that the Self-Assessment Framework may not be 
the best way of evaluating the performance of COVID-19 Champions (and 
thus by extension other delivery-focused roles) against the approach to 
wellbeing, because, quite simply, the feeling was that the way in which they 
were currently presented (soundbites model) was too abstract, and too ‘high 
level’ to be of practical use to them in their roles: 
 
Fundamentally, the successful integration of the wellbeing approach to the 
COVID-19 Champions role was seen to rely upon being able to embed it 
within the role itself which in turn relied on communicating the approach in a 
way that made sense. In this regard, particular training around the principles 
as a standalone concept (albeit one in which it’s importance to their role was 
stressed) may not have been the best way to ensure this was something that 
stayed with those who participated. During discussions with the research 
team, participants from the Champions network did not remember a great deal 
about the training they had undergone, nor did they have a particular 
recollection of the wellbeing principles themselves. But, as we have also seen, 
these facts did not in large part hinder their adherence to those principles, 
even if they were not necessarily aware of it. One participant put it thus: 
 
As well as making sure the approach to wellbeing was put at the heart of 
everything the COVID-19 Champions did from the outset, the way in which 
this was done, and the language used was seen as being of paramount 
importance: 
 
 
Phase Two Conclusion: 

Page 185



 

 

14 

 

After engaging with all participants throughout phase two of the evaluation, it 
is clear that there is a general commitment to see the aims of the wellbeing 
approach realised within the interactions that COVID-19 Champions have with 
the communities they serve. What is also clear however is that if this is to be 
set up and meaningfully continued in the future, then there is a need to 
translate the approach and its principles from their current state into a more 
practical form. 
 
Part of making the approach less unwieldy may also lie in some of the specific 
issues that COVID-19 Champions encountered in their role. One of the 
greatest challenges relayed by the COVID-19 Champions was in engaging 
some marginalised communities A particular difficulty in this regard revolved 
around the trust that members of such communities were prepared to place in 
individuals that were seen as from communities very much separate from their 
own. 
 
As well as utilising existing groups and channels of communication and 
community-based assets, another suggestion for how to engage marginalised 
groups was to attempt to recruit individuals who would be regarded as part of 
a community rather an outsider to it. 
 
The potential of the COVID-19 Champions to diversify and potentially even 
repurpose their role into more generalised areas of community support must 
be tempered by stressing the importance of communicating the approach to 
wellbeing properly to its success. This communication potentially needs to be 
better across the county because gaps have been identified.  
 
One of the challenges of expanding the COVID-19 Champions network 
(raised by the COVID-19 Champions themselves) lay in ensuring that access 
to the programme and its benefits was open to all, and not just in areas where 
enthusiasm was high. Rural or geographically isolated areas were identified 
as a specific setting in which this needed to be addressed. 
 
 

Page 186



 

 

15 

 

 
 

  

•COVID-19 Champions should continue to 
provide support for ongoing issues that may 

arise from the unknowns of the COVID-19 
pandemic.

•Look at ways of embedding the wellbeing 
principles within role descriptions

•Devise simpler examples of the successful 
implementation of the wellbeing approach in 

addition to the soundbites model

•Standalone/separate training in the approach 
be replaced in favour of measures designed to 
place the approach at the heart of each role. 

Phase Two: Key 
Recommendations/ 

Findings

Page 187



 

 

16 

 

Phase Three – To examine essential factors 
pertaining to future internal evaluation of the 
adoption and implementation of the wellbeing 

approach across relevant County Durham 
organisations 

 
The primary aim of the third and final phase of the evaluation (Appendix 4) 
was to examine essential factors pertaining to future internal evaluation of the 
adoption, impact of the adoption, and implementation of the wellbeing 
approach across relevant County Durham organisations, as well as to develop 
some recommendations of a feasible model for how this may be achieved. 

 

 
 

It was envisaged that answers to the above would culminate in the formulation 
of a suggested outline or toolkit of how evaluation may be continued in future, 
the measures that will give the best insight to this, as well as how these can 
both reflect the values inherent in the approach to wellbeing and enhance their 
incorporation across DCC. 
 

The value of the Self-Assessment Framework (SAF): 
 
A recurrent theme throughout each stage of the evaluation into the approach 
to wellbeing has been the positive reaction to the use of the self-assessment 
framework in appraising the internal adherence to the constitutive principles of 
the approach. The SAF has allowed individuals to take stock of their practice 
and evaluate its adherence to the overarching principles which make up the 
approach to wellbeing. 
 
However, although this proved a valuable tool for those who may have been 
more familiar with the approach to wellbeing itself, in interviews with COVID 
champions it emerged that using the SAF (and its corresponding reliance on 
explicit reference to the principles at the heart of the approach to wellbeing) 

• Which measures of wellbeing will be 
taken as constitutive of success?

• Where will responsibility for future 
evaluation lie?

• How can the wellbeing approach be at 
the heart of future evaluation?

Phase 
Three: Key 
Questions 

Page 188



 

 

17 

 

was not necessarily something that would be either intuitive or practical, given 
their focus on delivery and community interaction, rather than planning, 
management and strategy. As such, a sensible way to tailor the advantages of 
the SAF – both its reflexive practice in general and the specifics of engaging 
directly with the principles of the approach to wellbeing – is important in 
ensuring a whole system approach in future. 
 
In devising a way in which this could be done, consultation was undertaken 
with a number of key members of staff that would be integral in implementing 
the approach to wellbeing in future in order to ensure that any 
recommendations issuing from this phase of the evaluation were practicable 
(at least in theory) within existing DCC structures. 
 
A need to combine the SAF with other measures to ‘situate’ the value of the 
approach to wellbeing within teams and roles is evident. Throughout the 
different stages of evaluation, and across different iterations of how the core 
values of the approach could be adopted into practice and delivery, a common 
issue has been how to bridge the gap from theory to practice. Furthermore, in 
many cases, even where formalised, ‘standalone’ training has been well 
received, the tendency is towards the awareness of this waning over time – 
which is of course the same with many forms of knowledge (Murre and Dros 
2015).  
 
The solution to this issue is to fully embed the approach to wellbeing across 
the entirety of the DCC system, something which has already been identified 
and to some extent achieved within certain areas of DCC. Suggestions for 
how this may be done will be explored below, but the salient thing to note is 
that it is a combination of the SAF with other measures that are likely to 
ensure greater assimilation into the wider DCC system and increase the 
benefits of using the approach. In order to drive this, a culture informed by the 
wellbeing approach needs to be facilitated and fostered within DCC services. 
 
To increase the extent to which the approach to wellbeing is adopted and 
used throughout DCC, the suggestion here is that individual services and 
teams be encouraged both to build the Approach to Wellbeing into routine 
team meetings and make the Approach to Wellbeing an integral part of 
development sessions with respective teams. 
 

 

Embedding the approach to wellbeing via regular team engagement, rather 
than ‘one-off’ or formalised training is not the only way to affect the change of 
culture needed to ensure greater buy-in. Another potential way in which the 
approach can be at the heart of services is to represent the principles of the 
approach to wellbeing with within role descriptions and key foci for individual 
roles. Not only would this firmly state a commitment to the approach at a 
senior level, it would also give an internal basis upon which to judge how 

Page 189



 

 

18 

 

much the approach is part of an individual’s, a team’s, or even an entire 
service’s ‘everyday business’. 
 
A vital component needed to compliment the self-assessment framework – 
particularly if the wellbeing approach is to be more widely shared outside of 
DCC - is to identify a suitable way to gauge the impact of the adoption of the 
approach to wellbeing on the people that interact with DCC across a range of 
settings. In order to be able to cite the impact of the approach to wellbeing on 
the population, there is a need to have a corresponding, objective barometer 
of wellbeing that can be used to verify any changes in overall self-reported 
wellbeing for anyone interacting with DCC. Any measure used should enable 
comparison of the general population with those interacting with any services 
provided by, or on behalf of, DCC. Ideally, such a barometer should also be 
able to gauge wellbeing at entry to, and exit from, a given service if this is 
appropriate to the service in question. Using such a measure alongside the 
existing self-assessment framework will arrive not only at at both internally 
and externally verified evaluative processes to monitor the impact of the 
approach to wellbeing but will also allow more outward-looking (and forward-
looking) evaluation to allow some measure of intelligence around any tangible 
impact to using the approach within the community over time. 
 
Following discussions with the Approach to Wellbeing steering group, it was 
suggested that for any evaluative tool or process to be of practical use in 
doing so, it must be FAST: Feasible, Accessible, Standardised, and 
Transferable. 
 
Feasible: 
In order for any measure of wellbeing to be applied as a way of monitoring 
wellbeing it must first be established that it is something that people, both 
from a DCC operational perspective and from those who may potentially 
be surveyed will find it feasible to undertake. As such, any proposed 
measure should not be overly onerous to either administer/monitor or to fill 
out in the first place. Specific questions pertaining to feasibility are: 

• Is this measure already used on a significant scale within DCC? 

• If not, how easy would it be to introduce it? 

• How likely is it that people will respond? 
 
Accessible: 
Perhaps the most important aspect of any measure of wellbeing, and one 
that is inextricably bound to the notion of empowerment at the heart of the 
approach to wellbeing itself, is accessibility. Such accessibility primarily 
rests on how easy it is to actually understand and respond to a 
questionnaire based on any particular scale. For this reason, the 
questionnaire itself that is issued as part of any attempt to gauge wellbeing 
should be worded as simply as possible, and should also avoid any 

Page 190



 

 

19 

 

abstract or high-level concepts within any deliberative process that is 
asked of respondents. 
 
Specifically, any prospective measure should provide satisfactory answers 
to the following: 

• Is the language contained in any questionnaire easy to read? 

• Are the concepts that form the scale simple to understand? 

• Is it accessible to a range of individuals? 
 
Standardised: 
Having standard measures of wellbeing improves the quality, reliability and 
validity of any conclusions that are derived from data collected. 
Subsequently this allows for a greater confidence when using such 
measures and data in any decision-making process. 
 
Questions pertaining specifically in relation to the standardised nature of 
any proposed wellbeing measure must be subjected to the following 
questions 

• Can the measure be used to evaluate the impact of services over 
time? 

• Is data generated by the measure reliable and robust? 

• Is there enough data at present to create a reliable baseline for 
County Durham? 

 
Transferable: 

• Can the measure be applied across DCC services, while 
maintaining suitability to services? 

• Are the target measures general enough to be used system-wide? 
 

Appraising current measures: 
 
With help from colleagues from public health, a picture of the types of 
measure that were currently employed by various services within DCC was 
gained.  
 
As can be seen in the appendices to this document, there is a vast array 
of different measures and metrics currently collected across public health 
in County Durham. Due to the sheer range of these, some of the most 
prominent measures currently in use were appraised in order to ascertain 
the relative merits of each.  These included:  
 

• WEMWBS/SWEMWBS – a 7/14-point scale to assess mental 
wellbeing.  

• EQ-5D-3L – a 5-item measure of health-related quality of life 
covering Mobility, Self-Care, Usual Activities, Pain/discomfort and 
Anxiety/Depression  

Page 191



 

 

20 

 

• The Outcomes Star – an evaluation tool with the points of the star 
being ascribed to any intended outcome or measure identified by the 
user. 

• ONS-4 – 4 subjective questions on wellbeing used as part of the 
ONS Annual Population Survey. 

 
A small internal working group within the Council was established to consider 
the value of each of these highlighting the advantages and disadvantages 
associated with each tool.  The findings are set out in detail in the Appendix to 
this document. 
 
As can be seen from the above, the ONS-4 stands out as being the most 
suitable option to measure wellbeing across the whole of DCC services. 
Because of this, suggestions of how this may be introduced are examined 
below, as are suggestions for how to navigate the issue with the ONS-4’s 
readability. 
 
Readability Issues. 
 
The primary issue affecting the introduction of the ONS-4 wellbeing 
measure within DCC is its relative difficulty in readability. It is, in its original 
form (appendix 4) the most complex to read: 

 
While this may not be an issue for some potential participants in any survey, 
there may be others for who this complexity could be a barrier. In such 
instances, the Personal Wellbeing Score could be an alternative. “The 
Personal Wellbeing Score (PWS) is based on the Office of National Statistics 
(ONS) four subjective wellbeing questions (ONS4) and thresholds. PWS is 
short, easy to use and has the same look and feel as other measures in the 
same family of measures.” (Benson, Sladen et al. 2019).  
 
Perhaps most salient is that the PWS can be used in conjunction with the 
ONS-4 (thus meaning either can be used) as it uses thresholds that 
correspond with the ONS-4. As can be seen below, the PWS is comparable to 
SWEMWBS in terms of readability but has clear advantages in terms of 
brevity over other standard measures of wellbeing. It also benefits from the 
widespread robust data of the ONS-4 discussed above.  
 
For ONS4 life satisfaction, worthwhile and happiness scores, responses 
9–10 are grouped as Very high, 7–8 as High, 5–6 as Medium and 0–4 as 
Low. For anxiety scores, responses 6–10 are grouped as High, 4–5 as 
Medium, 2–3 as Low and 0–1 as Very low and correspond to each of the 
‘emojis’ used on the PWS. 

 
 
 

Page 192



 

 

21 

 

Creating a strong baseline 
 
As previously stated, because the ONS-4 is so widely used, there is a 
wealth of data already available that can be used to create baselines. 
This data is taken at a local, regional and national level and has been for 
over a decade. This data is presented below and gives an insight into the 
value of the data to produce robust baseline data (appendix 4). A brief 
look at this data allows for the following conclusions relating to wellbeing 
in County Durham to be made (since 2011): 

• Life satisfaction in Durham is consistently ‘High’ and a little higher 
than national and regional averages. 

• The feeling that life is worthwhile (Eudaemonic wellbeing) in 
Durham again is consistently ‘High’ and a higher than national and 
regional averages. 

• Happiness’ scores across the county have been considerably less 
consistent, and in 2012/13 almost dropped from ‘High’ to ‘Medium’. 

• Regarding anxiety, the picture is changeable. While a significant 
drop in reported anxiety levels from in 2016/17 may be a surprise, 
the rise in 2019/20 across all areas is perhaps less so. What is 
important here however, is that the ONS-4 data has captured this 
increase in anxiety over this time.  

 
Using pre-existing data to draw such (quick) conclusions also helps to 
point to how the ONS-4/PWS can be used specifically by DCC to 
measure the impact of the wellbeing approach. The first being tracking 
general changes over time across the whole population via publicly 
available ONS-4 data, much in the same (albeit more detailed) way to 
what has been done here.  
 
Secondly, the ONS-4/PWS allows for the monitoring of interim measures 
which could be undertaken either through DCC commissioned services 
or by ad-hoc surveys. These could potentially be set against the 
background of the ONS-4 measurements. This would allow DCC to 
ascertain whether or not the interventions they are making result in a 
positive contribution to people’s lives. Data collected by DCC in general 
could be compared to background data, to see if individuals who interact 
with DCC services experience greater wellbeing and could further be 
employed to measure and demonstrate the impact of specific services on 
wellbeing, by asking individuals to report their wellbeing (alongside any 
other data requested by any such service) at the beginning and then the 
end of their journey with the service, if applicable. 

 

Page 193



 

 

22 

 

 
  

•The most effective way of ensuring effective 
monitoring and embedding of the Approach to 

Wellbeing should include the SAF alongside 
other measures.

•Monitoring of wellbeing within County 
Durham should be done in a standardised 

way, employing the ONS-4 Measures of 
Wellbeing in conjunction with the Personal 

Wellbeing Scale.

Phase Three: Key 
Recommendations/ 

Findings

Page 194



 

 

23 

 

Internal Stocktake – 2 year review 
 

An additional piece of work that is of note, is a 2-year review of the A2W that 
was undertaken internally by the Public Health Team (appendix 5).  
 

It included an audit of the A2W against guidance published by Public Health 
England In January 2020, entitled ‘Community-centred public health: Taking a 
whole system approach’ (PHE, 2020). The paper was intended to ‘summarise 
the key elements, core values and principles needed to develop whole system 
approaches to community-centred public health’, and also to ‘improve the 
effectiveness and sustainability of action to build healthy communities, whilst 
embedding community-centred ways of working within whole systems’. 

Taken as national guidance on the best approaches to community 
engagement, it was decided to look at how that guidance could then inform 
further changes to the Wellbeing Approach.   

Whilst the audit found a number of strengths in the Wellbeing Approach, 
(namely the ease of its practical application due to the development of the 
soundbites model, and the self-assessment framework), there were some 
areas where changes could be made to improve the impact of the Wellbeing 
Approach.  This included strengthening the focus around a number of key 
strategic enablers to support successful implementation.  For example, the 
PHE model emphasised:  

1 leadership,  

2 building skills across the workforce,  

3 the mainstreaming and scaling up of interventions,  

4 structured approaches for engaging communities,  

5 building capacity within communities and the VCS,  

6 setting out long term ambitions with outcome frameworks;  

7 and efforts to identify and lay the ground-work for successful 
whole system working. 

Taken alongside the University evaluation at the time, three areas for action 
stood out, including the need to  

a) ensure leadership buy-in,  

b) the importance of developing a systematic approach to community 
engagement, and  

c) the importance of mainstreaming the approach.   

Page 195



 

 

24 

 

The Approach to Wellbeing Steering Group therefore reflected on the 
following questions.  

• Has enough been done to secure support for the Wellbeing Approach at 
senior level within the organisation(s)?  Could more be done?  

• Have we determined a structured and consistent approach for the way 
in which we engage communities?  

• Do we have a system in place to mainstream and scale up those 
interventions we know work?  

• Could more be done to build skills in community-centred working across 
the workforce? 

• What are we doing to build capacity in communities and ensure our 
VCS is thriving?  Can we do more?  

• Have we set out a long-term vision for the Wellbeing Approach?  What 
should that be?  

• What outcomes are we working towards?  How are we measuring our 
success?  

 

An action plan containing some practical actions in response to these 
questions was discussed and approved at the Approach to Wellbeing Steering 
Group and is included in Appendix 6. 

  

Page 196



 

 

25 

 

Overarching Conclusions and Recommendations  
 
Having considered each phase of evaluation, including recommendations from 
the Community Hub (Appendix (b)) and Internal Stocktake paper (Appendix 5) 
the following conclusions have been reached, and recommendations made: 

• Feedback from COVID-19 Champions is that they already provide a wealth 

of information and support across their areas, but there is also the 

recognition that some areas are less well supported. Rural and 

geographically isolated areas in particular were identified as those which 

may need further engagement. 

• Trust is key to engaging any community, and we often find it easier to trust 

individuals that we share common experiences with. Because of this, it is 

necessary to recruit as representative a populous of Community 

Champions as possible. Where there is particularly low engagement 

from a community, particular effort should be made to reach out and 

attempt to recruit Champions to aid engagement. One particular 

community with whom this may be helpful is amongst those individuals 

sceptical or unwilling to be vaccinated against COVID-19. 

• Although there is a clear commitment at all levels to follow the approach to 

wellbeing and apply its principles, in practice this can be difficult due to 

their, sometimes abstract, nature. 

• While the Self-Assessment framework and wellbeing principles ‘as is’ are 

suitable at strategic level and provide a valuable instrument to guide and 

review decision-making and performance, these are often too time-

consuming or too far removed from everyday practice in delivery settings.  

• For this reason, it is also recommended that dedicated training in the 

approach to wellbeing be replaced in favour of measures designed to 

place the approach at the heart of each role. Including these elements 

in role specifications and key areas of focus will also aid in affecting 

whole system ‘culture shift’ towards the wellbeing approach. 

Appraising key role competencies in a manner that is wellbeing-

driven can also be a valuable approach to affecting such culture shift. 

• When dedicated training is delivered, it can sometimes be difficult to 

transport any learning from this environment to the ‘real world’. 

• Furthermore, the more time that passes following this training, the more 

difficult it becomes to recall its content and purpose. Because of this, a 

further recommendation is to look at ways of embedding the 

wellbeing principles within role descriptions and at the heart of team 

meetings and development sessions. 

• It has been suggested that the communication of the approach to wellbeing 

may still be too abstract for use in community settings. These examples 

should illustrate the benefits of the wellbeing approach in relatable ways 

Page 197



 

 

26 

 

but should refrain from doing so in an abstract fashion. Ultimately, any 

explanation of the approach should make sense to the target audience. 

• A recommendation in this regard therefore is to devise a variety of 

simpler and more instructive examples/case studies of the successful 

implementation of the wellbeing approach in addition to the 

soundbites model already developed. 

• It is vital to be able to objectively measure and monitor wellbeing within 

County Durham over time in order to support the continued application of 

the approach to wellbeing. It is recommended that this monitoring of 

wellbeing within County Durham is done in a standardised, 

consistent and universal way in order to ensure the greatest benefit. 

• It is further recommended that this measurement/monitoring use an 

externally validated, quantifiable measure to maximise how robust 

any data collected is, strengthening any conclusions drawn from 

such data. 

• Key factors that should be taken into account with any system employed to 

collect data for wellbeing purposes (though potentially also applicable to 

any data collection) is that it is F.A.S.T. (Feasible, Accessible, 

Standardised and Transferable). 

• It is recommended that the ONS-4 Measures of Wellbeing are used (in 

conjunction with the Personal Wellbeing Scale) as these offer the 

best combination of ease of introduction, brevity, readability and 

richness of existing data. 

• While it is anticipated that introducing the ONS-4/PWS hybrid measure will 

result in the creation of a robust and instructive dataset in a manageable 

fashion, this is currently hypothetical. Therefore, it is recommended that a 

small-scale pilot be run in which suitable services begin to introduce 

routine collection of ONS-4 data to gauge its suitability in real terms. 

Because it already uses such data, including the Social Prescribing 

Link Worker Service in this pilot is suggested.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 198



 

 

27 

 

Appendix 
Appendix (1): 
Phase 1: A retrospective review of early adopters  
 

Introduction to the evidence base 

In 2019, County Durham developed an A2WB that was an asset-based model 

intended to engage communities and encourage devolution of power to them, 

alongside increasing shared decision making.  The Approach built on the success of 

Area Action Partnerships (AAPs) and their long established work with communities 

across County Durham.   

 

National Context  

In 2010, the UK, through the work of the Office for National Statistics (ONS), became 

one of the first countries in the world to track the wellbeing of its citizens using, 

amongst other things, measures of health, relationships, education, finances and the 

environment. There followed a United Nations resolution and report in 2012 on the 

importance of wellbeing and happiness in forming a ‘new economic paradigm’ with a 

World Happiness report now being published annually by the UN.   

 

More recently, in May 2019, New Zealand declared itself the first country in the world 

to measure its success by its people’s wellbeing. Its entire Treasury budget is now 

built around a series of wellbeing priorities (1) (mental health, child wellbeing, 

supporting Maori populations, building a productive nation, transforming the economy, 

and a supporting capital investment programme). 

 

Wellbeing is therefore becoming of increasing importance, with an All Party 

Parliamentary Group also suggesting that personal wellbeing rather than economic 

growth should be the primary aim of our own UK Government spending (2).   

 

Wellbeing includes everything that is important to people and their lives. Wellbeing, 

rather than levels of employment of economic growth, even determines how people 

vote (3).  In purely economic terms, it is responsible for levels of productivity, benefit 

dependence and absenteeism. In human terms, it can simply be described as ‘how 

Page 199



 

 

28 

 

well we are doing’, and ‘how satisfied we are with our lives’.  This can then impact on 

a persons physical or mental health.  

 

Wellbeing in Durham 

In recent years, County Durham has seen many improvements in people’s health and 

wellbeing, for example, as a result of targeted health improvement programmes, the 

reduction in smoking rates or improved screening programmes.  Consequently, 

Durham residents can expect to live longer lives than previously; however, they are 

not necessarily living happier and healthier lives and many still face a considerable 

number of challenges to their wellbeing. 

 

For example, alcohol related deaths are increasing, and almost 17% of adults in 

Durham (14% in England) report levels of high anxiety.  In addition, 12% of adults 

have a long term mental health problem, (only 9% across England), over 50,000 

people in the county are diagnosed with depression and, it is estimated, that 1 in 10 

children have a mental health disorder.  Finally, healthy life expectancy (the years we 

can expect to live in good health) is only 58.7 years for women in Durham (60.4 in 

England), and 58.9 years for men (59.5 in England) and only 70% of people in Durham 

report a high level of wellbeing (or happiness), compared to 75% in England.   

 

Taken together, these figures highlight the fact that there is more we can do to improve 

people’s wellbeing across County Durham, and that doing so through interventions 

that engage communities, devolve power, develop social capital and build resilience 

will not only improve people’s lives but lengthen their lives and improve our economic 

and inclusive growth.  This will also support the County Durham Vision of More and 

Better Jobs, Long and Independent Lives and Connected Communities 

 

 

Background and evolution of the A2WB model 

 

The 6 principles of the A2WB model were developed as part of an iterative process 

engaging members of the Resilient Communities Group, the Mental Health Strategic 

Partnership Board, the Public Health Team, the Mental Health Stakeholder Forum and 

teams within Durham County Council and the NHS.  Implementation of the model 

Page 200



 

 

29 

 

resulted in two strands of work; the design of a theoretical model (Figure 1),   and an 

‘audit’ tool that would enable people to put the principles into practice, which resulted 

in the development of the Self-Assessment Framework (Figure 2). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 201



 

 

30 

 

Figure 1: The original A2WB model, showcasing six principles 

 

 

P
age 202



 

 

31 

 

 

Figure 2: The Self-Assessment Framework 

 

 

Through feedback from partners, the theoretical model was developed into a 

‘Soundbites’ model (Figure 3). 

 

Figure 3: Revised A2WB Soundbites model 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Methods 

Study Design 

This evaluation is an implementation evaluation, focussing on participants engaged 

with the A2WB, using qualitative methods. In the phase one focus groups and 

Page 203



 

 

32 

 

interviews, participants were asked about their experiences of working with the A2WB 

principles and framework. This has allowed the research team to suggest revisions 

and potential developments to the approach, based on feedback. 

 

Ethical Approval 

Ethical approval from the School of Social Sciences and Law Ethics Committee at 

Teesside University was given for phase one. Following on from this, approval was 

received from Durham County Council through their Research and Guidance process 

(RAG). 

 

Phase One – Early Adopter Focus Groups and Interviews 

Interviewees were recruited from the staff that have been involved in developing and 

using the wellbeing approach and its self-assessment framework.  Participants were 

approached by the public health team and consent sought for their participation.  12 

members of DCC staff and external partners were invited to attend a focus group or 

interview.  Those who wished to take part were asked to confirm with the member of 

the public health team, and a mutually convenient time for the focus group or interview 

was agreed. Two focus groups and two interviews took place remotely via Microsoft 

Teams. A topic guide was prepared in advance and covered a range of topics. 

The interviews with DCC staff and partners were audio recorded to aid in transcription.  

Once the transcripts had been completed the data was analysed using applied 

thematic analysis.  Research staff from Teesside University worked in collaboration 

with public health staff from DCC in the identification and coding of themes.  For the 

purpose of this research an inductive approach to coding was adopted as we were 

looking for feedback on a service and were not coding the transcripts in line with 

existing theories. 

 

 

 

Evaluation progress to date  

- Phase one ethics application submitted and approved from Teesside 

University, and a Research and Guidance (RAG) application submitted and 

approved from DCC 

Page 204



 

 

33 

 

- Between March and June 2020, discussions with the research team and 

steering group to adapt the evaluation to incorporate the complexities of 

COVID-19 

- Qualitative data collection for phase one, which involved two focus groups and 

two interviews with members of the A2WB steering group, and partners who 

were involved as early adopters of the A2WB (n = 7). 

- Brief presented to the steering group to include an additional phase to the 

evaluation; the case studies 

- Initial analysis of phase one data to develop an options appraisal for the 

steering group for phase three (Appendix 1) 

- Phase three ethics application submitted to Teesside University, and 

conditional approval granted 

- RAG application completed, ready to submit to DCC 

- Preparatory work for phase three data collection 

 

 

Qualitative results 

Two focus groups and two interviews were held within County Durham. Participants 

included members of the steering group who have been involved in developing the 

wellbeing approach, and leads from services within DCC and external partners in the 

voluntary and community sector who have engaged with the wellbeing approach to 

date (n = 7). Five major themes have developed from the analysis of the focus groups 

and interviews relating to:  

 

 

 

 

 

• Understanding the wellbeing approach

• Challenges to engaging with and using the 
wellbeing approach

• The impact of the wellbeing approach so far

• Developing the wellbeing approach

• Suggestions for implementation

Phase 
One 

Page 205



 

 

34 

 

Understanding the approach  

Members from the steering group took part in a focus group. It was clear that the 

participants had an understanding of the A2WB, and an understanding of why it was 

developed. It was felt that departments within DCC were already trying to deliver on a 

similar agenda, and so it made sense to try and develop a framework which would 

capture what was already taking place: 

“….it was being done sort of disparately but bringing it together in one 

approach that we could then apply to other things, I think that’s how I 

would explain it. I think we were all having the same thought processes 

doing it in our own little places and being brought together as an approach 

for the whole systems if that makes sense”. Participant 2 

 

There was agreement that there was still a lot of work to do, and that the changes that 

needed to take place would allow the approach to be delivered system-wide, not just 

service-wide. One of the changes that participants hoped that the approach would 

bring, was the opportunity for the local authority, and wider organisations across 

County Durham to deliver things differently by giving power back to the people; 

empowering local people: 

“We have a patriarchal approach where we want to care for everybody we 

want to do for everybody and we've taken some of that power away from 

our population and this is this is a way of trying to give a bit of that back 

like not just to individuals and to the community organisations that work 

with them”.   Participant 2 

“…..this wellbeing approach could work and would make a difference 

now….. is very much about giving the power back, or moving the power 

back out into the community”. Participant 1 

 

In order for this to be achieved, it was agreed that there would need to be a concerted 

effort to support managers and clinicians to feel comfortable in letting go of some 

elements of their work. As well as community members taking more responsibility for 

their wellbeing: 

“……rather than thinking ‘patients’ we need to think about ‘partners’…. we 

need people to start to take responsibility for their wellbeing and not be 

patients themselves but actually be citizens, residents and not just service 

users but actual genuine partners in their wellbeing”. Participant 3 

Page 206



 

 

35 

 

 

The overall goal of introducing, developing and then embedding the A2WB is to enable 

the approach to become automatic. That people don’t even realise they are using the 

approach; that it just happens: 

“I suppose that’s the kind of overall goal isn’t it that people don’t ever need 

to see the model people just work in that way because that’s the right 

thing to do and there is that culture and system wide change that means 

that you don’t have to sit down with a set of six principals and say to 

people this is how you need to be working or this is how you should be 

working in order to improve the wellbeing, that people just do it”. 

Participant 7 

 

Early adopters of the approach who took part in interviews and a focus group also had 

an understanding of the A2WB, but discussed how it had taken time to fully understand 

the approach, and also understand the tool used to measure the approach (the self-

assessment framework). Part of that was delving into the question, ‘What is 

wellbeing?’: 

“You've got to be got to be careful because this tool is quite vague which 

is great and it's very freeing and flexible. But it has the potential to get 

very confusing and messy very quickly……I think that was quite a tricky 

thing as everybody you know everybody wants people's wellbeing to be 

good but what do you mean by wellbeing?” Participant 4 

 

That challenge of understanding the approach is discussed further in the next theme, 

‘Challenges to engaging with and using the wellbeing approach’. 

 

Challenges to engaging with and using the wellbeing approach 

Participants discussed some of the barriers that might stop partners and organisations 

getting on board with the A2WB. There was a belief that some people might think the 

approach was simply another public health initiative, and that they wouldn’t view the 

approach as applicable to their area: 

 “No disrespect to public health colleagues but what happens is people 

think public health, airy fairy, conceptual and you know all this theoretical 

stuff and colleagues within particularly within the local authority  I can see 

Page 207



 

 

36 

 

them now standing in front of me saying ‘But what does it actually mean 

(name)?” Participant 2 

 

“….in the early days I don’t think a lot of people got it and I think a lot of 

people thought it was just another public health initiative…..  The initial 

model was the one with the pie chart and then you know, the outcomes, 

and it was really complex and I don't think a lot of people could see how it 

applied, particularly in the VCs, that some of the smaller sort of grassroots 

organisations, I think, really struggled to see how it applied to them”. 

Participant 7 

 

It was felt that a way to overcome this challenge was to make sure the work was put 

in now. This was so that the approach had been developed to the point where the 

value of using it was obvious to organisations outside of public health, rather than just 

being seen as a tick-box exercise: 

 

“…..that preparatory work (is done)……….so that when I then take it into 

a much more rigid NHS environment there is already evidence within 

County Durham that this adds value rather than going to our providers 

and saying we want to incorporate this and they then thinking that it is a 

public health slant on the world and okay we’ll stick it in and tick that box.” 

Participant 3 

 

In addition to this, there is also the challenge of responsibility and accountability: 

“It’s very difficult sometimes to get colleagues to understand that their bit 

of the business impacts on the wellbeing of the population when actually 

all of our business impacts on the wellbeing of the population”. Participant 

2 

 

At first, the concept of ‘community’ was difficult for some participants to understand, 

with regards to thinking of a geographical community rather than a community of 

interest. Therefore, there is a danger in being unable to translate this to other sectors, 

such as NHS services, and services generally when people don’t think they work with 

communities, they work with patients: 

“I was like oh I think because our service is so specific it’s people living 

with dementia and their carers’ and it was talking about communities and I 

hadn’t quite made that link but I suppose now I look at the community as 

Page 208



 

 

37 

 

it’s a community of people living with dementia or carers rather than the 

physical community or the geographical community”. Participant 6 

 

The original model was perceived by some participants as ‘difficult’ and was viewed 

as ‘quite high level’. It was seen as a theoretical model rather than a practical model. 

The positive view is that participants believe that they have been listened to. Their 

feedback has been taken on board and now the model has been adapted. This has 

resulted in a new, one page model, which participants felt addressed the gap between 

academic theory to practice. 

There were some participants who didn’t struggle with the A2WB, and believed that it 

worked very well for their organisation. The downside was that for national 

organisations, larger organisations, the model was seen as maybe trickier to adapt. 

There is a less room for a local branch of an organisation to make decisions and 

change the service delivery model, based on the outcome of completing the self-

assessment framework: 

“….is a little difficult as well, if I'm honest, and things have kind of brought 
up locally, sometimes if you're a national model, I suppose how does that 
fit?” Participant 6 

 

The next steps with embedding the A2WB have been difficult due to the COVID-19 

pandemic. Some organisations have furloughed staff, so they are not at work to be 

able to embed the approach. Also, organisations have been responding to situations 

that are urgent and need an immediate response. The approach needs time invested 

in it to understand it, therefore hasn’t been a priority during 2020: 

“We haven't used the wellbeing the new wellbeing tool…..I would say it's 

because of the lockdown so everything's just stopped”.  Participant 4 

“Lots of people have been furloughed, a lot of organisations looking at 

redundancy, all that kind of stuff, and when you're then presented with 

something like this, as we've said that maybe does look a little academic 

and time consuming, have people just gone… I can't that can’t be my 

focus right now everybody’s focus has had to go into emergency mode”. 

Participant 6 

 

Page 209



 

 

38 

 

It was agreed that although some organisations had not been able to underpin their 

work with the A2WB over the past few months, one positive was seeing how some of 

the community responses were able to use it: 

 

“From an NHS perspective this has gone by the wayside it has been all 

hands to the pump and it hasn’t underpinned any of the response from a 

hospital type environment I have heard that it has supported much more 

in the communities/community hubs that kind of thing but in terms of acute 

service provision we are not there”.  Participant 3 

 

For some participants who had provided early feedback, but not had the opportunity 

to test the principles during COVID-19, there was still a willingness to utilise it moving 

forward. 

A barrier that participants felt was impacting on how partners from the commissioning 

sector engaged with the A2WB, was due to the nature of trying to move away from 

measurements and performance based on numbers only. With regard to people 

delivering contracts, the challenge was ‘how are you going to hold them to account?’: 

“….always a bit of a battle with commissioning to try to get them to 

understand the impact your service has on people’s lives as opposed to, I 

know in the past (name) and I would sit and look at things and I’d say to 

(name), what does it matter whether we have seen 250 people this 

quarter have we actually made a difference to any of those 250 peoples 

lives?”  Participant 7 

 

In addition to this, not all commissioning services know about embedding the 

upcoming A2WB, although awareness of it is starting to trickle through the system: 

“….the commissioner officers and managers…..some of them are still not 

fully aware of what the approach is. But they are being made aware quite 

rapidly”.  Participant 7 

 

 

The impact of the A2WB so far 

A positive view from participants was that the A2WB framework was providing an 

opportunity for organisations to think about what they were doing: 

Page 210



 

 

39 

 

“When we talking about involving the community and the design and 

development of service.....it gave us a framework to work from that 

absolutely challenge what we think we're doing but actually may not really 

be doing and actually having to articulate and think about it. I think it was 

really helpful”.  Participant 1 

“You need to make sure that there's a lot of scrutiny while you when 

you're going through this process because it would be very easy just to go 

oh yeah we do that, we do that”. Participant 4 

 

The space to think about what they were doing also helped participants to think about 

and add accountability: 

“So while that next steps may not be actively doing things, what I do think 

that next step is for an organisation who works in this way is that 

accountability and thinking about I am accountable for everything I said”. 

Participant 7 

 

Participants felt that the model allows them to add value; it provides a framework to 

evidence work that is already being carried out, for commissioners. It also highlights 

the self-assessment framework as a positive tool for providers in enabling them to 

gather evidence about the effectiveness of their work: 

“…we gathered case studies every month from the advisers who used to 

look at getting that impact work and then as we have gone on and 

developed that relationship with the commissioners we actually really 

decided they did quite like that and being able to quote things and know 

the difference it made to people’s lives” Participant 7 

 

The self-assessment framework has helped participants to demonstrate the fantastic 

work that is already taking place. The framework helps to make a service become 

outcome focussed, rather than just be about numbers, and show the greater impact 

on people’s lives. An opportunity to influence commissioners from the ‘bottom up’: 

“What we struggled to do was to really shine and show commissioners 

what we were doing well….the contract report and didn't give us the 

opportunity to do that. Because it was very much focused on quantitative 

data of numbers….so what it did give us the opportunity to do was really 

sing about the things that we were doing well, but it also helps us focus 

and realise that we were doing all of this”. Participant 7 

 

Page 211



 

 

40 

 

Finally, for some participants, the model was used easily, as it fitted the approach of 

the organisation, rather than the organisation trying to fit the wellbeing approach: 

“I looked at what the model was…and I thought, well, we do that 

anyway….it was a way of evidencing because we were coming up about 

having to write a massive report for commissioning… there was lots of 

evaluations data they wanted, that was more about the qualitative and the 

wellbeing and the difference it made people's lives, so we were able to 

use it to really evidence that we were doing that”. Participant 7 

 

Developing the A2WB 

Data emerged from the focus groups and interviews which explored the key elements 

of developing the A2WB to date, and what participants felt was needed moving forward 

with any revisions. Multiple methods were used to communicate the A2WB, which 

meant participants had heard about it from various committees, groups and boards. 

However, the original model was difficult to understand for some: 

 “Yeah – I think the original diagram and use of the …. I can’t even 

remember the name of the family! The Taylors, I’m being frank now 

right….a lot of people didn’t associate with the Taylor family graphic and 

then having that pie chart was a little bit complicated so taking that out 

has made it a little bit more acceptable I think”. Participant 2 

 

As picked up previously in the report, the difficulties in understanding the model were 

met by public health staff who were keen to listen, learn, and make changes to the 

model: 

“I think the most helpful thing developing this approach is (name) been 

very genuine with wanting to develop the …. the amount of times I've 

done it myself or other people have said well you have a look at this and 

then you've made some suggestions and they don't want to hear 

that……(name) genuinely been that she wants to make this work……so 

that's helped to be able to give feedback”. Participant 4 

 

So far, the changes that have been made have been well received by those 

participants who have seen the revision from the original model to the soundbites 

model: 

Participant 4: One thing that (name) and I know discussed is it wasn't a 

circle wasn't it?  

Page 212



 

 

41 

 

Researcher: Yeah  

Participant 4: And for me I thought that's actually quite helpful because 

you can start at whatever point it makes the most sense for you to start at 

 

“…..gone from this, like, big theoretical document that was probably about 

50 pages long to now a one page sound bite document”. Participant 7 

 

More importantly, it was felt that the changes that the model had undergone were done 

using a coproduction approach: 

“So I think one of the positives I would say about the development of the 

model is that hasn't been done to organisations, it's been done with 

them…..It's not just another public health initiative that's been chucked at 

people and gone do this, It's actually been done with people”. Participant 

7 

“I think the fact that I can see from that initial stage from where we are 

now it certainly has changed and you can only assume that is going to 

happen because they have listened….. it has been developed with 

people”. Participant 6 

 

Although there has been a lot of development work carried out, participants feel that 

there are further revisions to go. It was felt that some of the questions in the principles 

still might be difficult to understand when engaging at a community level. For example, 

principle 5 uses the word ‘co-designed’. What does that mean? Some community 

members would needs explanations to understand the terminology used, as it ‘might 

frighten some people’. Re-wording the principles might be necessary. In addition to 

this, the language used needs to be updated, as there are words that pigeon-hole the 

A2WB to one sector, rather than cutting across various: 

“So under Principal 6 which is doing with not to, it talks about making our 
health and care intervention to empowering and centred around you as an 
individual but what we want to do is embed this into all service delivery 
whether it be housing strategy whether its bin collection. So we need to 
remove the health and care aspect as this needs to be applicable across 
all sectors and not just health and care. Because actually everybody’s 
wellbeing is everybody’s responsibility not just the health and care sector 
and I think that has been a barrier up until now because some organisations 
have looked at it and gone well we are not health and care organisation so 
it has nothing to do with us”. Participant 7 

Page 213



 

 

42 

 

“It's just it's sort of the terminology….principle five…are your services co-
design and coproduced with the people who need them as well as their 
carers? Yeah. Some people will get that, but some people will probably 
think, what does that mean?…..I just think some community members might 
need a little bit of an explanation as to what the terminology is”. Participant 
5 

 

Moving forward, COVID-19 has provided the opportunity were a lot of organisations 

are hitting the re-set button. It’s an opportune time to help these services embed the 

A2WB now: 

“Covid could be an opportunity because you know families and 

communities actually have had to look after themselves and had to 

provide sort of support so you’re knocking on an open door in many 

respects”. Participant 1 

“I mean in some regards it’s a bit like Winston Churchill said “never waste 

a crisis” the covid has enabled us to try and move some of this a little 

more quickly through the community hub work through the relationships 

that are building within the voluntary sector themselves and out there in 

the communities”. Participant 2 

 

There is going to be a period of recovery, but also an opportunity for services to be 

re-designed. Some participants were taking this time to ensure that the A2WB was 

influencing how some services would be delivered in the future: 

“We have put wording in all of our contracts around the wellbeing 

approach so we are bringing it in as part of the reset and redesign going 

forward”. Participant 2 

 

Lastly, future development of the A2WB included adding in an expected timeframe 

into the self-assessment framework. It was agreed that the framework should be 

monitored annually, but this needs to be made clearer. Adding in ‘possible next steps 

and agreed timescales’ at the end of the framework would help to add some 

accountability, but not be so strict as a Key Performance Indicator. 

 

“It is probably worth  having some kind of expected timescale on there 

(the framework) because you can say possible next steps I’m going to do 

an evaluation and not do that for 3 years  there is no…..expectation on 

timescale”. Participant 6 

Page 214



 

 

43 

 

 

 

Suggestions for implementation  

Participants felt strongly that for the A2WB to be embedded successfully in their 

respective departments and organisations, it needed to be driven down from a 

strategic level: 

“…provided our head of services said to do it, we're quite happy to do 
what we can……I think it's probably been at a higher level to decide what 
the next step was, and like I said, everybody's that preoccupied with 
COVID at the minute it’s maybe not been on people's agendas at the 
minute, maybe that's just my opinion. So yeah, if its going to be picked 
back up again I think that needs to be somebody higher than me who 
says, yeah, we can start”. Participant 5 

 

The timing needs to be right to start introducing the A2WB at the community level. 

Communities are working so hard to support their community at the moment. 

Participants asked the question, ‘Do they have the capacity?’ It was also felt that any 

conversations with communities needed to be framed in a way that’s not ‘you should 

be doing it like this’. It needs to be framed positively: 

“I think I'd be very careful at the minute as to what I was sort of putting out 

there…..it's a sensitive time and I just think everybody's ran ragged and 

everybody's tried to do their bit in the community and we’re into second 

lockdown now. And if you started putting something out like this, that no 

disrespect, they might think, is this really necessary? Is this really helping 

at the minute?” Participant 5 

 

An example of engaging with the community could be to make use of the AAP 

roadshows, where there could be further work around re-wording the principles. It was 

felt that the model ‘still feels a little too academic’. A suggestion from a participant was 

to ask community members the question ‘What do these principles mean to you?’ By 

doing this, the A2WB will be attempting to work across different levels, to engage with 

a particular audience: 

“…it needs to work at a strategic level, an operational level, an individual 
level and then at a community level in order to achieve its aims”. Participant 
3 

 

Page 215



 

 

44 

 

With regards to consultation, geography- wise, it was seen as crucial to cover the 

North, Central, and South of County Durham. This will ensure that rural, urban and 

semi-rural areas are captured, as they may have differing views. This will also ensure 

that the consultation is inclusive, giving an opportunity for all to engage. Engagement 

will vary across the AAPs, but the opportunity needs to be there. 

“But within my area…..we either try to do pilots in the North, Central or 

South…..you're going to be better off trying to invite a lot of them and they 

might not all engage, but you've given them the opportunity”. Participant 5 

 

Although there were no examples of how to use the model and self-assessment 

framework to begin with, earlier feedback from partners meant that case studies were 

developed. Participants thought it was good to have examples of how other services 

and organisations have applied the model; working examples and case studies that 

can be looked at: 

 

“When you were trying to look at the principles, and there wasn't any, like, 

nobody could give you any examples of how it was done, because it 

hasn't been done. But now, we've got so much opportunity to be able to 

do that. So I think it was just that for me in the early days”. Participant 7 

 

“…..actually doing the exercise and doing a bit of work around it and 

putting into really plain language and translating into actual practical 

things and sharing that into somewhere else that you want to do this work 

so they can see a bit of an example of where it has been practically 

applied…. has really helped”. Participant 1 

 

“But I learn always kinda by getting something in my hands….I can say in 

my head that is actually our service anyway is outcomes focused and that 

is what we have always done and it was how to kind of match them up 

and it was seeing on paper it was probably just me and how I learn”. 

Participant 6 

 

Finally, it was agreed that a key aspect in rolling the A2WB out was for partners, 

stakeholders, organisations and services to see what was in it for them.  How could 

the A2WB add value to the work that they carry out; their ambition, aims and 

objectives: 

Page 216



 

 

45 

 

“People have to understand how it applies to them. everybody's busy, 

everybody's got a role, everybody's, you know, doing what they do and for 

something new to come along, it has to be applicable, doesn't it?” 

Participant  

 

 

The themes from the first phase of data collection have been used to help inform phase 

three of the evaluation with the COVID-19 Champions, and will help to triangulate 

findings in the final report.  

 

Conclusion 

 

The findings from phase one indicate that the A2WB that is being offered across 

County Durham is understood by members of the steering group as well as partners 

who were early adopters of the approach. There is an understanding of why it has 

been developed, although this took time for some participants to fully understand the 

approach. However, it was agreed that there are still changes to make.  Participants 

in the focus groups and interviews felt that there were a number of challenges to the 

implementation and embedment of the approach. These included the A2WB being 

viewed as only a public health initiative, rather than cutting across different sectors; 

the model potentially still appearing too academic; communities being viewed in a 

geographical sense, rather than communities of interest; COVID-19 impacting on the 

speed of roll-out, due to staff pressures and furloughed staff; and the commissioning 

process becoming more comfortable with outcomes rather than just numbers. 

 

Examples of the positive impact of the A2WB so far include: partners thinking about 

what their service is providing in terms of empowering communities to improve their 

wellbeing; improved accountability; providing a framework to demonstrate added 

value and providing an opportunity to showcase their work. The development of the 

model so far was respected, due to the nature of public health staff listening to 

feedback and coproducing any changes. To help improve and develop the approach 

further, it was suggested that revisions might be required to then introduce the model 

at a community level, as well as ensuring the language used didn’t exclude a particular 

sector, i.e. the A2WB can be used in multiple sectors. 

Page 217



 

 

46 

 

 

Finally, suggestions for the future implementation of the A2WB included: ensuring that 

the approach was driven down from a strategic level; working with introducing the 

approach to communities at the right time, due to COVID-19 fatigue; ensuring that 

engagement and consultation is inclusive; providing plenty of practical examples of 

how to use the A2WB principles and framework; and emphasising the added value 

that the A2WB can bring to an organisation. 

 

These initial findings can be utilised to drive the next stage of data collection and 

analysis, and also inform a number of recommendations for the next stage: 

 

Recommendation 1: The soundbites model needs to be developed so that it can be 

understood at a community level. The first development was theoretical, and the 

second stage of revisions was to help with practical implementation. Further work is 

now needed to be able to communicate at the community level.  

 

Recommendation 2: There is fatigue in the community after the first phase of 

lockdown. It is perhaps not the right time to approach and involve the community in 

the next stage of model development. Therefore, it is suggested that the team start 

with a community of interest to develop the soundbites model. Asking ‘What do these 

six principles mean to you? How will your community respond?’ 

 

Recommendation 3: Make sure there is a good geographical spread when working 

with the selected community of interest (and beyond). Go to the north, central and 

south of County Durham, to cover rural, semi-rural and urban areas. 

 

Recommendation 4: The framework and model needs to be driven from the top, to 

ensure buy-in to trickle down, and that staff have the necessary directive within their 

workload. 

 

Recommendation 5: Both the framework and model need to be presented for various 

perspectives, not just a public health angle. The framework/model introduced needs 

to cut across departments and sectors. How can it translate to other services, such as 

the NHS? 

Page 218



 

 

47 

 

 

Recommendation 6: When refining the soundbites, thought needs to be given to how 

communities will understand the language. For example, Principle 5 uses the phrase 

‘co-designed’- what does that mean? There potentially needs to be an explanation of 

terminology. 

 

Recommendation 7: Consideration also needs to be given to the language used in 

the model, as it needs to be appropriate across multiple sectors and organisations 

(e.g. using the word communities v patients). Principle 6 says ‘health and social care’, 

but the A2WB is for use across more than just this sector. 

 

Recommendation 8: There is the potential to add a section at the end of the self-

assessment framework, which measures outcomes. An example given was about 

‘accountability’, with a question on ‘Possible next steps and agreed timescales’. 

 

Recommendation 9: Worked, practical examples are needed, which shows how 

other sectors and organisations have applied principles and framework to their service 

area. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 219



 

 

 

 

 

48 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix (2): 
Case Study on the use of the approach in the development of the 
Community Hubs in response to the Covid-19 pandemic. 
 
 
Background 
The community hub concept (which later became known as the County 
Durham Together Hub) was introduced in March 2019 as a suggested 
response to the Covid-19 pandemic to support residents to be able to access 
information around Covid-19 and initially to support around food poverty and 
hardship.  The idea was to provide a central point of contact for residents to 
gain support and information. 
 
What was clear from the beginning was that to have the greatest possible 
reach any response needed to promote building resilience both on a 
community and individual level and the mobilisation of existing community 
assets/resources. 
 
Development 
This was a top down approach which had to happen at a very fast pace and 
had to evolve and change as it delivered due to the nature of its inception.  It 
was not a planned and researched response but came about as an imposed 
health protection measure. However, there was a consistent commitment from 
all involved to improving and developing, based on what residents were 
saying they needed and on what the sectors had to give. 
 
It was identified that residents needed a single point of contact – SPOC.  
Despite time constraints, some elements of an evidence base were able to be 
used around the initial set up by using local knowledge to decide on how the 
hub areas would be split to ensure the best possible service for residents and 
to take into account known socioeconomic issues in some areas e.g. those 
with higher levels of deprivation or known areas of less community resilience. 
Initially the telephone process was quite complex: customer services gathered 
information, which was then passed to hub supervisors, who then triaged and 
passed this to an officer for action, where appropriate. It became clear that 
this was not the best approach as people in crisis were having to tell their 
stories more than once to different people.  This initial script was also very 
focused on identifying the immediate problem rather than taking a more 
holistic approach and understanding what was going on around the individual 
that had led them to a crisis point. By changing the conversations to become 
more person centred, it resulted in people presenting on less occasions with 
the same issues as they had the correct support around them.  MECC 

Page 220



 

 

 

 

 

49 

 

 

 

 

(Making Every Contact Count) training was also successfully used to train 
staff.  This training supports staff to have conversations with people in a more 
person-centred way and to look at situations holistically as opposed to seeing 
them in isolation. 
 
Initially the main focus of the hubs was around food and providing emergency 
food packages or doing shopping for people who were shielding and self-
isolating, however over time the Hubs were able to withdraw from providing 
this service by supporting our community led assets to build capacity and  
deliver this for example AAP’s giving funding to local groups to do this.  This 
led to a much better use of resource and less confusion for people. 
The hub was initially staffed by redeployed staff from areas of the council 
where service delivery had ceased, which initially led to some problems as 
staff did not have the skills or experience to deal with people in crisis, and 
emotionally they initially found this quite challenging. However, extensive staff 
training was developed and support services including regular catch ups and 
supervision were put in place with staff to help them in their roles. This has 
had a positive effect and staff will be able to take these new skills back into 
their own areas of work and think differently about the conversations they 
have with residents? and the impact their interventions could potentially have. 
 
The Self Assessment Framework (SAF) was a particularly useful tool for 
constantly evaluating the service delivery model to ensure that all the 
principles were being reflected. It was a useful tool for development meetings 
in terms of giving discussion topics to focus on, and a structured way of not 
only evaluating what was already in place but also what the gaps were and 
next steps to be taken.  This approach ensured that the principles were just 
embedded in what was being delivered. 
 
The pandemic also led to the expansion of Locate as a platform to empower 
people to build their own resilience which helped to foster a County wide 
approach met by local knowledge. Durham Locate is an online directory which 
allows residents to connect with local services in their community. 
This approach has led to the strengthening of working relationships across the 
county and the development of more robust and easier to access referral 
pathways. It has also reduced duplication of working, and has fostered new 
pathways for the future, and has helped to highlight the importance of the VCS 
in service delivery.  It could be said that without the partnership working and 
recognition of the valuable contribution that communities play in their own 
development such a successful response could not have been delivered. 
This approach also helped in the identification of areas of high resilience and 
those areas where resilience is not so high – this evidence has also been 
further confirmed with the distribution of Covid Community Champions where 

Page 221



 

 

 

 

 

50 

 

 

 

 

we have been able to see the geographical spread of champions as aligned to 
areas of higher resilience. 
 
Key Recommendations/Findings 

• Multi agency approach/whole county approach works well – increased 

reach and more efficient use of resources. 

• SPOC is imperative – people need one place to go to avoid confusion or 

knowing which avenue is the right one. 

• Residents only want to tell their story once as sometimes it takes a lot for 

somebody to be able to pick up the phone, and often the people coming 

through the hubs are in crisis.  Resolutions need to be met by the person 

on the phone if possible (this was key in development from the initial 

response of contact centres collating the information which was then 

passed to hub supervisors to triage to the current system of the 

information, namely assessment and conclusion trying to be reached in 

one call) 

• Area based – meaning staff got to know what was available in their areas, 

and this also fed into the expansion of Durham Locate.  AAP’s, being the 

people on the ground, were able to collate local service information and 

ensure this was added.  This also helped to identify any gaps in services in 

areas showing to be less resilient. 

• Targeted funding in areas identified as not being as resilient to provide 

services – working better together – hubs feeding this info to AAP – this 

also helps to reduce the likelihood of a postcode lottery 

• Upskilling of redeployed staff - this is also a benefit going into the future for 

the way they approach conversations in their usual roles (mainly culture 

and sport staff).  It has also provided a platform for staff to gain experience 

to move into other roles within DCC and the sector. 

• Responsive to need where possible and we haven’t always been able to do 

this efficiently or in a timely manner. 

 
Discussion 
Considering the 6 principles it can be demonstrated below how the community 
hub has integrated these principles into its way of working. It is not about 
delivering the Approach to Wellbeing, it is about delivering a service that is 
aligned to these principles where they are so engrained in the way of working 
that there is no separation between the Approach and service delivery (not 
explicitly using the principles but being able to evidence that they have been 
used and considered). 
 

Page 222



 

 

 

 

 

51 

 

 

 

 

1. Empowering Communities - When clients contacted the Community Hub, 
their needs were identified and ranged from access to food through to mental 
health support. There were many people presenting with mental health issues 
who had never experienced these before therefore felt disempowered and 
their resilience was low as they did not know where to turn.  Depending on 
need, the Hub Officer talked through the options with people to best meet their 
needs and the individual will then make decisions about their support 
themselves. Where possible, the residents were encouraged to make contact 
with local groups/support themselves to build personal resilience, however, 
many needed the intervention of the Community Hub to take this step and 
establish the referral/link. Sometimes, however, people do not act on the 
information given to them meaning they re-enter the Hub. Quite often these 
people had complex needs and needed additional specialist support to 
overcome their issues. With consent of the client, referrals were made to the 
appropriate organisations to obtain the assistance they required. 

2. Being Asset Focused - The Covid-19 pandemic caused unprecedented 
and new challenges to individuals, communities, regions and at a national 
level, across all sectors of society. The Hub was established in response to 
this to meet the essential, new and unmet needs of residents across the 
county and to link those accessing the services to local support or meet the 
needs of those not met elsewhere. The Community Hub utilises the assets 
within communities to signpost and refer people for support where it is 
available. Through the Covid-19 pandemic, a number of VCS organisations 
adapted to include food collection and delivery as well as issuing free food 
parcels to those considered vulnerable in their communities. 

The Community Hub used local voluntary and community sector organisations 
as the main assets within communities. The development of the Hub has led 
to the rapid expansion and updating of the Council’s Locate website to 
facilitate this. The pandemic has identified areas of the county where VCS 
may not be as strong and has enabled funding to be directed to organisations 
to strengthen this as well as a sustainable funding offer to the VCS 
infrastructure organisation, Durham Community Action. 

A number of new organisations also emerged in response to the pandemic 
such as the Mutual Aid groups now operating across County Durham.  These 
groups were offered support through Durham Community Action around 
governance and training and the opportunity to bid for funding. These groups 
have also been added to Locate as a referral ‘destination’. These could be 
used as a proxy indicator of the strength and resource within communities to 
provide support of and within themselves. 

Page 223



 

 

 

 

 

52 

 

 

 

 

3. Building Resilience - The Community Hub (responsive /inbound calls and 
online forms) was established to respond to and meet the needs of those most 
acutely affected by the pandemic.  

Proactive calls were made to those in the county identified on the NHS lists 
and more in depth ‘layering’ of need using population health management 
data to identify those at risk and needing targeted support.  

The utilisation of the Wellbeing for Life service also enabled the cross 
referencing of clients already on their caseloads to ensure continuity of care 
and reducing duplication and facilitating access to GPs where needed. 

Those identified were also the first to receive ‘mail drop’ communications 
about the Community Hub’s offer. The Community Hub was also widely 
publicised via all the council channels to ensure wide reach and access.  

At the outset of this service referral pathways to key services were established 
and shared with all Community Hub staff to ensure direct and timely referrals 
of clients e.g. Early Help, One Point, Domestic Abuse, Learning Disabilities. 
As escalation process was also put in place to ensure safeguarding, 
challenging and complex needs were addressed appropriately.  

Upskilling of staff working on the hub is a real positive going forward as it has 
helped create a more person centred/focused approach and staff will take this 
back to their day jobs in the future which it is anticipated will have a positive 
impact on future service delivery. 

4. Working Better Together - The pandemic has positively contributed to 
joint working to address the unprecedented circumstances experienced by all 
in society and most acutely by those with least resilience and personal 
resource.  
 
A volunteer unit was established following the creation of the CDT hub as it 
was found that many volunteer requests were coming through from both 
individuals and organisations.  The unit built on the work of the CDT hub. It 
aimed to provide a central location where organisations needing additional 
help or practical resources could go to register that need as well as managing 
the offers from businesses and individuals who volunteered their services and 
resources in County Durham. Staff are then able to match them to groups 
across the county’s VCS sector with things such as extra staff, equipment, IT 
support and premises. 
 
The aligning of services to support this innovation has been complimented by 
the system. 
Amidst the speed of implementation of the Community Hub key principles of 
the County Durham Vision, Health and Wellbeing Strategy and the Approach 

Page 224



 

 

 

 

 

53 

 

 

 

 

to Wellbeing underpinned the Hub development including engagement and 
coproduction with some partners. 
 
5. Sharing Decision Making - The adoption of this principle was limited due 
to the timescale dictated by the pandemic, however, some key elements to 
ensure the resident experience was captured were included in the Community 
Hubs design- customer satisfaction survey and feedback functions monitored 
daily by the Case Management system.  The Hub has also evolved over time 
by listening to what customers have been telling us and what they want and 
need which also led to the creation of the Check and Chat service and has 
helped inform gaps and areas for development of services where we have 
been unable to signpost people to this support. The Community Champions 
have been key in feeding back residents’ experiences to the Hub, sense 
checking what the   

6. Doing With Not To - The design of the initial access and the script for call 
handlers was underpinned by a person-centred approach, addressing the 
holistic needs of the clients and seeking to empower them via signposting to 
resilience and independence, and if those accessing could not attain to this 
level of autonomy they were supported to ensure needs were met in the most 
sustainable way available.  This further developed by trialling the Hub 
Supervisors taking the calls at which point they are able to use MECC and 
effective communication skills to holistically assess the client’s needs meaning 
people are less likely to have their needs missed and also have to tell their 
story to less people which can be much more empowering to people who can 
become fatigued by having to tell multiple people what they need before they 
receive the support. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 225



 

 

 

 

 

54 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix (3): 
 

Phase Two Methods – A contemporaneous chronicle of activities 
pertaining to community engagement, working with a community of 
interest COVID-19 ‘Champions’ 
 
Study Design 
 
This element of the evaluation was initially conceived to contain three elements, 
namely: observations of the COVID-19 champions during their Approach to 
Wellbeing training (March 2021); two focus groups with COVID-19 champions 
(June 2021); and finally, the completion of a questionnaire by COVID-19 
champions. This phase of the evaluation was fundamentally designed to 
include: 
 

• Identifying specific communities of interest. 

• Reviewing the method of community engagement used.  

• Exploring the extent to which solutions to issues affecting communities 
have been co-produced. 

• Identifying examples of power being devolved to communities. 
 
Due to changeable COVID-19 restrictions during this period, internal capacity 
within DCC to support the evaluation, and the availability of the COVID 
champions themselves during this time, changes were made to this initial plan. 
It was not possible for the research team to observe training undertaken by the 

Page 226



 

 

 

 

 

55 

 

 

 

 

COVID-19 champions and as such the decision was made to consult the 
COVID-19 champions on their views of the Approach to Wellbeing and its 
perceived value in supporting their delivery of wellbeing support and 
engagement with the community. In this way, feedback on the practical 
application of the Approach to Wellbeing and its principles when working to 
empower communities would be gained. 
 
Ethical Approval 
Ethical approval from the School of Social Sciences and Law Ethics Committee 
at Teesside University was given for phase three. Following on from this, 
approval was received from Durham County Council through their Research 
and Guidance process (RAG). It was decided to incorporate any permissions or 
elements of the final phase of research within ethical approval for phase 3, due 
to desk-based nature of research to be employed in phase 4. 
 
Recruitment  
 
Inclusion Criteria: 
 

• Currently volunteering as a COVID-19 Champion in County Durham 

• Aged 18 or over. 
 
Recruitment commenced in June 2021 with the expectation that focus groups 
would take place virtually throughout June and July 2021. Participants were 
recruited via email, using the COVID-19 Champions email network, with 
Durham County Council acting as an intermediary and gatekeeper for 
participants’ data, so no direct contact was made between participants and 
researcher prior to the focus groups taking place. The only exception to this 
would be if participants had any questions about the evaluation prior to taking 
part, in which case potential participants were invited to contact the researcher 
directly with any queries. 
 
Those wishing to take part were asked to confirm this by completing a consent 
form which was sent to their programme lead and forwarded to the research 
team at Teesside University. 
 
In addition to focus groups, questionnaires relating to the approach to wellbeing 
training and the Self-Assessment Framework were distributed amongst the 
COVID-19 Champions network for return to the research team. 
 
Data Collection 
 

Page 227



 

 

 

 

 

56 

 

 

 

 

As alluded to above, due to issues with the pandemic, the recruitment of 
COVID-19 Champions proved challenging. In total, responses to both the 
questionnaire (n=5) and focus group (n=4) were low. Because of this, in addition 
to a focus group it was decided to conduct 1:1 interviews (n=2) with individuals 
in programme lead and Public Health roles that fed into the strategy and 
management of the COVID-19 Champions to ascertain the impact of the 
approach to wellbeing and any associated issues from a strategic through to a 
delivery level. 
 
All interactions with participants took place via Microsoft Teams, with the 
exception of questionnaires. The purpose of interviews, focus groups and 
questionnaires was to explore the experiences of the approach to wellbeing 
training programme delivered to COVID-19 champions and to answer the 
following questions: 

• What are the barriers and facilitators to COVID-19 champions using the 
approach to wellbeing principles? 

• How well have the approach to wellbeing principles been adopted by 
COVID-19 champions? 

• What are the barriers and facilitators to COVID-19 champions using the 
approach to wellbeing self-assessment framework? 

 
Data Analysis 
 
In line with previous phases of the evaluation, the interviews with DCC staff and 
with COVID-19 Champions were audio recorded to aid in transcription.  Once 
the transcripts had been completed the data was analysed using applied 
thematic analysis. Research staff from Teesside University worked 
collaboratively to identify and code of themes.  For the purposes of this research 
an inductive approach to coding was again adopted to capture feedback and 
thoughts on aspects of the wellbeing approach rather than applying pre-existing 
theory to this area. 
 
 
Results 
As outlined above, one focus group with COVID Champions and 2 1:1 
interviews took place remotely via Microsoft Teams in addition to 5 completed 
questionnaires being returned to the research team. Combining these and 
subjecting both written responses and transcripts to thematic analysis 
revealed the following as significant themes pertaining to the approach to 
wellbeing: 
 

Page 228



 

 

 

 

 

57 

 

 

 

 

 
 
Each of these primary themes contained several sub-themes, each of which 
will be considered in turn below: 
 
Purpose and scope: 
 
One notion to which each respondent returned over the course of interviews, 
focus groups and questionnaires was that of the purpose of the wellbeing 
approach (and by extension so too its scope). What is the wellbeing approach 
there for? Who is it there for? 
 
For many, the response to these two questions was simple: the approach to 
wellbeing was a way to ensure that the voice of the community was at the 
forefront of their role. As one COVID-19 Champion observed: 

“And I say whatever the task is, our main role is community 
engagement. And whatever the issue is, it’s my job to take that 
back to the council, because I know who to report to.” 
(Participant 6) 

This feeling was shared at all levels, and there was a clear commitment 
amongst those consulted to use the approach to wellbeing as a vehicle to 
affect greater involvement for the community as a partner in the services 
delivered by DCC, rather than passive recipients. This was the case whether 
they were in a primarily delivery or strategic role: 

“It just brings us closer to actually building on the thoughts of the 
community and how they feel things should go…It's using that 
to make real decision-making changes. That's where I'm coming 
from, I think.” (Participant 10) 

“I mean for me, it [the most important part of the approach to 
wellbeing] is the working with communities’ element…As a local 
authority, we are traditionally paternalistic. And I think that’s the 
area [the approach] has helped most…It’s that bottom-up 
approach.” (Participant 11). 

•Purpose and scope

•Adherence

•Embedding the Approach

Phase 
Two 

Page 229



 

 

 

 

 

58 

 

 

 

 

Amongst those who were COVID-19 Champions, there was also the feeling 
that the principle of consultation and empowerment was something that 
should apply to them (and other staff within DCC) as much as it did with 
communities themselves: 

“I feel that the [COVID-19] champions need to have more 
autonomy within the scheme, such as to be able to manage 
events within their area.” (Participant 1) 

This would, it was suggested not only improve the wellbeing of staff and 
volunteers but would also allow greater efficiency within the authority as it 
would eradicate the duplication of work or the need for central ‘fact-finding’ 
about needs within certain areas, as those working and living within 
communities would already have this knowledge at their disposal: 

“That’s when I find it most helpful already being there. It’s like 
that’s when people will tell you something: like, whether it’s 
about waste disposal in the area, or whatever it is.” (Participant 
8) 

“One thing that came back from our community quite early on 
was that people were struggling to get to vaccination centres. 
The expectation was to go to the other side of Durham...and a 
lot of people were unwilling to do that. One group were 
vaccinating at one of their other surgeries rather than the surgery 
that's closest. And basically one of the things I found back was 
that people said it would be useful to have a drop in session [for 
vaccines] in our area. I found that a couple of times, and it took 
quite a while but eventually we did get a vaccine event in the 
carpark of our local supermarket. That sort of message was 
quite useful to get to not necessarily just the council but to public 
health and the CCG as well.” (Participant 9). 

One participant suggested that they felt that their primary function as a 
COVID-19 champion was to act as a conduit for both the local community and 
the local authority putting one in touch with the other, and signposting 
communities to services: 

“I sort of feel like I'm acting as a hub between groups that I was 
already aware of in my area and the COVID champions 
programme. There’s a lot of that.” (Participant 8). 

 
For others, their role as COVID-19 Champions allowed them to directly 
contribute in ways that were not so tangible, but were no less important to 

Page 230



 

 

 

 

 

59 

 

 

 

 

community engagement and the wellbeing of people within those communities 
through simply listening to what people had to say: 

“I think there's a lot of a lot of those interactions that you have 
that aren't…they're not kind of tangible in the way that you could 
kind of count them or you know, but I mean, it’s one of the things 
I think that with the idea of being community focused, you know, 
this kind of thing has to be at the heart of that” (Participant 7). 

“Sometimes people will just want to tell their stories…You know: 
‘Me [sic.] Grandma’s just died of COVID’. And it’s like people just 
want to offload their experience…Another, she said her husband 
had died last Christmas and I said: ‘Well, my mum died two days 
before Christmas’. So that's when we started, I gave her a hug 
and we sat down and talked and that.” (Participant 8).  

 
Adherence: 
 
A key feature of questionnaires, focus groups and interviews was finding out 
to what extent COVID-19 champions (and the network in general) were 
following the wellbeing principles and how much their everyday activities were 
guided by the principles. Perhaps unsurprisingly, the wellbeing principles, and 
their use, were not something of which the COVID-19 Champions were 
explicitly aware: 

“So while we may have those [principles] underlying the 
information we send out to people, it’s the information that’s 
most important. You know, people are worried about getting 
sick. You’re telling people ‘this is the information you need to 
know’ and it’s making sure that it’s relevant.” (Participant 8). 

 

The conscious effort to keep the principles in mind was much more apparent 
for those who interacted with the approach to wellbeing in a strategic manner, 
in line with the other aspects of their roles. Again, perhaps unsurprisingly, the 
way in which they interacted with the wellbeing approach was directly linked to 
the way in which they interacted with their role overall and reflected those 
things which were important within that role. As someone for whom one of the 
primary concerns of their role was evaluating and providing evidence, the 
participant below understood the approach to wellbeing and its constitutive 
principles in these terms: 

“I have actually done a couple of self-assessments…and I think 
what that did was enable us to kind of look at the principles and 
the ways we were using the well-being approach. And it helped 

Page 231



 

 

 

 

 

60 

 

 

 

 

us to kind of formulate the evidence, I suppose, behind what 
we've done…and I think the beauty of the wellbeing approach is 
that it doesn't have to be everything. It's more of a toolkit, just as 
a reminder, because there's gonna be things that aren’t 
possible. But what we have done is use feedback from service 
users and from stakeholders…and so for me that just having that 
framework is quite helpful.” (Participant 11). 

 
Although the principles as such may not have been at the forefront of the 
COVID-19 Champions’ minds, that was not to say that they were not being 
upheld in the way(s) in which they interacted with the communities they 
worked with, and both the focus group and questionnaires showed this. Some 
examples from both are included below to give a greater idea of this 
phenomenon, as well as those areas that the COVID-19 champs felt greater 
improvements could be made, mapped against each of the wellbeing 
principles. 
 
Using What Works -  

“Conversations have taken place about how we best distribute 
messages in communities. For example, if I were just to use e-
mail this may discriminate against the elderly community or 
those less IT literate. Therefore, a number of mediums are used 
to distribute key messages for example, door to door knocks, 
social media, e mail etc (Participant 3). 

“I feel that I would have liked to have been involved in more 
conversations with the local community. I think a lot of people 
missed stuff when it was social media and things.” (Participant 
4). 

Empowering Communities: 

“People who don’t normally get involved in community 
programmes voice their concerns to me / through me or if they 
have a legitimate…complaint I can direct them to the correct 
service to report it to.” (Participant 1). 

“I feel the programme has been very successful and has enabled 
residents to engage much more dynamically on a local level.” 
(Participant 3). 

“I wanted to use this role to better understand [the] community, 
but I feel like I don’t know any more or anything better than 
before.” (Participant 4). 

Page 232



 

 

 

 

 

61 

 

 

 

 

Being Asset Focused: 

“So I kind of see the community champions…as a one stop 
shop, because we're not expected to know everything about 
everything. But what we will do is find the information out and 
feed that back. It always surprises me how little information 
members the public Google, despite the fact that I think we 
constantly feed information out to members of the public 
by…social media, by posters by, you know, street posters, 
whatever or by word of mouth; there's still little pockets of 
communities where those messages aren't getting to them 
somehow.” (Participant 6). 

“While I am out and about if members of the public make me 
aware of any other issues in communities, I will report them back 
to my manager who will refer them to the correct place. Also 
individuals / shops that require additional support in general 
have been made aware of services who have put that additional  
support in place which lets me know that my information is acted 
upon..” (Participant 1). 

Building Resilience: 

“There is a vast range of support countywide to assist the 
community. However sometimes it’s up to individuals or certain 
groups to access this support. For example, men are particularly 
difficult to engage in services for whatever reason and it is these 
identified groups where more work needs to be done to engage 
them. I would say more work could be done in communities to 
establish what they need rather than trying to pre-empt support” 
(Participant 3). 

“In my specific community, yes [we are engaging vulnerable 
people], due to engagement with our hyper-local wellbeing 
programme...” (Participant 1). 

 
Working Better Together: 

“With certain groups, such as BAME communities, it’s 
about…realising what, what's already there that can be kind of 
tapped into in terms of engagement.” (Participant 7). 

“I see it [duplication of work] all of the time when partners/ 
organisations are working on the same projects but often work 

Page 233



 

 

 

 

 

62 

 

 

 

 

in silos reluctant to share their own information, rather than 
working together” (Participant 3). 

Sharing Decision Making: 

“Yes, I think that people are able to contribute to decisions from 
different places, and this is where social media is particularly 
effective.” (Participant 9). 

“I think they can to some extent [get involved in decision-making] 
but my community is online, so people need access to a 
computer .” (Participant 2). 

“From memory, I haven’t been involved in helping to design any 
services in my area, no.” (Participant 6). 

Doing With, Not To: 

“I would say they treat us as communities rather than as 
individuals.” (Participant 1). 

“To some extent we do [encourage independence] but there are 
a lot of procedures to follow sometimes. (Participant 9). 

 
Embedding the Approach: 
 
As can be seen from the comments of the COVID-19 Champions above, 
although many of the principles of the wellbeing approach were being fulfilled 
by their actions, this was not something that they were explicitly aware of. 
Furthermore, there were areas in which they highlighted certain areas in which 
they felt the programme, and DCC as a whole, needed to do more. One 
particular challenge that was highlighted throughout both focus groups and 
questionnaires, was the inconsistent nature of just how invested people were 
in delivering the services that were representative of the approach (and thus 
the approach itself). 
 
Just how to ensure greater buy in across the county was an issue that was 
also recognised at management and strategic level as an area for 
improvement: 

“I suppose there is a bit of friction there [about adopting the 
approach] because, and I have, you know, I have experienced it 
to a degree I wouldn't say massively…I think there has been a 
bit of friction and… for me personally, it shouldn't be a hard sell.” 
(Participant 11). 

Page 234



 

 

 

 

 

63 

 

 

 

 

Counteracting the aforementioned friction that was felt in some areas when 
introducing the wellbeing approach was something that everyone was keen to 
achieve, as all were keen to see the principles shared across the county. One 
of the greatest challenges that was identified at all levels was trying to ensure 
that the principles made sense to those that were expected to use them to 
guide their everyday working: 
 

Half of what I've done as a COVID champion is volunteering with 
vaccine buses and a lot of what we're doing is logistics, as 
opposed to…engagement. It's logistics as in: ‘You need to come 
forward, now go straight to that person’. You might ask: ‘How are 
you feeling?’ but it’s hard [to think about wellbeing] when that’s 
what you’re doing” (Participant 7). 

 

The key message being shared was that embedding the approach to 
wellbeing, at all levels was the thing which needed greatest investment from 
all levels of the local authority, but particularly those at executive or strategic 
level, in order to ensure that the approach to wellbeing and its principles 
permeated every aspect of DCC. How this embedding was to take place, and 
how best to ensure its success was largely dependent on the nature of the 
role to which the principles were being applied. For those in largely strategic 
roles, treating the approach to wellbeing in terms of engaging directly with the 
high-level principles that underpinned it yielded positive results: 
 

Basically [we were] looking at the using the self-assessment 
framework…to find out what evidence we've got, and what we 
know: what we do. And what that did was it identified a massive 
gap…about working with people, and we had to develop strategy 
to develop and implement actions around that. So for me, that 
was really helpful.” (Participant 11). 

 
However, in discussions with all participants (and as can be seen in the 
previous section) it emerged that the Self-Assessment Framework may not be 
the best way of evaluating the performance of COVID-19 Champions (and 
thus by extension other delivery-focused roles) against the approach to 
wellbeing, because, quite simply, the feeling was that the way in which they 
were currently presented was too abstract, and too ‘high level’ to be of 
practical use to them in their roles: 

“There's a situation where there's the very high strategic level 
where they come up with the principles. And then there's people 

Page 235



 

 

 

 

 

64 

 

 

 

 

who are who are using them all the time. But…there's a big gap.” 
(Participant 5). 

“What I would say is, as a day-to-day community champion, it 
may underpin a lot of what we do, but it's not at the forefront, 
because quite honestly, the forefront [of my mind] is getting 
specific messages out to residents.” (Participant 7). 

 
The challenge then, was to try and embed the approach in such as way that is 
meshed with the overall timbre and priorities of the Champions’ role so that 
they were able to track what they did against the approach to wellbeing. One 
suggestion for how this may be done was to make following the approach to 
wellbeing a key target of the role, not as a collection of principles that were 
apart from, or in addition to their role – but making those principles (and 
actively promoting them) an inherent part of their role: 
 

At the moment they pledge to be a champion, which is fantastic. 
What does that mean? Well, that's up to me to explain what that 
means…So let's pledge against these principles. Then, let's 
pledge to say that you will adhere to empower your 
community…why not use that? In that format. You know, and 
then get those principles in right at the beginning. The reason 
why they’re signing up is to make the difference in their 
community, so let’s say this is how they will do that.” (Participant 
10). 

Fundamentally, the successful integration of the wellbeing approach to the 
COVID-19 Champions role was seen to rely upon being able to embed it 
within the role itself which in turn relied on communicating the approach in a 
way that made sense. In this regard, particular training around the principles 
as a standalone concept (albeit one in which it’s importance to their role was 
stressed) may not have been the best way to ensure this was something that 
stayed with those who participated. During discussions with the research 
team, participants from the Champions network did not remember a great deal 
about the training they had undergone, nor did they have a particular 
recollection of the wellbeing principles themselves. But, as we have also seen, 
these facts did not in large part hinder their adherence to those principles, 
even if they were not necessarily aware of it. One participant put it thus: 

It's almost, and this might be on my part as standalone thing, but 
it's not embedded enough for me. It's a PowerPoint, it's a 
PowerPoint and it's information, but it's not sinking in…and 
obviously I'm not in that strategic position…but from a 

Page 236



 

 

 

 

 

65 

 

 

 

 

operational point of view I can only speak that it will have been 
in conversations, but only when I've been prompted. Is that 
something that needs to be in the conversation continuously?” 
(Participant 10). 

 
As well as making sure the approach to wellbeing was put at the heart of 
everything the COVID-19 Champions did from the outset, the way in which 
this was done, and the language used was seen as being of paramount 
importance: 
 

“I think sometimes it is about language. And I think…we fall into 
the trap all the time of public health kind of speak, and it makes 
it less possible [to engage others]. So, I suppose…if you, if were 
to look at it, kind of as it is and then look at it going forward, the 
important thing would be engaging with those different 
departments, different service areas…[and] different 
stakeholders, to kind of tailor it to their needs. So it's, it's got 
those basic public health principles that underwrite it…But it's 
actually tailored to their kind of speaking and to their language” 

 
Phase Two Conclusion: 
 
After engaging with all participants throughout phase two of the evaluation, it 
is clear that there is a general commitment to see the aims of the wellbeing 
approach realised within the interactions that COVID-19 Champions have with 
the communities they serve. What is also clear however is that if this is to be 
set up and meaningfully continued in the future, then there is a need to 
translate the approach and its principles from their current state into a more 
practical form. 
 

I'm looking at them [the wellbeing principles] altogether there 
and I'm keeping that up there…and maybe we need an element, 
a simplified element to pull it down to embed it continuously from 
the very top…so it's in their mind straight away. And then it's how 
we use those principles through the role of the champion and 
bring it down right down to where it is role descriptive rather than 
in the air. (Participant 10) 

 
Part of making the approach less unwieldy may also lie in some of the specific 
issues that COVID-19 Champions encountered in their role. One of the 

Page 237



 

 

 

 

 

66 

 

 

 

 

greatest challenges relayed by the COVID-19 Champions was in engaging 
some marginalised communities A particular difficulty in this regard revolved 
around the trust that members of such communities were prepared to place in 
individuals that were seen as from communities very much separate from their 
own: 

“I think using the existing groups, is probably more effective than 
trying to get into that group ourselves because they are 
somewhat unwilling to have outsiders coming into their social 
group, because of the fear that they have from us. We all…get 
on with everybody. But they are still nervous. Given some of the 
comments I've seen shared on a personal level from them, I can 
understand why.” (Participant 8). 

As well as utilising existing groups and channels of communication and 
community-based assets, another suggestion for how to engage marginalised 
groups was to attempt to recruit individuals who would be regarded as part of 
a community rather an outsider to it: 

“I think going round with somebody who literally grew up on that 
street, it could immediately encourage the residents to talk to 
me…it kind of legitimises what I was saying, and I think that's 
possibly what we need to look at, if we look forward to doing sort 
of COVID champion visits door-to-door discussing things, at 
some point potentially having somebody who's literally from that 
streets or the neighbouring street with us, kind of legitimises it, 
especially when you're in these sort of disassociated disaffected 
communities that are almost separate, as opposed to seeing 
themselves as part of a bigger community.” (Participant 7) 

 
What is also vital is that whenever or wherever the lack of engagement fro 
certain communities may constitute behaviour potentially detrimental to 
others, there is still the need to engage and understand these communities. 
Indeed, part of the virtues of community empowerment and the reduction of 
stigmatisation necessarily involves opening up dialogues even in situations 
where there may be fundamental disagreements between communities. As 
one account of an anti-vaccine protest taking place during a vaccine drive 
illustrates: 

“And three quarters of the protesters were toothless, jobless, 
and really, it was all just found information that they just read on 
social media. Whereas we have professional doctors and 
nurses, and NHS staff present.” (Participant 6) 

Page 238



 

 

 

 

 

67 

 

 

 

 

While doubtless the above incident is something that would be better not to 
occur at all, the attitude of judgment on the part of the individual supporting 
the vaccination event ultimately does nothing to seek to engage such 
individuals to hear their concerns and potentially address them. While the 
suggestion certainly would not be for an individual to seek to engage 
protesters in such a situation, the feeling that such individuals are unreachable 
and furthermore that they are quite different and apart from the ‘rest of us’ 
should be viewed as a missed opportunity to engage a disenfranchised 
section of the community. 
 
What is integral for the embedding of the wellbeing approach across 
communities is to inform of the approach and integrating it into existing 
mechanisms within DCC, rather than creating new avenues to do this. This 
helps to eliminate duplication and ensures that information is reaching people 
from already trusted sources. Due to the success of the COVID-19 
Champions programme, the relationships that have been built during this time 
are an excellent way to continue to engage the community in a meaningful 
way by expanding the remit of those working in their local areas: 

“The more the community champions have grown…I think we're 
more and more demand for more diverse roles.” (Participant 6). 

 
This promissory note, and the potential of the COVID-19 Champions to 
diversify and potentially even repurpose their role into more generalised areas 
of community support must be tempered by stressing the importance of 
communicating the approach to wellbeing properly to its success. This 
communication potentially needs to be better across the county because gaps 
have been identified. One of the challenges of expanding the COVID-19 
Champions network (raised by the COVID-19 Champions themselves) lay in 
ensuring that access to the programme and its benefits was open to all, and 
not just in areas where enthusiasm was high. Rural or geographically isolated 
areas were identified as a specific setting in which this needed to be 
addressed: 

“I think the best word I can use for the approach across the 
county is piecemeal. In that some areas are well exposed to the 
community champions programme…where we have got quite a 
lot of impact. We've got Facebook groups, we've got people who 
are engaging with the programme. On the other hand, there are 
places… I was speaking to someone, I'm not gonna say 
where…who had never even heard of the community champions 
programme. They were in a small settlement. And basically, they 
didn't know anything about it. There wasn't anybody in their 
community who was involved in it. And therefore they weren't 

Page 239



 

 

 

 

 

68 

 

 

 

 

aware even of it existing as a thing. And I think that's one of the 
things that going forward, needs to be addressed, whether that's 
existing champions having an area and going into those smaller 
settlements, or whether it's recruiting champions specifically in 
those areas. I think that's something that potentially going 
forward needs to be looked at.” (Participant 7) 

 
Key Findings/Recommendations: 

• It is clear that the COVID-19 Champions provide much needed support and 

knowledge to the communities that they serve. On this basis, it is 

recommended that they continue to provide this support for ongoing 

issues that may arise from the unknowns of the COVID-19 pandemic. 

• The nature of the support that the COVID-19 Champions provide goes 

beyond their primary function of providing support during the pandemic. As 

such further opportunities to use the COVID-19 Champions and the 

relationships they have developed should be explored in the future. 

• Feedback from COVID-19 Champions is that they already provide a wealth 

of information and support across their areas, but there is also the 

recognition that some areas are less well supported. Rural and 

geographically isolated areas in particular were identified as those which 

may need further engagement. 

• Trust is key to engaging any community, and we often find it easier to trust 

individuals that we share common experiences with. Because of this, it is 

necessary to recruit as representative a populous of COVID-19 

Champions as possible. Where there is particularly low engagement 

from a community, particular effort should be made to reach out and 

attempt to recruit Champions to aid engagement. One particular 

community with whom this may be helpful is amongst those individuals 

sceptical or unwilling to be vaccinated against COVID-19. 

• Although there is a clear commitment at all levels to follow the approach to 

wellbeing and apply its principles, in practice this can be difficult due to 

their, sometimes abstract, nature. 

• While the Self-Assessment framework and wellbeing principles ‘as is’ are 

suitable at strategic level and provide a valuable instrument to guide and 

review decision-making and performance, these are often too time-

consuming or too far removed from everyday practice in delivery settings.  

• Because of this, a further recommendation is to look at ways of 

embedding the wellbeing principles within role descriptions and (if 

applicable) have their adherence reflected in targets central to those 

roles.  

Page 240



 

 

 

 

 

69 

 

 

 

 

• Including these elements during performance reviews will also aid in 

affecting whole system ‘culture shift’ towards the wellbeing 

approach. Appraising key role competencies in a manner that is 

wellbeing-driven can also be a valuable approach to affecting such 

culture shift. 

• It has been suggested that the communication of the approach to wellbeing 

may still be too abstract for use in community settings. A 

recommendation in this regard therefore is to devise a variety of 

simpler and more instructive examples/case studies of the successful 

implementation of the wellbeing approach in addition to the 

soundbites model already developed. These examples should illustrate 

the benefits of the wellbeing approach in relatable ways but should refrain 

from doing so in an abstract fashion. Ultimately, any explanation of the 

approach should make sense to the target audience. 

• When dedicated training is delivered, it can sometimes be difficult to 

transport any learning from this environment to the ‘real world’. 

Furthermore, the more time that passes following this training, the more 

difficult it becomes to recall its content and purpose. For this reason, it is 

also recommended that dedicated training in the approach to 

wellbeing be replaced in favour of measures designed to place the 

approach at the heart of each role.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix (4): 
 

Appraising current measures of wellbeing across DCC: 

Page 241



 

 

 

 

 

70 

 

 

 

 

 

• What existing measures are taken across systems in DCC?  

• Are these measures suitable for measuring wellbeing or do bespoke 
measures need to be developed? 

• (How) can these measures ‘dovetail’ with existing metrics within DCC? 
 
With help from colleagues from public health, a picture of the types of 
measure that were currently employed by various services within DCC was 
constructed. These measures were then appraised in order to find which 
would be most suitable for the suggested future monitoring within DCC.  
 
As can be seen, there is a vast array of different measures and metrics 
currently collected across public health in County Durham. Due to the 
sheer range of these, some of the most prominent measures currently in 
use were appraised in order to ascertain the relative merits of each. 
 
WEMWBS/SWEMWBS: 
 

Service Name 
WEMWBS / 
SWEMWBS 

Bereavement Support ✓ 

Programme Management of Social 
Prescribing Link Workers ✓ 

Ways to Wellbeing ✓ 

Wellbeing for Life Service ✓ 

 
A number of services within Public Health currently use the Warwick-
Edinburgh Mental Well-being Scale (WEMWBS) or the Simplified version 
of this (SWEMWBS). 
 
What is it? 
WEMWBS is either a 14- or 7- (simplified) -point scale which assesses a 
population’s mental wellbeing. Questions centre around statements such 
as “I’ve been feeling confident”, “I’ve been feeling loved” or “I’ve been 
thinking clearly” to which the respondent must indicate how often they have 
experienced these phenomena within the past 2 weeks on a 5-point Likert 
scale, ranging from None of the time, through to All of the time. Examples 
of both the 14-point and simplified 7-point scales can be found below: 
 

Page 242



 

 

 

 

 

71 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Page 243



 

 

 

 

 

72 

 

 

 

 

 
 
Advantages and Disadvantages: 
 
Feasible 

• WEMWBS is already used by a number of large-scale services 
within DCC 

• Although it can be presented in a shorter 7-point scale, the full 14-
point scale could be too long for many to consider completing, 

Accessible 

• Readability is approx. 9 years (3.8 Flesch-Kincaid) for SWEMWBS. 

• Both WEMWBS and SWEMWBS have been translated into a 
number of other languages. 

• Although the language of the tests are simple to understand, there 
are a number of higher-order concepts such as feeling good about 

Page 244



 

 

 

 

 

73 

 

 

 

 

oneself. The questionnaire also asks respondents to summarise the 
last 2 weeks, which may prove difficult for some individuals. 

Standardised 

• S(WEMWBS) has been validated for use across multiple scenarios 

• Data generated is robust, and baselines could be created using data 
of existing DCC services. 

Transferable 

• Introducing either 14 or 7 point scales may make existing surveys 
carried out by some services long and unwieldy and may detract 
from other data they are trying to collect. 

• Target measures of (S)WEMWBS are very specific to mental 
wellbeing, and as such may not be suitable for many services to 
adopt. 

 
EQ-5D-3L 
 

Service Name EQ-5D-3L 

Wellbeing for Life Service ✓ 

 
 

What is it? 
The EQ-5D-3L is a 5-item standardised measurement of health-related 
quality of life that covers 5 primary dimensions of health, namely: Mobility, 
Self-Care, Usual Activities, Pain/discomfort and Anxiety/Depression (Shah 
2017). Questions in the EQ-5D-3L require respondents to tick whichever 
statement(s) they feel apply to them (Ronaldson and Ali 2010) and contain 
statements such as “I have no problems in walking about” or “I am unable 
to perform my usual activities”. There are a number of EQ-5D tools 
available in addition to the 3L, which are designed for use in young people 
(EQ-5D-Y) or with greater sensitivity (EQ-5D-5L). The 3L is evaluated here 
due to its suitability for adults and its simplified nature. 
 

Page 245



 

 

 

 

 

74 

 

 

 

 

 
 
Advantages and Disadvantages: 
 
Feasible: 

• Although only used by one service currently, it is a large-scale 
service which employs the EQ-5D-3L 

• A large amount of support exists for implementation of the EQ-5D-
3Lwhich would facilitate its adoption 

Page 246



 

 

 

 

 

75 

 

 

 

 

• Although technically only a 5-item questionnaire, the information it 
requires respondents to read is quite long (15 statements) especially 
if used in conjunction with any existing measures. 

 
Accessible: 

• Concepts are generally easy to understand and allow respondents 
to easily reflect their general health experiences on the day they 
respond. 

• EQ-5D-3L is widely used, and currently exists in 98 languages 

• Readability is 11 years (5.9 Flesch-Kincaid) 
 
Standardised: 

• The EQ-5D-3L has been subject to numerous academic studies, 
which have shown it to be valid and reliable (van Agt H. 2005) 

• Although the EQ-5D-3L is widely used, there is not a large bank of 
data available at a local level. 

 
Transferable: 

• The EQ-5D-3L is highly specific to gauging health-related outcomes, 
and does not take general wellbeing into account. 

• It is unlikely that this measure could be used in a variety of services. 
 
 
 
Outcomes Star: 
 

Service Name Outcomes Star 

0-25 Family Health Service ✓ 

Children & Families Emotional 
Wellbeing Programmes ✓ 

Young Parent Support Programme ✓ 

 
What is it? 
 
The outcomes star is a concept for evaluation rather than a single 
measure. The use of an outcomes star can be customised on any number 
of levels, from the content for each star, the gradient used in scoring each 
point – right down to the number of points each star will have. Because of 
this, the questions that are asked and the scales that are used are not 
uniform and could conceivably contain any questions and measures that it 
was felt were important. Outcomes stars are often developed in 

Page 247



 

 

 

 

 

76 

 

 

 

 

conjunction with practitioners and service users/patients etc., and so are 
often co-produced. 
 
 
 

 
 
Advantages and Disadvantages: 
 
Feasible: 

• Versions of outcomes stars are currently used by services within 
DCC. 

• Because of its co-produced nature, the development and 
implementation of any such measure will take time and resources to 
do properly. 

Page 248



 

 

 

 

 

77 

 

 

 

 

• Development of a truly co-produced measure of wellbeing amongst 
a certain population requires significant commitment from all 
involved. 

 
Accessible: 

• Due to its adaptability, language contained within any questions can 
be as simple as required. Outcomes can also easily be represented 
graphically to aid dissemination. 

• Ensuring accessibility of concepts will have to be ensured by 
whoever devises content of the outcomes star. 

• Any accessibility provision, such as translation, easy read resources 
etc., will need to be devised separately. 

 
Standardised: 

• Outcomes stars are ideal to measure impact over time, due to the 
way in which they work. 

• Reliability of data depends entirely on quality of questions devised 
for each outcomes star. 

• Data can only be used if it corresponds to identical outcomes star – 
thus any accurate baseline must be established over time. 

 
Transferable: 

• Applicability across systems must be written into outcomes star at 
the stage of conception. 

• Data does not exist at a comparable national or local level. 
 
ONS-4 

Service Name ONS 4 

Programme Management of Social Prescribing 
Link Workers ✓ 

 
What is it? 
The ONS-4 was introduced in 2011 by the Office of National Statistics 
(ONS) as part of the Annual population survey (Dolan and Metcalfe 2012) 
and consists of four subjective wellbeing questions (Tinkler 2015). 
Examples of questions in the full ONS-4 are “Overall, how satisfied are you 
with your life nowadays?” to which respondents are asked to give a 
response on a scale from 0-10 where 0 is ‘not at all’ and 10 is ‘completely’. 

Page 249



 

 

 

 

 

78 

 

 

 

 

 
 
Advantages and Disadvantages: 
 
Feasible: 

Page 250



 

 

 

 

 

79 

 

 

 

 

• Although only used by the SPLW service in DCC, this is a significant 
amount of data. It is also used by Social Prescribers nationally. 

• The ONS-4 only contains 4 items. This makes it much easier for 
services to use in conjunction with existing metrics. 

• This brevity also makes it more likely that respondents will fill out 
questions. 

 
Accessible: 

• Concepts contained in the ONS-4 are clear – ‘how 
satisfied/happy/worthwhile/anxious’ 

• Readability is 12 years (Flesch-Kincaid 6.5) 
 
Standardised: 

• ONS-4 data is collected every year in a systematic way. 

• Data is standardised and harmonised. (Harmonisation is the process of 
making statistics and data more comparable, consistent and coherent. 
Harmonised standards set out how to collect and report statistics to 
ensure comparability).(Wey, Doiron et al. 2021) 

• A large dataset is already available to analyse at local authority 
level 

• Due to having been used since 2011 by the ONS, there is currently 
a rich dataset with which to establish a baseline. 

 
Transferable: 

• ONS-4 is already used across a wide range of interventions and 
services for evaluative purposes nationally, thus demonstrating its 
suitability in a range of settings. These include the Cabinet Office, 
DWP, Department of Health, and MoD. 

• ONS-4 questions are specifically designed to be used alongside 
more specialised metrics. 

 
 
As can be seen from the above, the ONS-4 stands out as being the most 
suitable option to measure wellbeing across the whole of DCC services. 
Because of this, suggestions of how this may be introduced are examined 
below, as are suggestions for how to navigate the issue with the ONS-4’s 
readability. 
 
 
Readability Issues. 
 

Page 251



 

 

 

 

 

80 

 

 

 

 

The primary issue affecting the introduction of the ONS-4 wellbeing 
measure within DCC is its relative difficulty in readability. It is, in its original 
form the most complex to read: 
 

 
 
 
While this may not be an issue for some potential participants in any survey, 
there may be others for who this complexity could be a barrier. In such 
instances, the Personal Wellbeing Score could be an alternative. “The 
Personal Wellbeing Score (PWS) is based on the Office of National Statistics 
(ONS) four subjective wellbeing questions (ONS4) and thresholds. PWS is 
short, easy to use and has the same look and feel as other measures in the 
same family of measures.” (Benson, Sladen et al. 2019). Perhaps most salient 
is that the PWS can be used in conjunction with the ONS-4 (thus meaning 
either can be used) as it uses thresholds that correspond with the ONS-4. As 
can be seen below, the PWS is comparable to SWEMWBS in terms of 
readability but has clear advantages in terms of brevity over other standard 
measures of wellbeing. It also benefits from the widespread robust data of the 
ONS-4 discussed above.  
 
 
 

Page 252



 

 

 

 

 

81 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Page 253



 

 

 

 

 

82 

 

 

 

 

 
 
For ONS4 life satisfaction, worthwhile and happiness scores, responses 
9–10 are grouped as Very high, 7–8 as High, 5–6 as Medium and 0–4 as 
Low. For anxiety scores, responses 6–10 are grouped as High, 4–5 as 
Medium, 2–3 as Low and 0–1 as Very low and correspond to each of the 
‘emojis’ used on the PWS 
 

 
Creating a strong baseline 
 
As previously stated, because the ONS-4 is so widely used, there is a 
wealth of data already available that can be used to create baselines. This 
data is taken at a local, regional and national level and has been for over 
a decade. This data presented below gives an insight into the value of the 
data to produce robust baseline data. A brief look at this data allows for 
the following conclusions relating to wellbeing in County Durham to be 
made (since 2011): 

• Life satisfaction in Durham is consistently ‘High’ and a little higher 
than national and regional averages. 

• The feeling that life is worthwhile (Eudaemonic wellbeing) in Durham 
again is consistently ‘High’ and a higher than national and regional 
averages. 

• Happiness’ scores across the county have been considerably less 
consistent, and in 2012/13 almost dropped from ‘High’ to ‘Medium’. 

• Regarding anxiety, the picture is changeable. While a significant 
drop in reported anxiety levels from in 2016/17 may be a surprise, 
the rise in 2019/20 across all areas is perhaps less so. What is 

Page 254



 

 

 

 

 

83 

 

 

 

 

important here however, is that the ONS-4 data has captured this 
increase in anxiety over this time.  

 
 

 

 

7.0

7.2

7.4

7.6

7.8

8.0

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

Average (mean) ratings

Life Satisfaction

England NE Durham

   

   

   

   

   

                                                               

                     

          

               

Page 255



 

 

 

 

 

84 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 
Using pre-existing data to draw such (quick) conclusions also helps to point 
to how the ONS-4/PWS can be used specifically by DCC to measure the 
impact of the wellbeing approach. The first being tracking general changes 
over time across the whole population via publicly available ONS-4 data, 
much in the same (albeit more detailed) way to what has been done here.  
 
Secondly, the ONS-4/PWS allows for the monitoring of interim measures 
which could be undertaken either through DCC commissioned services or 
by ad-hoc surveys. These could potentially be set against the background 
of the ONS-4 measurements. This would allow DCC to ascertain whether 
or not the interventions they are making result in a positive contribution to 

   

   

   

   

   

   

                                                               

                     

     

               

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

                                                               

                     

       

               

Page 256



 

 

 

 

 

85 

 

 

 

 

people’s lives. Data collected by DCC in general could be compared to 
background data, to see if individuals who interact with DCC services 
experience greater wellbeing and could further be employed to measure 
and demonstrate the impact of specific services on wellbeing, by asking 
individuals to report their wellbeing (alongside any other data requested by 
any such service) at the beginning and then the end of their journey with 
the service, if applicable. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 257



 

 

 

 

 

86 

 

 

 

 

Appendix (5): 
Internal Stocktake Paper – 2 Year Review:  
 
Report of Amanda Healy, Director of Public Health (Chair of 
Approach to Wellbeing Steering Group) 
 

Electoral division(s) affected: 
None  

Purpose of the Report 
1 The purpose of the report is to reflect on the past two years since the 

Approach to Wellbeing was introduced; to highlight some of the 
achievements in embedding the Approach; to note the evaluations that 
have taken place and the subsequent recommendations; and to set out 
some proposals for developing the Approach further in the context of 
recent developments.  

Executive summary 
2 January 2019 saw the culmination of a year’s work to develop the 

County Durham Approach to Wellbeing (A2W).    Developed with 
partners in the voluntary and community sectors through the Resilient 
Communities Group, then further shaped by workshops and 
conversations with commissioners, colleagues in the NHS, public 
health, housing, children’s services and in Area Action Partnerships, the 
Approach has changed over the course of the two years both in content 
and application. 

3 The Approach has seen some notable achievements in being utilised as 
a means of devolving power to communities, with a view to achieving 
better outcomes. It has also been the subject of Audit and Evaluation 
which has resulted in a number of reflective questions being posed to 
the A2W steering group members as part of a 2-year stocktake on how 
it can be developed further. 

4 Whilst the A2W principles have become embedded in the work of DCC, 
the VCS and many other partners, its aim to fully engage communities 
has not been fully realised.  However, the emergence of the County 
Durham Together Partnership with its focus on working with 
communities provides a key opportunity to address this and to further 
mainstream the A2W principles.  

5 As a starting point in furthering this alignment, two recommendations 
are made below. The outcome of these discussions should then be 
considered.  

Page 258



 

 

 

 

 

87 

 

 

 

 

Recommendation(s) 
6 CDT is recommended to: 

(a) Ask the chairs of each CDT workstream to use the Approach to 
Wellbeing Self-Assessment Framework to undertake a mapping 
exercise, reflecting on the extent to which their vision and plan on 
a page is informed by each of the Wellbeing principles, and 
highlighting any further actions that may be needed to improve 
alignment. This can then be reported back to the next CDT 
meeting where a decision can be made on next steps. 

(b) Share the proposed action plan on pages 10-12 with each CDT 
workstream, asking them to discuss its relevance.  

(c) Ask workstream chairs to report back their findings to the next 
CDT and A2W meetings, enabling the CDT and A2W members to 
form a view on the value of greater alignment of the two and 
determining the appropriate next steps to be taken.  

Background 
7 January 2019 saw the culmination of a year’s work to develop the 

County Durham Approach to Wellbeing.    Developed with partners in 
the voluntary and community sectors through the Resilient Communities 
Group, then further shaped by workshops and conversations with 
commissioners, colleagues in the NHS, public health, housing, 
children’s services and in Area Action Partnerships, the Approach has 
changed over the course of the two years both in content and 
application. 

8 The Approach to Wellbeing (A2W) has been used by many teams 
across the County Durham Partnership, and embedded into some of 
our most fundamental policies and strategies such as the County 
Durham Vision, the Health & Care System Plan, the Joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy and County Durham Together. 

9 The approach has also been subject to evaluation by Teesside 
Evaluation, of which two phases have been completed. Work has also 
been undertaken to compare the Approach to Wellbeing with guidance 
recently published by Public Health England on success factors for 
implementing community centred models.   

10 Feedback received from colleagues using the model alongside the 
recommendations emerging from these more formal evaluations provide 
the impetus for this 2-year stocktake.   

Page 259



 

 

 

 

 

88 

 

 

 

 

Development of the Approach to Wellbeing Model 

11 The original Approach to Wellbeing was developed with partners in the 
Resilient Communities Group.  At the time, it emerged as a conceptual 
model with a set of seven principles based upon the evidence at that 
time.  This highlighted the importance of involving communities in the 
things that affected them, and the impact this could have in terms of 
individuals having more control over things in their lives, and ultimately 
impacting upon their resilience and wellbeing. Put simply, the model 
supported the premise that if we empower people, then they will 
have better outcomes. 

12 As a conceptual model however, it proved difficult to operationalise and 
so after further consultation, the model was changed to one that proved 
more meaningful and was supported by a self-assessment framework 
which enabled people to use the model as a tool for reflection and 
change.  This became known as the ‘soundbites’ model shown below.  

 

 

Implementation through 12 Next Steps 

13 In order to implement the model, twelve ‘next steps’ were suggested 
(see Appendix Two).  A number of these have been taken forward and 
implemented, for example, the seven Wellbeing principles have been 

Page 260



 

 

 

 

 

89 

 

 

 

 

used to inform the piloting of Alliance Contracting and a new way of 
working with the VCS by devolving greater power to them.  It has also 
been used to shape the Child Poverty Action Plan and the Joint health 
and Wellbeing Strategy.   However, many of the ‘Next Steps’ were 
focused around working directly with communities, engaging them, 
sharing information with them and working with them to effect changes.  
These actions, set out on the left-hand side of the model above, have 
proven more difficult to progress due to the impact of COVID-19, 
although the pandemic has provided us with simply a different set of 
opportunities to explore implementation of the Approach to Wellbeing.  
This has included shaping the way in which support to communities has 
been offered through the community hub and Area Action Partnerships; 
through our efforts to develop and work through community 
organisations and mutual aid groups; and through the commitment 
embedded in County Durham Together to ‘do with, not to’.   

Achievements to date 

14 Notwithstanding the limitations imposed by the pandemic, there have 
been a number of significant achievements to date.  These are detailed 
more fully in a summative annual report provided by the Approach to 
Wellbeing Programme Manager in Appendix 3. They include: 

• Use of the Wellbeing Principles to audit and shape the Housing 
Strategy and operational delivery plan. 

• Providing a structured framework for delivering the Holiday 
Activities with Food Programme and the development of the Place 
Based Approach to Early Help 

• Integration of the wellbeing approach into the Joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy with all presentations to the Board being 
required to demonstrate how the Approach to Wellbeing is used. 

• Integration into the Safe Durham Partnership Plan. 

• Inclusion in the Strategic Planning Toolkit – ensuring that the 
Approach is considered in the writing of all new strategies. 

• Fundamental changes to how services are commissioned 
including the piloting of Alliance Contracting for Community 
Mental Health Services. 

• Using the Approach as the basis for reviewing the NHS Health 
Checks contract. 

Page 261



 

 

 

 

 

90 

 

 

 

 

• DurhamEnable – using the model to shape service delivery for 
this new Supported Employment Scheme including the training of 
all job coaches. 

• Child Poverty Plan – using the Approach to audit the current plan 
and shape the content of the new plan. 

• COVID Community Champions – training the Community 
Champions in use of the model in order to work in ways that 
empower communities and build their resilience. 

• Finally, the Approach to Wellbeing has underpinned our 
community response to COVID-19 and the emergence of our 
programme of cultural change and community engagement in the 
form of County Durham Together 

Audit and Evaluation of the Approach to Wellbeing 

15 In January 2020, Public Health England published a paper entitled 
‘Community-centred public health: Taking a whole system approach’.1 
The paper was intended to ‘summarise the key elements, core values 
and principles needed to develop whole system approaches to 
community-centred public health’, and also to ‘improve the effectiveness 
and sustainability of action to build healthy communities, whilst 
embedding community-centred ways of working within whole systems’. 

16 Taken as national guidance on the best approaches to community 
engagement, it was decided to look at how that guidance could then 
inform further changes to the Wellbeing Approach.  This outcome of this 
audit can be found in Appendix 4. 

17 Whilst the audit found a number of strengths in the Wellbeing Approach, 
(namely the ease of its practical application due to the development of 
the soundbites model, and the self-assessment framework), there were 
some areas where changes could be made to improve the impact of the 
Wellbeing Approach.  This included strengthening the focus around a 
number of key strategic enablers to support successful implementation.  
For example, the PHE model emphasised:  

8 leadership,  

9 building skills across the workforce,  

 
1 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/community-centred-public-health-taking-a-whole-system-

approach  

Page 262

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/community-centred-public-health-taking-a-whole-system-approach
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/community-centred-public-health-taking-a-whole-system-approach


 

 

 

 

 

91 

 

 

 

 

10 the mainstreaming and scaling up of interventions,  

11 structured approaches for engaging communities,  

12 building capacity within communities and the VCS,  

13 setting out long term ambitions with outcome frameworks,  

14 and efforts to identify and lay the ground-work for successful 
whole system working.   

18 These areas provide a useful steer for further shaping our work in 
relation to community engagement and empowerment.  

19 The Approach to Wellbeing has also been subject to evaluation by 
Teesside university over four phases.  These include: 

a) interviews with early adopters on how they have used the 
wellbeing approach,  

b) a case study of the approach being used in action to shape the 
response to COVID-19,  

c) a review of the way in which the approach to wellbeing is used to 
inform the work of COVID-19 champions and their response to it,  

d) and finally, a long-term comparison of indicators over time to 
consider the impact of the approach.  

20 The first set of findings and recommendations have now been shared 
and are contained in Appendix 5.  In summary, the recommendations 
include: 

a) the need to develop a systematic approach to community 
engagement, complementing the work of AAPs,  

b) refinement of the model and changes in terminology which could 
assist in the above, 

c) ensuring ease of application of the model to other settings 
enabling mainstreaming and further scaling up,  

d) and ensuring leadership buy-in.  

Responding to the Audit and Evaluation  

Page 263



 

 

 

 

 

92 

 

 

 

 

21 There is considerable consistency between the findings and 
recommendations arising from Teesside University and the PHE 
Community-centred model. Three areas particularly stand out, including 
the need to a) ensure leadership buy-in, b) the importance of 
developing a systematic approach to community engagement, and c) 
the importance of mainstreaming the approach.   

22 The Approach to Wellbeing Steering Group has therefore asked itself 
the following reflective questions.  

Has enough been done to secure support for the Wellbeing 
Approach at senior level within the organisation(s)?  Could more 
be done?  
Have we determined a structured and consistent approach for the 
way in which we engage communities?  
Do we have a system in place to mainstream and scale up those 
interventions we know work?  

23 Five additional areas for discussion were also thrown up by the Audit 
against the PHE Community Centred guidance:   

Could more be done to build skills in community-centred working 
across the workforce? 
What are we doing to build capacity in communities and ensure 
our VCS is thriving?  Can we do more?  
Have we set out a long-term vision for the Wellbeing Approach?  
What should that be?  
What outcomes are we working towards?  How are we measuring 
our success?  

24 A draft action plan containing some practical actions in response to 
these recommendations was presented and discussed at the Approach 
to Wellbeing Steering Group and is included in Appendix 6. 

25 The Approach to Wellbeing Steering Group noted the ‘gaps’ in terms of 
how the model had been implemented and noted that whilst there has 
been strong take up across a range of sectors, it has not been used 
explicitly in our work with communities.  In addition, colleagues in many 
sectors, in their day-to-day work, work with communities, seeking to 
empower them and build their resilience, but may not explicitly 
recognise this as using the Approach to Wellbeing principles. Hence, 
we still have some way to go in truly embedding the approach in a way 
that is recognised by everyone as a model to underpin their work.  

26 In addition, structural changes emerging as a result of the pandemic, 
present further opportunities to align the Wellbeing Approach, and 

Page 264



 

 

 

 

 

93 

 

 

 

 

ensure the best ‘fit’ of its principles to new ways of working. The 
emergence of County Durham Together (CDT) provides an opportunity 
for major cultural change including widespread uptake and 
implementation of the Wellbeing Principles across all sectors with its 
strong ethos of working with communities, strengthening the role of the 
VCS, and of co-production.  This alignment is explored below. 

Alignment of County Durham Together and the Approach to Wellbeing  

27 The County Durham Together Partnership has embarked on a culture 
change and leadership programme that will enable people to help 
themselves in their local communities.  Building upon and learning from 
the support to communities during the COVID-19 pandemic, the 
intention is to ensure that people know where to go for early support 
and advice when needed, and also to provide support to those who 
need it most.  There is an underpinning ethos of there being ‘no wrong 
door’. 

28 County Durham Together has nine workstreams taking forward specific 
areas of work as outlined below: 

(a)         Culture and leadership – joint work across the partnership 
to share values, behaviours, roles, expectations and joint 
commissioning – maximising the Durham pound. 

(b)         Data and insight – evidence-based approaches to support 
decision making 

(c)          Co-production – developing a framework for how we involve 
people in design and decision making 

(d)         Community book – a digital offer to signpost people to what 
is available in communities 

(e)         Community connectors – holistically supporting people in 
communities, opening up conversations based on Making Every 
Contact Count 

(f)           VCS sustainability and mutual aid – preventative 
approaches and harnessing what is already in communities to 
support resilience 

(g)         Skills and competence – trained workforce with a shared 
set of skills to know how to enable and empower whoever they 
are working with at the earliest opportunity 

Page 265



 

 

 

 

 

94 

 

 

 

 

(h)         Physical Presence – placed based approaches (eg Horden 
Together) and multi-functional buildings 

(i)           Triage, Step Up, Step Down – working across 
organisational boundaries and “at scale” approaches 

29 County Durham Together has, at its heart, the principles from the 
Approach to Wellbeing, and an intent to involve communities in the 
decisions that affect them.  Its reach, across the whole of the County 
Durham Partnership means that its programme of work is well placed to 
deeply embed the Approach to Wellbeing principles across the entire 
network of partners and in so doing, reach all of our communities.  It 
would also address some of the concerns raised in the evaluation 
undertaken by Teesside University, and respond to the 
recommendations from PHE guidance to ensure that activities have 
strong leadership buy-in and can be mainstreamed and scaled up.     

30 A strong argument could therefore be made to wholly embed and 
absorb the Approach to Wellbeing within the work of the CDT, but in 
order to do so, it would be helpful to better understand how the 
objectives of each of the 9 CDT workstreams, map against each of the 
Approach to Wellbeing principles.  This will help to determine whether 
there are any gaps in applying the Wellbeing principles that need to be 
addressed, or that would be so significant as to make the ‘merger’ of the 
two approaches impractical.    

31 It is therefore recommended that the chairs of each CDT workstream 
use the Approach to Wellbeing Self-Assessment Framework to 
undertake a mapping exercise, reflecting on the extent to which their 
vision and plan on a page is informed by each of the Wellbeing 
principles, and highlighting any further actions that may be needed to 
improve alignment. This can then be reported back to the next CDT 
meeting where a decision can be made on next steps. 

32 In bringing these two programmes of work together, there would also be 
value in considering the relevance of the actions set out in the draft 
action plan in Appendix 6.  These actions based upon PHE guidance 
would be highly translatable to CDT at a strategic level, and offer the 
opportunity for further embedding both CDT and the Approach to 
Wellbeing across the County Durham Partnership.   

33 A suggested mapping of the A2W draft action plan against the CDT 
workstreams has been undertaken below for consideration. Note that 
some changes have been made to the text compared to the actions in 
Appendix 6, in order to highlight the relevance to CDT.   

Page 266



 

 

 

 

 

95 

 

 

 

 

A2W action Mapped 
to…. 

CDT workstream 

Ensure leadership buy-in 

• Celebrate the success of the 
Approach to Wellbeing and its 
alignment with CDT through further 
discussion at CMT, County 
Durham Together Partnership, with 
the VCS and with other partner’s 
senior teams, demonstrating 
learning, progress and next steps. 

• Ensure that CDT and the A2W 
principles are highlighted in the 
induction of all new Directors, 
Heads of Service and Strategic 
Managers. 

• Look at ways in which the 
CDT/A2W can be more visibly 
supported at a corporate level by 
senior leaders for example in 
publications and presentations. 

• Include the value of CDT and the 
A2W principles in leadership and 
management courses. 

  

 

Culture and leadership 

 

 

 

 

Skills and competence 

 

 

Culture and leadership 

 

 

 

Skills and competence 

Structured approaches for 
engagement 

• Review the current means we 
have of engaging citizens including 
Area Action Partnerships, the 
Youth Council, LD Parliament, 
Investing in Children, Patient 
Reference Groups and bring 
together the best of these in a 
single but flexible model.  

 

  

 

Co-production approach 
employed by all workstreams. 

Mainstreaming and Scaling up of 
Interventions 

• Use the Approach to Wellbeing as 
a development/reflective tool for 

  

 

Page 267



 

 

 

 

 

96 

 

 

 

 

looking at what has worked, 
building on the bank of case 
studies and worked examples of 
how this has been done.   

• Work with the Area Action 
Partnerships to identify successful 
projects that have the potential to 
be mainstreamed or scaled up 
across the County.  

• Put in place a systematic approach 
to enable successful projects to be 
considered for upscaling by those 
working at the appropriate 
decision-making level. 

• Put in place a system of review 
with commissioning colleagues to 
ensure successful applications of 
CDT/A2W are embedded into 
contracts as part of the Durham 
Procurement Family Network.  

• Look at opportunities to publicise 
success more widely.  

• Work with the Health and 
Wellbeing Board to ensure that 
those presenting are challenged 
on how they can upscale and 
mainstream their successes. 
 

VCS Sustainability and 
Mutual Aid, and the Physical 
Presence workstreams 
feeding in recommendations 
to the CDT Chairs meeting. 

 

 

 

 

VCS Sustainability and 
Mutual Aid workstream 

 

 

Culture and leadership 

 

 

 

 

Culture and leadership 

Health and Wellbeing Board 

Building skills across the workforce 

• Incorporate CDT and A2W 
principles into the induction 
programme for all staff (councillors 
and officers). 

• Undertake an audit of current 
training in community 
development, and encourage and 
support uptake for key staff where 
relevant. 

• Build a short e-learning course on 
CDT/A2W, accessible to all 
partners. 

• Consider how CDT/A2W could be 
built into or run alongside other 

  

Skills and competence 
workstream  

 

Skills and competence 
workstream 

 

Page 268



 

 

 

 

 

97 

 

 

 

 

programmes such as Making 
Every Contact Count. 

Skills and competence 
workstream 

 

Community connectors 

Building capacity within the VCS 

• Continue our work with the VCS on 
Alliance Contracting. 

• Continue our work on the County 
Durham Pound, securing 
commitments across the County 
Durham Partnership to support 
community wealth building. 

• Develop a VCS Sustainability 
Framework which outlines the way 
the statutory sectors will work with 
the VCS. 

  

VCS Sustainability and 
Mutual Aid workstream 

Culture and leadership 

 

 

VCS Sustainability and 
Mutual Aid workstream 

 

Setting out long term ambitions 

• To use this two-year stocktake as 
the starting point to develop a 
longer term ‘Wellbeing Vision’ with 
County Durham partners, and 
supported by County Durham 
Together.  
 

  

 

Culture and leadership 

Developing an outcomes framework and 

measuring our success 

• We will use the County 
Durham Vision 2035 to 
develop our measures for 
our success at 3, 5 and 10 
years. 

  

 

 

Culture and leadership 

 

34 It is recommended that these proposed actions are shared and 
discussed at each of the relevant CDT workstreams to discuss their 
relevance and to consider how the Approach to Wellbeing could be 
mainstreamed within their work, and to feed back their conclusions to 
the next CDT and A2W steering group meetings.  

Page 269



 

 

 

 

 

98 

 

 

 

 

Conclusion 
35 The Approach to Wellbeing has seen some notable successes in the 

past two years and has continued to adapt and grow to ensure its 
continuing relevance.  This approach can be seen in its response to 
both the audit against PHE good practice guidance, and the formal 
evaluation being undertaken by Teesside University.   

36 Whilst the A2W principles have become embedded in the work of DCC, 
the VCS and many other partners, its aim to fully engage communities 
has not been fully realised.  However, the emergence of the County 
Durham Together Partnership with its focus on working with 
communities provides a key opportunity to address this and to further 
mainstream the A2W principles.  

37 As a starting point in furthering this alignment, two recommendations 
are made in this paper.  The first is to map out the seven Wellbeing 
Principles against the 9 CDT workstreams to determine whether there 
are any gaps in their work programmes where greater take-up of the 
Wellbeing Approach can be considered.  The second, is to consider the 
actions highlighted in the draft A2W action plan (Appendix 6) for their 
relevance to the work of each CDT workstream, and also as an aide to 
the strategic development of CDT. The outcome of these discussions 
should then be considered further by the County Durham Together 
Partnership and also the Approach to Wellbeing Steering Group with 
the aim of seeking greater alignment of the two and determining the 
appropriate next steps to be taken.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 270



 

 

 

 

 

99 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 5(a): Approach to Wellbeing Next Steps 
 

    

 

 

 

 

 

Next Steps 

• Continually building and developing this approach by identifying which 

communities to begin to work with and how.  This could include place-based 

communities or communities of interest. 

• Sharing the ideas and approach to wellbeing contained in this document, to 

begin conversations with communities on whether or not this feels the right 

approach for them including how they can be supported in the development of 

their leadership role, and in determining priorities for the future. 

• Continue to develop the JSNA so it becomes more asset focused and place 

based. 

• Sharing insights from the County Durham JSNA with communities to enable 

them to make informed decisions about the future. 

• Pooling information across partners on the assets and asset mapping that is 

currently known and then working with communities to enhance this. 

• Working with communities to identify those groups that are most vulnerable 

and consider actions that could support them 

• Reviewing services and assets already available, against those that 

communities feel are needed, and identifying gaps where assets need to be 

mobilised, increased or commissioned. 

• Use the outcomes from our discussions with communities to shape this 

wellbeing approach, as well as our related strategies, policies and activities. 

• Considering how this approach to wellbeing can influence the way in which 

partners can work together with communities and improve the alignment of 

that work with one another. 

• Ensuring that the development of all new strategies that have an impact on 

community and individual wellbeing are aligned with this approach to 

wellbeing. 

• Use this wellbeing approach to increase community engagement in the review 

and co-design of: 

➢ the services we provide. 

➢ the services that we commission from others. 

➢ the assets that we can develop and mobilise. 

• Using this wellbeing approach to review and explore current and potential 

care and support pathways. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 271



 

 

 

 

 

100 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 5(b): Wellbeing Programme Manager’s Report 
 
Report of Cat Miller, Wellbeing Programme Manager, Partnerships 
and Community Engagement  
 

Purpose of the Report 
1 To update the Approach to Wellbeing Steering Group on progress made 

against the workplan for the Approach to Wellbeing. 

Recommendation(s) 
2 The Approach to Wellbeing Steering Group is recommended to:  

(a) Note the progress made against the workplan to date from the start of the project.  

(b) Note that the focus of the work has had to continue to change due to the impact of 
COVID. 

(c) Note the future plans for the project evaluation and progress to date. 

(d) Note that a Wellbeing Stocktake is being undertaken by Tracey Sharp which will 
inform the future direction of the Approach to Wellbeing work, including any dedicated 
support to the programme.  

Background 
3 The Programme Manager came into post on 9th March 2020.  The initial 

workplan was updated and agreed on 10th September 2020 as Covid-19 
meant we had to re-prioritise our work due to the limitations in terms of 
community engagement and working directly with organisations. 

Integration into the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 

4 The Approach has been outlined in detail in the JHWBS and has been 
used to audit the strategy to ensure that all aspects of the approach are 
reflected in the narrative and the aims and outcomes.  The proposed 
Ageing Well case study also derives from early work in the development 
of the Approach.  This means that the approach will now be embedded 
in any delivery mechanisms linked to this plan.  It is also an expectation 
of the Health and Wellbeing Board that anyone presenting to the board 
demonstrates how they are using the Approach to Wellbeing. 

Integration into the Safe Durham Plan 

5 As per how the model was used for the JHWBS the same format is 
being used for the Safe Durham Partnership Plan to ensure that the 
principles of the Approach are embedded in the plan.  This will ensure 

Page 272



 

 

 

 

 

101 

 

 

 

 

that the approach to Wellbeing is embedded in any delivery 
mechanisms related to this strategic document 

Inclusion in the Strategic Planning Toolkit 

6 Following a meeting with the Strategic Planning Group in December 
2020 the Approach has now been formally adopted as part of the 
Strategic Planning Toolkit meaning that the approach will have to be 
considered as part of the writing of all new strategies.  This will continue 
to ensure that the Approach is considered and embedded at a Strategic 
level. 

Commissioning 

7 The Approach to Wellbeing has been used to develop the high-level 
outcomes for Project Alliance for the Community Mental Health 
Services Contract.  All the outcomes are directly linked to the principles 
which will ensure that the approach is embedded in service delivery and 
not just seen as a stand-alone model but a way of working. 

8 All other work in relation to commissioning including the Durham 
System Plan is all ongoing however slowed in progress due to the most 
recent lockdown placing additional pressures on leads. 

9 The Approach has been used as part of the review of the NHS health 
checks contract and will be used as the foundation for the new contract 
going forward.  The review of this contract has very much demonstrated 
a “Doing with, Not to” approach with the level of consultation with 
people who use or have used this service to look at what the best 
solution is for individuals. 

Project Evaluation 

10 Phase 1 is complete and the interim report and recommendations has 
been shared with the steering group.  These findings have also been 
shared with the Health and Wellbeing Board and County Durham 
Together Partnership. 

11 Phase 2 Case Study has been completed and to be presented at the 
steering group on 7th April 2021 for agreement. It is hoped that the 
learning demonstrated through this will support other services to see 
how the approach could be used to both develop and operate a service 
delivery model. 

Page 273



 

 

 

 

 

102 

 

 

 

 

12 Phase 3 is ongoing and this has commenced with the approach being 
introduced to the Covid Community Champions as a community of 
interest in relation to how the approach is applicable to their area of 
work and how working in the way they are is aligned to the principles.  
Andy Divers from Teesside University will follow this up as planned in 
focus groups and with a questionnaire later in the summer. 

13 Phase 4 requires further discussion with the researcher going forward to 
decide what format this is going to take. It has been suggested it is 
aligned to the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy and the 
measurement of Self-Reported Wellbeing. 

Work in other Areas 

14 Durham Enable – the model has been used to help shape the service 
delivery model, particularly around service user involvement and how 
service users can help develop the service going forward.  An induction 
session around the approach to wellbeing in relation to the job coaches 
role was also undertaken and this was a really useful exercise and 
helped link aspects of the job description to the model and highlighted 
the much wider impact of the way we deliver services to our residents. 

15 Development of the model – is included as part of the evaluation and 
the Phase 1 recommendations and it is hoped to move on and look at 
how the approach can be used to support the workforce. The pandemic 
has allowed us to see that by supporting staff in a way that is aligned to 
the approach then outcomes are better for both staff wellbeing but also 
for the continued effective delivery of services likely due to staff feeling 
supported and empowered. 

16 Child Poverty Plan – The Approach is being used to audit the existing 
plan and identify gaps and strengths to be carried forward into the new 
plan.  This will ensure that the model is integrated into service delivery 
and is not a stand alone model it’s just how things are done. 

17 Covid Community Champions – This project is key part of Phase 3 of 
the Evaluation. The Project Manager has completed training sessions 
with Community Champions around the approach.  The Project 
Manager has also delivered training sessions to the Covid Coordinators. 

18 Comparison with PHE Wellbeing Tool – Tracey Sharp has developed a 
paper with recommendations for consideration. Please see this 
separate document for further updates. 

Page 274



 

 

 

 

 

103 

 

 

 

 

19 Further work needs to be done, when restrictions allow, to work with 
VCS organisations – particularly those aligned to the Resilient 
Communities Group, around how the way they work is aligned to the 
approach to allow further understanding and embedding at a grassroots 
level. 

20 Tracey Sharp has commenced a Wellbeing Stocktake on the work 
undertaken to date and will develop recommendations for how the 
Approach to Wellbeing work will continue, linked to the work of the 
County Durham Together Partnership.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 275



 

 

 

 

 

104 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 5(c): Comparison of Public Health England Community-
centred model with Co Durham Approach to Wellbeing 
 
Background to paper 
In January 2020, Public Health England published a paper entitled 
‘Community-centred public health: Taking a whole system approach’.2 The 
paper was intended to ‘summarise the key elements, core values and 
principles needed to develop whole system approaches to community-centred 
public health’, and also to ‘improve the effectiveness and sustainability of 
action to build healthy communities, whilst embedding community-centred 
ways of working within whole systems..’ 
Given the dynamic approach to developing the County Durham Approach to 
Wellbeing alongside the evaluation that was also being undertaken, it is hoped 
that insights gained from this publication may help in embedding the wellbeing 
approach.  A comparison of the two models was therefore undertaken, 
highlighting any lessons that could be learned from the PHE model. 
PHE community centred model 
The PHE model contain 5 principles, 3 core values and 11 elements of 
change based around 4 domains which can all be seen in the graphic below: 

 
The publication contains further detail elaborating on each of these concepts 
and explaining the rationale for their inclusion.  It also contains a number of 
examples highlighting how the model has been applied and how it has helped 
to support change in communities.  Descriptions of the 11 elements forms the 
majority of the document, but the 5 principles are intended to represent the 

 
2 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/community-centred-public-health-taking-a-whole-system-

approach  

Page 276

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/community-centred-public-health-taking-a-whole-system-approach
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/community-centred-public-health-taking-a-whole-system-approach


 

 

 

 

 

105 

 

 

 

 

factors (or enablers) that are needed to underpin successful implementation of 
the model as a Whole Systems Approach. 
County Durham Approach to Wellbeing  
The County Durham Approach to Wellbeing consists of 7 core principles, 
across two domains (People and Places and Supporting Systems). Each of 
the principles is represented by a short statement intended to focus on the 
positive behaviours of those adopting the approach as seen in the graphic 
below:  
 

 
The Wellbeing Approach was developed from a theoretical model but 
developed in such a way as to further operationalise the activities that people 
can take in order to put the model into practice.  It is supported by a self 
assessment framework, against which people can test how far they have used 
the approach and offering suggestions for additional actions they can take.  
 
Comparison of the two models 
A comparative review of the two models was undertaken by mapping the 7 
Wellbeing Principles, against the 11 Elements of the PHE Community-centred 
model (see below). 
In summary, the PHE Community-centred model had a number of strengths 
focused around the strategic enablers that support success.  For example, 
through its focus on leadership, on building skills across the workforce, the 
mainstreaming and scaling up of interventions, structured approaches for 

Page 277



 

 

 

 

 

106 

 

 

 

 

engaging communities, building capacity within communities and the VCS, 
setting out long term ambitions and outcome frameworks, and efforts to 
identify and lay the ground work for successful whole system working.   
The strengths of the County Durham Approach to Wellbeing include a focus 
around using the evidence base, explicit recognition of the need to devolve 
power, highlighting the importance of working with disadvantaged and 
marginalised groups in order to ‘level-up’ communities.  The County Durham 
Approach also highlighted the importance of the systems needed to support 
this work through the alignment of strategies and policies across the system, 
coproducing and commissioning services jointly and ensuring person-centred 
approaches are used by all. The approach also includes the use of a practical 
self assessment framework to enable people to put the approach into practice. 
Conclusions  
In drawing out some overriding conclusions about the two, the PHE model 
sets out a more strategic approach to embedding the use of the model, 
whereas the County Durham approach is set at a more practical level to 
ensure ease of understanding and to aid implementation.  
The lessons to be learned for County Durham are therefore around the 
strategic framework within which the Approach to Wellbeing was developed 
and implemented. This includes consideration being given to some of the 
strengths apparent in the PHE model.  The steering group may therefore wish 
to consider some of the following: 
PHE recommendations for success: 
Leadership 

Has enough been done to secure support for the Wellbeing Approach at 
senior level within our organisation(s)?  Could more be done?  

Building skills across the workforce  
Could more be done to build skills in community centred working across 
our workforce?  

Mainstreaming and scaling up of interventions  
Do we have a system in place to mainstream and scale up those 
interventions we know work? 

Structured approaches for engagement  
Have we determined a structured and consistent approach for the way 
in which we engage communities?  

Building capacity within the VCS  
What are we doing to build capacity in communities and ensure our 
VCS is thriving?  Can we do more? 

Setting out long term ambitions  
Have we set out a long-term vision for the Wellbeing Approach?  What 
should that be? 

Outcome frameworks  
What outcomes are we working towards?  How are we measuring our success?  

Page 278



 

 

 

 

 

107 

 

 

 

 

CDA2W principles Mapped to: PHE elements 

Using evidence/ /local 

conversations 

 No reference made to interventions needing to be evidence based.  

Involving element 3 - Reference is made to the use of insight from 

communities and participatory research 

People and Place    

Engagement, development and 

empowerment and 

communities 

 No explicit reference to devolution of power. 

Scaling element 2 – refers to Hyper local working  

Involving element 3 – refers to insight work, active communities, 

capacity building, and participation structures 

Sustaining element 9 – refers to a long term ambition to strengthen 

communities. 

Using assets as well as needs  Scaling element 2 - Neighbourhood working that taps into local 

resources  

Involving element 3 - Community insight that provides meaning to 

data  

Support the most 

disadvantaged and vulnerable, 

addressing health inequalities, 

and building resilience 

 There is no reference to identifying the most marginalised or 

disadvantaged groups, nor the importance of social gradients in 

communities etc 

5 core principles – refers to bold leadership to address health 

inequalities and also shifting mindsets to build resilient 

communities, but this is not one of the elements in the core model 

Sustaining element 11 - refers to actions to address social 

determinants as they impact on resilience.  There is no explicit 

reference to ‘building’ resilience. 

Supporting Systems   

Alignment of strategies and 

policies to reduce duplication 

and ensure greater impact 

 Not referred to.  

Develop and deliver services 

together  

 Involving element 5 – refers to joint decision-making and co-

production but no reference to commissioning 

Person centred interventions 

that are empowering 

 The work of NHS England is referenced on page 12 in a contextual 

paragraph but doesn’t appear to be part of the model.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 279



 

 

 

 

 

108 

 

 

 

 

 

PHE elements Mapped to CDA2W principles 

Scaling up   

Scaled up services  CDA2W doesn’t cover ‘scaling up’. 

Principle 5 - Reference to co-production of services 

Principle 6 – reference to person-centred interventions (delivered 

by services) 

Neighbourhood working that 

taps into local resources 

 Principle 1 – refers to working with communities (locations or 

COI) 

Principle 2 refers to identifying and using assets as well as needs 

Involving   

Community insight  Underpinning principle of using evidence informed by local 

conversations 

Active communities supported 

by community capacity 

building approaches 

 Principle 1 – supporting development and empowerment of 

communities  

Principle 3 – building resilience 

Participation structures for 

engagement (eg 

neighbourhood forums) 

 Not referred to but the SAF does ask questions /prompts about how 

communities are engaged. 

Strengthening    

Thriving VCS and growth of 

local capacity 

 Not explicitly referenced in the model but highlighted in Principle 5 

in the supporting narrative relating to codesign and co-production. 

Our work on alliance contracting also builds on this. 

Workforce development to 

build core skills in 

community-centred ways of 

working 

 Not included in the design – but taking place anyway – eg training 

for staff working as COVID-19 community champions.  Do we 

need to make this more explicit? 

Making community centred 

approaches mainstream 

 Not in the model but referenced in the underpinning narrative and 

now included in the underpinning Co Durham Vision, NHS system 

plan, and the HWB strategy.   

 

Sustaining   

Long term ambition to 

strengthen communities 

shared across all agencies and 

communities 

 Not explicit in model 

Outcome frameworks that 

include what matters to 

communities 

 Not explicit in model.  

Addressing the social 

determinants of health 

 Not explicit in model but the need to address health inequalities are 

highlighted.   

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 280



 

 

 

 

 

109 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 5(d): Recommendations from Teesside University 
Evaluation 
 

Recommendation 1: The soundbites model needs to be developed so that it 
can be understood at a community level. The first development was theoretical, 
and the second stage of revisions was to help with practical implementation. 
Further work is now needed to be able to communicate at the community level.  
Response 
(Community engagement and terminology) This is broadly consistent with the 
guidance from Public Health England relating to systematic community 
engagement.  This work has begun with the COVID Community Champions 
and is in the process of being evaluated by Teesside University.  The model 
and SAF will also be reviewed to further consider the terminology used. 
Recommendation 2: There is fatigue in the community after the first phase of 
lockdown. It is perhaps not the right time to approach and involve the community 
in the next stage of model development. Therefore, it is suggested that the team 
start with a community of interest to develop the soundbites model. Asking 
‘What do these six principles mean to you? How will your community respond?’  
Potential response 
(Community engagement) This work has begun with the COVID Community 
Champions and is in the process of being evaluated by Teesside University.  
Further consideration will be needed to determine which community (or 
community of interest) is next approached.     
Recommendation 3: Make sure there is a good geographical spread when 
working with the selected community of interest (and beyond). Go to the north, 
central and south of County Durham, to cover rural, semi-rural and urban areas.  
Potential response 
(Community engagement) This will be done in conjunction with the COVID 
Champions work which is mapped into three areas – North, South and East. 
Recommendation 4: The framework and model needs to be driven from the 
top, to ensure buy-in to trickle down, and that staff have the necessary directive 
within their workload.  
Potential response 
(Leadership and senior buy-in) This is consistent with the recommendations 
from Public Health England and will be addressed in the emerging action plan.  
Recommendation 5: Both the framework and model need to be presented for 
various perspectives, not just a public health angle. The framework/model 
introduced needs to cut across departments and sectors. How can it translate 
to other services, such as the NHS?   
Potential response 
(Mainstreaming) Some of these comments may refer to the use of the earlier 
A2W ‘pie chart’ model and have already been addressed by development of the 

Page 281



 

 

 

 

 

110 

 

 

 

 

soundbites model.  However, the model and SAF will be reviewed further to 
consider the terminology used. 
Recommendation 6: When refining the soundbites, thought needs to be given 
to how communities will understand the language. For example, Principle 5 
uses the phrase ‘co-designed’- what does that mean? There potentially needs 
to be an explanation of terminology.  
Potential response 
(Community engagement and terminology) Some of these comments may refer 
to the use of the earlier A2W ‘pie chart’ model and have already been addressed 
by development of the soundbites model.  However, the model and SAF will be 
reviewed further to consider the terminology used. 
Recommendation 7: Consideration also needs to be given to the language 
used in the model, as it needs to be appropriate across multiple sectors and 
organisations (e.g. using the word communities v patients). Principle 6 says 
‘health and social care’, but the A2WB is for use across more than just this 
sector.  
Potential response 
(Community engagement and terminology) As above to review as part of the 
review of the soundbites model and include more inclusive terminology.  
Recommendation 8: There is the potential to add a section at the end of the 
self-assessment framework, which measures outcomes. An example given was 
about ‘accountability’, with a question on ‘Possible next steps and agreed 
timescales’.  
Potential response 
(Implementation and refining the practical application) This will be included as 
part of a review to modify the terminology within the SAF and bring it into line 
with the soundbites model. 
Recommendation 9: Worked, practical examples are needed, which shows 
how other sectors and organisations have applied principles and framework to 
their service area.  
Potential response 
(Mainstreaming and scaling up interventions) This is consistent with the PHE 
recommendations and will be addressed in the emerging action plan.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 282



 

 

 

 

 

111 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 6: Action plan in response to PHE Audit and Teesside 
Evaluation 
 
 

PHE Audit 

 Reflective question arising 

from audit 

Potential actions in response 

 Has enough been done to 

secure support for the 

Wellbeing Approach at senior 

level within the 

organisation(s)?  Could more 

be done?  

 

• Celebrate the success of the 
Approach to date through further 
discussion at CMT, County Durham 
Together Partnership, with the VCS 
and with other partner’s senior 
teams, demonstrating learning, 
progress and next steps. 

• Ensure that all the Wellbeing 
Approach is highlighted in the 
induction of all new Directors, Heads 
of Service and Strategic Managers. 

• Look at ways in which the Approach 
to Wellbeing can be more visibly 
supported at a corporate level by 
senior leaders for example in 
publications and presentations. 

• Include the Approach to Wellbeing in 
leadership and management 
courses. 
 

 Have we determined a 

structured and consistent 

approach for the way in which 

we engage communities?  

• Review the current means we have 
of engaging citizens including Area 
Action Partnerships, the Youth 
Council, LD Parliament, Investing in 
Children, Patient Reference Groups 
and bring together the best of these 
in a single but flexible model.  
 

 Do we have a system in place 

to mainstream and scale up 

those interventions we know 

work?  

 

• Use the Approach to Wellbeing as a 
development/reflective tool for 
looking at what has worked, building 
on the bank of case studies and 
worked examples of how this has 
been done.   

• Work with the Area Action 
Partnerships to identify successful 
projects that have the potential to be 

Page 283



 

 

 

 

 

112 

 

 

 

 

mainstreamed or scaled up across 
the County.  

• Put in place a systematic approach 
to enable successful projects to be 
considered for upscaling by those 
working at the appropriate decision-
making level. 

• Put in place a system of review with 
commissioning colleagues to ensure 
successful applications of the 
Approach are embedded into 
contracts as part of the Durham 
Procurement Family Network.  

• Look at opportunities to publicise 
success more widely.  

• Work with the Health and Wellbeing 
Board to ensure that those 
presenting are challenged on how 
they can upscale and mainstream 
their successes. 
 

 Could more be done to build 

skills in community centred 

working across the workforce? 

• Incorporate the Approach to 
Wellbeing into the induction 
programme for all staff (councillors 
and officers). 

• Undertake an audit of current 
training in community development, 
and encourage and support uptake 
for key staff where relevant. 

• Build a short e-learning course on 
the Approach to Wellbeing, 
accessible to all partners. 

• Consider how the Approach could 
be built into or run alongside other 
programmes such as Making Every 
Contact Count. 
 

 What are we doing to build 

capacity in communities and 

ensure our VCS is thriving?  

Can we do more?  

 

• Continue our work with the VCS on 
Alliance Contracting and County 
Durham Together. 

• Continue our work on the County 
Durham Pound, securing 
commitments across the County 

Page 284



 

 

 

 

 

113 

 

 

 

 

Durham Partnership to support 
community wealth building. 

• Develop a VCS Sustainability 
Framework which outlines the way 
the statutory sectors will work with 
the VCS. 
 

 Have we set out a long term 

vision?  What should that be?  

 

• To use this two-year stocktake as 
the starting point to develop a longer 
term ‘Wellbeing Vision’ with County 
Durham partners, and supported by 
County Durham Together.  

 

 What outcomes are we 

working towards?  How are 

we measuring our success? 

• We will use the County Durham 
Vision 2035 to develop our 
measures for our success at 3, 5 
and 10 years. 

Teesside Evaluation 

 Recommendations arising 

from evaluation 

Potential actions in response 

 Some additional 
recommendations 
from Teesside 
related to further 
refinement of the 
model and the Self 
Assessment 
Framework with 
some suggested 
changes in the 
terminology used.      

 

• Some of these recommendations 
referred to the first conceptual or 
‘pie-chart’ model, and to a large 
degree have been addressed by 
adoption of the newer ‘soundbites’ 
model.  However, there are further 
changes that could be made and 
some simple refinements to the 
language in the model.  The self-
assessment framework also needs 
to undergo revision to bring it into 
line with the soundbites model. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 285



 

 

 

 

 

114 

 

 

 

 

Anderson, M., & Mossialos, E. (2019). Beyond gross domestic product for New Zealand's 
wellbeing budget. The Lancet Public Health, 4(7), e320-e321.  
Benson, T., J. Sladen, A. Liles and H. W. W. Potts (2019). "Personal Wellbeing Score 
(PWS)—a short version of ONS4: development and validation in social prescribing." BMJ 
Open Quality 8(2): e000394 
Cohen, S., Doyle, W., Turner, R. Alper, C. & Skoner, D. (2003). Emotional style and 
susceptibility to the common cold. Psychosomatic Medicine, 65, 652-657.  
DEFRA (2011). Wellbeing [Online]. London: Department for Environment, Food and Rural 
Affairs. Available: http://sd.defra.gov.uk/progress/national/key/68-wellbeing/.  
Dolan, P. and R. Metcalfe (2012). "Measuring Subjective Wellbeing: Recommendations on 
Measures for use by National Governments." Journal of Social Policy 41(2): 409-427. 
Durham Insight, 2022  
https://www.durhaminsight.info/health-and-social-care/#/view-
report/0a01199b2f1a47eab2ed24447d231fd5/___iaFirstFeature  
(Accessed 28th March 2022)  
Durham Insight Mental Health Infographic, 2022  
https://infogram.com/improved-mental-health-and-wellbeing-1hd12ygl7v8x2km?live  
(Accessed 28th March 2022)  
Foresite Mental Capital and Wellbeing Project (2008). Mental Capital and Wellbeing: Making 
the most of ourselves in the 21st century. Executive summary. London: Government Office 
for Science.  
Hicks, S., Tinkler, L., & Allin, P. (2013). Measuring subjective well-being and its potential role 
in policy: Perspectives from the UK office for national statistics. Social Indicators 
Research, 114(1), 73-86.  
De Neve, J. E., Diener, E., Tay, L., & Xuereb, C. (2013). The objective benefits of subjective 
well-being. World happiness report. New York: UN Sustainable Development Solutions 
Network.  
Kiecolt-Glaser, J. K., Marucha, P. T., Mercado, A. M., Malarkey, W. B., & Glaser, R. (1995). 
Slowing of wound healing by psychological stress. The Lancet, 346(8984), 1194-1196.  
Lamers, S., Bolier, L., Westerhof, G. J., Smit, F., & Bohlmeijer, E. T. (2012). The impact of 
emotional well-being on long-term recovery and survival in physical illness: a meta-
analysis. Journal of behavioral medicine, 35(5), 538-547.  
Michaelson, J., Mahony, S., & Schifferes, J. (2012). New Economic Foundation. Measuring 
well-being: a guide for practitioners. London: new economics foundation.  
Miles, R. L., Greer, L., Kraatz, D., & Kinnear, S. (2008). Measuring community wellbeing: a 
central Queensland case study. Australasian Journal of Regional Studies, The, 14(1), 73-93.  
ONS. 2013. Why measure well-being? [Online]. London: Office for National Statistics. 
Available: http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/guide-method/user-guidance/well-being/why-measure-
wellbeing-/index.html.   
Murre, J. M. J. and J. Dros (2015). "Replication and Analysis of Ebbinghaus’ Forgetting 
Curve." PLOS ONE 10(7): e0120644. 
ONS 2014. Statistical bulletin: Personal well-being in the UK, 2013/14. London: Office for 
National Statistics.  
Public Health England Fingertips Profile, 2022  
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/search/life%20expectancy  
(Accessed 28th March 2022)  
Ronaldson, S. and S. Ali (2010). "Health outcomes in economic evaluation: The QALY and 
utilities." British medical bulletin 96: 5-21. 
Ryff, C. D., Singer, B. H., & Dienberg Love, G. (2004). Positive health: connecting well–
being with biology. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B: 
Biological Sciences, 359(1449), 1383-1394.  

Page 286

http://sd.defra.gov.uk/progress/national/key/68-wellbeing/
https://www.durhaminsight.info/health-and-social-care/#/view-report/0a01199b2f1a47eab2ed24447d231fd5/___iaFirstFeature
https://www.durhaminsight.info/health-and-social-care/#/view-report/0a01199b2f1a47eab2ed24447d231fd5/___iaFirstFeature
https://infogram.com/improved-mental-health-and-wellbeing-1hd12ygl7v8x2km?live
http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/guide-method/user-guidance/well-being/why-measure-wellbeing-/index.html
http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/guide-method/user-guidance/well-being/why-measure-wellbeing-/index.html
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/search/life%20expectancy


 

 

 

 

 

115 

 

 

 

 

Shah, K. K. (2017). "A brief review of concepts: health, quality of life, health-related quality of 
life and well-being." EuroQol Working Paper Series 17001. 
Stiglitz, J. E., Sen, A., & Fitoussi, J. P. (2009). Report by the commission on the 
measurement of economic performance and social progress.  
The All Party Parliamentary Group on Wellbeing Economics, 2019 . 
https://wellbeingeconomics.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/Spending-review-to-ncrease-
wellbeing-APPG-2019.pdf  
Tinkler, L. (2015). "The office for national statistics experience of collecting and measuring 
subjective well-being." Statistics in Transition New Series 16(3): 373-396. 
van Agt H., E.-B. M., Krabbe P., Bonsel G. , Ed. (2005). Test-retest reliability of health state 
valuations collected with the EuroQol questionnaire. EQ-5D concepts and methods: A 
developmental history. Dordrecht. , Springer. 
Ward, G. (2019). Happiness and voting behaviour. World Happiness Report 2019, 46-65.  
Western, M. & Tomaszewski, W. (2016). Subjective wellbeing, objective wellbeing and 
inequality in Australia. PLOS ONE, 11, e0163345.  
Wey, T. W., D. Doiron, R. Wissa, G. Fabre, I. Motoc, J. M. Noordzij, M. Ruiz, E. 
Timmermans, F. J. van Lenthe, M. Bobak, B. Chaix, S. Krokstad, P. Raina, E. R. Sund, M. 
A. Beenackers and I. Fortier (2021). "Overview of retrospective data harmonisation in the 
MINDMAP project: process and results." Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health 
75(5): 433. 
World Health Organization. The world health report 2001: mental health: new understanding, 
new hope. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2001.  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

Page 287

https://wellbeingeconomics.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/Spending-review-to-ncrease-wellbeing-APPG-2019.pdf
https://wellbeingeconomics.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/Spending-review-to-ncrease-wellbeing-APPG-2019.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

Approach to Wellbeing Evaluation: Summary of 
Findings 

(T. Sharp, N. Connor, A. Divers & H. Murray-Leslie) 

 
Background and evolution of the Approach to Wellbeing (A2WB) 
model 
 
In 2019, County Durham developed an Approach to Wellbeing (A2WB) that was an 
asset-based model intended to engage communities and encourage devolution of 
power to them, alongside increasing shared decision making.  The Approach built on 
the success of Area Action Partnerships (AAPs) and their long-established work with 
communities across County Durham.   
 
The principles of the A2WB model were developed as part of an iterative process 
engaging members of the Resilient Communities Group, the Mental Health Strategic 
Partnership Board, the Public Health Team, the Mental Health Stakeholder Forum 
and teams within Durham County Council and the NHS.  Implementation of the 
model resulted in two strands of work; the design of a theoretical model and an 
‘audit’ tool that would enable people to put the principles into practice, which resulted 
in the development of the Self-Assessment Framework 

 

Aims and Objectives 
The primary aim of this study was to evaluate the implementation of the County 
Durham A2WB.  The evaluation was intended to take place in three phases with 
associated objectives as follows: 

 
Phase 1: A retrospective review of early adopters in order to:  

• Explore the reasons why some teams adopted the use of the Wellbeing 
principles at an early stage to influence their work.  

• Consider what barriers there may be to others adopting the Wellbeing 
approach and how those barriers could be lifted.  

• Determine whether the use of the wellbeing principles has been helpful in 
framing future and more long term intentions of use.  

• Explore whether the Wellbeing approach was used to underpin any 
emergency strategy or response put in place during the COVID-19 global 
pandemic 

 
Phase 2: A contemporaneous chronicle of activities pertaining to 
community engagement, including testing, further development and 
refinement of the wellbeing principles, alongside the co-production of 
the evaluation objectives themselves. Including:  

• Identifying specific communities of interest. 

• Reviewing the method of community engagement used.  

• Exploring the extent to which solutions to issues affecting communities have 
been co-produced. 

• Identifying examples of power being devolved to communities.  

 

Page 289



 

 

 

 

Phase 3: To examine essential factors pertaining to future internal 
evaluation of the adoption, impact of the adoption, and implementation 
of the wellbeing approach across relevant County Durham 
organisations, as well as development of a recommendation of a feasible 
model for how this may be achieved. This stage includes: 

• Which measures of wellbeing will be taken as constitutive of success when 
gauging outcomes from the approach to wellbeing? 

• Where will responsibility for future evaluation lie, and how will continuation of 
evaluative measures be ensured in future? 

• How can the wellbeing approach itself be at the heart of future evaluation? 

 
Conclusions & Recommendations 

 
Having considered each phase of evaluation, including recommendations from the 
Community Hub case study and Internal Stocktake paper, the following conclusions 
have been reached, and recommendations made: 

1. The Community Champions model was found to be a very effective vehicle for 
implementing the Approach to Wellbeing and could be replicated in order to 
engage and improve levels of wellbeing in areas and communities that may be 
less well connected. It is recommended that in this case, particular effort is 
made to reach out and attempt to recruit Champions who are as 
representative of the community they work with as possible as this was 
found to be a significant factor in their success.  

2. Although there is evidence of a clear commitment at all levels to follow the 

approach to wellbeing and apply its principles, in practice this can be difficult due 

to their, sometimes abstract, nature. While the Self-Assessment framework and 

wellbeing principles ‘as is’ are suitable at strategic level and provide a valuable 

instrument to guide and review decision-making and performance, these are 

often too time-consuming or too far removed from everyday practice in delivery 

settings.  For this reason, it is also recommended that dedicated training in 

the approach to wellbeing be coupled with measures designed to place the 

approach at the heart of each role. For example, including these elements 

in role specifications and key areas of focus will also aid in affecting whole 

system ‘culture shift’ towards the wellbeing approach. Appraising key role 

competencies in a manner that is wellbeing-driven can also be a valuable 

approach to affecting such culture shift. When dedicated training is delivered, 

it can sometimes be difficult to transport any learning from this environment to the 

‘real world’. Furthermore, the more time that passes following this training, the 

more difficult it becomes to recall its content and purpose. Because of this, a 

further recommendation is to look at ways of embedding the wellbeing 

principles within role descriptions and at the heart of team meetings and 

development sessions. 

3. It has been suggested that the communication of the approach to wellbeing may 
still be too abstract for use in community settings.  A recommendation to 
address this is to develop practical mechanisms that support a clear 
understanding of the role the Approach to Wellbeing can play in supporting 
better outcomes for communities and provide tangible ways to engage with 

Page 290



 

 

 

 

the Self-Assessment tool, for example enabling users to complete and submit 
forms via a web page and access peer mentoring opportunities.  Consideration 
should be given to how this mechanism might enable gathering of 
qualitative data and link to other initiatives and methodologies that support 
meaningful engagement, for example co-production and consultation.  

4. It is important to be able to objectively measure and monitor wellbeing within 

County Durham over time in order to support the continued application of the 

approach to wellbeing and to ensure this is done iteratively. It is recommended 

that this monitoring of wellbeing within County Durham is done in a 

standardised, consistent and universal way in order to ensure the greatest 

benefit. This involves the creation of standardised and systematic methods 

for collecting and sharing data. Although it is essential that nuanced and rich 

qualitative data forms part of this monitoring, it is also recommended that this 

measurement/monitoring use an externally validated, quantifiable measure 

in addition to qualitative data gathering to maximise how robust any data 

collected is, thus strengthening any conclusions drawn from such data. 

5. It is recommended that the ONS-4 Measures of Wellbeing are used (in 

conjunction with the Personal Wellbeing Scale) as the quantitative measures 

in this endeavour, as these offer the best combination of ease of 

introduction, brevity, readability and richness of existing data. In applying 

the wellbeing principles, the Council should also explore complementing 

this with qualitative data. While it is anticipated that introducing the ONS-

4/PWS hybrid measure alongside standardised qualitative data gathering will 

result in the creation of a robust and instructive dataset in a manageable fashion, 

this is currently hypothetical. Therefore, it is recommended that a small-scale 

pilot be run in which suitable services begin to introduce routine collection 

of ONS-4 data alongside developing standardised methods of qualitative 

data collection to gauge its suitability in real terms. 

 

Page 291



This page is intentionally left blank



APPROACH TO WELLBEING 

FORMAL EVALUATION: 

TEESSIDE UNIVERSITY 

P
age 293



• Adopted across the County Durham 

Partnership in 2019

• Evaluation by Teesside University 

undertaken in three stages

• Implementation Officer recruited in 

February 2022

• Final report completed in March 2022

• Recommendations presented to 

Steering Group in April 2022

County Durham’s Principles of Wellbeing

P
age 294



Evaluation Report 

Summary of recommendations:

• Build on Community Champions model as an effective mechanism to 
embed A2WB

• Identify ways to build A2WB and SAF into working structures e.g. 
team meetings, development, evaluation

• Develop practical mechanisms that help people to engage with A2WB 
and link to CDT, co-production etc.

• Look at standardised, consistent and universal wellbeing 
measurement

P
age 295



Actions:

Link with Community 

Champions to embed 

the A2WB in job 

descriptors and 

resources

Promote the SAF and 

offer workshops to help 

support effective use; 

gather materials for 

case studies

Work with partners to 

embed the A2WB in 

structures e.g. 

Integrated Health and 

Social Care Engagement 

group

Create resources 

(including digital SAF) 

that are accessible on 

the CDP website; align 

with County Durham 

Together Partnership 

Research and pilot 

ONS4 wellbeing 

measurement

P
age 296



Case Study – Mental 

Wellbeing Alliance
• Enabling collaborative working 

• Single point of access

• Joined up provision

• Making use of existing assets

• Including service users in decision making 
process

P
age 297



Case Study – Belmont 

Community Development

• Ensuring social value element of tender for 
school build reflects needs

• Enabling community to have a say right at the 
start of the process

• Co-production steering group created

• Connections and links made re existing assets

P
age 298



Case Study – Relationships Matter

• Finding out what families want 

• Co-producing resources

P
age 299



T
his page is intentionally left blank



MAKING SMOKING OBSOLETE 
THE KHAN REVIEW

Amanda Healy

Director of Public Health County Durham

P
age 301

A
genda Item

 9



Tobacco Harms 

• Smoking remains the single largest 
cause of preventable deaths and is 
one of the largest causes of 
inequalities in England. 

• The harms of smoking fall on the 
poorest and most vulnerable people 
within society, causing a life 
expectancy gap of up to nine years. 

• Tobacco is a key priority to improve 
the health and wellbeing of the local 
population 

P
age 302



Khan Review 

• Spring 2022 Government commissioned an independent review 
led by Dr Javed Khan OBE to look at government’s tobacco 
control policies 

• The review found that urgent action is needed to support 
• Cost of living crisis – quitting smoking restores thousands to household 

budgets 

• Making smoking obsolete would lift 2.6 million adults and 1 million 
children out of poverty

• England will miss the Smokefree 2030 target by at least 7 years with 
some areas not reaching this until 2044. 

P
age 303



Khan Review – Recommendations  

P
age 304



Call to action 

• Endorsement of the Khan Review is critical to support with 
implementing the recommendations. 

• The Association of Directors of Public Health North East have 
signed a joint letter to give their endorsement to the ambition 
within the Khan Review 

• There is no central portal to endorse and support the 
recommendations but can be done by emailing support to:

 Secretary of State for Health: mb-sofs@dhsc.gov.uk

 CMO: Chris.Whitty@dhsc.gov.uk

 Minister for Public Health: psvp@dhsc.gov.uk

P
age 305



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

             

        

 Health and Wellbeing Board 

 28 September 2022 

Growing up in County Durham Strategy 

2023-25 

 

Report of John Pearce, Corporate Director of Children and Young 
People’s Service, Durham County Council and Chair of Children, 
Young People and Families Partnership Board 

Electoral division affected: 

Countywide 

Purpose of the Report 

1 To provide the Health and Wellbeing Board with a draft Growing Up in 
County Durham (GUiCD) 2023 – 25 Strategy for comment, which can 
be found at Appendix 2. 

Executive summary 

2 The current Children and Young People’s Strategy 2019-2022 comes to 
an end this year and is due for review.  

3 The strategy is based on evidence about the needs of children and 
young people in County Durham, which can be found in a range of 
infograms available on Durham Insight at 
https://infogram.com/1p626dwy190l56t5kvjly77rjei3njxk7gv?live.  

4 The strategy is also based on four aims to better manage outcomes and 
reflecting the subgroup arrangements of the Children, Young People 
and Families Partnership Board (CYPFPB). The aims of the strategy 
are: 

(a) Making sure every child has the best start in life – even before 
they are born. 

(b) Making sure that all children are supported to be happy, healthy 
and safe to achieve their potential, and provide additional help 
when it is needed. 

(c) Making sure that children and young people with additional 
needs are supported throughout their childhood, teenage years 
and as they move into adulthood. 

 

 

Page 307

Agenda Item 10

https://infogram.com/1p626dwy190l56t5kvjly77rjei3njxk7gv?live


(d) Making sure the services we provide are joined up, with children, 
young people and families/carers at the centre. 

5 The wider context of Growing Up in County Durham is reflected in the 
strategy, including the impact of Covid-19, which covers young people’s 
physical health, mental health and wellbeing and signposts to other 
strategies provided where common themes and issues are identified. 

6 A strategy development group was established to oversee the 
development of the strategy, including the coproduction process and 
ensure a wide cohort of partners, VCS representatives, children, young 
people, families and carers are involved in its development. 

7 Coproduction sessions took place with children, young people, parents 
and carers to develop the new GUiCD Strategy which is based on what 
is important to those who use and need community support and 
services as well as the wider population, focusing on strengths, rather 
than deficits. 

8 Consultation has taken place throughout the development of the 
strategy at three key stages. 

9 The new strategy will run from 2023-25 to align with the timescales for 
the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2021-25 and the County 
Durham Place Based Commissioning and Delivery Plan 2020-25. 

Recommendations 

10 Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board are recommended to: 

(a) Receive the draft GUiCD Strategy at the meeting 28 September 
2022. 

(b) Provide any additional comments/contributions to the new 
GUiCD Strategy to andrea.petty@durham.gov.uk by 2 October 
2022.   

Page 308

mailto:andrea.petty@durham.gov.uk


Background 

11 A Children, Young People and Families Partnership Board 
Development Session took place in October 2021 to give direction on 
developing the new Children and Young People’s Strategy, and the 
following was agreed: 

(a) A name for the new strategy – Growing Up in County Durham 
2023-25. 

(b) The strategy is based on evidence about the needs of children 
and young people in County Durham, which can be found on 
Durham Insight. 

(c) Coproduction sessions would take place with children, young 
people, parents and carers to develop the Strategy which will be 
based on what is important to those who use and need support 
from services, building on people’s own strengths and those of 
communities.  

(d) The strategy would have a narrower focus built on four aims to 
better manage outcomes and reflecting the subgroup 
arrangements of the CYPFPB. These aims are: 

(i) Making sure every child has the best start in life – even 
before they are born. 

(ii) Making sure that all children are supported to be happy, 
healthy and safe to achieve their potential, and provide 
additional help when it is needed. 

(iii) Making sure that children and young people with additional 
needs are supported throughout their childhood, teenage 
years and as they move into adulthood. 

(iv) Making sure the services we provide are joined up, with 
children, young people and families/carers at the centre. 

(e) The wider context of Growing Up in County Durham would be 
reflected in the strategy, including the impact of Covid-19, which 
covers young people’s mental health and wellbeing and 
signposts to other strategies provided where common themes 
and issues were identified, to avoid duplication. 

(f) The new strategy will run from 2023-25 to align with the 
timescales for the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2021-25 
and the County Durham Place Based Commissioning and 
Delivery Plan 2020-25. 

Page 309



12 A strategy development group (SDG) was set up with the responsibility 
to develop the GUiCD strategy. The group also oversaw the 
coproduction process, involving a wide cohort of partners, VCS reps, 
children, young people, families and carers in its development, ensuring 
a whole family approach was taken. 

Consultation 

13 Consultation has taken place throughout the development of the 
strategy at three key stages: 

(a) Stage 1 – February to 30 April – coproduction sessions with 
children, young people, families and carers via the SDG and the 
VCS Alliance to establish the vision for the strategy and the 
priority areas that the strategy should focus on. 

(b) Stage 2 – 22 June to 10 August – wider consultation on the 
proposed vision statement and priority areas, carried out via an 
online survey and targeted consultation with stakeholder groups. 

(c) Stage 3 – 5 September to 12 October – further consultation on 
the proposed strategy document, carried out through an online 
survey with stakeholder groups, as well as presenting the draft 
strategy to key stakeholders, giving them the opportunity to 
comment before final agreement at the Children, Young People 
and Families Partnership Board. 

14 Following the analysis of the results from stage 2 of the consultation the 
draft GUiCD Strategy 2023-25 is attached at Appendix 2, which is now 
subject to further consultation in stage 3. Details of stage 1 and stage 2 
consultations can be seen in Appendix 3. 

Focus of the Proposed New Strategy 

15 The new proposed vision for the strategy is: 

“County Durham supports all children, young people and their 
families to achieve their goals in life, in an environment that is 
safe, happy and healthy.’’ 

16 The seven priority areas identified by children, young people and 
families which we will focus on are as follows: 

(a) Family, friends and community. 

(b) Being safe. 

(c) Fairer opportunities. 

Page 310



(d) Development, learning and skills. 

(e) Tackling the impacts of Covid-19. 

(f) Physical health, mental health and emotional wellbeing. 

(g) Access to community support and services. 

17 Some key programmes of work, identified within the priority areas 
above, are included in other strategies and plans. To avoid duplication, 
these are signposted in the GUiCD strategy. The GUICD strategy 
includes a number of actions that identify the key areas of work which 
the Children, Young People and Families Partnership Board will focus 
on and where they can add value to improve outcomes for children and 
young people. 

18 These high-level actions will be owned by the subgroups of the 
Children, Young People and Families Partnership Board who will 
develop more detailed action plans to deliver the GUiCD strategy. 

Performance Management 

19 Key indicators/outcomes for measuring the success of the strategy are 
included in the strategy at Appendix 2. 

Timeline and next steps 

20 The Health and Wellbeing Board is requested to note the next steps as 
follows:   

(a) Stage 3 consultation on the draft GUiCD Strategy – 5 September 
to 12 October 2022 

(b) CYPFPB agrees GUiCD 2023-25 – 3 October 2022 

(c) Cabinet and Partner’s endorse GUiCD 2023-25 – 16 November 
2022 

(d) Launch and promotion of the strategy - December 2022 

Equality Impact Assessment 

21 An Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) is being undertaken alongside the 
development of the GUiCD strategy. 

Conclusion 

22 The development of the GUiCD strategy has been led by the Children, 
Young People and Families Partnership Board supported by a multi-
agency and VCS development group. Children, young people, families 

Page 311



and carers groups have been involved from the start in shaping the 
strategy and a robust consultation process has been in place 
throughout the development of the strategy. Relationships will be 
maintained with children, young people, families and carers across the 
lifespan of the strategy through to adoption and monitoring of outcomes. 

Author 

Julie Bradbrook    Tel:  03000 267325  

Page 312



Appendix 1:  Implications  

Legal Implications 

The CYPFP ensures it incorporates the legal requirements pertaining to 

children’s services. 

Finance 

Resources will need to be agreed and the CYPFP will guide resource 

decisions and priorities. 

Consultation 

Details of consultation are provided in the report. Partners and children, young 

people and their families and carers have all been provided with an 

opportunity to shape the direction and the content of the strategy and will 

continue to be involved throughout the lifetime of the plan.  

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

An Equality Impact Assessment is being undertaken as part of the process for 
developing the new CYPF Strategy. 

Climate Change 

The new strategy is aligned with and contributes to the current priorities within 
the Climate and Emergency Response Plan which focuses on climate change. 

Human Rights 

There are no adverse implications. 

Crime and Disorder 

The new strategy is aligned with and contributes to the current priorities within 
the Safe Durham Partnership Plan which focuses on crime and disorder. 

Staffing 

Resources will need to be agreed and the CYPFP will guide resource 

decisions and priorities. 

Accommodation 

There are no accommodation implications. 

 

Page 313



Risk 

A clear strategy framework is vital to ensure improvement in Children’s 

services across the County. 

Procurement 

Commissioners will take account of the GUiCD strategy when procuring 
services aligned to children, young people and families. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 314



Appendix 2:  Growing Up in County Durham Strategy 2023-25 

 
Attached as a separate document. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 315



Appendix 3:  Consultation – Stage 1 and 2 

 
Consultation - Stage 1 
 
Taking a whole family approach, a programme of coproduction sessions were 
arranged with children, young people, families and carers via the strategy 
development group (SDG) and the VCS Alliance. These sessions took place 
during March and April 2022 and feedback from these sessions was 
incorporated into the strategy and provided for other strategies where 
relevant. 

Within the parameters of the four key aims outlined in paragraph 4, CYPF 
groups were asked to help identify the following: 

 a vision for all children, young people and families and the key 
themes / areas of work we need to focus on to achieve this 

 the aspirations and challenges that children, young people and 
families have/face in the county today 

 where relevant, their experience of NHS and council services. 
 

Activities included work with the Youth Council, United Voices, Investing in 
Children (IiC), the fostering network, and a range of children, young people, 
families and carers groups which incorporated young people from different 
backgrounds via One Point Centres, the Think Family / Stronger Families 
Programme and the NHS 0 – 25 service.  

Engagement has also taken place with the VCS sector, via the VCS Alliance 
and 20 VCS sector representatives attended a Teams session in March and 
six VCS representatives from a range of organisations including NEPACS 
(supporting prisoners and their families), IiC and Outdoor and Sustainability 
Education Specialists (OASES) have indicated that they wanted to be part of 
the SDG going forward and were invited to join the group. 

Feedback from these sessions was analysed during April/May to identify 
common themes and issues which could be incorporated into the strategy 
and/or provided for other strategies where relevant, for example, the Poverty 
Action Plan. Other relevant strategies, surveys, coproduction and consultation 
exercises, such as the Student Voice survey, were also analysed to identify 
common themes and issues. 

Following the feedback analysis, and together with evidence and the input of 

professionals and the SDG, a draft vision and seven priority areas were 

identified. 

 

Page 316



Seven priority areas were identified as follows: 

 Family, friends and community 

 Being safe 

 Tackling inequalities 

 Learning and skills development 

 Tackling the impacts of Covid-19 

 Emotional wellbeing 

 Access to services 
 

Consultation - Stage 2 

A vision and the seven priority areas were further consulted on with the 
general public and wider stakeholders, during stage 2 of the consultation 
process, which ran from 22 June till 10 August, via an online survey. The 
survey was promoted by stakeholders including: 

 Schools – through their extranet and a head teacher’s briefing note. 

 VCS Alliance and Durham Community Action. 

 Area Action Partnerships. 

 Family Centres and 0-25 services. 

 Durham Youth Network. 

 County Durham Partnership network. 

 Youth Council. 

 Fun With Food network. 

 Investing In Children. 
 

Stakeholders promoted the survey by email, at meetings and through social 
media channels. Face to face sessions took place with young people 
supported by Investing in Children and the Youth Council. 

The consultation asked: 

 Do you agree with the vision for our children, young people and families 
for the next three years? 

 Do you agree these are the right themes going forward? 

 Are there any gaps? 

There were 114 responses to the survey, which were generally positive and 
supportive of the vision and themes. The following is a breakdown and a 
selection of comments highlighting the key responses for each of the 
questions asked which have been incorporated into the draft GUiCD strategy. 

 

 

Page 317



Vision 

Question 1 Agree % Disagree % Neither % 

Do you agree or disagree with 
the vision for our children, young 
people and families for the next 
three years? 

69 19 12 

 
Responses included: 
 

 Difficult to read 

 Not accessible to people with lower literacy 

 Good sentiment but doesn’t flow well 
 

Based on these and similar comments the vision was simplified in the draft 

strategy and can be found at paragraph 16 in the report. 

Theme: Family, friends and community 
 

Question  Agree % Disagree % Neither % 

Do you agree or disagree that 
'family, friends and community' is 
a theme we should focus on? 

92 4 4 

 
Responses included: 

 Families are the most important influence on the children’s lives and 
a focus on family life will be helpful. 

 We need to focus on improving the environment. Litter and dumping 
of waste is a major problem in County Durham, families and 
communities need to be encouraged and rewarded to get involved 
to prevent this happening. 

 Supporting all families regardless of type of family- special 
guardians, connected carers, single parents, same sex couples, 
heterosexual couples, working families as well as low income. 

 
The environment people live in and the make-up of families are reflected in 
‘family, friends and community’ priority area section and throughout the wider 
narrative of the strategy. 
 
 Theme: Being Safe 
 

Question Agree % Disagree % Neither % 

Do you agree or disagree that 
'being safe' is a theme we should 
focus on? 

98 - 2 

 

Page 318



Responses included: 

 We need to provide safe and enjoyable activities via youth provision 
to help keep young people safe. 

 Tackling antisocial behaviour. Educating parents on keeping their 
children safe online. 

 More education on the dangers of the Internet and social media for 
kids and parents. 

 
Provision for young people in safe environments and importance of online 
safety are reflected in ‘being safe’ priority area section, throughout the wider 
narrative of the strategy and links from the strategy to work other partners are 
already undertaking, for example, the Safe Durham Partnership and the 
Durham Safeguarding Children Partnership. 
 
Theme: Tackling inequalities 
 

Question Agree % Disagree % Neither % 

Do you agree or disagree that 
'tackling inequalities' is a theme 
we should focus on? 

88 - 12 

 
Responses included: 

 Include all factors behind inequalities - health, poverty, racial, 
LGBTQ+. 

 Better access for all is needed with some initiatives tackling the 
particular problems faced in rural areas. 

 I think this should be the main priority due to the number of children 
living in poverty or who will fall into this category due to cost of living 
impact. 

 Needs to be fair and accessible to all families, e.g., families who do 
not have access to transport and unable to access a service over 10 
miles away. 

 I think there should be an accessible food bank and clothing which 
can be used anonymously and with easy access. 

 many of our regions children aren't able to access regular healthy or 
nutritious meals which affects their ability to learn. 

 
This priority was changed from ‘tackling inequalities’ to ‘fairer opportunities’ to 
reflect the wider range of comments people made during the consultation. 
There are also links from the strategy to work other partners are already 
undertaking, for example the Poverty Action Plan. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 319



Theme: Learning and skills development 
 

Question Agree % Disagree % Neither % 

Do you agree or disagree that 
'learning and skills development' 
is a theme we should focus on? 

90 3 7 

 
Responses included: 

 Three fold approach to improve educational outcomes, learning & 
skills development. Firstly – encourage early years involvement in 
sensory stimulation of the outdoors, group activities & empathy. 
Secondly - recognise the development of creative thinking, wonder 
& self-expression. Thirdly - poverty decreasing activity participation 
& as a result limiting development. 

 I think there should be a strong focus on the parents of babies and 
toddlers receiving parenting courses about how to play and interact 
with their children. 

 Learning and skills should be included from a basic fundamental 
level to include parenting skills and engaging in child development 
and learning. So often schools are the first point of call for some 
social skills, potty training, manners, using eating implements, 
understanding right from wrong. 

 
This priority was changed from ‘learning and skills development’ to ‘learning, 
skills and development’ to emphasise the importance of the development of 
babies and preschool children.  
 
There are also links from the strategy to educational information and the new 
Inclusive Economic Strategy (once launched) for information on learning and 
employment opportunities. 
 
Theme: Tackling the impacts of Covid-19 
 

Question Agree % Disagree % Neither % 

Do you agree or disagree that 
'tackling the impacts of Covid-19' 
is a theme we should focus on? 

68 10 22 

 
Responses included: 

 More things for teenagers to do & places for them to 'hang out'. 
Many of them have missed out on developing their independence by 
being stuck at home and not being able to socialize with friends. 

 Think covid has ran its toll now and it’s something we need to learn 
to live with. The only impacts I would advise focusing on would be all 
those children that missed out in the 2 years!! Specially socially 
interaction. 

Page 320



 Mental health and wellbeing support for kids and support for families 
affected. There should be more assistance available at a local level 
to assist individuals and families with future development. 

 
There are also links from the strategy to work other partners are already 
undertaking, for example to the County Durham and Families Information 
service. 
 
Theme: Emotional Wellbeing 
 

Question Agree % Disagree % Neither % 

Do you agree or disagree that 
'emotional wellbeing' is a theme 
we should focus on? 

94 1 5 

 
Responses included: 

 Due to the current economic climate across the country and the fact 
some areas of our county are experiencing high levels of deprivation 
and poverty. Emotional wellbeing is a very important theme for our 
regions children. I have been heartened to see this expand as a 
focus in schools in recent years and across the community. And 
think this is definitely something as a theme that should be 
continued. 

 Emotional and physical wellbeing - including a focus on healthy 
weight. 

 Anything for parents that have just had babies? Drop in centres or 
classes? Women struggle and there is absolutely nothing on offer in 
my area. 

 Emotional wellbeing is a given in a loving, happy, comfortable home 
with parents, family & friends to provide all the emotional support for 
a child to flourish. 

 
This priority was changed from ‘emotional wellbeing’ to ‘physical health, 
mental health and emotional wellbeing’ to reflect people’s comments about the 
importance of both mental and physical health. 
 
The points about the impact of cost of living, community-based support, 
support for new mothers and the importance of family are reflected in this 
priority.  
 
There are also links from the strategy to further information about the work 
partners are doing, for example, the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy. 
 
 
 
 

Page 321



Theme: Access to Services 
 

Question Agree % Disagree % Neither % 

Do you agree or disagree that 
'access to services' is a theme 
we should focus on? 

91 4 5 

 
Responses included: 

 This is critical - how ever good services are children and young 
people need to be facilitated to access them! Agree with all of this 
but perhaps it needs to be stressed more strongly!! Particularly the 
issue of rural isolation and also digital isolation. 

 It is critically important to ensure that support is 'joined up' given the 
multiplicity of support for children and young people and also 
parents. It is often not that support isn't available but there needs to 
be better information to access that support - if that makes sense! 
and that the support is appropriate and 'attractive' and the choices 
are not overwhelming. 

 This should be timely and the right service. In order for this to be 
effective, there needs to be strong links and communication 
between all agencies and collaborative decision making between the 
children/young person, family/carers and services. 

 Provide equitable access to positive and enjoyable activities for 
young people which they wish to engage in and also ensure that 
access is addressed by providing lower cost or free bus transport for 
young people. 

 
This priority was changed from ‘access to services’ to access to community 
support and services’ to reflect people’s comments about access to locally 
based support and services. It also acknowledges the rurality of the county 
and transport. 
 
There are links from the strategy to work other partners are already 
undertaking, for example the Advice in County Durham website. 
 
  

Page 322



 

 

 

 

 

Growing Up in County 

Durham Strategy 

2023-25 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 323



 

1 

Introduction 

We have a vision for all children, young people and their families, that creates 

a view of what we want to achieve in County Durham. Our vision is:  

County Durham supports all children, young people and their families to 

achieve their goals in life, in an environment that is safe, happy and 

healthy. 

This strategy is our high-level plan that explains what we are going to do to 

achieve our vision. It will tell you what our seven priority areas are for the next 

three years, how we have decided these priorities, the high-level actions we 

will focus on to achieve these priorities, which support the aims of the 

Children, Young People and Families Partnership Board, and how we will 

know if we have been successful. 

It is designed to be easy for children and young people to understand. We 

have asked young people from County Durham Youth Council to tell us why 

this strategy is important, this is what they said: 

‘The children, young people and families’ strategy is vitally important for us as 

a youth council, and as young people, because it gives us a chance to be 

informed about what is being done to ensure children, young people and 

families can grow up in a safe environment, and feel they are involved in the 

decision-making process that will affect them. The strategy’s aims, being 

developed using consultation and the opinion of the people the strategy 

focuses on, reflect how important the strategy is, as it targets the areas that 

children, young people and families feel are the most important areas to 

improve in County Durham. Everyone in County Durham deserves to have a 

say in the development of their local area, and the county, to improve safety, 

opportunities and health, and this strategy is vitally important to deliver that to 

children, young people and families.’ 

With any strategy it’s important to show the guiding principles we have used 

when developing it, and to be clear about what is included in it, and what isn’t: 

 It is written in a way that makes it easy for a young teenager to 

understand, and in a format that is accessible to everyone. 

 It is based on evidence gathered from consultation with children, young 

people, their families, carers and professionals. 

 It is also based on what the data tells us are the issues children, young 

people and their families face in County Durham, for example – physical 

health, mental health, emotional wellbeing, child poverty levels or 

educational attainment. 

 It gives a brief, but clear, overview of what we will be focusing on over 

the next three years.  

Page 324



 

2 

 It focuses on adding to what is already being done. It doesn’t duplicate 

the work being carried out by others, but it provides links to their 

strategies and plans, or the work that people are doing, so you can see 

what is happening. 

 It is designed for all children, young people and their families, 

irrespective of their personal characteristics or family make up, including 

for example, those in care, with a disability or from the LGBTQ+ 

community. 

 It covers the three years from the beginning of 2023 to the end of 2025. 

 It doesn’t include technical detail or jargon. 

We developed the strategy during 2022. We took time to involve people, who 

will be affected by the strategy, in its development, carrying out engagement 

activities with lots of children, young people, families, carers and 

professionals. We worked with a number of community groups and children’s 

groups across the County on the strategy development, with them often 

carrying out the engagement activities on our behalf. Their responses guided 

our ambitions and we worked with them to identify the seven priority areas 

outlined in the strategy. 

 

Where are we now? 

Working in partnership is very important to us and we think that, if we are to 

be successful, we have to work together to make changes; this includes 

working with children, young people and adults, in their own communities, to 

help them to find solutions to their issues. 

The Children, Young People and Families Partnership Board are the people 

who have agreed this strategy, and who are responsible for delivering the 

high-level actions identified. These high-level actions will support the Board’s 

four strategic aims: 

1. Making sure every child has the best start in life – even before they are 

born. 

2. Making sure that all children are supported to be happy, healthy and safe 

to achieve their potential, and provide additional help when it is needed. 

3. Making sure that children and young people with additional needs are 

supported throughout their childhood, teenage years and as they move 

into adulthood. 

4. Making sure the services we provide are joined up, with children, young 

people and families/carers at the centre. 

 

Page 325



 

3 

These strategic aims provided a starting point to develop the strategy. We 

then looked at what the data told us about children and young people living in 

County Durham, and the issues that they face. Examples include: 

 There are 115,000 children and young people (aged 0-19) in County 

Durham 

o 7 out of 10 children achieve a good level of development at the end 

of reception year in school 

o Childhood vaccination take up is better than the national average 

o 10,400 school age children have special educational needs 

o 91% of 16-17 year olds are in education or training 

o The county’s care leavers are more likely to be in education, 

employment and training than in other areas both regionally and 

nationally 

 Poverty: 1 in 4 children live in a household which cannot afford all the 

basics they need such as their food and fuel bills 

 Impact of Covid-19: 

o A 20% increase in demand for children and young people’s mental 

health services is projected over next 5 years 

o 1 in 6 children, aged 5-16 years, identified as having a probable 

mental health disorder (an increase from 1 in 9 in 2017) 

 Healthy start to life: 

o There are almost 4,800 live births annually 

o 1 in 6 women smoke at time of baby’s delivery 

o 1 in 3 are breastfeeding 6-8 weeks after birth  

o 1 in 4 of reception and more than 1 in 3 year 6 pupils are overweight 

o 1 in 4 5 year-olds have tooth decay 

o The number of babies, toddlers and school age children vaccinated 

is significantly better than the England average 

You can see the data in more detail and other data that we have used by 

visiting the Children and Young People in County Durham Summary Infogram. 

Based on data, and what people told us, we have identified seven priority 

areas that we are going to focus on: 

1. Family, friends and community  

 You told us that where you live, both your home and your community is 

very important. Family relationships in a safe, loving and supportive 

home environment are key.  

 Having friends and living in a community with good support networks 

and infrastructure, which you can easily be part of is what you want. 

Where there are things for children and young people to do, green 

spaces to play and good access to services and transport links.  

Page 326

https://infogram.com/1p626dwy190l56t5kvjly77rjei3njxk7gv?live


 

4 

 You want us to make sure that all mums, dads and carers have 

opportunities to access community support and services as family 

networks continue to change. 

 You said that we need to make the most of the community support 

groups and facilities available for children and young people, to improve 

access to local services and activities. 

 We are facing some challenges, for example the number of children and 

young people coming into council care continues to rise and support 

services, including accommodation, are experiencing high demand. 

 

2. Being safe  

 You told us that being and feeling safe at home, at school or college 

and when you are out and about is important; and that having safe 

spaces to meet and play, both in the real world and online, whether 

that’s websites, gaming or social media sites is part of this. 

 Making our communities clean and free from anti-social behaviour, 

where criminal activity is low and where there is mutual trust and 

respect is what we should be striving for. 

 

3. Fairer opportunities 

 You said that providing fairer opportunities to access community 

support and services, by targeting support to those most in need, will 

help improve prospects for all our children and young people. 

 Having good access to healthy food is important to children and young 

people; helping them to grow up in good health, protected from 

infectious disease, be a healthy weight, be physically active and 

enjoying play and social activities. 

 You highlighted the importance of how we deal with the many impacts 

of long-term financial hardship and poverty. These include poorer 

physical health, mental health and emotional wellbeing and more limited 

access to learning and leisure opportunities. County Durham has some 

of the worst physical and mental health inequalities in the country and 

the proportion of children who live in poverty in the County is 

significantly higher than many other areas of the country. 

 Many more families are struggling to pay their household bills (food, 

heating, water, rent/mortgage, council tax), due to the current cost of 

living crisis, and there is increasing demand for money advice services, 

foodbanks and other community support. Children and young people 

have told us they are worried about the current crisis and how it will 

affect them as they grow up.  

Page 327



 

5 

4. Development, learning and skills  

 From birth through to adulthood, childhood development, learning and 

skills is essential. Developing early childhood skills before the age of 2, 

such as play and socialising with other children, being ready for school 

at 5, then secondary school and further education or work are all key to 

accessing a happy and prosperous future.  

 You have told us that parent and toddler groups and parenting skills 

programmes are critical at the start of life. As children get older, you 

have told us that developing emotional and life skills, such as 

confidence, citizenship, budgeting and cooking, are important alongside 

education and careers advice ensuring young people grow up to be 

resilient and responsible adults able to cope with what life brings them. 

 

5. Tackling the Impacts of Covid-19  

 The impact of Covid-19 on children and young people has been huge. 

Children and young people have missed out on so much in the two 

years of the pandemic. National lockdowns removed opportunities to 

socialise and develop and it has had a significant impact on your 

learning and mental health, which requires additional support from 

professionals.  

 It has been reported in various studies that children’s physical activity 

levels have also declined as a result of the pandemic. National data has 

indicated that more children are overweight than before the pandemic.  

Again, support is needed to help children back to pre-pandemic activity 

levels, both inside and outside school. 

 Covid-19 has also impacted on support services such as mental health 

support. The reasons are twofold - services were put on hold, or 

diverted during the pandemic, which has caused a backlog and there 

has also been an increase in demand for these services as an impact of 

the pandemic. The scale and type of support needed to help those 

children and young people with Long Covid is still to emerge. 

 

6. Physical Health, Mental Health and Emotional Wellbeing 

 The need for children and young people’s emotional wellbeing support 

services continues to increase. According to a recent parliamentary 

report, 1 in 6 young people are now likely to experience poor mental 

health, compared to 1 in 9 pre-pandemic.  

 Children and young people have told us that the challenges of 

lockdown, school studies, exam stress, peer pressure, social media, 

loneliness, worries about the environment, climate change, cost of living 

Page 328



 

6 

and the war in Ukraine are reasons for their anxiety and stress. There 

was a feeling that education settings may be able to more support 

children and young people to be resilient and to promote emotional 

wellbeing. 

 Parental mental health, including pregnant women, new mothers and 

their babies, was also cited as an important issue by parents and 

carers. 

 Our recent 2022 Student Voice survey also highlighted high numbers of 

primary and secondary school children getting less than 8 hours sleep 

per night. Sleeping well helps children to thrive and promotes learning 

and good emotional wellbeing. 

 We need to meet the challenge of the increasing need for support at all 

levels, whether that’s the availability of advice and guidance in schools 

and colleges, and other settings such as youth clubs, through to more 

focused support for those who need it, from services such as our 

Children and Adolescent Mental Health Service. 

 

7. Access to community support and services 

 You told us that providing children, young people and families including 

new parents and babies, with access to good quality local services 

which are shaped round their needs, will support the best outcomes for 

them, and we need to ensure that we involve you in shaping the 

services we deliver. 

 We also know that providing early enough support to children and 

young people, who need it, will reduce the need for crisis interventions 

and improve outcomes for all involved. 

 You have told us that being able to navigate often complex systems, 

delivered by more than one agency, can be confusing, so providing 

clear information about how to access support and clear information 

about how that support will be delivered, is important to ensure you can 

make informed decisions, no matter the circumstances.  

 You have also told us about issues where you have had to deal with 

different people, from different agencies, so providing a consistent 

source of support is important. 

 You mentioned that travel to access opportunities and services is 

sometimes an issue, due to the large and rural nature of the County, 

and that services are not always available at a time to suit you, or within 

your budget.  

 You said that we need to make the most of our community support 

networks to improve access to local services and activities. 

Page 329



 

7 

What is already happening? 

1. You said safety is important. You can find out more about what we are 

doing to keep you safe and the support you can get by going to: 

 Keeping children safe - Durham Safeguarding Children Partnership 

 Community safety, anti-social behaviour etc. - Safe Durham Partnership 

and Anti-social Behaviour Strategy (currently being developed – added 

when strategy is launched) 

 Support for domestic abuse - Domestic Abuse 

 

2. You said the environment you live in is important. You can find out more 

about what we are doing to protect and improve the environment by going 

to: 

 Environment and climate - Environment and Climate Change 

Partnership and Climate County Durham 

 

3. You said supporting people who need some extra help is important. You 

can find out more about what we are doing to support people by going to: 

 Supporting children in care – Corporate Parenting Strategy and 

Investing in Children 

 Supporting young carers - The Bridge Young Carers Service 

 Supporting adult carers - Durham County Carers Support 

 Supporting children with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities 

(SEND) - SEND Strategy 

 Children and families affected by poverty - Poverty Action Plan 

 

4. You said learning, employment and life skills are important. You can find 

out more about what we are doing by going to: 

 Schools and education - Durham Schools and Education 

 Employment and skills – Inclusive Economic Strategy (currently being 

developed – added when strategy is launched) 

 

5. You said supporting people’s physical health, mental health and emotional 

wellbeing is important. You can find out more about what we are doing to 

support people by going to: 

 Health and wellbeing - Health and Wellbeing Board and Joint Health 

and Wellbeing Strategy 

 Mental Health - Looking After Your Mental Health  

 Physical activity – Physical Activity Strategy for County Durham 

(currently being developed – added when strategy is launched) 

 Oral Health Strategy - (currently being developed – added when 

strategy is launched) 

 

Page 330

https://durham-scp.org.uk/
https://countydurhampartnership.co.uk/safe-durham-partnership/
https://www.durham.gov.uk/domesticabuse
https://countydurhampartnership.co.uk/environment-climate-change-partnership/
https://countydurhampartnership.co.uk/environment-climate-change-partnership/
https://climatecountydurham.org.uk/
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/documents/s132556/Item%209%20-%20CP%20Strategy%20-%20Appendix%202_.pdf
https://www.investinginchildren.net/
https://www.family-action.org.uk/what-we-do/children-families/bridge-young-carers-service/
https://dccarers.org/
https://www.durham.gov.uk/media/31567/Integrated-Steering-Group-for-Children-County-Durham-SEND-Strategy-2019-20/pdf/SENDStrategy2020.pdf?m=637772710717400000
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/documents/s153930/Poverty%20Action%20Strategy%20and%20Plan%20-%20Cabinet%20-%20April%202022.pdf
https://www.durham.gov.uk/education
https://countydurhampartnership.co.uk/health-wellbeing-board/
https://countydurhampartnership.co.uk/health-wellbeing-board/joint-health-and-wellbeing-strategy/
https://countydurhampartnership.co.uk/health-wellbeing-board/joint-health-and-wellbeing-strategy/
https://www.durham.gov.uk/mentalhealth


 

8 

6. You said having easy access to information about community support and 

services is important. You can find out more about what is available by 

going to: 

 Community support - Advice in County Durham and Onepoint Family 

Centres and Hubs 

 Community information - County Durham Families Information Service 

 

What are we going to do? 

We have identified eight high level actions, based on what the Children Young 

People and Families Partnership Board can do, to add to the work that is 

already being done by other people: 

1. Working with the strengths and opportunities in local communities to 

develop a network of family hubs which can support the delivery of a range 

of local community support and services to children, young people and 

families. 

 

2. Ensure every young person, who has health, education and/or care needs, 

and their family, has access to the right support on their move from 

children’s to adult’s services, when they are old enough to do so. 

 

3. Work with children, young people and their families to address the impacts 

of the Covid-19 pandemic on the development, emotional wellbeing and 

physical health of children and young people. 

 

4. Monitor and evaluate the Bus Service Improvement Plan in relation to 

benefits brought to young people through concessionary fares and other 

favourable benefits, allowing young people to have wider access to health, 

education, leisure, volunteering and other services, and for young people 

aged 16 and over, work and apprenticeships. 

 

5. Build community support and services as a clear offer which is 

communicated in a way that is easy for children, young people and 

families to understand. 

 

6. Ensure children, young people and families have an equal role in the 

development and redesign of the support and services they use. 

 

7. Develop seamless services that support children, young people and 

families across health, education and social care. 

 

Page 331

https://adviceincountydurham.org.uk/
https://www.durham.gov.uk/onepoint
https://www.durham.gov.uk/onepoint
http://www.countydurhamfamilies.info/kb5/durham/fsd/home.page


 

9 

8. Use data and intelligence across health, education and social care and 

other services, to build stronger communities and a fairer county for 

children, young people and families. 

 

How will we measure our success? 

We will know we have been successful if we have: 

1. Improved the network of family hubs across the County to provide better 
community-based support and services. 
 

2. Reduced the number of babies going into care to help families stay 
together. 
 

3. Increased the number of babies who are breastfed during the first months 
of their life. 
 

4. Increased the number of children who achieve a healthy development 
during the first years of their life. 
 

5. Reduced the number of times children and young people have to go to 
hospital with unintentional injuries. 
 

6. Improved children and young people’s experience of the move from 
children to adult’s services.  
 

7. Shown how children, young people and families are more involved in 
developing the support and services they use. 

 

We are going to work together to deliver this plan by the end of 2025 when 

we, working with children, young people and families, will review it in detail to 

see how we have done. 

 

Page 332



 
 

 

             

 Health and Wellbeing Board 

28 September 2022 

Draft Inclusive Economic Strategy 

 

Report of Amy Harhoff, Director of Regeneration, Economy and 
Growth, Durham County Council 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide 

Purpose of the Report 

1 This report gives an overview of the Draft Inclusive Economic Strategy.  

Executive summary 

2 In December 2021, the Council’s Cabinet agreed to the process for 
developing a new Inclusive Economic Strategy (IES).  The Big Econ-
versation was undertaken between 31 January and 22 April 2022 with 
over 86 events held and attended by over 1500 people and a total of 
1455 surveys were completed including 918 residents, 94 businesses 
and 443 young people.  

3 Using what we have brought together from the Economic Review, the 
Economic Statement and the Big Econ-versation we have now drafted 
an IES.  The IES will be a key document to support the County’s 
economic growth in the future.  

4 At the heart of the strategy is a simple ambition: more and better jobs in 
an inclusive, green economy.  To achieve this the IES sets a framework 
for an inclusive economy, focusing on People, Productivity, Places, 
Promotion and Planet. 

5 Our ‘People’ pillar delivers our ambition for more local and better paying 
jobs in an inclusive and green economy by enabling residents to access 
economic opportunities and excel in business and their careers. 

6 Our ‘Productivity’ pillar delivers our ambition for more local and better 
paying jobs in an inclusive and green economy by supporting local 
wealth creation and retention. 

7 Our ‘Places’ pillar delivers our ambition for more local and better paying 
jobs by developing places and infrastructure so that people and 
businesses thrive, creating an inclusive and green economy  

Page 333

Agenda Item 11



 
 

8 Our ‘Promotion’ pillar delivers our ambition for more local and better 
paying jobs in an inclusive and green economy by promoting our 
county, assets and opportunities to businesses, investors, visitors and 
residents. 

9 Within each of the above pillars we have specific actions related to 
green growth.  The target for County Durham to become net zero has 
been brought forward to 2045. The Climate Emergency Plan sets out 
how we need to be at the forefront of the clean, green, industrial 
revolution.  This strategy needs to complement these plans by investing 
in people, technologies, research and development, and business. 

10 In delivering the IES, we will use the levers at our disposal as a county 
including: 

 Our assets including the land and property owned by the Council 
and our partners; 

 Our policies including planning, skills, public health and transport; 

 Programmes and funding including UK Shared Prosperity Fund and 
leveraging as much external investment as possible; and 

 Working together with our partners. 

11 The IES also includes a list of early actions across People, Productivity, 
Places and Promotion.  Our next steps are to develop a detailed action 
plan and monitoring framework to deliver against our Strategy. 

Recommendation 

12 Health and Wellbeing Board Members are invited to note the report and 
pass on any views they have on the Draft Inclusive Economic Strategy 
at the meeting.  The Draft Inclusive Economic Strategy is attached as 
Appendix 2 of the report. 

  

Page 334



 
 

Background 

13 In December 2021, the council’s Cabinet agreed to the process for 
developing a new Inclusive Economic Strategy (IES) and that the 
development of the strategy should be preceded by a conversation with 
stakeholders across the county to understand their views on economic 
opportunities and challenges. As a result, the Big Econ-versation was 
undertaken between 31 January and 22 April 2022. 

14 By the end of the Econ-versation over 86 events had been held and 
attended with over 1500 people engaged. A total of 1455 surveys were 
completed including 918 residents, 94 businesses and 443 young 
people.  Some of the key messages coming out of the Econ-versation 
were: 

 County Durham needs more good quality jobs to support people into 
work, improve earnings, retain skilled residents and young people, 
and ensure that there is a healthy workforce;  

 There is an opportunity to build on and grow sectoral strengths in 
the county, including in manufacturing and energy; 

 These good quality jobs need to be accessible to local people, 
through improved public transport, especially in rural areas;  

 Flexible and inclusive skills provision, retraining, careers advice and 
work experience was identified as an area to improve and is 
important for young people and workers of all ages. This will also 
bring benefits to businesses through increased productivity and 
growth;  

 Support is required to improve the health of residents and workers to 
help target the causes of poverty; 

 There is a lot on offer in the county – a diverse and beautiful natural 
environment, culture and heritage – but more needs to be done to 
market and promote the county, attracting people to live, work and 
visit the county; 

 Investment is needed county-wide, particularly in smaller towns and 
villages, to regenerate high streets and town centres through a more 
diverse offer, support local businesses, create local jobs for 
residents, and restore confidence and a sense of community; and 

 Green economy and climate change is a priority for residents and is 
seen by business to be a major opportunity for growth. While 
residents are supportive of net zero, they want a balanced approach 

Page 335



 
 

that protects jobs and is manageable with wider economic 
pressures. 

15 Using what we have brought together from the Economic Review, the 
Economic Statement and the Big Econ-versation we have now drafted 
an Inclusive Economic Strategy.  The Inclusive Economic Strategy will 
be a key document to support the County’s economic growth in the 
future.  

Draft Inclusive Economic Strategy 

Ambition 

16 At the heart of the strategy is a simple ambition: more and better jobs in 
an inclusive, green economy.  

17 More jobs, in the county’s broad business base. This means creating 
the conditions for more businesses to start, move, and grow in all parts 
of the county, providing advice and guidance, access to finance, 
unlocking employment land, and investing in digital and physical 
infrastructure and places so that people can work closer to where they 
live. We will capitalise on our heritage, cultural and natural assets to 
grow our visitor economy, and we will promote the county widely to 
attract more businesses, investment, and visitors. This also brings an 
opportunity to attract more people to live here as digital and remote 
working increase. 

18 Better jobs, to ensure that residents can access secure work that pays 
a living wage. This is in the county, where we are already home to the 
highest number of advanced manufacturing and health & life sciences 
jobs in the North East, alongside growing clusters in areas such as 
green energy, energy and fintech. We believe all jobs can be better jobs 
and will focus on good business practices through factors such as pay, 
health and wellbeing, and minimum hours. We can also equip residents 
with the skills and training and transport options to access jobs across 
the wider region.  

19 Inclusive, to ensure that the benefits of growth are shared fairly. Linked 
to the County Durham Plan, places are seeing investment in high 
streets, housing and wider regeneration. This strategy will focus on 
barriers that residents face to employment, from skills to health, 
addressing the inequality experienced between and within some of our 
places. We will develop Inclusive Economy Cohorts to ensure that we 
maximise the impact of the strategy and its actions effectively to target 
resource where it is needed most. 

20 Green, to ensure that activity contributes to the Climate Emergency and 
2045 goal of net zero carbon County Durham. This needs to capitalise 

Page 336



 
 

on our green economy businesses, create more high-quality jobs for 
residents, and support all to reach net zero without putting increased 
costs on individuals and businesses. We’ve listened carefully to what 
local people have said here; we need balanced actions that protect jobs 
and workers. 

Framework 

21 The IES sets out our 2035 framework for an inclusive economy, 
focusing on People, Productivity, Places, Promotion and Planet. 

People 

22 Our ‘People’ pillar delivers our ambition for more local and better paying 
jobs in an inclusive and green economy by enabling residents to access 
economic opportunities and excel in business and their careers. 

23 We will enable residents to access economic opportunities and excel in 
business and their careers by focusing on: 

 Raising skills levels, including higher and green skills, linked to what 
employers need 

 Overcoming barriers to employment, including work readiness, 
skills, careers advice and guidance, and poor health 

 Supporting in-work progression and upskilling 

 Improving health and wellbeing 

Productivity 

24 Our ‘Productivity’ pillar delivers our ambition for more local and better 
paying jobs in an inclusive and green economy by supporting local 
wealth creation and retention. 

25 We will support business growth and innovation, and retain wealth 
locally by focusing on: 

 Nurturing our opportunity sectors  

 Supporting our major employment sectors, including manufacturing, 
health, and the visitor economy 

 Enabling businesses to start, grow and stay in County Durham 

 Developing a regional innovation ecosystem 

 Encouraging good business practices, including improving health in 
the workplace 

Places 

26 Our ‘Places’ pillar delivers our ambition for more local and better paying 
jobs by developing places and infrastructure so that people and 
businesses thrive, creating an inclusive and green economy.  

Page 337



 
 

27 We will develop places and infrastructure so that people and 
businesses thrive by focusing on: 

 Creating vibrant town and local centres 

 Unlocking employment land for high quality premises 

 Improving physical connectivity, including public transport and active 
travel 

 Enhancing digital infrastructure and connectivity 

Promotion 

28 Our ‘Promotion’ pillar delivers our ambition for more local and better 
paying jobs in an inclusive and green economy by promoting our 
county, assets and opportunities to businesses, investors, visitors and 
residents. 

29 We will promote our county, assets and opportunities by focusing on: 

 Developing a clear brand and investing in place marketing 

 Attract inward investment 

 Supporting a year round visitor economy through events and 
infrastructure  

 Enhancing cultural and creative infrastructure 

Planet 

30 Within each of the above pillars we have specific actions related to 
green growth. The target for County Durham to become net zero has 
been brought forward to 2045. The Climate Emergency Plan sets out 
how we need to be at the forefront of the clean, green, industrial 
revolution. This strategy needs to complement these plans by investing 
in people, technologies, research and development, and business. 

31 We will support the drive to net zero by focusing on: 

 Developing a globally significant green economy cluster 

 Connecting residents to new opportunities through green skills 

 Developing sustainable communities and neighbourhoods 

 Supporting businesses to transition to net zero and adopt 
sustainable practices 

Delivery 

32 In delivering this Strategy, we will use the levers at our disposal as a 

county: 

 

 

Page 338



 
 

Assets 

33 We will utilise land and property owned by the Council and our partners. 
For instance, the Council owns NETPark, Jade Business Park and 
Aykley Heads. This is an opportunity to nurture and shape the business 
clusters and specialisms, ensure activity is joined up with other 
initiatives, and lead the way in net zero transition and sustainability 
through construction and connections to local public transport and 
active travel 

Policies 

34 As a unitary authority, Durham County Council has direct control over 
major areas of local policy, including planning, skills, public health and 
transport. The Council also delivers many of its services in house, these 
can be targeted to support an inclusive and green economy.  

Programmes and funding 

35 We will receive up to £33.6m from UK Shared Prosperity Fund over the 
next three years, compared to the ring-fenced allocation of £155m from 
the 2014-2020 European Structural and Investment Funds programme.  

36 This means that as a county, we need to leverage as much external 
investment as possible through bids into relevant funding calls and by 
attracting private sector investment. The Council is able to tailor 
programmes and use funding to achieve the ambition and priorities set 
out in this Strategy. 

Partnerships 

37 We will work together in partnership to transform our economy, trying 
new innovative approaches and initiatives to deliver more local and 
better paying jobs in an inclusive, green economy. 

Action Plan 

38 We have started to develop a list of early actions across People, 

Productivity, Places and Promotion.  The actions included in the 

Strategy are based on 10 ways to continue or build on what we’re 

already doing to transform our economy and 10 new ways to transform 

our economy.  

39 The 10 ways to continue or build on what we’re already doing are: 

1) Skills and work experience programmes, for instance Durham 

Learn and Durham Employment and Skills courses 

Page 339



 
 

2) Employability programmes focused on increasing work 

opportunities for all, such as DurhamWorks, DurhamEnable and 

Employability Durham 

3) Specialist business support, space and finance through Business 

Durham and the Finance Durham initiative to help businesses to 

start, grow and thrive 

4) The County Durham Pound initiative to deliver social value 

outcomes and increase the local spend of the local anchor 

partners and consider expanding the network to include major 

private sector employers 

5) Targeted improvements to village and town centres through the 

Town and Villages Programme Investment Plan, Masterplans and 

Targeted Delivery Plans 

6) Strategic employment site creation and expansion, such as 

Aykley Heads, Jade Business Park and NETPark 

7) The Durham 2025 cultural programme, to raise the profile of the 

county and civic pride 

8) Create North, Creative Fuse and the Memorandum of 

Understanding with the BBC to develop our cultural and creative 

sector 

9) Work with employers, colleges and training providers to equip 

learners with green skills of the future 

10) Business Energy Efficiency Programme to improve energy 

efficiency in the county’s business base to help reach net zero 

40 The 10 new ways are: 

1) Create two new employment schemes targeted at addressing 

barriers faced by certain cohorts linking them to sole traders & 

SMEs and anchor institutions 

2) Enable a countywide Careers, Information, Advice and Guidance 

Programme, to raise awareness of opportunities in the county 

3) Establish a space hub to develop our specialisms in satellite 

technology and semiconductors 

Page 340



 
 

4) Set up a taskforce to explore the impact and opportunities to pay 

the Real Living Wage as a leading employer in the county 

5) Invest in demand responsive transport to connect all our people 

and places with employment sites 

6) Develop a connectivity strategy to develop further solutions to 

physical and digital connectivity 

7) Build the County Durham Brand and develop a new strategic 

approach to inward investment 

8) Re-purpose unused high street retail spaces as ‘Place Labs’ to 

engage people in culture and support creative and cultural 

enterprises 

9) Establish the National Centre for Geothermal Mine and District 

Energy, capitalise on our green strengths 

10) Develop a Green Park with Enterprise Zone status 

41 Our next steps are to develop a detailed action plan and monitoring 

framework to deliver against our Strategy.  We will look to engage 

residents and communities, including Community Champions and Area 

Action Partnerships, in decision-making and the coproduction of 

relevant actions and initiatives. 

Conclusion and Next Steps 

42 The Inclusive Economic Strategy is an ambitious long-term economic 
strategy to 2035. It provides a wider strategy for the economy, 
businesses and residents, complementing our overall vision, spatial 
strategy and plans to reduce the impacts of climate change and poverty, 
and is fully integrated with regional and national policy. 

43 Following this round of engagement it will go to Cabinet in November for 
adoption with a formal launch later in the year. 

Background Papers 

 Draft Inclusive Economic Strategy 

Author 

Mike Allum  mike.allum@durham.gov.uk 

 

  

Page 341

mailto:mike.allum@durham.gov.uk


 
 

Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

The Inclusive Economic Strategy will aid in negotiations for the devolution of 

powers from the Government. 

Finance 

The Inclusive Economic Strategy will be used to inform decisions on how the 

UK Shared Prosperity Fund and other national and regional funding is spent.  

It will also be used to attract private investment to the county. 

Consultation 

Our Big Econ-versation ran from 31 January to 22 April 2022. The targeted 

consultation on the draft strategy is taking place across September. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

The Council will take all opportunities to get feedback from hard-to-reach 

groups across the county and the strategy will be accompanied by an 

equalities impact assessment. 

Climate Change 

The planet and the green economy is one of the key elements of the IES and 

each pillar has a section which considers net zero and other environmental 

considerations. 

Human Rights 

None. 

Crime and Disorder 

None. 

Staffing 

None. 

Accommodation 

None. 

Risk 

None. 

Page 342



 
 

Procurement 

Consultants have been procured to support Our Big Econ-versation, develop a 

county deal proposal, and draft the new Inclusive Economic Strategy. 

Page 343



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Inclusive and Green County Durham  
 
More and better jobs in an inclusive, green economy 
 
Inclusive Economic Strategy  

August 2022  DRAFT for September engagement – 02.09.22 

Page 345



 

 
 

Contents 

Foreword .................................................................................................................................................................... 1 

Executive Summary ................................................................................................................................................ 3 

1 Why an Inclusive Economic Strategy? ................................................................................................. 13 

2 County Durham today .............................................................................................................................. 17 

3 Our ambition ................................................................................................................................................ 30 

4 People .............................................................................................................................................................. 32 

5 Productivity .................................................................................................................................................. 34 

6 Place ................................................................................................................................................................. 36 

7 Promotion ...................................................................................................................................................... 40 

8 Planet............................................................................................................................................................... 44 

9 Delivering our Strategy ............................................................................................................................ 45 

 

Page 346



 

1 
 

Foreword 

As a county we have developed a new economic strategy which sets out plans to support 

the county’s economy to grow over the next decade. This is not a traditional economic 

strategy though. We have designed the plan to be inclusive – ensuring that as many of our 

residents can benefit from and contribute to prosperity and growth. 

Our vision for County Durham’s future is to have a sustainable, inclusive economy 

with a diverse range of jobs to meet all skill levels, with targeted training and 

learning programmes tailored to our employment specialisms and needs of business.  

We can only achieve this vision by working together with our partners and anchor 

institutions and in collaboration with our communities. This strategy sets out our vision to 

support businesses, residents, and places to transform economically for all our communities 

- a catalyst that turns STEM into STEAM, that levels us up, that mines our assets in new and 

imaginative ways and delivers recovery and renewal rooted in our place to reconnect 

people, places, history, culture, and land. 

This is particularly important at the moment, with cost of living and doing business rising 

for all. This strategy has been developed alongside the Poverty Action Plan, an important 

plan to work together with communities so fewer people will be affected by poverty and 

deprivation in the county. At the same time as responding on the immediate challenges in 

front of us, we are focused on building a stronger County Durham, one where everyone 

reaches their potential and we have a future focused economy. That is the focus of this long 

term strategy.  

We have strong foundations for this. In 2022 our new, green economy is growing, our place 

as a UK space hub is confirmed, our global university is expanding, our creative industries 

are emerging, and partners are committing investment to ensure our creative potential is 

realised.  

At the heart of our strategy is innovation. County Durham has been at the forefront of 

economic progress for generations, producing the fuel, power and materials that drove the 

industrial revolution. And our economy has continued to adapt and evolve, to become a 

leader in advanced manufacturing and space and satellite applications and now seizing the 

opportunities of green technology and our mining past to use the landscape to provide new 

sustainable energy to power our future growth. 

We have a world leading university that will continue to attract international research and 

development and headquarters to the county. But we will also harness our proud industrial 

heritage, skills, and employment land to manufacture the products of our innovation. This 

will allow us to create high value jobs and skilled and aspirational pathways in technical 

employment for all our communities.  

But innovation is so much more than just the work of higher education. Our strength will 

continue to be the innovation that takes place in all our businesses - from small 

Page 347



 

2 
 

independents to big multinationals. We will support our businesses to be at the forefront of 

research and development, to increase productivity, to fuel growth, and to create more and 

better-quality jobs. 

It is these better-quality jobs that will raise the aspirations in all our communities, and 

particularly our young people. There is no greater impact on people’s health and well-being 

than access to education, training, and meaningful employment. We will focus on the 

barriers that individuals face by taking a person-focused approach that incorporates 

targeted skills training, raising educational attainment, and improving health outcomes. 

And we will improve employment opportunities by improving access, with better transport 

links to jobs, improved digital connectivity for home and hybrid working, and flexible roles 

that fit around people’s lives and circumstances.  

To maximise the inclusivity of our economy our growth will be targeted in research and 

advanced manufacturing, focused in our emerging green jobs, electronics, digital, fintech, life 

sciences and satellite applications sectors. Inward investment will be targeted in these 

specialisms and ecosystems, creating supply chains and jobs across the county and beyond. 

A strong County Durham needs to look beyond its boundaries, and will benefit from a strong, 

integrated, collaborative North East. But more importantly we have the potential, skills, and 

natural resources to be the economic driver of the whole region.  

Our key A1 and A19 corridor, with unrivalled travel links to both the north and south will 

provide more jobs in a range of sectors, and we will support our large rural communities to 

diversify, driving forward digital and mobile connectivity to support home working and 

remote access to high-value employment that can underpin local services and successful 

resilient places. 

And the profile the county needs to attract the investment for growth will be fuelled by our 

tourism - celebrating our heritage, our beauty, and our people, and creating more and better 

jobs in the visitor economy, with a key focus on high spend overnight stay tourism. But our 

investment in tourism will be both sustainable and respectful of our communities, ensuring 

visitors underpin vibrant local towns and villages that support jobs and local services for 

our residents. 

This strategy has been developed in partnership with the County. We now invite you to be 

part of the journey with us to build our sustainable and inclusive economy. 

 

 

Page 348



 

3 
 

Executive Summary 

This is County Durham’s first Inclusive Economic Strategy. It has been a year in 

development; over 3,000 residents, businesses and organisations contributed through the 

Big Econ-Versation, suggesting ideas and priorities to help the county accelerate towards an 

inclusive and sustainable future. This document sets out our 2035 framework for an 

inclusive economy, focusing on People, Productivity, Places, Promotion and Planet. 

This is an exciting time for the county. We are home to nationally significant businesses in 

health & life sciences and advanced manufacturing; arts, culture and tourism sectors are 

growing, capitalising on the cultural and natural assets in the county. The major sectors will 

be a priority to maintain and grow in this strategy.  

The county is also set to capitalise on new subsectors and opportunities. Space & satellites 

and the green economy are emerging as new opportunities, which will in turn create new 

jobs for residents. The county is home to Durham University, which has a global reputation 

for teaching excellence; its research into geothermal energy turns the county’s mining 

heritage into a net zero asset at the heart of the green economy. Fintech is growing as a 

subsector, with businesses clustered around Durham City. We will be targeted in our 

approach to attracting more of these businesses to the county, to grow specialisms and 

clusters, and support training and skills so that residents are able to access the 

opportunities. 

We have plans to grow; the County Durham Plan sets out the detail on this, with over 300 

hectares of new land to be developed for business and industry. This is in addition to 

protecting over 1,500 hectares of existing business and industrial land to prevent any other 

land uses. NETPark is expanding as the country’s first rural innovation district, anchored by 

catapult centres and innovative businesses.1 More broadly partners are developing 

ambitious plans to grow the innovation ecosystem by supporting and strengthening local 

programmes, collaborating with the wider North East on investment funds and start up 

support, including a proposed new venture capital fund. County Durham will use this to 

secure new and significant inward investment – an ambition that it has successfully 

achieved in recent years.  

This all paints a picture of a knowledge driven economy, built around manufacturing 

and services, old and new industry. It’s something that the county is rightly proud of 

and needs to promote more to attract more investment and companies to the county. 

It creates enormous potential for the future; but it’s not the whole story. 

County Durham is a large and mainly rural county – the 8th largest in the country by 

population. Businesses and sector strengths are spread out across a large area, which can 

                                                        
1 Catapult Centres are not-for-profit, independent technology and innovation centres set up to help 
accelerate the application of research by connecting businesses with the UK's research and academic 
communities. 
 

Page 349



 

4 
 

make collaboration harder. Residents can face longer commutes to work and learning than 

in a single city footprint. Public transport networks are of key importance, connecting 

people to employment and services and allowing young people to access education. The 

county has good North-South connectivity, however some areas see limited public transport 

options or major roads. This means that we do not capitalise on the interactions and 

agglomeration benefits in the same way as major urban areas. We need a different model to 

facilitate these interactions and to connect people and jobs. 

Future growth prospects must also seek to achieve growth in the rural areas. It is important 

to ensure rural communities have a balance of ages and are supported to grow while 

respecting the landscape and natural assets, ensuring they are providing quality 

environments for people to live and visit. The roll out of superfast broadband provides an 

opportunity to open up new sectors in these areas while helping existing sectors including 

tourism, agriculture and forestry to improve.  

There is a higher risk in County Durham being hard hit by the rising cost of living and of 

people being pulled into poverty. Some parts of our county already have high levels of 

deprivation with 12% of neighbourhoods in the 10% most deprived in the county and an 

estimated 21% percent of households across the county live in relative poverty before 

housing costs, compared to the England average of 17%. The Poverty Action Plan provides a 

complementary strategy and vision to this strategy and will be vital in this tough economic 

environment. 

Some places and people face long-term – sometimes intergenerational – barriers to 

employment, resulting in deprivation and inequality, for example in the east and north of 

the county. Whilst the county is seeing very low unemployment rates, economic inactivity 

levels are high, mainly driven by long-term health conditions. This requires tackling the 

multiple barriers people face at the right time and in a joined-up way.  

If we continue business as usual it’s likely that the county will see some businesses, 

residents and places thriving, and others feeling left behind. This is not an inclusive model 

of growth; already the county’s economy is growing slower than the national average, 

productivity and prosperity is lower and the gap is growing. It is vital that we join the dots 

between the areas that are doing well and close the gap with national performance in order 

to improve local wages, quality of life, health and wellbeing for all residents and parts of the 

county. 

The ambition 

At the heart of this strategy is a simple ambition: more and better jobs in an inclusive, 

green economy.  

More jobs, in the county’s broad business base. This means creating the conditions for 

more businesses to start, move, and grow in all parts of the county, providing advice and 

guidance, access to finance, unlocking employment land, and investing in digital and 

physical infrastructure and places so that people can work closer to where they live. We will 

Page 350



 

5 
 

capitalise on our heritage, cultural and natural assets to grow our visitor economy, and we 

will promote the county widely to attract more businesses, investment, and visitors. This 

also brings an opportunity to attract more people to live here as digital and remote working 

increase. 

Better jobs, to ensure that residents can access secure work that pays a living wage. This is 

in the county, where we are already home to the highest number of advanced 

manufacturing and health & life sciences jobs in the North East, alongside growing clusters 

in areas such as green energy, energy and fintech. We believe all jobs can be better jobs with 

employers who offer good work practices such as stable shift patterns, guaranteed 

minimum hours, in work training and health & wellbeing support. We will also support 

residents with skills & training opportunities and transport options to access jobs across 

the wider region.  

Inclusive, to ensure that the benefits of growth are shared fairly amongst our people and 

places. Linked to the County Durham Plan, places are seeing investment in high streets, 

housing and wider regeneration. This strategy will focus on barriers that residents face to 

employment, from skills to health, addressing the inequality experienced between and 

within some of our places. We will identify place-based and socio-economic ‘Inclusive 

Economy Cohorts’ as part of the Action Plan, to ensure that we maximise the impact of the 

strategy and its actions effectively to target the people and places that need them the most.  

Green, to ensure that activity contributes to the Climate Emergency and 2045 goal of net 

zero carbon County Durham. This needs to capitalise on our green economy businesses, 

create more high-quality jobs for residents, and support all to reach net zero without 

putting increased costs on individuals and businesses. We’ve listened carefully to what local 

people have said here; we need balanced actions that protect jobs and workers. 

The economy today 

As a county our economy has transformed over the past decades. We have a growing 

knowledge economy and are home to some of the UK’s leading innovation institutions who 

are clustering around NETPark, Durham City, and Newton Aycliffe. Newton Aycliffe 

Industrial Park is home to Hitachi Rail, 2M and Gestamp Tallent, Jade Business Park, located 

just to the west of Seaham, has strengths in distribution, technology and advanced 

manufacturing, and Peterlee Business Park has a high number of jobs. We are home to good 

schools and a world-class university which attracts global talent to study in the county. We 

also have a good quality of life with beautiful countryside and coast, and strong culture and 

heritage with a UNESCO World Heritage site, the Beamish Museum and Kynren in Bishop 

Auckland.  

The industrial economy remains a strength anchored by the large and productive 

manufacturing base. It is the largest source of full-time, well-paid jobs and the workforce 

productivity easily exceeds the national average. Alongside this, the health sector has a 

large employment base in the county, and this is likely to continue. The sector is the best 

Page 351



 

6 
 

source of employment opportunities across a broad range of skill levels, with continued 

high demand generating new job opportunities each year.  

Many of our assets are clustered along the A1(M) and East Coast Mainline. Durham City is 

the main employment centre for the county, accounting for around a quarter of the county’s 

employment, providing access to employment and education, health, and retail services for 

communities across the county. Aykley Heads is growing as a knowledge cluster, home to 

innovative businesses generating new ideas around technology and the service economy. 

Our economic links to the wider North East create a connected economic area for trade and 

work, north to the Port of Tyne and south to Teesside. At the last Census, over 61,000 

workers regularly commuted between County Durham and the North East area, and over 

28,000 between the county and Tees Valley. The highest commuter flows are between 

County Durham and Sunderland, followed by Gateshead, Darlington, and Newcastle. 

We are proud of the county’s progress, but we cannot stand still.  

The past five years have seen the country face multiple shocks and change: from the 

changing trade and migration environment after we left the European Union to the global 

shock to health, the economy and trade from Covid-19, to the cost-of-living crisis. At time of 

writing inflation has reached 10.1%, the highest level for 40 years. These UK wide issues 

will impact the whole country, but may be felt acutely in County Durham.  

Everyone is seeing price increases of everyday goods – this will particularly impact our 1 in 

4 residents who earn below the Real Living Wage and those who are outside of the labour 

market. Our large, rural geography means residents are often reliant on cars for commuting, 

and the cost of transport may be a barrier for access work and training opportunities. 

The majority of our businesses are micro, small and medium size employers. They are at 

risk of rising costs; after 2 years of pandemic trading conditions their resilience & cash flow 

to manage turbulent conditions may be low. Our successful manufacturing base (one of the 

largest employment sectors in the county) are heavy energy users and global traders; they 

face rising costs of doing business. Reduced consumer spend will impact local and town 

centre leisure, food, and retail businesses, who are reopening in the county after two years 

of disrupted trade. 

By 2040 almost 24% of the population will be aged 65 and over. The ageing population 

coupled with the declining working age population, will increase the need to support people 

to stay in the labour force for longer. This requires supporting employers to focus on 

retraining and adapting the workplace to ensure continued employment, removing barriers 

to remaining in work, and enabling workers to adapt to new technologies whilst also 

investing in process innovation. 

This strategy provides the county with a framework of where to focus over the next 13 

years. It is designed to be flexible, with actions that are updated and refreshed to reflect 

changing economic and political circumstances. We have included the first 2-year action 

plan as an appendix to this document, which we will continue to develop in further detail. 

Progress will be monitored through an outputs’ framework. 

Page 352



 

7 
 

A Framework for an Inclusive Economy: The five Ps 

People 

Our ‘People’ pillar delivers our ambition for more local and better paying jobs in an 

inclusive and green economy by enabling residents to access economic opportunities and 

excel in business and their careers. 

We will enable residents to access economic opportunities and excel in business and their 

careers by focusing on: 

 Raising skills levels, including higher and green skills, linked to what employers 

need 

 Overcoming barriers to employment, including work readiness, skills, careers advice 

and guidance, and poor health 

 Supporting in-work progression and upskilling 

 Improving health and wellbeing 

Productivity 

Our ‘Productivity’ pillar delivers our ambition for more local and better paying jobs in an 

inclusive and green economy by supporting local wealth creation and retention. 

We will support business growth and innovation, and retain wealth locally by focusing on: 

 Nurturing our opportunity sectors, including green economy, fintech, and space  

 Supporting our major employment sectors, including manufacturing, health, and the 

visitor economy 

 Enabling businesses to start, grow and stay in County Durham 

 Developing a regional innovation ecosystem 

 Encouraging good business practices, including improving health in the workplace 

Places 

Our ‘Places’ pillar delivers our ambition for more local and better paying jobs by developing 

places and infrastructure so that people and businesses thrive, creating an inclusive and 

green economy  

We will develop places and infrastructure so that people and businesses thrive by focusing 

on: 

 Creating vibrant and diverse towns and villages 

 Unlocking employment land for high-quality premises 

Page 353



 

8 
 

 Improving physical connectivity, including public transport and active travel 

 Enhancing digital infrastructure and connectivity 

Promotion 

Our ‘Promotion’ pillar delivers our ambition for more local and better paying jobs in an 

inclusive and green economy by promoting our county, assets and opportunities to 

businesses, investors, visitors, and residents. 

We will promote our county, assets, and opportunities by focusing on: 

 Developing a clear brand and investing in place marketing 

 Attracting inward investment 

 Supporting an annualised visitor economy through events and infrastructure  

 Enhancing cultural and creative infrastructure 

Planet 

Within each of the above pillars we have specific actions related to green growth. The target 

for County Durham to become net zero has been brought forward to 2045. The Climate 

Emergency Plan sets out how we need to be at the forefront of the clean, green revolution. 

This strategy needs to complement these plans by investing in people, technologies, 

research and development, and business. 

We will support the drive to net zero by focusing on: 

 Developing a globally significant green economy 

 Connecting residents to new opportunities through green skills 

 Developing sustainable communities and neighbourhoods 

 Supporting businesses to transition to net zero and adopt sustainable practices 

Page 354



 

9 
 

10 ways to continue or build on what we’re already doing to transform our 

economy2 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

* 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                        
 

Employability programmes focused on increasing work opportunities 

for all, such as DurhamWorks, DurhamEnable and Employability 

Durham 
2 

Skills and work experience programmes, for instance Durham Learn and 

Durham Employment and Skills courses 1 

The County Durham Pound initiative to deliver social value outcomes 

and increase the local spend of the local anchor partners and consider 

expanding the network to include major private sector employers* 
4 

Specialist business support, space and finance through Business Durham 

and the Finance Durham initiative to help businesses to start, grow and 

thrive 
3 

Strategic employment site creation and expansion, such as Aykley 

Heads, Jade Business Park and NETPark 6 

Targeted improvements to village and town centres through the Town 

and Villages Programme Investment Plan, Masterplans and Targeted 

Delivery Plans 
5 

Create North, Creative Fuse and the Memorandum of Understanding 

with the BBC to develop our cultural and creative sector  8 

The Durham 2025 cultural programme, to raise the profile of the county 

and civic pride 7 

Business Energy Efficiency Programme to improve energy efficiency in 

the county’s business base to help reach net zero 10 

Work with employers, colleges and training providers to equip learners 

with green skills of the future 9 

Page 355



 

10 
 

10 new ways to transform our economy 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Enable a countywide Careers, Information, Advice and Guidance 

Programme, to raise awareness of opportunities in the county 2 

Create two new employment schemes targeted at addressing barriers 

faced by certain cohorts linking them to sole traders & SMEs and anchor 

institutions  
1 

Set up a taskforce to explore the impact and opportunities to pay the 

Real Living Wage as a leading employer in the county 4 

Establish a space hub to develop our specialisms in satellite technology 

and semiconductors  3 

Invest in demand responsive transport to connect all our people and 

places with employment sites 5 

Build the County Durham Brand and develop a new strategic approach 

to inward investment 7 

Develop a connectivity strategy to develop further solutions to physical 

and digital connectivity  6 

Develop a Green Park with Enterprise Zone status 10 

Re-purpose unused high street retail spaces as ‘Place Labs’ to engage 

people in culture and support creative and cultural enterprises 8 

Establish the National Centre for Geothermal Mine and District Energy, 

capitalise on our green strengths  9 

Page 356



 

11 
 

Delivery through Partnerships 

The county already has strong partnerships for delivery, in particular the Economic 

Partnership leads economic strategy for the county. The process to develop this strategy 

has strengthened existing partnerships with education & skills, business, enterprise 

support, employment and health – and invited a new way of working with residents and 

businesses.  

This will continue as we move to delivery, building joint action plans and together 

monitoring progress.  

This is the start of our inclusive economic journey, one which will create more and better 

jobs in County Durham. 

* Durham Pound’s 11 Anchor Institutions – Believe Housing, Bernicia, Bishop Chadwick, Business Durham, 
County Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Service, Durham County Council, The Durham Police and 
Crime Commission, Durham University, Karbon Homes, Livin, and Northumbrian Water. 

                                                        

Page 357



 

12 
 

P
age 358



 

13 
 

1 Why an Inclusive Economic 

Strategy? 

County Durham is at a moment of transformation. We have a strong pipeline of 

regeneration and development projects for towns and villages through the County Durham 

Plan, Towns and Villages Strategy and masterplans. In recent years, we have been 

successful at attracting investment. This includes £72.1m in Bishop Auckland through the 

Future High Streets Fund and Heritage Action Zone, Towns Fund and Levelling Up Fund as 

well as Aykley Heads, Amazon at Integra 61 and Hitachi Rail in Newton Aycliffe. 

This investment presents an opportunity for the county, but it doesn’t follow directly that 

our residents and businesses will benefit and that we will increase prosperity for all. That is 

why we need to make this economic strategy inclusive. 

This means transforming and growing our economy over the next 10 years through 

more local and better paying jobs, and enabling our residents to contribute to and 

benefit from this growth and opportunities. 

Our approach to the Inclusive Economic Strategy has been guided by three principles: 

 

 

 

 

 

1. Inclusive in development – through the Big Econ-

versation 

We have taken a bold and inclusive approach to co-developing and co-designing the 

Strategy. Our plan must be developed with the county for the county. We wanted a more 

creative way of engaging, specifically starting with a conversation with business, residents, 

voluntary sector, and wider groups before a plan was developed, to really understand our 

aspirations and opportunities.  

Our Big Econ-versation engaged with 70 organisations and over 1,500 people through 86 

conversations across the county. An additional 1,455 surveys were completed by residents, 

businesses, and young people. We’ve been hearing from businesses on the issues they face 

as they seek to grow and prosper and secure feedback on interventions and policy direction 

that will help drive economic growth. 

Inclusive in delivery 

Delivered as a partnership 

Inclusive and green in 
design 

Going beyond a traditional 
economic strategy 

Inclusive in development 

Through the Big Econ-
versation 

Page 359



 

14 
 

The Big Econ-versation was widely promoted with press releases, social media, case 

studies, a radio advert, bus panels and digital media. We engaged widely across the county 

through our existing partnerships and used online and offline/paper versions of the survey 

to make sure we reached as many groups as possible. 

This has been an opportunity to capture the expectations and thoughts of our residents, 

businesses and communities who will be able to benefit from the opportunities that 

economic growth will bring and to better understand the challenges faced as they seek to 

secure employment and embark on careers in the county. 

2. Inclusive and green in design: going beyond a 

traditional economic strategy 

Inclusive growth is defined by the RSA Inclusive Growth Commission as ‘enabling as many 

people as possible to contribute to and benefit from growth’.3 This can be both socially, 

benefitting groups that may face high barriers to quality employment, and place-based by 

addressing inequalities between different geographies. Moving to a new model of inclusive 

growth means integrating economic and social policy, and seeing investment in social 

infrastructure on the same level as investment in physical infrastructure.  

Models such as Kate Raworth’s Doughnut Economics Model integrate questions of climate 

change, the environment and sustainability by meeting the needs of all within the means of 

the planet.4 In this model, there is a social floor, which means that everyone has the 

essentials needed for a decent standard of living, as well as an ecological ceiling to ensure 

that we do not negatively impact the planet and environment through our activities.  

Both of these models have been drawn on to inform the development of this Strategy. The 

County Durham Inclusive Economic Strategy will take a holistic view of what the economy 

needs so that all people and places can contribute and benefit, whilst positively impacting 

the planet. We have identified four key elements which will make this Strategy inclusive and 

green: 

Inequalities 

There are inequalities across our county 

and between our residents, including 

health, education, skills and employment. 

Ill health is the cause of a larger share of 

those economically inactive than 

nationally, reducing the size of the labour 

force available to local employers, and 

suppressing household income levels. 

 

Places 

This is a large and distinctive county where 

two in five residents live in rural areas. The 

strategy must have focus on the city, towns, 

rural, and coast for attracting investment, 

creating jobs, empowering communities and 

civic pride. This featured strongly in the 

resident survey responses. 

   

                                                        
3 RSA (2017) Inclusive Growth Commission. Making our Economy Work for Everyone. 
4 https://www.kateraworth.com/doughnut/  

Page 360

https://www.kateraworth.com/doughnut/


 

15 
 

Climate change 

The target for County Durham to become 

net zero has been brought forward to 

2045. The Climate Emergency Plan sets out 

how we need to be at the forefront of the 

clean, green, industrial revolution. This 

strategy needs to complement these plans 

by investing in people, technologies, 

research and development, and business. 

 

Cost of living 

Almost 1 in 4 jobs in the county earn below 

the Real Living Wage and an estimated 21% 

percent of households across the county live 

in relative poverty before housing costs.5 

They are vulnerable to rising costs – with 

inflation rising faster than predicted this is a 

real worry. Businesses, unprotected by the 

energy price cap, are also vulnerable to rising 

costs. 

3. Inclusive in implementation: delivered as a 

Partnership 

The aim of this Strategy is to focus on the priorities which can really make a difference to 

County Durham. This doesn’t mean that it is a plan for the Council to deliver alone, rather 

the role of the Council as a place leader to co-deliver, levering in support from other 

organisations to ensure the right resource and expertise is secured to make this plan a 

success. 

We need to come together through the County Durham Economic Partnership and our 

networks to deliver this Strategy, ensuring that County Durham is a place where there are 

more and better jobs, people live long and independent lives, and our communities are well 

connected and supportive. Partners across the county are already doing a lot of good work 

and are committed to doing more. We need to work together more closely in a new 

partnership to deliver our inclusive economy. 

Our County Durham Economic Partnership is a collaboration between Durham County 

Council, Business Durham, Durham University, New College Durham, and representatives 

from housing providers and the private, voluntary, community and social enterprise 

sectors, to ensure that we focus on the right things to deliver prosperity in our county.  

There are close links with our business community, for instance through Business Durham, 

four Enterprise Agencies, the Chamber of Commerce, Federation of Small Businesses, and 

regional sectoral networks, to deliver shared goals and gather intelligence of what is needed 

to support business growth and success.  

                                                        

5 Annual Survey of Hours and Earnings   (2020) Employee jobs with hourly pay below the living wage. 
Based on the Living Wage Foundation’s calculation of the Real Living Wage, which at the time was £9.30 
outside of London. 

 

 

Page 361



 

16 
 

County Durham collaborates closely across the North East on priorities and projects, 

including through North East Combined Authority, the North East Local Enterprise 

Partnership and the North East Joint Transport Committee.  

Anchor institutions, or large organisations with a significant stake in the county, work 

together to use their collective resources to deliver social and economic impact. The Council 

has a MOU with Durham University and works closely with the NHS. Across County 

Durham, 11 anchor institutions are part of the County Durham Procurement Family, 

working together through the County Durham Pound, to increase local spend, build capacity 

in our local businesses, develop strong, local supply chains, and support local businesses 

growth. Together as the County Durham Procurement Family, we have committed to grow 

our local spend – currently 34% of our collective £644m budget is spent in the county and 

60% is spent in the North East. Developing a place-based social value approach with our 

local anchor partners will be an important contributor to local wealth creation and 

retention. 

 

 

Page 362



 

17 
 

2 County Durham today 

 

 

* Listed places and companies relevant at time of publication.  

Jobs now and in the future 

Established strengths 

County Durham is a large county with the highest 

population in the North East.6 The county is a 

powerhouse of traditional and advanced 

manufacturing and engineering.7 This large and 

productive sector has the highest number of jobs in 

the North East, with these jobs distributed across 

the county (see Figure 1). We have recognised strengths in metals, automotive and rail, 

chemicals, electronics and energy, and emerging technologies, such as precision 

engineering. The county is home to NETPark,8 large global companies, such as Husqvarna, 

GlaxoSmithKline, Caterpillar, Ineos and Gestamp Tallent, and supply chain firms linking to 

the automotive sector in Sunderland and South Tyneside. 

We have the highest number of jobs in life sciences and 

pharmaceutical manufacturing in the North East and a large health 

sector.9 Our life science and pharmaceutical jobs are concentrated in 

certain areas, for instance around Barnard Castle, where 

GlaxoSmithKline is located, as well as Sedgefield and North Durham. 

With many of the largest private and public sector organisations in the county, the health 

sector has strong ties into communities, and offers roles across a broad range of skills 

levels, with high replacement demand creating new job opportunities each year. This is an 

                                                        
6 GVA – ONS GVA (Balanced Approach) (2006-20); Jobs– ONS Business Register and Employment Survey 
(2010-20); Businesses – ONS Business Counts (2010-21); Population – ONS Population Estimates (2000-
20) 
7 Advanced manufacturing jobs – ekosgen (March 2021) County Durham Economic Review Final Report 
8 NETPark figures - https://www.northeasttechnologypark.com/  
9 Life sciences and pharmaceuticals – North East LEP Evidence Hub – Local Business; health and care - 
ekosgen (March 2021) County Durham Economic Review Final Report 

Cook Defence Systems 

Erwin Hymer 

Greencore 

Lanchester Wines 

Atom Bank 

Page 363

https://www.northeasttechnologypark.com/


 

18 
 

area of opportunity, both to support the population to remain healthy, alongside a medical 

school, hospitals, emerging innovative health firms, and the proposed Durham Centre for 

Health Data.  

Figure 1. Advanced manufacturing and health and life science jobs in County 

Durham and the wider North East10 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

We have a strong visitor economy and cultural 

sector, based around our attractive offer, including 

our world heritage city, coastline, countryside and 

North Pennines AONB, which encompasses much of 

the Durham Dales. We have 70 visitor attractions in 

the county including Durham Cathedral, Durham 

Castle, Beamish Museum and Kynren. With our arts, entertainment and recreation sector 

growing faster than the North East average between 2009 and 2019, this is a major 

opportunity for our towns and rural areas.11 We need to develop and promote the variety 

and quality of our offer, building on recent successes.  

New opportunities  

The transition to net zero is a major opportunity for County Durham, with the industrial 

and commercial sector already having made significant progress in reducing carbon 

emissions. We are the second highest renewable energy generator in the North East with 

strengths in geothermal energy and onshore wind,12 and are home to innovative businesses 

leading the way in sustainability, including Hitachi Rail, Thorn Lighting, Tekmar Energy and 

Lanchester Wine.  

                                                        
10 North East LEP Evidence Hub – Local Business. 
11 Tourism jobs, visitor numbers and spend – STEAM Results 2021; Arts, entertainment and recreation - 
ekosgen (March 2021) County Durham Economic Review Final Report 
12 Durham County Council (2019) Climate Emergency Update Report 

Page 364



 

19 
 

Housing retrofit is a neartime opportunity to reduce the emissions and improve the quality 

of our older housing stock, lower household bills, create work for existing businesses in our 

strong construction sector and new jobs, and to link these to residents through 

up/reskilling.  

There are strengths and growth potential in space technologies and satellite applications. 

The North East Satellite Applications Centre of Excellence, based at NETPark, brings 

together five regional universities and private and public sector partners to support 

university spinouts and related business and supply chain growth opportunities. This 

includes the Satellite Applications Catapult, one of a network of UK technology and 

innovation companies working to drive economic growth through commercialisation of 

research. 

Fintech, the delivery of financial services through technology and innovation, is a highly 

specialised sub-sector, which has emerged around the anchor unicorn company, Atom 

Bank.13 Durham is one of ten UK fintech hotbeds listed in the Government’s Kalifa Review. 

By building on research at Durham University, creating space for spinouts and start-ups, 

and building connections with regional firms, we can create, attract, and grow fintech 

businesses. 

Innovation 

We have world class innovation assets. At Durham University, 90% of research is rated as 

world-leading or internationally excellent, with six subject areas in the UK top 10.14 The 

University delivers a range of programmes to support entrepreneurship, including the 

Blueprint Startup Challenge and the Durham City Incubator, and is working in collaboration 

with Newcastle, Northumbria, Sunderland and Teesside Universities to commercialise 

research and innovation through Northern Accelerator. Together with this group of 

universities and Northstar Ventures, Durham University has proposed to set up Venture 

North, a £75m early stage ‘society tech’ fund to invest in seven interconnected markets: 

care, lifelong learning, climate tech, and future work, homes and cities.    

The Centre for Process Innovation (CPI), which supports the commercialisation of ideas, has 

three national centres in the county: The National Printable Electronics Centre, The 

National Formulation Centre, and The National Healthcare Photonics Centre.  

Building on our established strengths, nurturing new opportunities, 

and increasing innovation is important to growing productivity in the 

country and addressing the growing gap of £1.6bn per annum 

between the county and national performance.15 It is also crucial to 

supporting more businesses to start, stay and grow in the county. We 

have fewer businesses than expected for a population the size of 

County Durham (441 businesses per 10,000 working age residents), compared to the 

                                                        
13 A unicorn company refers to a privately held start up company valued at over US$1bn 
14 Research Excellence Framework impact quality score of 3*/4* (2021) 
15 GVA – ONS GVA (Balanced Approach) (2020) 

Page 365



 

20 
 

national average at (683 per 10,000), although this does not capture our many micro-

entrepreneurs and sole traders who are not VAT/PAYE registered.16 

Opportunities to deliver inclusive growth 

Inequalities between places 

Our large county has a diverse range of places, including a university and world heritage 

site city, towns, villages, coast and rural areas, and the North Pennines Area of Outstanding 

Natural Beauty (AONB). These different types of places have distinctive strengths, 

opportunities, and challenges, requiring local and place-based responses. 

Despite recent investment, many of our towns and villages have significant levels of 

deprivation.17 There are high vacancy rates with seven of the main town centres above the 

national average, as the acceleration of online shopping and changing 

consumer patterns is changing the purpose of town centres. Our rural 

communities also face particular challenges, such as a lack of transport 

and digital connectivity, and deprivation tends to be hidden by the 

data. Residents see further investment, particularly in smaller towns, 

villages, and rural areas, as a priority. 

Figure 2. Deprivation in County Durham (2019)18 

 

                                                        
16 ONS Business Counts (2021) 
17 MHCLG Index of Multiple Deprivation (2019) 
18 Index of Multiple Deprivation (2019) and ekosgen mapping. 

Page 366



 

21 
 

Health inequalities 

Maintaining good workforce mental health and wellbeing is essential for health 

communities and a thriving local economy. In the county, 24,700 people are economically 

inactive due to long-term health conditions, another 18,600 due to caring responsibilities, 

and nearly 1 in 5 of those who are economically inactive want a job.19 There is a link 

between productivity and workforce health. Research by the Northern Health Science 

Alliance estimates that 30% of the productivity gap between the Northern Powerhouse and 

rest of England is due to ill-health.20 In 2014/15, 9.9m days were lost to work related stress, 

depression and anxiety, and the Covid-19 pandemic has had a negative impact on mental 

health and social isolation.21  

Partners are working closely together to reverse the long-term 

challenges of deindustrialisation with poor health outcomes and high 

levels of economic inactivity. Average healthy life expectancy is 59, 

five years lower than the UK average, with this varying by 13 years 

across the county. This means on average our residents live 20 years 

in poor health and in the lowest performing neighbourhoods up to 25 

years.22  

This creates barriers into and staying in work, reducing household income and increasing 

poverty levels, which in turn impacts their health outcomes. High economic inactivity 

impact productivity levels through higher numbers of sickness days and compound the 

effects of an ageing workforce.  

                                                        
19 ONS Annual Population Survey (2020) 
20 Bambra, Munford, Brown et al (2018) Health for Wealth: Building a Healthier Northern Powerhouse for 
UK Productivity. Newcastle: Northern Health Science Alliance.  
21 Durham County Council (2020) A framework for good workforce mental health in County Durham 
businesses 
22 Health deprivation – MHCLG Index of Multiple Deprivation (2019); ONS Life Expectancies (2018-20) 

Page 367



 

22 
 

Figure 3. Number of years lived in poor health – gap between life expectancy and 

healthy life expectancy23 

 

Skills and employment 

County Durham has good quality schools and educational attainment is above the national 

average at Key Stage 4.24 There is a good track record in apprenticeships with Durham 

County Council listed in the UK's Top 100 Apprenticeship Employers 2022. The county has 

high levels of employment with an unemployment rate of 4.2% compared to the 4.6% 

England average.25 

Higher-level skills will increasingly be required to retain businesses in the county, in 

particular to support the opportunity sectors and innovative businesses. Despite high 

attainment at school age, County Durham has challenges around skills levels – 32.4% have 

NVQ Level 4+ compared to 43.1% national average.26 Lower skills levels, a lack of work 

readiness, careers advice and guidance, and disabilities or learning difficulties create 

barriers to employment, and some groups may face more significant barriers, such as 

Gypsy, Roma, and Traveller communities. 

                                                        
23 ONS Healthy Life Expectancies MSOA (2015); PHE Life Expectancy MSOA (2015-19)  
24 ekosgen (March 2021) County Durham Economic Review Final Report 
25 ONS Annual Population Survey (2021) 
26 ONS Annual Population Survey (2021) 

Page 368



 

23 
 

Wages and prosperity 

There are high levels of employment but for those in work, County 

Durham has lower than average wages, impacting quality of life and 

increasing levels of in work poverty. This is particularly the case in 

certain sectors, including health and social care, retail and hospitality. 

Towns such as Bishop Auckland, Peterlee, Seaham and Chester-le-

Street, are in the lowest decile for household income nationally.27 

There is lower prosperity with GVA per capita of £16,490 which is 55.4% of the national 

average (£29,757).28 This highlights the important of sector and place based interventions 

to deliver inclusive growth. 

Connecting places to opportunities 

Our places 

Two in five of our residents live in rural areas. Our rural areas vary widely in character from 

remote and sparsely populated areas in the Pennine Dales to larger villages located within 

the former coalfield communities in the central and eastern parts of the county. Rural 

communities have a strong quality of life offer for people to live in and visit. They also play 

an important role in the rural economy as workplace locations.  

Durham City, with its winding cobbled streets, Cathedral and Castle World Heritage Site, 

was named one of the best cities in the world to visit in 2020 by The Independent. The city 

is home to innovative firms and growing specialisms in fintech and knowledge-intensive 

industries. Recent investments include Aykley Heads and Milburn Business Park. 

Our towns play an important role in supporting our communities and economy. Ten of 

these have a population of over 6,000 and are key locations for employment, retail, and 

local services. 

Barnard Castle 

A market town in the Durham Dales and 

tourism honeypot site, named after and 

built around the medieval castle ruin, set 

on a high rock above the River Tees. The 

main employment and service centre for 

Teesdale, with the Auction Mart located in 

the town and home to GlaxoSmithKline. 

Newton Aycliffe 

The largest town outside of Durham City, 

located in the south of the county, close to 

Darlington. Home to the largest business 

park in the North East and manufacturers 

including 3M and Husqvarna. The Hitachi 

Rail manufacture and assembly plant at 

Merchant Park, producing rolling stock for 

East Coast and Great Western Trains. 

Bishop Auckland 

Located in the Vale of Durham, above a 

meander in the River Wear. A growing 

Peterlee 

A new town in East Durham built on rolling 

hills overlooking the Durham limestone 

                                                        
27 ONS Income estimates for small areas, England and Wales (2018). Calculated deciles relative to England 
using a measure of net annual income after housing costs. 
28 ONS GVA (Balanced Approach) (2020) 

Page 369



 

24 
 

tourist destination with Auckland Castle, 

the Food Festival, Kynren and other 

attractions. Recent investment of £72.1m in 

the town. 

coast and rural farmland. Several major 

national and international manufacturers 

are based there, including Caterpillar and 

ZF. 

Chester-le-Street 

Located on the River Wear and home of the 

international Riverside Cricket Ground 

with a rich history and heritage. Good 

transport links to London and Edinburgh 

via the East Coast Mainline. 

Seaham  

A town on Durham’s Heritage Coast with 

the sandy North Beach, Harbour Marina 

and beautiful coastal footpaths. There are 

established business parks at Spectrum, 

Dawdon, Seaham Grange, and Jade in 

Murton. 

Consett 

Sitting above the Derwent Valley, on the 

edge of the Pennines, Consett is located in 

close proximity to Durham City and 

Newcastle. The town has historical 

industrial strengths. The town has 

regenerated since the closure of the 

steelworks. Important employers located in 

Consett include Thomas Swan, Erwin 

Hymer, and Gardner Aerospace. 

Spennymoor 

Located in the south east of the county, 

within easy reach of scenic beauty spots 

and well connected to Tyneside, Wearside 

and Teesside. The town is home to large 

employers including Thorn Lighting and 

Black and Decker. There have been recent 

redevelopments of industrial sites and 

creation of a mixed used development at 

Durhamgate. 

 

Crook 

A market town in the south west of County 

Durham on the edge of Weardale. A former 

mining town with manufacturing heritage. 

The town centre has benefited from 

investment in Market Place and North 

Terrace.  

Stanley 

A town in the north of the county with good 

accessibility across the county and to 

Gateshead and Newcastle. Major 

employment sites include Tanfield Lea 

Industrial Estate and Greencroft Industrial 

Park. 

 

Employment sites 

Our businesses have identified employment space as a key priority. The county’s strategic 

employment sites, concentrated along the north to south axes of the A1(M) and A19 in the 

east of the county, are core for inward investment opportunities. This emphasises the 

importance of connectivity. There are clusters of employment and innovation activity in 

Durham City with the University, Aykley Heads and Milburngate; Newton Aycliffe with 

Merchant Park, Forrest Park and CPI; and Sedgefield with NETPark and CPI. There is 

demand for employment land and premises across the county with local sites serving local 

business needs. 

We are investing in developing a new business cluster at Aykley Heads, providing up to 

38,468 sq. m of floorspace, to deliver new and better jobs for the county. Aykley Heads is 

already home to Atom Bank, Waterstons, the North East England Chamber of Commerce 

Page 370



 

25 
 

and Business Durham. The first two phases of this scheme have the potential to create 5,000 

jobs, with a further 1,800 supported through construction.  

We have significant opportunities from the 2.5m sq. ft of space planned space coming on 

stream over the next three years at Integra 61, Drum Business Park, Jade Business Park, 

Forrest Park, NETPark, Station Place and South Church. This will help address challenges 

around the increasing proportion of industrial space that is no longer fit for purpose.  

Figure 4. County Durham’s national assets and strategic employment sites 

 

 

Physical and digital connectivity 

The county is strategically located between Tyne and Wear and Tees Valley, and is well 

connected with good north-south national links with the A1(M), A19 and A66, as well as the 

East Coast Mainline and direct rail links to Newcastle, York, Leeds and London.  

East to west connectivity is weaker and there are challenges around transport accessibility. 

Unusually for a largely rural area, over 1 in 4 households do not have access to a car and are 

limited to the restricted public transport service.29 Some areas of the county have no major 

employment centres within a 30-minute public transport journey time. 

Transport carbon emissions in County Durham have increased by an average of 1.8% per 

year since 2013, after a period of decline, despite an overall fall in emissions of 52% since 

1990.30 There has been fall in local bus usage from a peak of 26m in 2010 to 23m in 201931. 

There is a lack of fast and reliable broadband – 53.1% of premises have access to ultrafast 

broadband compared to 71.5% nationally, with poor connectivity particularly in rural 

                                                        
29 ekosgen (March 2021) County Durham Economic Review Final Report 
30 Durham County Council (2019) Climate Emergency Update Report 
31 Durham County Council (2019) Climate Emergency Update Report 

Page 371



 

26 
 

areas32. There is high risk of digital exclusion in parts of Chester-le-Street, Seaham, Peterlee, 

Newton Aycliffe, and south of Barnard Castle. High-quality physical and digital 

infrastructure is essential for productivity, attracting businesses and supporting them to 

grow, sectors such as fintech, and the ability of residents to access training and 

employment. 

Role of County Durham in the North East 

County Durham is at the heart of the North East, bounded by Northumberland, Gateshead 

and Sunderland to the north, and Hartlepool, Darlington, Stockton-on-Tees to the south. The 

North East is a region rich in natural beauty, culture and heritage – from the historic city of 

Durham to culturally vibrant Newcastle, the Durham Dales to Northumberland National 

Park, and our miles of coastline. We have a strong and growing visitor economy across the 

region. With strong road and rail links across the region, we have a highly connected labour 

market. At the time of Census 2011, almost 90,000 people commuted between County 

Durham and the rest of the North East. We have shared strengths in manufacturing and 

engineering – businesses in County Durham are part of multiple regional, national and 

international supply chains. We trade with the world through Port of Tyne and Teesport, as 

well as Felixstowe and Southampton, and have an industrial harbour at Seaham. The North 

East also has growing strengths and specialisms in the knowledge-based economy, 

including fintech, health and life sciences.  

                                                        
32 Durham County Council. 

Page 372



 

27 
 

As a region, we are 

leading the transition to 

net zero with our 

innovative firms and 

universities developing 

new technologies in 

renewable energy, 

hydrogen, electric 

vehicles and batteries. 

Major investments, such 

as the UK’s largest 

Gigafactory in Blyth and 

the Energi Coast, provide 

supply chain 

opportunities for our local 

businesses. 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 5. County Durham and the North East 

Page 373



 

28 
 

What we heard in the Big Econ-versation 

Over January to April 2022, we engaged with residents, businesses, young people, anchor institutions and partners through our Big Econ-

versation. In total, 1,455 surveys were completed, and we held 86 conversations, reaching 70 organisations and over 1,500 people. The key 

messages from our resident, business and young people surveys, and the conversations are included below. 

 

P
age 374



 

29 
 

Putting County Durham’s priorities at the heart of our 

Strategy 

We heard that… Our Strategy aims to… 

County Durham needs more good quality 

jobs 

Create and grow jobs in our opportunity 

sectors, support businesses to start and 

grow, encourage good business practices, 

and explore the impact and opportunities 

of the Council paying the Real Living Wage 

Jobs need to be accessible to local people, 

through improved public transport, 

especially in rural and deprived areas, and 

inclusive skills provision 

Make it easier to use our bus services and 

explore different solutions to help people 

get around 

 

Bring jobs closer to people by investing in 

digital infrastructure and our town and 

local centres 

 

Provide residents with a better 

understanding of training and career 

pathways so they can gain the skills that 

local businesses need 

More needs to be done to market and 

promote the county 

Create a brand for County Durham to 

encourage people to visit, study, work and 

live in the county 

Investment in places is needed county-

wide, particularly in smaller towns and 

villages 

Reimagine our town and local centres by 

transforming unused retail units into space 

for cultural and creative enterprises, start-

ups and small and medium-sized 

enterprises. 

 

Encourage people back into our town 

centres through events, leisure, and culture 

Green economy and climate change is seen 

by business to be an opportunity for 

growth, but this needs to protect jobs and 

not increase costs 

Up/reskill residents to work in new green 

jobs, including in geothermal energy, equip 

businesses with the tools to transition to 

net zero, and embed sustainability in our 

communities and neighbourhoods 

Page 375



 

30 
 

3 Our ambition 

Our overarching ambition for this strategy is to create more and better jobs in an 

inclusive and green economy.  

This means: 

 More jobs, in the county’s broad business base 

 Better jobs, to ensure that residents can access secure work that pays a living wage 

  Inclusive, to ensure that the benefits of growth are shared fairly amongst our people 

and places 

 Green, to ensure that activity contributes to the Climate Emergency and 2045 goal of 

net zero carbon County Durham 

Our ambition underpins the actions under the five Ps: People, Productivity, Places, Promotion 

and Planet.  

 

Page 376



 

31 
 

 

P
age 377



 

32 
 

4 People 

Delivering our ambition for more and better jobs in an inclusive and green economy 

by enabling residents to access economic opportunities and excel in business and 

their careers. 

Priorities 

1. Raising skills levels, including higher and green skills, linked to what employers 

need 

The county has high quality jobs already and these are likely to grow in our opportunity and 

major sectors, innovative businesses and public sector. Residents in County Durham have 

high aspirations; it is important that we harness this aspiration so that residents have the 

right skills that businesses need to enable them to access these local opportunities. 

2. Overcome barriers into employment, including work readiness, skills, careers 

advice and guidance, and poor health 

Some residents require support in order to access employment opportunities – this 

requires a holistic response that may go beyond traditional employment support to address 

barriers such as poverty. This will enable more residents to become economically active. 

3. Support in-work progression and upskilling 

Our businesses perform well at offering on and off the job training relative to other places. 

As the labour market changes, with increased use of technology and new green skills 

up/reskilling and progression opportunities will enable people to access higher earnings 

and potentially increase productivity.  

4. Improve health and wellbeing 

Improving health outcomes will reduce inequalities and barriers to economic participation, 

increase productivity and decrease the frequency of days lost to sickness. There is already a 

lot of good practice to build on here, for example the county has embedded mental health 

practitioners working alongside job coaches, which is funded from public health monies. 

Page 378



 

33 
 

What we have heard in the Big Econ-versation 

 

 

Flagship actions 

We will continue: 

 Skills and work experience programmes, for instance Durham Learn and Durham 

Employment and Skills courses 

 Employability programmes focused on increasing work opportunities for all, such as 

DurhamWorks, DurhamEnable and Employability Durham 

We will: 

 Create two new employment schemes targeted at addressing barriers faced by 

certain cohorts linking them to sole traders & SMEs and anchor institutions  

 Enable a countywide Careers, Information, Advice and Guidance Programme, to 

raise awareness of opportunities in the county 

Poverty Action Plan, UKSPF Investment Plan, Approach to Wellbeing 

Self-Assessment Framework, Child and Young People’s Strategy, 

Strategic Partnership Approach to Early Help for Children, Young 

People & Families, the Joint Health & Wellbeing Strategy, and the 

County Durham Pound  

Our 

priorities 

& actions 

are aligned 

with our… 

Page 379



 

34 
 

 

How we will measure progress 

Progress against our priorities and actions under People will be monitored by measuring: 

 

 

Links to Planet 

Delivering our ambition for more and better jobs in an inclusive and green economy 

by reaching net zero by 2045 through a just transition that creates good jobs. 

Our early ways of connecting residents to new opportunities through green skills: 

 Include green skills and jobs pathways within the County-wide Careers Service 

 Expand networks and partnerships with energy clusters in the wider North East to 

link residents with new green skill opportunities  

 

 

Page 380



 

35 
 

5 Productivity 

Delivering our ambition for more and better jobs in an inclusive and green economy 

by supporting local wealth creation and retention. 

Priorities 

1. Support our major employment sectors, including manufacturing, health, and 

the visitor economy 

County Durham has a well-performing manufacturing and engineering sector, large health 

and care sector and growing visitor economy. Their growth is important to our economy, 

providing good quality jobs for residents and supply chain opportunities for local 

businesses; we plan to support them to create more and better jobs in the county. 

2. Nurture our opportunity sectors, including green economy, fintech, and space  

County Durham has growing strengths in the green economy, space, and high growth 

service sub-sectors, such as fintech. Developing clusters and specialisms in these sectors 

has the potential to create high-quality jobs and increase productivity, creating 

opportunities for inward investment and innovation. 

3. Build capacity to further enable businesses to start, grow and stay in County 

Durham 

Businesses who start here have good survival rates. This is something we can capitalise on, 

assisting more to start and grow in the county. We can strengthen our economy by 

supporting start-ups and encouraging business growth. This will create more jobs in all 

parts of the county. 

4. Develop a regional innovation ecosystem 

The county has a growing knowledge economy and concentrations of innovation in Durham 

City, NETPark and Newton Aycliffe. This strategy will build a thriving innovation ecosystem, 

which works closely with the wider North East. This will support product and process 

innovation across the whole business base. The ecosystem is anchored by the university and 

our innovation spatial clusters, and sustained by skills, access to finance, business support 

and private sector networks that make up a thriving ecosystem. 

5. Encourage good business practices, including improving health in the 

workplace 

Our employers have an important role to play in creating a more inclusive economy with 

better outcomes for our residents. This means supporting the living wage and living hours 

campaigns, in work career progression and training, and better health and workplace 

wellbeing, with improvements in job security, tenure, and pay.  

Page 381



 

36 
 

What we have heard in the Big Econ-versation 

 

 

Flagship actions 

We will continue: 

 Specialist business support, space and finance through Business Durham and the 

Finance Durham initiative to help businesses to start, grow and thrive 

 The County Durham Pound initiative to deliver social value outcomes and increase 

the local spend of the local anchor partners and consider expanding the network to 

include major private sector employers33 

We will: 

 Establish a space hub to develop our specialisms in satellite technology and 

semiconductors  

 Set up a taskforce to explore the impact and opportunities to pay the Real Living 

Wage as a leading employer in the county

                                                        
33 Durham Pound’s 11 Anchor Institutions – Believe Housing, Bernicia, Bishop Chadwick, Business 
Durham, County Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Service, Durham County Council, The Durham 
Police and Crime Commission, Durham University, Karbon Homes, Livin, and Northumbrian Water. 

UKSPF Investment Plan, Business Enterprise Framework, Framework 

for good workforce mental health in County Durham businesses, work 

of Business Durham and the County Durham Pound 

Our 

priorities 

& actions 

are aligned 

with our… 

Page 382



 

37 
 

 

  

Links to Planet 

Delivering our ambition for more and better jobs in an inclusive and green economy 

by reaching net zero by 2045 through a just transition that creates good jobs. 

Our early ways of developing a globally significant green economy: 

• Build multifaceted peer-to-peer networks, involving local businesses and those 

linked to clusters in the wider North East, and promote these widely to attract more 

businesses and investment 

• Work with Durham University to leverage research expertise in energy 

Our early ways of supporting businesses to transition to net zero and adopt sustainable 

practices: 

 Encourage businesses to recycle and adopt circular economy approaches 

 Build the retrofit evergreen fund to support more businesses to adapt their premises 

 Develop a plan for commercial operators to transition to electric bus fleets, building 

on the electrification of Park and Ride 

 

 

 

Page 383



 

38 
 

How we will measure progress 

Progress against our priorities and actions under Productivity will be monitored by 

measuring: 

 

 

Page 384



 

39 
 

6 Places 

Delivering our ambition for more and better jobs by developing places and 

infrastructure so that people and businesses thrive, creating an inclusive and green 

economy.  

Priorities 

1.  Create vibrant and diverse towns and villages 

We’ve an opportunity to build on existing investment in many of our towns, local centres 

and rural areas, recognising their distinctive opportunities and challenges. We need to 

actively engage our communities to consider the role of town and local centres in the post 

Covid-19 context, create thriving mixed use centres, and increase footfall. 

2. Unlock new and maximise existing employment land for high quality premises 

Our opportunity and major employment sectors highlight the need for high quality 

employment space to attract and retain more businesses. The County Durham Plan sets out 

where this growth can go – this strategy supports that focusing on building the clusters and 

business parks where this can happen. 

3. Improve physical connectivity between places in the county, including public 

transport and active travel 

Transport improvements are vital for business trade and for people to get to work, 

particularly for shift workers, those on low wages, young people, and people & businesses 

in rural areas. It is important that this is inclusive, creating a multi-hub county which is 

accessible to all. 

4. Enhance digital infrastructure and connectivity 

Digital connectivity requires improvement, particularly in our rural communities. Faster 

and more reliable broadband is essential for residents to access skills development and 

training, and for our businesses to grow and thrive, allowing businesses to open and trade 

from every part of our county. 

Page 385



 

40 
 

What we have heard in the Big Econ-versation 

 

 

Flagship actions 

We will continue: 

 Targeted improvements to village and town centres through the Town and Villages 

Programme Investment Plan, Masterplans and Targeted Delivery Plans 

 Strategic employment site creation and expansion, such as Aykley Heads, Jade 

Business Park and NETPark 

We will: 

 Invest in demand responsive transport to connect all our people and places with 

employment sites 

 Develop a connectivity strategy to develop further solutions to physical and digital 

connectivity 

UKSPF Investment Plan, County Durham Plan, Towns and Villages 

Programme Investment Plan, Local Transport Plan, Masterplans, 

Housing Strategy, Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plans, North 

East Bus Service Improvement Plan, Digital Strategy, Digital Durham 

programme, and Approach to Wellbeing 

Our 

priorities 

& actions 

are aligned 

with our… 

Page 386



 

41 
 

 

How we will measure progress 

Progress against our priorities and actions under Places will be monitored by measuring: 

 

 

Links to Planet 

Delivering our ambition for more and better jobs in an inclusive and green economy 

by reaching net zero by 2045 through a just transition that creates good jobs. 

Our early ways of developing sustainable communities and neighbourhoods: 

 Explore 20-minute neighbourhoods by promoting Durham as a compact city 

 Maximise the number of new homes built with high energy efficiency  

 Look to achieve low carbon construction in new industrial and commercial premises, 

particularly those built on Council-owned land 

 Connect new housing and employment sites to one another and local centres 

through active travel and bus routes, including through the Local Cycling and 

Walking Infrastructure Plans 

 Enhance green space and support woodland expansion and urban greening 

 

 

Page 387



 

42 
 

7 Promotion 

Delivering our ambition for more and better jobs in an inclusive and green economy 

by promoting our county, assets and opportunities to businesses, investors, visitors, 

and residents. 

Priorities 

1. Develop a clear brand and place marketing organisation 

People are proud of the county – our cultural, heritage and natural assets – and think this 

should be better known regionally and nationally. We are home to a wide range of 

businesses and lead the North East for employment in advanced manufacturing and health 

& life sciences. There’s an opportunity to capitalise on this through a strong brand and 

county narrative for residents, tourists, and inward investors. 

2. Attract inward investment 

The county already sees inward investment interest and this strategy sets out the sectors 

we have an opportunity to grow, our innovation clusters, and how we will create the 

conditions for more inward investment through skills and business support. We need a 

proactive plan to develop a clear pitch for business attraction and expansion that creates 

better jobs to help retain local talent and attract more highly skilled workers into the 

county. 

3. Support a year-round visitor economy 

The county is home to some of the country’s best natural assets, and can boast coast, 

countryside, heritage city and culture. This is an opportunity to capitalise on these assets 

and grow the tourism and culture offer. We want to encourage people to stay longer and 

visit more parts of the county by investing in technology, physical assets, and events where 

it is needed. 

4. Enhance cultural and creative infrastructure 

We have growing strengths in culture and the creative sector. Culture has the potential to 

play an important role in revitalising our town and local centres. This requires investment 

in the sector, existing and new assets, and skills. 

Page 388



 

43 
 

What we have heard in the Big Econ-versation 

 

 

Flagship actions 

We will continue: 

 The Durham 2025 cultural programme, to raise the profile of the county and civic 

pride 

 Create North, Creative Fuse and the Memorandum of Understanding with the BBC to 

develop our cultural and creative sector  

We will: 

 Build the County Durham Brand and develop a new strategic approach to inward 

investment 

 Re-purpose unused high street retail spaces as ‘Place Labs’ to engage people in 

culture and support creative and cultural enterprises 

UKSPF Investment Plan, Durham 2025 plans, the work of Culture 

Durham and Visit County Durham, and ongoing work on place branding 

Our 

priorities 

& actions 

are aligned 

with our… 

Page 389



 

44 
 

How we will measure progress 

Progress against our priorities and actions under Promotion will be monitored by 

measuring: 

 

Links to Planet 

Delivering our ambition for more local and better paying jobs in an inclusive and 

green economy by reaching net zero by 2045 through a just transition that creates 

good jobs. 

Our early ways of developing a globally significant green economy: 

 Attract inward investment by promoting our strengths and specialisms, including in 

geothermal 

 

 

Page 390



 

45 
 

8 Delivering our Strategy 

The Inclusive Economic Strategy is an ambitious long-term economic strategy to 2035. It 

provides a wider strategy for the economy, businesses and residents, complementing our 

overall vision, spatial strategy and plans to reduce the impacts of climate change and 

poverty, and is fully integrated with regional and national policy.  

The Strategy sets out our ambition for a new economic future – one with more and better 

jobs in an inclusive, green economy. It will create a strong identity for the county, develop 

our strengths, address inequalities, and better connect residents to existing and new 

opportunities. This could have enormous positive impact both locally and for the UK 

economy. 

In 2019, County Durham produced ‘A vision for County Durham 2019-2035’, setting out the 

overall vision for the future of the county and providing direction to public, private and 

voluntary sector organisations. It is a forward-looking document that is aligned to the 

County Durham Plan, a spatial plan setting out a vision for housing, jobs, and the 

environment to 2035. 

In the same year, the County Council declared a climate emergency and developed a Climate 

Emergency Plan with two fully costed action plans, one to reduce carbon emissions from 

the Council’s operations by 80% from 2008/09 levels by 2030, and another to make County 

Durham carbon neutral by 2045. 

These county-wide strategies are complemented by locally-focused plans for growth. The 

Towns and Villages Programme Investment Plan offers an integrated approach to place-

based regeneration with a county wide investment programme of more than £750m. Our 

Masterplans guide investment and improvements in towns across the county, and support 

Levelling Up Fund bids. The Bishop Auckland Town Investment Plan sets out the plan for 

the £33.2m Towns Fund to help Bishop Auckland build on its unique heritage and assets to 

develop into a visitor destination of international appeal. 

The Inclusive Economic Strategy aligns with the Poverty Action Plan, which aims to reduce 

the number of people affected by poverty and deprivation in the county. 

Our delivery levers 

In delivering this Strategy, we will use the levers at our disposal as a county. 

Assets 

We will utilise land and property owned by the Council and our partners. For instance, the 

Council owns NETPark, Jade Business Park and Aykley Heads. This is an opportunity to 

nurture and shape the business clusters and specialisms, ensure activity is joined up with 

other initiatives, and lead the way in net zero transition and sustainability through 

construction and connections to local public transport and active travel. 

Page 391



 

46 
 

Policies 

As a unitary authority, Durham County Council has direct control over major areas of local 

policy, including planning, skills, public health, and transport. We will use our influence and 

control over these policy areas to deliver inclusive and green growth. The Council also 

delivers many of its services in house, these can be targeted to support an inclusive and 

green economy.  

Programmes and funding 

We will receive up to £33.6m from UK Shared Prosperity Fund over the next three years, 

compared to the ring-fenced allocation of £155m from the 2014-2020 European Structural 

and Investment Funds programme.  

This means that as a county, we need to leverage as much external investment as possible 

through bids into relevant funding calls and by attracting private sector investment. The 

Council is able to tailor programmes and use funding to achieve the ambition and priorities 

set out in this Strategy. 

Partnerships 

We will work together in partnership to transform our economy, trying new innovative 

approaches and initiatives to deliver more local and better paying jobs in an inclusive, green 

economy.  

Action Plan 

Our next steps are to develop a detailed action plan and monitoring framework to deliver 

against our Strategy. We will look to engage residents and communities, including 

Community Champions and Area Action Partnerships, in decision-making and the 

coproduction of relevant actions and initiatives. 

Inclusive Economy Cohorts 

Through this Strategy, we will continue to work with our strong business base, innovation 

assets, high-skilled workers, and graduates, but our Strategy goes beyond a traditional 

economic approach – enabling everywhere and everyone in County Durham to contribute to 

and benefit from economic growth.  

As part of the development of an Action Plan, we will identify Inclusive Economy Cohorts to 

help those that need it most, focus activity, target our actions, and monitor success. Some of 

these groups will be place-based and others will be based on socio-economic or 

demographic groups. These will be reviewed every two years to ensure that we are still 

targeting activity in a way that will achieve maximum impact.  

These will be identified through a combination of quantitative and qualitative analysis. We 

will work with different partners already engaged with these cohorts to encourage 

participation.  

This may include, for example: 

Page 392



 

47 
 

 16 neighbourhoods with high levels of deprivation 

 Residents earning below the Real Living Wage 

 Households in fuel poverty or living in energy inefficient homes 

 Residents with a long-term physical or mental health conditions  

 Groups furthest from the labour market, either demographic e.g., Gypsy, Roma and 

Traveller communities, or socio-economic e.g., young people or older residents not in 

work, residents with low skills levels, residents with disabilities / learning difficulties 

Monitoring progress 

We want to measure the impact of the actions in our Strategy on delivering more local and 

better paying jobs in an inclusive, green economy. We will take a bold and innovative 

approach to transforming our economy – trying new ideas and evaluating them to 

understand what works.  

The table below summarises the set of outcomes that we will use to measure progress. We 

will also link to the metrics included in the Climate Emergency Plan to monitor our progress 

in the Planet pillar. We will also monitor the success of our actions in improving outcomes 

amongst our inclusive economy groups. 

We will baseline our current performance against where we want to be and co-develop 

targets as we develop our Action Plan to measure progress towards actions and milestones.  

Pillar Outcomes 

People 

 Residents with high level skills (NVQ Level 3 & 4) 

 Residents who are economically inactive but want a job 

 18-24 year old residents in employment 

 Healthy life expectancy of residents 

 GVA per capita 

 Employee jobs earning Real Living Wage or higher 

Productivity 

 Number of jobs 

 Proportion of higher-level jobs 

 Job density 

 Number of businesses 

 GVA 

 GVA per filled job 

 Days lost to sickness 

 Local anchor institution spend 

Places 

 Proportion of neighbourhoods in the most 10% most deprived 

nationally 

 Town centre vacancy rate 

 Public transport connectivity 

Page 393



 

48 
 

Pillar Outcomes 

 Employment land take up 

 Occupancy rate of council business premises 

 Premises with gigabit connectivity 

Promotion 

 Visitor expenditure  

 Number of visitors 

 Number of inward investment projects secured and value 

 

 

Page 394



 

49 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 395



This page is intentionally left blank



DRAFT INCLUSIVE 

ECONOMIC STRATEGY

P
age 397



Ambition

At the heart of the strategy is a simple ambition: more and better jobs in an 
inclusive, green economy

• More jobs - creating the conditions for more businesses to start, move, and 
grow in all parts of the county

• Better jobs - to ensure that residents can access secure work that pays a 
living wage

• Inclusive - to ensure that the benefits of growth are shared fairly

• Green - to ensure that activity contributes to the Climate Emergency and 
2045 goal of net zero carbon County Durham

• To achieve this Ambition the IES sets a framework for an inclusive economy, 
focusing on People, Productivity, Places, Promotion and Planet

P
age 398



People, Productivity

We will enable residents to access economic opportunities and excel in business and their careers by 
focusing on:

• Raising skills levels, including higher and green skills, linked to what employers need

• Overcoming barriers to employment, including work readiness, skills, careers advice and guidance, and 
poor health

• Supporting in-work progression and upskilling

• Improving health and wellbeing

We will support business growth and innovation, and retain wealth locally by focusing on:

• Nurturing our opportunity sectors 

• Supporting our major employment sectors, including manufacturing, health, and the visitor economy

• Enabling businesses to start, grow and stay in County Durham

• Developing a regional innovation ecosystem

• Encouraging good business practices, including improving health in the workplace

P
age 399



Places, Promotion

We will develop places and infrastructure so that people and businesses thrive by focusing 
on:

• Creating vibrant town and local centres

• Developing dynamic community and public service hubs

• Unlocking employment land for high quality premises

• Improving physical connectivity, including public transport and active travel

We will promote our county, assets and opportunities by focusing on:

• Developing a clear brand and investing in place marketing

• Attract inward investment

• Supporting an annualised visitor economy through events and infrastructure 

• Enhancing cultural and creative infrastructure

P
age 400



Planet

We will support the drive to net zero by focusing on:

• Developing a globally significant green economy cluster

• Connecting residents to new opportunities through green skills

• Developing sustainable communities and neighbourhoods

• Supporting businesses to transition to net zero and adopt sustainable 

practices

P
age 401



Delivery

In delivering this Strategy, we will use the levers at our disposal as a county:

• Our assets including the land and property owned by the Council and our 

partners

• Our policies including planning, skills, public health and transport

• Programmes and funding including UK Shared Prosperity Fund and 

leveraging as much external investment as possible

• Working together with our partners

The IES also includes a list of early actions across People, Productivity, Places 

and Promotion which will be developed into a detailed action plan and 

monitoring framework

P
age 402



Health and Wellbeing Board  

28 September 2022 

Update on the Climate Emergency 

Response Plan 2022-24 

 

 

Report of Alan Patrickson, Corporate Director of Neighbourhoods 
and Climate Change, Durham County Council 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

All  

Purpose of the Report 

1 To provide the Health and Wellbeing Board with an overview of the 
Climate Emergency Response Plan (CERP2) 2022-24 

2 To note the introduction of new targets in CERP2, adopted recently at 
Cabinet: 

(a) achieve net zero by 2030 by retaining the CERP1 80% actual 
carbon reduction target for Council emissions by 2030 whilst 
offsetting or further reducing remaining emissions; 

(b) net zero by 2045 for countywide emissions (improved from 2050). 

Executive summary 

3 Following the declaration of a climate emergency, Cabinet required the 
production of a Climate Emergency Response Plan, which was adopted 
in February 2020.  Also referred to as CERP1, this was a costed two-
year plan which set out over 100 projects that the Council, with 
partners, would need to take towards achieving ambitious targets of 
reducing Council CO2 reductions of 80% by 2030 (2008/9 baseline) and 
for meeting the countywide target of being totally carbon neutral by 
2050.  It was developed from extensive consultation across Council 
staff, stakeholders, community groups, residents, and schools. 

4 The declaration and subsequent Climate Emergency Response Plan 
(CERP1) required a report to be produced every year detailing the 
actions that are being undertaken to achieve our targets and setting at 
its expiry a further two-year programme of action. 

Page 403

Agenda Item 12



5 Whilst the Covid pandemic had a key influence during the CERP1, 
significant progress was nevertheless made for instance with low 
carbon solutions to Abbey Leisure Centre and £8m Annfield Plain Zero 
Carbon Depot project commenced.  Furthermore, countywide work with 
partners continued, for instance, the planting of 44,000 trees during 
2021/22 and On Street Charging Initiative (OSCI) project has installed 
153 EV charge points sockets.  Projects such as these have contributed 
to 58% Council reduction in tCO2e from 2008/9 and countywide a 54% 
reduction (2019) in tCO2e from 1990 levels. 

6 This second Action Plan, CERP2, is for the period 2022-2024 is fully 
costed and funding identified for the agreed programmes of work, 
including external sources, where appropriate.  Medium Term Financial 
Plan (MTFP12) made provision for investment in the Low Carbon Team, 
mainstreaming the funding of the team and significant capital 
investments in low carbon schemes.  This, allied with earmarked 
reserves held, is sufficient to cover initiatives or provide match funding 
set out in the CERP2 Plan up to 2024. 

7 To achieve the climate change targets set out in CERP2 in their 
entirety, it will require a combination of access to external funding and 
also advances in technology in some areas.  Without these the Council 
will not be able to achieve its targets. 

8 It is recognised that the actions outside of those contained in the 
CERP2 action plan and actions / interventions beyond 2024 will be 
heavily dependent on access to funding.  Given national strategies 
aimed at achieving net zero by 2050, this is a reasonable assumption, 
however it cannot be guaranteed, especially from the perspective of the 
current financial climate. 

9 In this climate of tight resources, it is essential that our work at both a 
Council level and as a countywide influencer, is targeted to those areas 
where the biggest impact can be had.  Future work and investment to 
achieve our ambitions in this area will therefore be built in to established 
Council processes including the annual MTFP planning cycle where 
capital and revenue expenditure will be considered alongside the needs 
of other service projects and programmes.  Resources will be allocated 
to maximise the benefits from those available.  Additionally, external 
funding will be sought wherever possible to supplement Council 
budgets.  These opportunities will need to be subject to financial 
assessment, including the development of the appropriate business 
cases and affordability tests. 

  

Page 404



Recommendations 

10 Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board are recommended to: 

(a) note progress against CERP1 projects which have helped to 
achieving 58% Council reduction in tCO2e from 2008/9 and 
countywide a 54% reduction (2019) in tCO2e from 1990 levels 

(b) note the adoption of CERP2 by Cabinet and assist with the 
delivery of targets as set out in the report 

(c) note that the CERP2 targets will require access to funding from 
external areas and advances in technology in some areas in 
order to be fully delivered 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 405



Background 

CERP1 Update 

Council Emissions 

11 The Council’s carbon emissions during 2020/21 were 44,319 tonnes of 
carbon dioxide equivalent (tCO2e), marking a reduction of 58% 
compared with the baseline year of 2008/9.  The graph below shows 
this as a year-on-year progression with the figures for each year being 
separated into the priority areas of electricity, heat, and transport. 

 

Graph 1: Council Emissions for Period 2009 - 2021 

12 We are currently calculating emissions for 2021/22. We do envisage 
there being a slight increase in emissions compared to 2020/21. We are 
currently estimating about a 57% reduction compared to 2008/09, 
however these are just provisional figures. This 1% increase is in 
relation to a higher than usual reduction due to the national lockdown in 
2020/21 and increased energy use in 2021/22 due to ventilation 
requirements.  We are aiming for a 65% reduction by the 2022/23. 

13 The Council continues to report Scope 1 & 2 emissions (Direct 
emissions from using gas, oil or petrol and indirect emissions from 
electricity).  Some Scope 3 emissions we also calculate, like business 
travel, but much of this is beyond the control of the Local Authority.  
Further information can be found on the Council’s website and in the 
first CERP, however we are actively investigating ways in which to more 
proactively measure Scope 3 emissions, through procurement and new 
software, which could give an estimation of the total carbon footprint of 
DCC. 

0% -1% 3%
12%

7%
16% 19%

24%

34%
40%

47% 51%
58% 57%

0

20,000

40,000

60,000

80,000

100,000

120,000

T
o
n
n
e
s
 C

O
2
e

DCC Annual Emissions and Percentage 
Reduction

Transport Heat Electricity

Page 406



Countywide Emissions 

14 In relation to countywide emissions, the latest available carbon footprint 
figures are for the year 2019.  The baseline year for these emissions is 
1990, in keeping with the Government’s measurement period for 
national targets.  The chart below shows how the county’s carbon 
footprint has been in decline since 2005 and gives the reduction in each 
year as a percentage from the 1990 baseline. 

  

Graph 2: Countywide Emissions for period 2005 – 2019  

15 In 2019, 47% of the county’s carbon footprint came from heat, 33% from 
transport, and 18% from electricity.  The carbon footprint of the county 
as a whole is much larger than that of the Council as it incorporates 
everything that happens within the county with the exception of traffic 
passing through on the A1 motorway, trains on the East Coast Mainline 
and large industrial sites. 

16 As we proceed towards a re-opening of services and buildings, after 
Covid, the continued implementation of the projects within the next 
iteration of the CERP and its newly identified projects, will be crucial if 
the momentum gained is to be sustained. 

17 Because 2021 was a less windy year and because a number of nuclear 
power stations went offline, there is likely to be an increase in the 
carbon factor for national grid supplied electricity, which may slow 
improvement. 

18 Some particular highlights against Council actions in CERP1 include: 

29% 29% 31% 32%

39%
36%

41%
39% 40%

46% 48%
50% 52% 52% 54%

 -

 500

 1,000

 1,500

 2,000

 2,500

 3,000

 3,500

 4,000

2
0

0
5

2
0

0
6

2
0

0
7

2
0

0
8

2
0

0
9

2
0

1
0

2
0

1
1

2
0

1
2

2
0

1
3

2
0

1
4

2
0

1
5

2
0

1
6

2
0

1
7

2
0

1
8

2
0

1
9

2
0

2
0

kt
C

O
2

Annual Emissions and Percentage Reduction

 Transport  Heat  Electricity  Other

57% 

Page 407



(a) decarbonisation scheme at Abbey Leisure Centre with 
replacement of gas with air source heat pumps and solar panels, 
funded in part through government grant; 

(b) £492,000 secured to improve the energy efficiency of 
Meadowfield Depot; 

(c) £114,000 secured to replace oil heating with an air source heat 
pump aligned to solar power at Woodland School, Teesdale; 

(d) the £8 million Annfield Plain Zero Carbon Depot project is 
continuing at pace, and is due for completion in July 2022; 

(e) the procurement team is leading the way in embedding social 
value and wider environmental concerns into major 
procurements. 
 

19 Some particular highlights against countywide targets include: 

(a) the Scaling On Street Charging Initiative (SOSCI) project has 
installed 153 EV charge points sockets, 10 of which are rapid 
charge, the other 143 being 7-22 kWh fast charging, in towns, 
libraries, leisure centres and community centres; 

(b) the County Durham fuel poverty partnership has enabled 
residents in County Durham to have the 4th highest uptake of 
energy efficiency grants nationally, working with landlords to 
improve quality and energy efficiency of buildings and supporting 
low carbon retrofit for off-gas homes; 

(c) Seaham Garden Village development proposals for using 
minewater heating are now being worked up at an inception 
phase. 

(d) the Low Carbon Economy Team has supported over 400 SMEs 
with energy efficiency advice and grants since 2016 and 
continues to do so through its Business Energy Efficiency (BEEP) 
project; 

(e) the County Durham Food Partnership (Food Durham) has 
achieved national recognition with a bronze Sustainable Food 
Places award; 

(f) 16,000 hectares of blanket bog have been restored in County 
Durham, avoiding 192,000 tonnes of carbon from being emitted 
each year. 
 

Page 408



20 In 2020 the CERP1 won the national Association for Public Sector 
Excellence (APSE) award in its Best Climate Initiative category.  It was 
also commended by the national sustainable food charity, SUSTAIN, for 
the inclusion of actions relating to food and agriculture and was a finalist 
in the 2021 LGC awards. 

21 In 2022 the SOSCI project won the award for best EV project at the 
national MJ Awards 

22 Whilst the actions in the CERP have provided real and substantial 
carbon reductions, public concern and pressure for climate action has 
increased against the background of extreme weather events and the 
UK presidency of COP26 in Glasgow in November focussed even more 
attention on climate change. 

23 As part of its local contribution to the COP 26 event, the Council 
convened a County Durham meeting of Partners, held on 1 November 
and attended by nearly 70 chief execs and senior decision makers.  
Over 40 partner organisations signed a Partnership Agreement (below) 
with further signatories added since then.  The Agreement aims to 
develop a stronger, cross sectoral net zero partnership for the County 
over the coming years. It states: 

‘We agree to work together as a partnership of organisations 
across County Durham to tackle climate change.’ 

24 The County Durham Environment and Climate Change Partnership is 
also assisting with the delivery of the CERP and has a Climate 
Emergency sub group which helps to focus on strategic issues and 
projects across partners. 

CERP2 and Climate Change Strategy 

25 As the successor to the original CERP, CERP2 has further developed 
both Council and community-based actions to take forward the carbon 
reduction commitments over the period of 2022-25, including the 
production of a high-level strategy containing overarching themes in 
which to frame the actions.  CERP2 reviews the progress made since 
2020 and highlights current emissions against our stated targets.  The 
emphasis is on actions that we, as a partnership of organisations, 
communities, and business, need to take going forward as presented 
under ten thematic areas within four overarching principles. 

26 The four principles are: 

 A Fair and Just Transition; 

 Achieving a Green Recovery; 

Page 409



 Being Community and People Centred; 

 Applying Nature Based Solutions. 

27 In relation to ‘Nature Based Solutions’, it is recognised that the county’s 
natural environment has a vital role to play in tackling climate change 
and key measures to help address the ecological emergency are 
included within the Natural Environment chapter. 

28 The ten chapter themes of the document are: 

 Heat Decarbonisation; 
 

 New Development; 
 

 Transport and Connectivity; 
 

 Electricity; 
 

 Business and Skills; 
 

 Procurement and Waste; 
 

 Land and Sustainable Food Production; 
 

 Natural Environment; 
 

 Adaptation; 
 

 Engagement, Education and Behavioural Change. 

29 Each chapter contains a summary page, which details the actions that 
the Council and other partners are planning or carrying out to help the 
county become carbon neutral by 2045.  The chapters then include a 
section on how the Council is taking the issue forward, an Actions and 
Partnerships section which describes the actions and collaborations that 
are planned for this CERP period (2022 – 2024), and finally an ‘Ask of 
Government’ section, which summarises the actions that we need the 
government to drive forward.  The document also includes a table of 
actions across all the themes. 

30 The investment associated with the 127 climate change related actions, 
across the CERP2 period and with partners are estimated to be over 
£121 million.  There is significant uncertainty in this figure as many of 
the projects are in design stage and some may not be developed.  Full 

Page 410



carbon emission reductions associated with actions are still being 
calculated and will be added into the CERP when known. 

31 Some projects included within CERP2 (not in CERP1) include: 

(a) Heat Decarbonisation of DCC Buildings - £5 million over 2 years 
supported by significant bids for government grants; 

(b) NetPark Phase 3 – Design includes no connection to gas network 
and consideration of solar PV farm; 

(c) new DCC Council Housing – Being delivered to Future Homes 
Standard; 

(d) improvement of EV infrastructure at Park and Ride sites and 
further roll out of EV charging County-wide; 

(e) development of a business case for solar car ports across the 
public sector estate; 

(f) embed sustainability into major procurement exercises through 
the Themes, Outcomes and Measures (TOMS) methodology; 

(g) explore the impact of school food waste, including those that 
have collections and those that don’t.  Through auditing, connect 
with the ‘Lets Go Zero’ 2030 campaign through existing school 
programmes; 

(h) elimination of peat-based tree/shrub compost through use of 
recycled soil conditioner, contributing towards reducing emissions 
from the destruction of peatlands; 

(i) the Community Sustainable Drainage (SuDS) Innovation 
Accelerator is a multi-partner project, led by Durham County 
Council, exploring how SuDS can be used as a mechanism to 
create more resilient, greener urban spaces which are shaped by 
their residents; 

(j) work with BEIS, Northern PowerGrid and the Regional Energy 
Hub on Heat Zoning and Local Area Energy Planning (LAEP).  A 
LAEP can provide sound foundations for effective and sustained 
local action to cut carbon emissions.  The resulting plan 
can potentially underpin specific proposals to upgrade local 
energy networks to enable decarbonisation plans, including for 
example increased EV charging, district heating or to accelerate 
the move away from gas/oil heating; 

(k) introduction of Climate Change training for all Council staff; 

Page 411



(l) investigating the extension of minewater heating to Horden and 
other suitable locations; 

(m) work to integrate the newly declared Ecological Emergency into 
the CERP. 

32 Although climate change mitigation is detailed throughout the CERP, 
adaptation to a changing climate is a new topic area in the Plan.  
Successful partnerships already exist in relation to flood mitigation, and 
it is anticipated that these would continue and grow.  The importance of 
ensuring resilient communities and infrastructure is vital, especially in 
the aftermath of Storm Arwen, when rural communities lost power for 
weeks. 

33 Projects relating to both Council and countywide actions require 
significant resource investment across the Council, especially those 
dealing with heat decarbonisation.  There is now a growing 
acknowledgement that it is in everyone’s interests and responsibility to 
achieve the agreed targets.  Increased funding for teams/projects that 
deal with climate related projects, such as Housing Solutions, 
Transport, etc. as well the Low Carbon Team, is one practical way to 
help reach targets.  Working together is also essential to avoid 
duplication and to ensure quick and easy wins. 

34 The Council will also continue to prepare building feasibility reports to 
support funding applications and work with partners to pursue 
Government and other external funding opportunities.  On-going 
progress reporting and member support will also come through the 
Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee which plays an 
overarching review role in the CERP process. 

Finance and resources 

35 Whilst it is recognised that there are potentially significant costs 
involved in delivering upon objectives, DCC will take a proactive 
approach to financial planning to ensure that ambitions can be met 
along with other responsibilities of the Council.  There are significant 
opportunities to create substantial cost savings from projects within the 
CERP, especially given energy price volitivity seen over the past year, 
which is not expected to smooth out anytime soon.  This demonstrates 
tackling carbon emissions is not just environmentally sound practice but 
that cost savings can be found from energy efficiency and energy 
generation projects. 

36 The Council previously committed £3 million in funding over two years 
2020 – 2022 and further commitments have now been confirmed: 

Page 412



 capital allocation for buildings decarbonisation (£2.5m a year and 
targeting government grants); 
 

 fleet replacement with EV alternatives; 

 

 retention of staff on temporary posts made permanent (£194k 

total cost); 

 

 £1 million revolving loan fund to enable on-going energy retrofits 

for SMEs; 

 

 £600,000 loan scheme for community and other public buildings; 

 

 additional £150,000 grant scheme for community buildings; 

 

 increase in installation of solar on council buildings and land. 

37 Net Zero is a priority from Central Government, following COP26 in 
Glasgow and it is recognised that Government and local government 
cannot achieve these ambitions alone.  As such there are opportunities 
to benefit from Government funding, including for example Public Sector 
Decarbonisation Funding (PSDS), for which we have had four 
successful projects funded and delivered through the first two rounds.  
We have also been successful in applying for £5.6 million of funding 
from round 3 of PSDS for decarbonisation projects including five leisure 
centres following a huge increase in survey work and applications and 
are working up significant bids for future PSDS rounds as well as other 
funding and investment opportunities, such as the Shared Prosperity 
Fund and Levelling Up. 

Conclusion 

38 The Climate Emergency Response Plan sets out how we aim to 
address the climate emergency across all sectors. It will have gaps as 
Climate Change will impact across all areas of society, therefore the 
Action Plan is very much a living plan with new actions being added 
constantly. We want all sections of the community and business to get 
involved to help transition to a greener, fairer and healthier society, 
economy and environment.  

Background papers 

 Carbon Management Plan 2020-2025 
http://intranet.durham.gov.uk/SiteAssets/Pages/ClimateChangeCarbon
ManagementProgramme/Carbon%20Management%20Plan%202020-
2025.pdf 

Page 413

http://intranet.durham.gov.uk/SiteAssets/Pages/ClimateChangeCarbonManagementProgramme/Carbon%20Management%20Plan%202020-2025.pdf
http://intranet.durham.gov.uk/SiteAssets/Pages/ClimateChangeCarbonManagementProgramme/Carbon%20Management%20Plan%202020-2025.pdf
http://intranet.durham.gov.uk/SiteAssets/Pages/ClimateChangeCarbonManagementProgramme/Carbon%20Management%20Plan%202020-2025.pdf


Other useful documents 

 DCC’s Climate Emergency Response Plan. 
https://www.durham.gov.uk/media/40220/Climate-Change-Strategy-
and-Emergency-Response-Plan-2022-
24/pdf/ClimateChangeStrategyAndEmergencyResponsePlan2022-
24.pdf?m=637925305338470000 

Author 

Stephen McDonald Tel:  03000 265537 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 414

https://www.durham.gov.uk/media/40220/Climate-Change-Strategy-and-Emergency-Response-Plan-2022-24/pdf/ClimateChangeStrategyAndEmergencyResponsePlan2022-24.pdf?m=637925305338470000
https://www.durham.gov.uk/media/40220/Climate-Change-Strategy-and-Emergency-Response-Plan-2022-24/pdf/ClimateChangeStrategyAndEmergencyResponsePlan2022-24.pdf?m=637925305338470000
https://www.durham.gov.uk/media/40220/Climate-Change-Strategy-and-Emergency-Response-Plan-2022-24/pdf/ClimateChangeStrategyAndEmergencyResponsePlan2022-24.pdf?m=637925305338470000
https://www.durham.gov.uk/media/40220/Climate-Change-Strategy-and-Emergency-Response-Plan-2022-24/pdf/ClimateChangeStrategyAndEmergencyResponsePlan2022-24.pdf?m=637925305338470000


Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

The Climate Change Act 2008 established a UK commitment to reduce 
greenhouse gas emissions by 80% by 2050 from 1990 levels and the Paris 
Agreement (to which the UK is a signatory) which aims to keep the increase in 
global average temperature to well below 2oC above preindustrial levels; and 
to limit the increase to 1.5oC to prevent dangerous climate change.  On 12 
June Government announced plans to legislate to revise the Climate Change 
Act and adopt a target of net zero carbon emissions by 2050 which is now in 
law. 

Finance 

Previous funding committed £3 million over two years and further new 

commitments have been agreed as part of the MTFP, including: 

 Capital allocation for buildings decarbonisation (£5 million over 

two years); 

 

 Feet replacement with EV alternatives; 

 

 Retention of staff on temporary posts made permanent (£194k 

total cost); 

 

 £1 million revolving loan fund for to enable on-going energy 

retrofits to SMEs; 

 

 £600,000 revolving loan fund for community buildings and a 

£150,000 grant scheme. 

The costs associated with climate change related actions across the CERP2 

period and across partners are estimated to be over £121 million.  There is 

some uncertainty in this figure as many of the projects are in design stage and 

some may not get developed at all.  Future work and investment to achieve 

our ambitions in this area will be built in to established Council processes 

including the annual MTFP planning cycle where capital and revenue 

expenditure will be considered alongside the needs of other service projects 

and programmes. 

Likewise detailed estimates of carbon emissions reduction associated with 

actions are yet to be calculated but will be added into the CERP when known. 

Page 415



It should be noted that with rising energy prices the business case to 

deploying renewable energy for direct supply to Council facilities gets 

stronger; and the intention is to utilise Invest to Save funds where criteria are 

met. 

Consultation 

This forms part of the Climate Emergency Response Plan, which was widely 

consulted on in 2019. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

Climate Change will disproportionately affect the poorest populations.  This 

CERP2 seeks to address that through reducing DCC’s carbon emissions and 

working with partners to tackle issues including fuel poverty. 

Climate Change 

This plan is an integral part of the Authority’s Climate Emergency Response. 

Human Rights 

The right to life is threatened by Climate Change. 

Crime and Disorder 

No direct implications. 

Staffing 

The delivery of the CERP has implications for all staff not just those from the 

LCE team; for example CCS and Buildings & Facilities Management all have 

significant roles to play in making sure projects can get delivered.  

Accommodation 

Some projects will result in operational/plant down time, however this will be 

managed appropriately  

Risk 

The risk of adverse effects of not acting is expected to be greater than the risk 

of financial loss through immediate action. 

Procurement 

Contractors, which could include B&FM will need to be appointed through 

competitive tender to undertake the work  

 

Page 416



Climate 

Emergency 

Response

Stephen McDonald – Principal Officer 

Climate Change and Sustainability 

P
age 417



Countywide emissions

29% 29%
31%

32%

39%

36%

41%
39% 40%

46%
48%

50%
52% 52%

54%

 -

 500

 1,000

 1,500

 2,000

 2,500

 3,000

 3,500

 4,000

2
0

0
5

2
0

0
6

2
0

0
7

2
0

0
8

2
0

0
9

2
0

1
0

2
0

1
1

2
0

1
2

2
0

1
3

2
0

1
4

2
0

1
5

2
0

1
6

2
0

1
7

2
0

1
8

2
0

1
9

2
0

2
0

k
tC

O
2

Annual Emissions and Percentage Reduction

 Transport  Heat  Electricity  Other

57%

2020 (initial estimate)

P
age 418



Our commitments

Where we are

now in 2022

Laying foundations 

Actions for 2030

County Durham’s Aims 

for 2050

Durham County Council 

emissions down by 58% from 

2008/09.

Countywide carbon emissions 

down by 54% from 1990.

Council emissions to be 

reduced by 80% from 2008/09 

levels and net zero overall.

County Durham emissions to 

be reduced or offset by 80% 

from 1990 levels.

Carbon Neutral County

All carbon emissions from the 

council and the whole of County 

Durham to be stopped or offset 

by 2050.

P
age 419



Key Principles

1. A Fair and Just Transition

2. Achieving a Green Recovery

3. Being Community and People Centred

4. Applying Nature-Based Solutions

P
age 420



The Climate Emergency 

Response Plan

CERP 1 went from 2020-22 and contained over 110 projects

CERP 2 goes from 2022-24 and contains over 120 projects

Chapter Themes

 Heat Decarbonisation

 New Development

 Transport and Connectivity

 Electricity

 Business and Skills

 Procurement and Waste

 Land and Sustainable Food Production

 Natural Environment

 Adaptation

 Engagement, Education and Behavioural Change

P
age 421



Health and Wellbeing Impacts and Links

Extreme Weather – Overheating; drought; storms; flood; disease

Heat – Housing insulation projects helping to alleviate fuel poverty

Transport – Cycling and walking improvements; ‘borrow and bike scheme’

Land and Food – links with Poverty Action plan; community food providers; ‘refuse 

café’

Natural Environment – Protection and enhancement of natural spaces will help 

people access nature

Education and Engagement – Ensuring people are fully informed and have 

access to the right information

P
age 422



Further Information

• CERP2 Document 
https://issuu.com/dccdesignandprint/docs/climate_change_strategy_and
_emergency_response_pla?fr=sZGJmZDUxNTg0MzE

• Climate Change and Sustainability 

Intranet 
https://websites.durham.gov.uk/climatechange/

• Climate County Durham 

Agreement 
https://countydurhampartnership.co.uk/environment-climate-change-

partnership/vision-and-priorities/climate-emergency/county-durham-

climate-agreement/

P
age 423



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Health And Wellbeing Board  

28 September 2022 

 County Durham Physical Activity 

Strategy 

 

Report of Jane Robinson, Corporate Director, Adult and Health 
Services, Durham County Council 
Amanda Healy, Director of Public Health, Durham County Council   

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide 

Purpose of the Report 

1 The purpose of this report is to present the Health and Wellbeing Board 
with: 

(a) The opportunity to review and comment upon the latest draft of 
the high-level County Durham Physical Activity Strategy 
document; 

(b) Outline proposals for co-production of the Physical Activity 
Strategy action plan; 

(c) Proposed next steps regarding governance and publication of the 
strategy and its action plan. 

Executive summary 

2 Regular physical activity, or indeed increased movement is known to 
have a positive effect on both mental and physical health and wellbeing, 
yet there is stark variation in levels of activity (and sedentary behaviour) 
across communities in County Durham. 

3 These issues cannot be resolved by individual organisations working in 
silo. A systems-based approach is required to ensure that long-term, 
sustainable change can be achieved and maintained. 

4 Accordingly, meaningful collaboration across key public, private, 
voluntary and community stakeholders is required.  

5 This Physical Activity Strategy document sets out a bold vision and 
mission, which is supported by key principles to improve levels of 
movement and activity in those who live, work and play in County 
Durham. 

Page 425

Agenda Item 13



6 Around 100 professional stakeholders representing DCC, the health 
care sector, higher education, community organisations, and sports 
clubs and organisations attended three workshops that have informed 
the vision, mission and principles set out in this document. 

7 Please note, however that this strategy is in development. The latest 
draft is a high-level document that starts the journey towards our 
objectives. A meaningful action plan will be co-produced with our people 
and communities, including those who are from vulnerable and under-
represented groups. This will supplement the strategy document and 
bring it to life.  

8 Accordingly, the Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to note that the 
final document will contain more context and detail to top and tail the 
strategic direction that is outlined in this document. This will include: 

(a) Explicit detail on how the strategy will be aligned to our approach 
to healthy weight, obesity, active travel and other strategic 
interdependencies; 

(b) Systems mapping to highlight connections with other key parts of 
the system; 

(c) More detail on work between the strategy’s key collaborators, i.e. 
Public Health, Culture, Sport and Tourism, County Durham Sport. 

Recommendations 

9 The Health and Wellbeing Board is recommended to: 

(a) Consider and feedback on the high-level Physical Activity 
Strategy document; 

(b) Accept proposals for co-production of the Physical Activity 
Strategy action plan. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 426



Background 

10 The evidence base is irrefutable regarding the positive impact of regular 
movement on both physical and mental health across the life course. 
The causes of physical inactivity are multiple and complex, and the 
COVID-19 pandemic has added to what was already a significant public 
health challenge. 

11 These at scale issues cannot be resolved by individuals, sectors or 
players responding unilaterally. In County Durham, we recognise that 
levels of inactivity are impacted by a range of influences, and that we 
must work as a system to effect sustainable, at scale change. 

12 County Durham does not have a current physical activity strategy. This 
report outlines the development of such a strategy, as well as proposing 
how we will co-produce a meaningful action plan with our people and 
communities.   

13 A key objective of this work is to focus on a system wide partnership 
approach to ensure that all ages in County Durham have access to 
inclusive opportunities to be more physically active. This will be done by 
bringing people, partners and organisations together with a shared 
purpose.  

Key partners 

14 This work is being undertaken in collaboration with key local partners 
including County Durham Sport, Culture, Sport and Tourism, and 
Durham University, and is overseen by the Physical Activity Strategy 
Committee (PASC) which sits quarterly.  

15 The PASC recognises that the creation of a system-focussed strategy is 
on the first stage of our journey to increasing movement and physical 
activity amongst those who live, work and play in County Durham. A key 
element of this work is the co-production of a meaningful action plan 
that breathes life into the overarching strategy document.  

16 It does, however, also recognise that it is important to have a focussed 
vision and mission, that is supported by a clear set of core principles. 
This will be the focus of this report.  

Professional stakeholder consultation 

17 Between November and December 2021, a collaboration between 
Public Health, Culture Sports and Tourism, County Durham Sport 
planned and delivered three stakeholder workshops to develop the 
vision, mission and core principles of this strategy.  

Page 427



18 This was attended by over 100 representatives of various partner 
organisations including the Local Authority, health care settings, VCS, 
sports clubs and organisations, and higher education. 

Vision, mission and core principles 

19 The strategy is underpinned by the County Durham Approach to 
Wellbeing, with a firm focus on people and place. It adopts a 
partnership approach, involving communities in decisions that affect 
them to ensure that people of all ages are motivated, and have access 
to inclusive opportunities to start moving and stay moving. 

20 Vision: County Durham residents will be more active, enabling them to 
live longer, healthier and happier lives. 

21 Mission: bring people and organisations together with a shared purpose 
of helping everyone in County Durham to move more. 

Core principles 

Principle 1 – Person and community-centred 

22 “Our people and communities are County Durham’s biggest asset. We 
will work with communities to support and empower our most 
disadvantaged and vulnerable, helping them to live healthier, longer 
more active lives. We will help people develop the motivation, 
confidence, knowledge and capacity to move more, and explore why 
regular movement is important.” 

23 This is a central drive to the success of the strategy. It builds upon 
existing community assets, whilst engaging the system to empower 
local residents to understand what matters to them regarding increased 
movement and activity. 

24 Close work and engagement with local communities will add to our 
existing knowledge, so that we can develop new insight on the issues 
and barriers people face in relation to moving more. We will coproduce 
solutions with local people and partners so that we can create 
meaningful ways to help people move more and increase their activity 
levels. 

25 The key to success is a ‘bottom up approach’ with an emphasis on 
people, community groups, clubs and organisations working together to 
achieve improved outcomes.  

 

 

Page 428



Principle 2 – Whole systems working and collaboration with partners 

26 “Key to creating system change is a focus on people and local 
communities, supported by close collaboration and shared decision-
making with County Durham organisations.” 

27 County Durham will adopt and continually develop a whole systems 
approach to increasing movement and physical activity across the life 
course. Partnership working will help identify where the need is 
greatest, identify opportunities for change that will support regular 
movement, and build upon the existing physical activity culture across 
the county. 

28 The strategy will encourage partners from all sectors to work as a 
network, so that they can use their experience and expertise to make 
progress and achieve long-term, positive and sustainable change.  

29 The key to success is creating meaningful connections and building and 
strengthening positive relationships to ensure a co-ordinated approach 
to increasing movement and reducing inactivity. 

Principle 3 – Focus where the need is greatest 

30 “Encourage and support those within our communities who are least 
active to move more to help address the inequalities that currently 
exist”. 

31 These principles embed the concepts of equity, equality, proportionate 
universalism and the wider social determinants that impact upon 
physical activity. 

32 Safe transport environments, for example, influence how children 
integrate walking and cycling into their daily routines, whilst safe 
transport systems enable older aged adults to maintain their autonomy. 
So, without such systems, the opportunity for active travel could be 
much more limited.   

33 Evidence suggests that there are several demographic groups that are 
physically inactive or under-represented such as those lower socio-
economic groups, women, older adults and those with long term 
conditions. We will focus efforts where the need is greatest to reduce 
those inequalities that impact upon activity and health. 

34 The key to success is using local knowledge and evidence to prioritise 
improving the health of those who are most disadvantaged, and tailor 
approaches to the specific needs of different communities to address 
inequalities. 

Page 429



Principle 4 – Engaging individuals and organisations with the strategy – 
what can I do? 

35 “There is no single answer or solution to help all ages move more 
across County Durham. In order to increase movement and promote 
physical activity, partners need a shared sense of purpose and an 
alignment of resources so they can work together”. 

36 This element of the strategy document speaks directly to those who will 
work together to increase movement and physical activity amongst our 
residents. Examples include: 

 Sharing it with the organisations, groups, clubs and people you 
work or collaborate with; 

 Adopting and embrace its key principles; 

 Considering how regular movement features into organisation’s 
policies, and putting it on the agenda in workplaces and/or 
communities. 

Principle 5 – Continued learning and evaluation 

37 “Using evidence supported by local conversations”. 

38 Capturing what is working well across the county, and learning from 
elsewhere, is very important.  We must focus on positive change – no 
matter how big or small, and always consider where such change is 
possible. This strategy will help identify and celebrate progress and 
success, and inspire others to join in and take action. 

39 This strategy will be monitored and reviewed through the creation of a 
strong network across County Durham. Stakeholders will capture and 
share learning to best understand what motivates our communities and 
helps our people to become more active. Efforts will be focussed on 
working together to create the best possible environment that will help 
people to move more. 

40 The key to success is stakeholders making time for learning, to 
understand what has, and has not worked. Evaluation and review of 
efforts and interventions will be a central part of this approach. 

Priority areas for change 

41 Short-term: 

 Mental health. 

 Workplace. 

Page 430



 Active travel. 

 Current system mapping and sharing best practice. 

 Children and young people particularly around supporting mental 
health, and in education/school. 

 Promotion of movement linked Social Prescribing. 

42 Long-term: 

 Build stronger active communities- including improved facilities 
and infrastructure to help make regular movement the best 
option; 

 Embed regular movement into all health and social care 
pathways with better connections to support services e.g. drug 
and alcohol services, gambling, stop-smoking;  

 Canvas our people and communities to obtain their opinions; 

 Evaluate our approach and share good practice and evidence; 

 Influence national policy and lobby for change.  

Public consultation: co-production of action plan 

43 This strategy document gives a clear summary of what will be achieved. 
A co-produced action plan will bring this strategy to life, engaging 
people and communities from across the county to learn how we will 
best achieve the strategy’s objectives. 

44 Working with DCC Consultation and Engagement, and County Durham 
Together teams, Public Health will consult with our people and 
communities – particularly those where we know there are typically 
lower levels of physical activity, or those who are traditionally under-
represented.  

45 The professional consultation events held in late 2021 were attended by 
partners from across the Local Authority, health care settings, VCS, 
sports club and organisations and higher education. The wider public 
consultation will build upon this by gathering the perspectives of local 
residents. We want to know: 

 What does physical activity mean to people and what do they 
believe to be the benefits of moving more? 

 What stops people from being active? 

Page 431



 Do people agree with the focus of our strategy? 

 What helps our residents to be more active (including community 
assets)? 

 How can we help people to be more active? 

46 This consultation will broadly target children and young people, families, 
adults (including older adults), VCS, AAP’s, and private sector 
organisations – including those within these groups who are under-
represented.  

Limitations 

47 The Public Health Advanced Practitioner (Healthy Weight, Place and 
Policy) has been vacant for five months. Whilst some resource has 
been available to review the strategy document and undertake initial 
planning for the action plan co-production phase, the new Public Health 
Advanced Practitioner started in the role on 1 July 2022.  

Conclusion 

48 The PAS document will be reported to the County Durham Health and 
Wellbeing Board as an update on progress. 

49 Planning of action plan co-production is now underway. It will be 
progressed by the new Public Health Advanced Practitioner (Healthy 
Weight, Place and Policy), and this will be overseen by the Public 
Health Strategic Manager, Healthy Settings, Strategy and Assurance to 
ensure that this phase of the project is expedited.  

50 The proposed action plan will supplement the PAS document to 
produce a more detailed, people and place-based strategy that will be 
launched once the final product has progressed through all relevant 
governance.  

Author 

Mick Shannon Tel: 03000 260485   

  

Page 432



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications    
None. 

Finance 
None 

Consultation 
Local authority, health care, higher education, community organisations, and 
sports clubs and organisations have directly contributed to the content of this 
work through attendance at workshops. Public consultation is now being 
planned, as well as a full public coproduction exercise to inform the strategy’s 
action plan. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 
This strategy is based upon the concept of proportionate universalism; 
therefore, work will be focussed where need is greatest. Public consultation 
will ensure that vulnerable and under-represented groups are given a voice in 
the development of this work.  

Climate Change 
N/A 

Human Rights 
N/A 

Crime and Disorder 
Sport and recreation programmes can prevent boredom, teach important life 
skills, divert young people from crime and foster social inclusion. Much of this 
could be applied to adults whose wellbeing is improved through more 
movement and exercise. 

Staffing 
N/A 

Accommodation 
N/A 

Risk 
Temporary risk associated with recruitment; however, this will be addressed 
when new PHAP moves into role. Other risk includes lack of engagement with 
public coproduction exercise. This is factored into current consultation 
planning. 

Procurement 
None. 

Page 433



Appendix 2:  Physical Activity Strategy document 

 

The report is attached as a separate document. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 434



‘Start moving and stay moving in County Durham’ 

A five-year physical activity strategy for County Durham 

2022 – 2027 

 

Vision - County Durham residents will be more active, enabling them to live longer, 
healthier and happier lives.  
  

Mission: Bring people and organisations together with a shared purpose of helping 
everyone in County Durham to move more  
 

The strategy is underpinned by County Durham’s Approach to Wellbeing, with 
people and place at its heart. The strategy adopts a partnership approach, involving 
communities in decisions that affect them to ensure that people of all ages across 
County Durham are motivated to move more, and have access to inclusive 
opportunities to be more active.   

A key focus of this strategy is to work with our partners to help those they work with 
and engage with to move more. This is very important as we recognise this is not the 
sole responsibility of a single organisations, leaders or groups, but a joint effort 
where everyone has a role to play.  

This countywide strategy sets out the following core principles that will guide 
individual and organisational action, to enable and support County Durham residents 
to move more:  

 

  

 

Enabling and 
supporting County 

Durham residents to 
move more 

Person / 
community 

centred 

Whole systems 
working and 
collaboration 
with partners 

Focusing on 
where the need 

is greatest 

Engaging 
individuals and 
organisations 

with the strategy 

Continued 
learning and 
evaluation 

Movement is 
everyone's 

business 

Page 435



To develop this strategy, we have engaged with a number of individuals, 

communities and organisations so that we can benefit from their thoughts, opinions 

and insight to better understand the challenges, priorities and shared vision. This will 

enable us all to work together and increase movement and physical activity in 

County Durham people and their communities.  

For the purposes of this strategy, activity or simply movement are used to refer to 

all kinds of physical activity, including active living (e.g. stair climbing) sport, planned 

structured exercise and informal, incidental activity.  

Section 1 - Introduction  

County Durham is one of the biggest counties in England covering over 862 square 
miles.  The infographic below provides an overview of the county;  

 

Assets  

County Durham has a vibrant physical activity culture. People from our communities 
regularly engage in active pursuits, and partners and organisations currently provide 
many opportunities for people of all ages and abilities to move more. This strategy 
not only builds on the positive work that is already happening, but explores the 
potential for further collaboration between partners to provide more opportunities for 
people to live active lives.  

Page 436



Across County Durham, there are a huge range of assets that are essential to 

maximising our current and future physical activity environment. These assets 

support, encourage and help our residents to build activity and movement into their 

daily lives.  Furthermore, they will support a whole systems approach to making 

regular movement a normal part of the daily lives of those who live, work and play in 

County Durham. Our residents have access to: 

 

 

Why is movement important?  

‘Some is good, more is better’ 

Regular movement provides a range of physical and mental health, and social 

benefits, many of which are increasingly important issues for our people and 

communities. It can also contribute to a range of wider social, environmental and 

economic benefits for individuals, communities and the county, such as reducing air 

pollution, increasing productivity and promoting social and community togetherness. 

Page 437



Whilst it is acknowledged that movement is good for all, some of the greatest 

benefits will be achieved by supporting those who are currently inactive to take part 

in more movement of any nature. Regardless of age, gender, ethnicity, economic 

status or ability, all residents of County Durham should have accessible, safe and 

convenient choices to help them move more. This strategy supports everyone to be 

active, whilst recognising that some barriers to increased activity may not be within 

an individual’s own control. 

There is no minimum amount of movement required to achieve health benefits.  

Even 5-10 minutes of movement at a time can be effective as a long-term goal for 

people starting from low levels of movement. In today’s society, where people’s lives 

are busy with many competing priorities, even small amounts or bursts of movement 

throughout the day will be of benefit. For example, taking the stairs instead of the lift 

or walking to the local shop instead of driving.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 438



Whilst increased activity brings obvious health benefits, regular movement can also 

directly or indirectly contribute to: 

 

 

Learning from and living safely with Covid -19 

As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, it is now more than ever important for people 

all ages to be active.  Throughout the pandemic a key message communicated to 

the public was that regular movement supports both physical health, and mental 

health and wellbeing. Partners and organisations provided communities with 

innovative ways to get moving, adapting physical activity offers to ensure all 

communities could engage in some form of movement each day. 

Some of our most vulnerable communities were disproportionately affected by 

Covid-19, and in some areas we have seen health inequalities widen. Regular 

movement can, however, help to reduce both health inequalities and risk factors 

associated with lack of activity.  We know that the pandemic has also had a major 

impact on the local economy. Health and the economy are very much linked, and the 

health-enhancing role of movement has perhaps never been more important.  

We recognise that enabling everyone in County Durham to live healthy, active lives 

is an important part of County Durham’s recovery. Supporting our local communities 

to move more will not only support not economic recovery, but also contribute 

towards increasing community resilience, productivity, and help to create a more 

inclusive and prosperous County Durham.   

Community Centred  

Created with County Durham communities and partners  

Page 439



Our people and communities are County Durham’s biggest assets.  We will work 

with our communities and partners to understand and recognise different needs, and 

to identify those local assets that will help our people be more active. We will work to 

ensure that local environments support people to move more – whether that is where 

they live, work or play -  as well as supporting communities to become more 

connected to better enable this to happen. 

The strategy adopts a whole systems approach to help maximise our many 

community assets here in County Durham. Recognising, identifying and maximising 

these local assets can help develop the existing strengths within our communities. 

This, in turn, will support a community-centred approach to reducing health 

inequalities that involves local communities, and in particular those in greatest need. 

Not only will this contribute to our mission to help people be more active, but it will 

also directly contribute to the County Durham Vision 2035 – to make County Durham 

a place where our communities are well connected and supportive. 

Using local data, insight from our communities, and evidence-based approaches will 

help us to focus efforts where the need is greatest, supporting those who move least 

to move more. Building on consultation and coproduction of this strategy, we will 

expand on the good work already taking place across our communities to encourage 

people to become more active. 

What does this strategy mean to me? 

The strategy encourages individuals, organisations, community groups, clubs, and 

wider partners to collaborate by creating a cohesive, aligned plan that will help more 

people in County Durham to be active. This why we have developed a strategy with 

some key core principles to help focus and support individual and organisational 

action.  

We have also identified key priority areas that as a network, we will focus upon.  

They have been informed by local evidence and feedback from partners from across 

the system. These priority areas will help to coordinate and align approaches of all of 

key stakeholders.  

Every organisation and individual has a role to play in working together to create a 

strong and active network. We will  move away from a focus on individual action to 

one of positive system change through close working and collaboration. 

Section 2 - Start moving and stay moving: core principles  

Enabling and supporting County Durham residents to move more   

A number of core principles have been developed to support communities to move 

more, and they underpin this strategy. They are based on feedback from many local 

stakeholders who have been engaged in the strategy development. These principles 

are connected, as all are invariably required to achieve the overall vision of the 

Page 440



strategy. The principles set out why and how organisations and communities can 

adopt new ways of thinking about movement with the goal of supporting people to 

move more, to be healthier and to be more connected.  

Let’s take a look at these in more detail  

Principle One: Person / Community Centred  

Our people and communities are County Durham’s biggest asset. We 
will work with communities to support and empower our most 
disadvantaged and vulnerable, helping them to live healthier, longer 
more active lives. We will help people develop the motivation, 
confidence, knowledge and capacity to move more, and explore why 
regular movement is important.  

Working with our communities is a central driver to the success of the strategy. What 
drives this work is building on community strengths and empowering people to 
understand what matters to them in the context of increasing activity levels  . 
Communities have been involved in developing the principles of the strategy through 
consultation, and we will coproduce the action plan to agree how change will be 
achieved (see section 4 for further information).  

We will build on the existing vibrant physical activity culture across the county, 
through both universal and targeted approaches, to ensure our residents have 
access to local opportunities that are based on their needs and wishes.  

The key is a bottom up approach with the emphasis on ‘people, organisations, 
community groups, and clubs working together’. Close work and engagement with 
local communities will add to our existing knowledge, so that we can develop new 
insight on the issues and barriers people face in relation to moving more. We will 
coproduce solutions with local people and partners so that we can create meaningful 
ways to help people move more and increase their activity levels. 

Sport England's Sport Outcomes Evidence Review (2017) demonstrated the impact 

of building stronger communities by bringing people from different backgrounds 

together via participating, volunteering and spectating, improving community links, 

levels of cohesion, and social capital. Improving residents’ sense of belonging, 

increasing levels of social trust, and feeling more connected to neighbourhoods and 

communities are also recognised as important factors in building a strong sense of 

community. 

‘Building on what’s strong’ 

How can communities/organisations embed this principle:  

The key is a ‘bottom up approach’ with the emphasis on ‘people, organisations, 

community groups, and clubs working together’ to achieve improved outcomes with 

our communities.   

 

Page 441



 

Principle Two: Whole systems working and collaboration with partners  

Key to creating system change is a focus on people and local 
communities, supported by close collaboration and shared decision-
making with County Durham organisations. 

County Durham will adopt and continually develop a whole systems approach to 

increasing movement and physical activity. This will help our people and 

communities work with local organisations to share their understanding and ideas. 

Partnership working will help identify where the need is greatest, identify 

opportunities for change that will  support regular movement, and build upon the 

existing vibrant physical activity culture across the county.  

The strategy encourages partners from all sectors to work as a network, so that they 

can use their experience and expertise to make progress and achieve long-term, 

positive and sustainable change.  

This strategy will encourage people of all ages to move more. This ‘life course 

approach’ acknowledges that people have different levels of movement throughout 

different stages of their lives, and that these stages can be influenced by many 

internal and external factors.  We want to work with partners, communities and 

organisations to help people overcome any such barriers and make positive lifestyle 

changes.  

How can communities/organisations embed this principle:   

Connect with others, build and strengthen relationships to ensure a coordinated and 

meaningful  approach to increasing movement and reducing inactivity. 

Principle Three: Focusing action where the need is greatest  

Encourage and support those within our communities who are least 
active to move more to help address the inequalities that currently exist 

Everyone in County Durham should have the opportunity to live in good health.  We 

know that life chances and health are largely determined by the conditions which a 

person is born, grows, lives, works and ages. These are known as the wider social 

determinants of health. Social and physical environments are known to directly 

influence the opportunity to move more and do more physical activity, and 

inequalities in factors such as employment, housing and transport are known barriers 

to uptake.  

Safe transport environments, for example, influence how children integrate walking 

and cycling into their daily routines, whilst safe transport systems enable older aged 

adults to maintain their autonomy. So, without such systems, the opportunity for 

active travel could be much more limited.   

Page 442



Although everyone, regardless of age, gender, language, ethnicity, economic status 

or ability, should have accessible, safe, convenient opportunities to be active we 

know this isn’t always the case. Evidence suggests that there are several 

demographic groups that are physically inactive or under-represented such as those 

lower socio-economic groups, women, older adults and those with long term 

conditions. We will focus efforts where the need is greatest to reduce those 

inequalities that impact upon activity and health. Our data tells us that some of our 

communities’ experience worse health outcomes than others and we want to support 

all residents to live more active, healthier lives.  

Health inequalities data:  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 443



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This strategy will play a role in empowering those who move less to move more, by 

ensuring equitable and accessible to county-wide opportunities. 

In the long term, supporting our residents to move more can help us tackle some of 

the health impacts of economic disadvantage (for example, poor mental health), and 

regular movement can contribute to reducing the gap in healthy life years between 

affluent and economically disadvantaged communities. Evidence tells us that active 

individuals and communities help to create stronger, more connected and healthier 

communities, and this is associated with improvements in areas such as educational 

behaviour and attainment, and productivity.   

How can communities/organisations embed this principle:  

Use local knowledge and evidence (such as Durham Insight), prioritise improving the 

health of those who are most disadvantaged, and tailor approaches to the specific 

needs of different communities to address inequalities – for example, those with 

long-term conditions, older aged adults, girls and women, and Black, Asian and 

minority ethnic communities.  

Principle Four: Engaging individuals and organisations with the strategy - 

What can I do? 

There is no single answer or solution to help all ages move more across 

County Durham. In order to increase movement and promote physical 

activity, partners need a shared sense of purpose and an alignment of 

resources so they can work together. 

Page 444



There are many ways to become involved with the implementation of this strategy so 

that you can maximise its impact: 

 Share it with the organisations, groups, clubs and people you work or 

collaborate with 

 Adopt and embrace its key principles  

 Help others to move more. Ask someone else (a neighbour, family, colleague, 

friend, patient) what matters to them, how they would like to get moving more, 

and find out how you can best support them 

 Be an advocate or role model for change – help to grow the momentum of this 

strategy and build regular movement into your day  

 Consider how regular movement features into your organisation’s policies, 

and put it on the agenda in your work or community  

 Connect with partners – whether in person, virtually or through social media to 

access resources and share information 

Principle Five: Continued learning and evaluation  

Using evidence supported by local conversations 

Capturing what is working well across the county, and learning from elsewhere, is 

very important.  We must focus on positive change – no matter how big or small, and 

always consider where such change is possible. We want this strategy to help 

identify and celebrate progress and success, and inspire others to join in and take 

action.  

Creating long term change takes time.  A combination of data (such as the number 

of people active) and local engagement will help us to measure the impact of this 

strategy. However, learning about the experiences of our people and our network of 

partners will also help us to monitor progress.  A combination of data, case studies 

and practical examples from communities across the county will be key to continually 

improving and maximising our current physical activity offers.  

This strategy will be monitored and reviewed through the creation of a strong 

network across County Durham, We will capture and share learning so that we can 

best understand what motivates our communities and helps our people to become 

more active. We will focus our efforts on working together to create the best possible 

environment that will help people to move more.  

Partners and communities are encouraged to regularly share case studies to 

highlight success and learning. A partnership approach to evaluation will involve 

celebrating and sharing when things go well, and learning and trying again when 

things aren’t so successful. We only fail when we quit, everything else is experience! 

 

 

Page 445



How can communities/organisations embed this principle:  

Prioritise reflection and make time for learning so that we can understand what has 

worked or what hasn’t. Evaluation of our efforts or interventions shouldn’t be seen as 

‘additional work’ and needs to be a central part of the approach. 

Let’s make movement everyone’s business!  

 

 

Section 3 – How Will Change Happen?  

By working collaboratively with our communities and partners, we will achieve a 
shared purpose and build on what works well across County Durham to encourage 
and support residents to move more. We will create a county where regular 
movement is the norm.  

Based on partner feedback, the following long and short-term priority areas for action 
have been identified.  We will coproduce the action plan to address these priority 
areas with our communities to ensure they are meaningful and achievable.  

Coproduction process to take place from June 2022 onwards (schedule pending) to 
allow for true coproduction and to provide all communities with the opportunity to be 
involved (biteable video is in development to highlight the vision, mission and 
principles of what we hope to achieve and a call to action for communities and 
partners to coproduce action plan) 

Short term  

 Mental health  

 Workplace 

 Active travel 

 Current system mapping and sharing best practice 

 Children and young people particularly around supporting mental health, and 
in education/school 

 Promotion of movement linked Social Prescribing 

Long Term  

 Build stronger active communities- including improved facilities and 
infrastructure to help make regular movement the best option 

 Embed regular movement into all health and social care pathways with better 
connections to support services e.g. drug and alcohol services, gambling, 
stop-smoking  

 Canvas our people and communities to obtain their opinions 

 Evaluate our approach and share good practice and evidence 

 Influence national policy and lobby for change  

Page 446



Section 4 - Continued learning from evaluations and the 
evidence-base to help understand what is supporting 
people to move more   

 Case Study examples – to be included once collated  

Section 5 – Next Steps  

The key to building momentum is to broaden and strengthen relationships within our 

networks, people and communities, and ensure ongoing conversations which turn 

plans into action across the system.  

This will be supported by: 

 Soft launch of high-level summary and biteable video  

 Coproduction of the [name to be provided] strategy action plan with our 

communities and partners to identify address short and long-term priority 

areas (July – December 2022) 

 Launch of strategy and coproduced action plan  

 Develop a bank of case studies to understand what works well and celebrate 

progress 

 Hold network and partner events to share both learning and examples of 

success for priority action areas  

 Review the strategy periodically to monitor and evaluate its progress and 

impact, including an refresh of the action plan when required 

 

Page 447



This page is intentionally left blank



COUNTY DURHAM PHYSICAL 
ACTIVITY STRATEGY

P
age 449



Strategy development – work to date

• Informed by the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy (2021 –
2025) and the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment

• A strategy to increase movement

• Whole systems work 

• Workshops involving around 100 stakeholders from public, 
private, community and voluntary sector organisations held to 
inform and produce vision, mission and core principles

P
age 450



Benefits of moving more: informing our vision and 
mission 

P
age 451



Start moving and stay moving – core principles

P
age 452



How will change happen?

P
age 453



Next steps

• One month consultation

• Co-production of action plan (underpinned by A2W)

• Inclusion of interdependent strategies and frameworks

• Production of full strategy and action plan

• Periodic review of strategy 

P
age 454



Key Campaigns
Spring 22 / Summer 22

P
age 455

A
genda Item

 14



22

HWB Strategy – priority areas – Starting Well

2

• National Breastfeeding 

Awareness Week (27 Jun-3 Jul)

• World breastfeeding Week   
(1-7 August)

• New local businesses signed 

up to the Breastfeeding 

Friendly  Scheme

P
age 456



33

HWB Strategy – Priority Areas – Living & Ageing Well

3

Living Well
• Pre-loved Swimwear Pilot 

in Bishop Auckland

• Healthy Options Takeaway 

(HOT) Masterclass Pilot

• Better Health weight 

management programme 

• 10 Minute Shake ups

Ageing Well

• We are 

undefeatable

P
age 457



444

HWB Strategy – priority areas – Health Protection

• Childhood 

Immunisations – GRT 

community

• Hot weather plan

• Covid-19 vaccinations

P
age 458



55

Coming Up – Late Autumn / Winter Campaigns 

5

• Covid vaccine clinic 

for 5-11 year olds

• Now You’re Talking 

campaign (9-15 

May) + Mental 

Health Awareness 

Week

• Living and Ageing Well:

• World Mental Health Day - 10 October

• Don’t Wait - October

• Stoptober – September/October

• Domestic  Abuse campaigns x 3

• Health Protection:

• Flu vaccination - October

• Covid-19 booster - October

• Healthy Settings:

• Better Health a Work campaigns x 6

P
age 459



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 Minutes of the meeting held on 12 July 2022
	6 Health and Social Care Integration:
	7 Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment (PNA):
	Item 7 - PNA - Appendix 2
	Item 7 - PNA - Presentation

	8 Approach to Wellbeing - Formal Evaluation: Teesside University:
	Item 8 - Approach to Wellbeing - Appendix 2 Full Evaluation
	Item 8 - Approach to Wellbeing - Appendix 3 Evaluation Summary
	Item 8 - Approach to Wellbeing - Presentation

	9 Making Smoking Obsolete: The Khan Review:
	10 Growing up in County Durham 2023-25:
	Item 10 - GUICD - Appendix 2

	11 Draft Inclusive Economic Strategy:
	Item 11 - Inclusive Ec Strategy - Appendix 2
	Item 11 - Inclusive Ec Strategy - Presentation

	12 Climate Emergency Response Plan (CERP):
	Item 12 - CERP - Presentation

	13 Physical Activity Strategic Framework:
	Item 13 - Physical Activity - Appendix 2
	Item 13 - Physical Activity - Presentation

	14 Health and Wellbeing Board Campaigns:

